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Strategic report

Oour mission and vision

Connectivity
and Intelligent
Devices

Rapid
Urbanisation

To create a world
P e g

Air Quality Mission Natural

and Climate W creatc ard deliver Innovative Resource
Change ‘ COS5eCtor sustanable, Scarcity

T e A S U ST,
ervironmenzal and

o . Customer-
maobility solutions

Energy
Security and
Sustainability

Global
Stability

This has been a year of unprecedented change across the globe, and we have seen everything
from protests demanding action on climate change, to the damaging effects on life and
fivelihood presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. As the world grapples with the economic,
psychological and social impact of the coronavirus, it is encouraging to see many governments
launching “green recovery” plans which promise a positive impact on climate change and that
can also be seen as econamically beneficial - espedially when it comes to creating jobs.

In delivering our mission, which we believe will help realise our vision to
Create a world fit for the future, we are focusing on five core activities which align
with a number of the UN Sustainable Development Goals.

SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

S, More detail on Sustainable
::-' g Development Goals is
“an presented on page 27.
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Our core activities:

Access to clean airand water

.-is critical to address the global challenges of population growth, mass.
urbanisation and rural development. We provide policy and strategic
advice, tools and solutions that are underpinned by multi-sector
knowledge - solutions that enable access to clean air and water, and
that maximise health and equity outcomes. By drawing on our world-
class technical expertise in air quality modeliing we are able to provide
governments, focal authorities and multinational organisations withithe -
ar quality decision-support tools to understand impacts and develop
improvement plans.

Decarbonised and clean
transport solutions

...address applications across multiple mability sectors. We provide class-
leading decarbonised and clean transport solutions that are supported
by innavative technology. Thanks to our deep understanding of the
transportation sector’s demands and our expertise in policy development
at both governmental and regional levels, we can deliver end-to-end
engineered solutions tailor-made to meet our clients’ objectives,

Net Zero ond carbon neutral solutions

...for energy and industry help combat climate change, reduce waste

and support sustainable business operations. We create end-to-end
value-chain solutions by combining long-range forecasting capability,

life cycle analysis, system modefling, asset optimisation, supply-chain
rmanagement and product innovation. Through the use of our life

cycle assessment capabilities we can support governments in policy
development and assist industries in the implementation of these policies
at the Jevels of both infrastruciure and product.

-Secure, connected mobility solutions

..provide communities and businesses with the ability to remain mobile
and productive in every environment. Across 3 range of transport modes
we provide strategic advice, tools and salutions that enable clients to
develap, integrate and optimise their mohility businesses. These are
supported with digital resilience system solutions, signaiting system
capabilities and full certification services.

..are designed to protect those who protect us and ensure security

and stability in unpredictable times. We offer software, services and
products that promote safe and secure defence mobility and operationat
performance. We deliver full systems integration and tailored in-service
support programmes, These skills are complemented by operational
decision-support tools and asset-optimisation software to allow complex
real-worid scenarios to be robustly managed.




Supported by Group-wide strategic enablers:

Digitalised products and services

...are being developed around the three pillars of customer experience,
operationat exceflence and new digital offerings. With the accelerated joumey
into a "digital-first” workd, the ability to provide seamless engagement
through integrated systems enables clients to access Ricardo's services

and solutions through digital channels. Similarly, the digital tools already
developed for the product creation process are being supplemented by
greater intelligence and data analytics to bring faster, more cost-effective and
higher quality solutions to our clients,

foor wemw fwc
AR L1

Our skilled, diverse and agile workforce

B the catalyst to deliver our mission and to achieve customer excellence and

revene growth. We aim tq develop a highly motivated workforce whese staff

play to their strengths and are actively engaged, Our working practices are

constantly evolving to meet changing employee expectations and ensure

we deliver maximum business performance. We recognise the strengths

that cultural diversity brings in terms of creativity, skills and insights. Regular

interactions with our leaders give our teams the opportunity to maximise their

engagement and performance. Our people are empowered to work on what

they do best, and through regular feedback mechanisms we give staff a voice
.4 the activities of the business.

Our customer-centric organisation

..allows us to attract top-tier clients and to adapt our strategies to match their
needs. Client retention leads to growth of new business and also helps reduce
the cost of sales. Robust long-term busiiness performance is underpinned
through enduring strategic dient relationships supported by focused and
responsive organisational changes to meet changing dient requirements.
Because our dlients face significant disruption of their markets and
enviranments, Ricardo will abways ensure that it is in a position to understand
their needs and has the agility to offer sofutions across arange of rapidly
thanging requirements.

i
s engineering and optimisation

anunderstanding of complex integration tasks for optimal performance.
the use of virtual modelling of complex systems, Ricardo offers solutions
Tenprave systerm petformance, lower costs and deliver incremental end-user
Our world is evolving into mare and more complex systems as more
of our surroundings become connected, and such connectivity provides
can be hamessed for the benefit of users. Feature-driven virtual product
it it toolchains will eventually be supported by a full digital data backbore;
appication of this digital-twin technology will form the platform from which
‘engineering solutions will be delivered, In the meantime, components of the data
hackbone have already been implemented in severat of the markets that we serve.

Partnership & collaboration

ARG W Sgaloa W idlEE: ke bibitle : YOIl LIETTeT W oA gluwlnurruug"
geographic, sector and capability expansion, Qur strategy aims to develop
partnerships, acguisitions and disposals that accelerate the growth of the
organisation and to support the delivery of the mission by taking a holistic
corporate perspective that maximises the returns from capital depioyed. With
the requirement to remain agile and to access critical skills and technology in
adjacent market sectors, we are already actively engaged with several partners
to offer end-to-end solutions. Ricardo also remains focused on using mergers
and acquiisitions as one of several tools to drive growth, sector diversification
and stakeholder value.
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Where we are

Three thousand dedicated and talented peopie in our global team of experts situated
in key locations around the world.
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More detail on Qur People is presented on pages 22 to 25.
Revenue by geography Order intake by customer
Our operations in selected market sectors span many Qur order intake arises frem a global customer list that
different regions of the warld: includes the world's major transportation original equipment

manufacturers and operators; tier 1 suppliers; energy companies,
and government agencies;
FY 2019/20 (%)
5 18
PR

FY 2019/20 (%)

FY 2018119 19}

| UK 1-10 Top 10

W Mainland Europe MUK

B North America 12. Mainiand Europe

B China 13 North America

W Austrailia 14 Asia ) ]
W Restof Asia 5 Rest of the World g::;r:g:';: f:::g;f:;;:
B Restof the World 16 Austrailia review on pages 47 to 59.
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Strategic report

Our markets

We bring the best of our diverse expertise to
create novel and differentiated solutions for a
number of market sectors.

oﬁ-highway
vehicles

Passenger .
vehicles - .

Commercial
vehicles

Motorsport Motdrcycle

"~ Environmental
' and planning

6efence
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Strategic report

Ricardo’s business model

Ricardo creates value for our stakeholders by developing and delivering innovative cross-
sector sustainable, efficient and secure energy, environmental and mobitity solutions and

products.

Ricardio expert

staff — engineers,
2Conomists, scientists,
technical experts,
and management
consultants - bring
the best of their
diverse expertise 1o
Create innovative

and differentiating
solutions to our dlients’
challenges.

We invest in physical
and digital assets that
support toolchain
validation, final product
certificaticn and real-
world data capture.

We are committed to
invest in R&D to address
the environmenital,
mobility and
sustainability chalienges
of the future.

Sustainability, transport and energy
policy & strategy development

Supply chain, asse
& manufacturing

Engineering Data
& design exploitation Digital . Strategic
development Consulting

Customer

Comgplex
Technical system
advice, asset integration
optimisation & Virtual product
benchmarkting development

Testing, assurance
& certification

Environmental services, cli
risk & resource managemen

Through our advanced capabilities we
support clients at each stage of the life cycle

Our activities are underpinned by

Values
Passion, Integrity, Respect and Creativity drive us forward as

an organisation and bind us tegether as a community.

4‘ Efficient and sustainable operations

We take a proactive and engaged approach to maintain safe,
sfficient and sustainable operations.

~
]

Governance

——— We recognise the importance of the Company's responsibilities and
U duties to both its shareholders and breader stakeholder group. This
has been at the heart of our culture and decision-making process
for many years. Qur commitment is underpinned by Ricardo’s
Governance framework and Code of Conduct,

4 Ricardo plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019/20



We create value for our clients,

staff and shareholders, the
communities in which we
operate, and our suppliers

"~ Clients
2,
. Qur clients include privately and publicly

owned businesses of different sizes;
major transportation criginal equipment
manufacturers (OEMs’) and operators;
governments; public authorities; and
intergovernmental and international
agencies. We help thermn address key
challenges, supporting their business
growth and increasing rhe efficiency of
their operations.

Strategic report

Our strategic
objectives

'I Sustainable business
growth

We deliver profitable and sustainable growth
with a clear focus on future trends and
market demnands, driven by client needs,
technology change and the outlook for
future policies and regulations, which helps
to create a cleaner, heafthier and safer world.

2 Risk mitigation
We mitigate business cyclicality and aim
to avoid external dependency, whether
this is related to any particular geography,
technology, industry, sector or client.

e

Staff

Ricardo is a diverse, close-knit
community of differing backgrounds,
practices and thinking, We promote
diversity and inclusion and offer flexible
working practices.

3 Added value for clients

We deploy our know-how, experience and
application expertise within a given sector
and draw on our cross-sector capabilities to
provide greater insights and synergies. We
employ research and development to provide
class-teading technology to our clients.

k

Shareholders

I With its strong capabilities, our

diversified business 1s well positioned to
continue to deliver sustainable growth
and value for our shareholders.

wde

ae
ude

Community/Social value

We contribute to the communities in
which cur business operates and our
staff live, and we support initiatives that
are aligned to our values and expertise.
We aim to create commercial success
while recognising and mitigating

our impact on communities and the
anvironmeant.

4 World-class talent

We promote and sustain a high-performance
culture that attracts, develops and motivates
a highly skilled, diverse, agile and mgctivated
workforce to deliver on our mission.

'lu Suppliers
We work in close partnership with our

suppliers 1o ensure that cur supply chain
is effective, efficient, ethically transparent
and sustainable.

5 Operational excellence

We maintain efficient and sustainable globaf
operations that are digitally enabled to
allow us to leverage data and bring existing
processes and practices into a virtual
environment. This improves productivity
and reduces the environmental impact of
the business.

Creating a world fit for the future 5
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Financial highlights

Order book
0%
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before tax
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Order intake
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2017 18
2015717 B

235 16
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earnings per share

-133%

Revenue
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FY
2019/20

2073 139
31713
2014 17

201515
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201319
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201718
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-55%
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Operational highlights

Coronavirus (‘COVID-19")

irom rthe hﬂg W’\] of tha _’_‘)\«D I nss, Acard o ocased on )LJ")DD”IH._; s employess, Cherts and

S TR T AT Foy Tt e of
a8 igudity and *DH DM o s hankirg fazuties Ricardo

Jorated and ditaoutad aporosimately 13,300 face shie s o communmies round its Lk and US locations.

¥yrtalrst s oo or ey Tl e s w3y e 1 arte evar sl
T g i, o et e Tl e ol s e KR I T with
IROET A ey T s o LaE AN A TS e e e or = nhoy ez whin wesh marelum o

work there

Acquisition of PLC Consulting

Ricarda expanded s preserce in Australia through the acquisinen of PLE
Consulting Pty Ltd - since renamed Recardo Energy, Znwvironment and Planning,
or ‘REEP’ wnich brings a strong technical adwisary capability in the fui
infrastruciure and ermvironmment plarming hie cyce, the seraces complemernt
and extend Ricardo’s existing energy ana envirgnment cacabilities Ricardo’s
investment in the environmente! sector gligns with the Increasing awareness
of the risks associated with chimate change and public gressuse for more
ambitious action on reductions 10 graenhousa gas ermissions.

Virtual vehicle certification

Rieardo s dig cal-fi- it <o
ang e nfcaton facilir eyt offer acortirued o o iy dusnie he
COVID-19 lockdown perod It did so by enabling Lhe witnessing body and

ot Lnd cort fleslion g g

fegy enable s thecenun's s e

PTAIC0E sl

ent ree rasananyes ra parmapar tully -

secure connection, thus removing the need Lo travel. The cliert arranges
shipping of the vehicle 1o the Ricardo test facility and all other interactions
P, T e er L A o e dne o ot ek

CryoPower [ Dolphin N2

Doiphin N2 was set up as a spin-out company In order to commercialise
Ricarda’s CryoPower intellectual property and assets The CryoPower process
presents a cryegenic ssune to ol e anen of heowy-duy senhoaton. sk
as trucks and power generation that negates Lhe nead for battenes, Followirg
the successful spin-out in 2018, FPT Industnal Sp A acquired Dolohin N2 in
Decermnber 2019. Ricardo will continue to apply the know-how anising from its
research in advanced cold combustion concepts 1o other areas,

South Korea Great Train eXpress project

Ricardo has been appointed by SG Rail Ltd  rhe special purpose company that
wil inzacz design and buaiid rthe GTCA Tlway — 1o o vide multdisaiphinary
engineenng and assessment services during the development of Line A of the
Great Train eXpress (GTX), the new higher-speed commuter network for Seoul &
and 1ts surrounding commiter regien,

Creating a world fit for the future 7



Strategic report
Chair’'s
statement

Sir Terry Morgan CBE
Chair

“This has been an unprecedented year and the volatility caused by the COVID-19 pandemic
has proved the resilience of our business and reaffirms our strategy of diversification in our
geographies and in our sectors. | am pleased to say that our two acquisitions in Australia
have performed well during their first year under Ricardo ownership.

Our people have performed admirably during the year and | would like to thank them and
their families for their commitment and support in these challenging times.”

Results
For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group delivered revenue
of £352.0m, together with underlying profit before tax
of £15.6m and underlying basic earnings per share
of 21.3 pence. On a reported basis, the Group
delivered a loss before tax of £5.3m and basic
loss per share was 12.2 pence.
As set out in more detall in the Chief
Executive’s Statement on pages 1010 13
and the Financial Review on pages 42
to 46, the Group has been resilient in the
face of challenging trading conditions,
with continuing pressures in the automotive
sector exacerbated by the onset of the
COVID-19 pandemic in the second half of the year.
Throughout the year, the Group continued focus on
s strategic obyjectives of geographic and sector diversification
through carefully targeted acquisitions and disposals.
The acquisition of Australian environmental consultancy,
PLC Consulting Pty Limited — now Ricardo Energy, Envircnment
and Planning, (REEP) — was completed on 31 July 2019 and the
business has quickly settled to life under Ricardo ownership,
delivering results in line with expectations, as has Transport
Engineering Pty Limited- now Ricardo Rail Australia (RRA} -
which was acquired at the end of the previous financial year. The

Group completed the divestment of its first technology spin-out,

Dolphin N2 on 19 December 2019. in addition, the Group sold its
engine testing business in Detroit 1o a hon-competitive strategic
partner on 3 June 2020.

8 Ricardo plc Arnual Report & Accounts 20°9/20
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AMERICA'S BEST

MANAGEMENT
CONSULTING FIRMS

2020

POWERED BY STATESTA

The Group's performance against its strategic objectives is
outlined on pages 14 and 15. We also continued to invest in
innovation, as descrived on pages 18 to 20, and in our
people and cur facilities.

People
I'would particularly like to thank all of
our employees for their hard work and
professionalism during a difficult year. and
| appreciate their flexibility in fransitioning
to home working. | would also like to
express my thanks to those employees

who continued to work an our sites during
lockdown for those services deemed essential

by the government. Furthermore, special thanks
go to our employee volunteers who came to work to
make face masks for the NHS and local care homes. As set cut in
the Our People secticn on pages 22 to 25, Ricardo Is a people-
centred business and cur employees underpin evarything that
the Group achieves.

It was with great sadness that, in April 2020, we lost one of
our colleagues, Paul Manning, following his valiant fight against
COVID-19 Paul first joined Ricardo in 2000 and was a highly
skilled and respected technician working in the milling/prismatic
section of Performance Products at cur UK Midlands site. The
Board's condolences and continued thoughts are with his family
and friends.

Prominent achieverments during the year have included
Ricardo Strategic Consulting being named by Forbes as one



of Arnerica’s leading management consultants, for the fifth
consecutive year — from among more than 50,000 firms active
within the US market.

I its third annual rating of the UK's top maragement
consultancies, the Ainancal Tirnes has agan identified Ricardo
Energy & Environment as a leader in the area of Sustainability in
its listing of the UK's Leading Management Consultants 2020.

In the Made in the South East Awards, Performance Products
was singled out as Manufacturer of the Year and Andrew
Kershaw, an apprentice in Performance Products, was named
Apprentice of the Year.

My congratulations go to all of those involved as well as to all
the other individuals and team members who have won awards
under the vartous Ricarda recogniticn programimes during the
year, together with those members of staff who have gained
academic success or peer-group recognition in their chosen
career paths.

Corporate governance

The Board firmiy believes that robust corporate governance and
risk management are essential to maintain the stability of the
Group and its financial health | report separately on Corporate
Governance on pages 90 to 95 of this Annual Report.

Once again, | am proud that the FTSEAGood Index Series has
confirmed Ricardo's continued inclusion for demonstrating
strong Environmental, Social and Governance UESG)
practices, This continued achieverment bears testament to our
cornmitment to the highest standards of corporate governance,
which ultimately produces a better business and supports long-
term performance,

The Board

On 6 September 2019, we announced the retirement of
Peter Gilchrist CB from the Board following the close of the
AGM in November 2019 On 5 September 2019, Ricardo
appointed two additicnal Non-Executive Directors, Russell
King and Jack Boyer OBE. At the close of the AGM, Russell
King was appointed Chair of the Remuneration Committee
and Malin Persson was appointed Senior independent
Director. Following my decision to stand down as Chair of the
Nomination Committee, Laurie Bowen was appointed to this
role. On 12 May 2020, we announced the resignation of Mark
Garrett, Chief Strategy Officer. Mark left the business cn 31
July 2020 and the Board and Ricardo would like to thank him
for his contribution over many years with the Group. | would

Strategic repart
Chair’s statement

also like to thank each of our Non-Executive Directors for their
counsel during the year.

Dividend

The dividend has grown by an average of 7% each year over
the last decade. On 25 February 2020 the Board declared 2 4%
increase in the interim dividend to 6.24p per share

{(Half Year 2018/19: 6.00p). The interim dividend was paid to
shareholders on & April 2020. Due 1o the reduced performance
experienced by the Company in the second half of the year,
after careful consideration, the Board have decided not to
iecornmend a hnal dividend for the year This difficult decision
has been taken 1o protect the Company's financial position. The
board recognises the importance of dividends to shareholders
and intends to resume dividend payments as soon as it is
appropriate to do so.

Qutlook

More than ever, Ricardo's strategy is underpinned by trends
which will affect an everincreasing number of people around
the globe: growing populations, mass urbanisation, declining air
quality, climate change, more stringent ernissions legislation and
growing scarcity of natural rescurces.

Despite this turbulent background, we continue to deliver
services and products o help build a cleaner, safer and more
sustainable world. We remain confident that demand for our
innovative solutions will continue and increase when economic
activity returns te normal.

Sir Terry Morgan CBE
Chair

Creating a world fit for the future 9
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Chief
Executive's
statement

Dave Shemmans
Chief Zxecutive Officer

“The pandemic has made this a time of extreme global volatility. The resilience of our
business has helped us weather the storm well - thanks to the agility and passion of our team
and the underpinning strategy to be active in diverse geographies and sectors. | couldn’t be
prouder of our team as they transitioned to home working and focused on finding solutions
in a “new normal” to deliver products and services to our global clients.

We continue to see good opportunities in the markets that we serve and we are well
positioned to help clients address the major challenges of today: cleaner air and water;
decarbonised and clean transport; carbon-neutral energy and industries; secure and
connected mobility, and global security and stability.”

Strategy

In this financial year we have continued to execute our strategy
against a backdrop of increasing demand for action to combat
climate change and protect the environment; high volatility

in the automotive sactor, driven by trade policy actions; the
Brexit debate in the United Kingdom; a changing technological
landscape; and the exceptional uncertainty created by the
COVID-19 pandemic. This year has been one of constart
change, but the underlying global environmental challenges
and demand for progress remain - and will prevail after the
immediate focus on the pandemic has passed.

Ricardo’s financial performance in the first half year was largely
on track with our plans and expectations. However, the second
half of the year was affected by the lockdown measures put in
place 1o slow the spread of COVID-19. These measures impacted
not only our operations but also those of our clients. Access to
client sites became limited and in some cases production lines
halted completely: in a few instanges this meant we were unable
to deliver our products.

On the positive side, the structural drivers of growth in the
markets in which we operate remain intact. The geographic
and sector diversification of the group has made us resilient:
particularly impaortant has been our good mix of businesses
serving governments and public agendies, such as defence, rail
and environmental consulting. These tend to be more robust in
volatile times than those businesses that serve industries such

10 Ricardo plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019/20

as automaotive, which rely more on consumer spending. Our
resilience and the structural demand for environmental change
position us well for growth when economic activity returms to a
normal level in countries around the world.

Our clients require innovative services and solutions to address
the challenges facing us today: access to cleaner air and water;
decarbonised and clean transport; carbon-neutral energy and
industries; secure and connected mobility; and global security
and stability.

Ricardo's cross-sector strategic, environmental, engineering,
technical and manufacturing competencies, together with our
assurance and certification capabilities, uriquely position us
to assist clients in all phases of a project or product life cycle.
Integral to this is our commitrnent o market-leading research,
development and innovation to provide enduring benefits and
value to our clients.

We continue to invest in digitalisation and sustainability,
developing new services and tools for clients and executing
our strategic objective of operational excellence. Our global
operations are becoming more digitally enabled and a number
of processes and practices are being brought into a virtuai
environment to increase overall efficiency, flexibility and
sustainability.

Further information on the execution of our strategy can be
found on pages 14 and 15.



Highlights from the year

We closed the year with a good order intake of £368.7mand a
year-end order book of £314.0m. The Group delivered revenue of
£3520m {FY 2018/'9: £384.4m), 8% lower than in previous year,
along with underlying profit before tax of £15.8m, 38% lower
than in the previous year (FY 2018/15: £370m), ard a reported
operating 1oss of £0.3m (FY 2218/19: proft of £ 281m) Further
details on the results for the year are provided in the Financial
Review on pages 4210 46

in this financial year, two of our segments — Energy &
Environment, and Cefense  performed particularly strongly,
with growth in revenue and underlying profit compared to the
previous year. Our Rail segment also saw an increase in revenue.
Irs profitability was marginally up on the orevious year as the
business sought to refocus part of its UK operatiors and clients
delayed projects, particularly in Asia, because of COVID-19.

The Automotive & industrial segment, whose performance
i the first part of the year had been affected by the continued
pressure in the autormotive sector, continued to experience
downward pressures on reverige and underlying profit in the
second half of the year. This extended across all geographies
as economic activity slowed down or in some cases came 1o 3
stop, due to the response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Strategic Consulting & Software businesses are heavily
weighted towards an autcmotive custormer base, and was
equdlly affected by the lockdown measures implernented
globally, seeing a decrease in revenue and underiying profits
compared to the prior year. Our Performance Products segment
performed well through the year until the last quarter, as
production lines at McLaren and some other clients were closed,
meaning that they were temporarily unable to accept our engine
and transmission products. Qur customers’ production lines are
now all up and running.

Given the unprecedented public health and economic
challenges that countries and companies have faced globally,

<

~

R s

N Strategic report
= Chief Executive’s statement

The UK water industry aims for Net Zero carbon by
2030 - with Ricardo assistance (see pages 66 to 69

lam pleased with the resilience of our diversihed business
Resilience has been at the heart of our growth and risk
mitigation strategy over many years, with a philosophy of no
dependence on any single geography, sector or client. Having
a mix of government- and consumer-supported industries
increases the resilience through economic cycles, too.

The efficiency and flexibility of our operations, supported
by our investment in digitalisation and the commitment and
dedication of our staff, have allowed Ricardo to continue to
operate without interruptions and to offer business as usual to
our customers during the disruption created by the COVID-19

The Great Western upgrade was 3 major rail infrastructure praject for which Ricardo Certification played a key role

Creating a world fit for the future 11
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Chief Executive’s statement

The U.5. government paves way for orders for Ricardo's innovative ABS/
ESC safety system for the HMMWV or 'Humvee' (see pages 82 to 85)

pandemic. And thanks 1o an increase in committed funding
available, the Group ended the year in a solid position in respect
of financing facilities and liquidity.

Lessons were learnt within the Group from the early stages of
the pandemic — especially from our operations in China, the first
country t© be put into fockdown. These lessons were applied
when the virus reached Europe and the US. We moved rapidly
to a remote-working environment and already had the tools
and management processes in place to continue to execute
our business, not only in terms of new business development
and programme delivery, but alsc of corporate governance and
control. We were pleased to see our Chinese cperations return
to normal business practice and increased financial performance
in the last quarter. The majority of our staff in the US and Europe
continued to work from home up to and beyond our June
year-end, and throughout we have continued to receive good
levels of new business wins, though there was some slowdown
in deliveries.

This year we continued the expansion of Rail and Energy &
Environment in Australia. It has been two years since Ricardo
entered the Australian market and our customer base and
service offering has been expanding steadily, with our two
businesses delivering year-on-year growth in revenue and profit,
driven by strong performances from RRA and REEP in their first
year since being acquired.

The year also saw the first sale of technelogy arising from
Ricardo advanced research and development efforts. On 19
December 2019, Ricardo cempleted the sale of its CryoPower
intellectual property tc FPT Industrial 5.p.A and will continue
o assist with their developrnent of this innovative and high-
efficiency combustion engine.

We continue to implement the strategy of moving towards an
‘asset-light” business mode!; accordingly, the testing facilities are
being reshaped to make our operations more agile and digitally
enabled. At the end of the financial year we completad the sale
of our test assets in Detroit and we continue to invest in remote
testing capabilities in the UK. With the success of home working
we will be addressing our office footprint moving forward, to
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Ricardo is helping to demonstrate the use of local DC
network technology to suppart increased availability of
urban high capacity EV charging (see pages 74 to 77)

further increase agility and reduce costs.

Qur focus on digital solutions rather than fixad asset
Invastment has enabled us to offer virtual vehicle certification
and testing services ta our global customer base, During the
lockdown period this digital-first approach has allowed us to
protect our workforce as well as those of the customer and
independent witnessing body, at the same time enabling
ernissions testing and certification to continue efficiently
and effectively

Our long-standing commitment to operate a sustainable
business over the years has resulted in a number of actions
and initiatives. Starting in FY 2019/20, in order to give our
amployses, custemers, investors, suppliers and the local
cemmunities Transparency in our approach, we have committed
to implementing enhanced operational reporting and increased
disclosures related to the Environmental, Social and Governance
(ESG) aspects of our operations and services, building on the
best-practice work Ricardo’s environmental consultants are
delivering with clients around the world.

We strive to create a culture of innovation and learning, and to
attract, motivate and retain a highly skilled, diverse and inclusive
workforce. Our global experts are crucial to the success of our



Ricardo's agriculture team helps farmers, land managers
and food manufacturers with the latest thinking for both
the farmed and the wild landscape (see pages 62 to 65)

business and we invest in the development of the skills and
competencies of our staff, providing equal opporturitics for all,

Examples of how Ricardo’s world-class teams have created
value for clients across the world by delivering innovative
solutions to create a Cleaner and more sustainable future are
summarised below  and are presented in detail in the Case
Studies section on pages 62 to 85

+ Energy & Environment: Improving sustainability in the
farmed and wild landscape

= Energy & Environment: Helping UK water towards zero
carbon

= Rail: Supporting Eurcpe’s fargest ever rail re-signalling project

+ Energy & Environment: Enabling high-capacity electric
vehicle charging

» Automotive & Industrial: Ending range anxiety for electric-
vehicle drivers

» Defense: New model army

Coronavirus (‘COVID-19')

COVID-19 inftially started impacting the business in China in
late January with the closure of our offices in China, as well as
those of the majority of cur customers. The impact spread to
Europe and the US in March and April, resulting in a slow down
in order intake and the progress of ongoing projects, due to
the inefficiencies caused by customer staff and our own staff
working remotely.

From the beginning of the crisis, we set out a “Healthy
Pecple, Healthy Business” agenda. This focused on supporting
our employees and ther families together with the health and
wellbeing of our clients, suppliers and the communities in which
we operate.

We took swift action to ensure that an appropriate IT
infrastructure was in place to allow staff to work from home
and as efficiently as possible, with the minimum of disruption
to the business.

We also acted quickly, with the support of our banks, 1o
increase liquidity and headroom on our banking facilities.

Strateqgic report
Chief Executive's statement

We completed our face shield programme in May, having
donated and distributed approximately 10,000 face shiglds
to communities around cur Midlands, Shoreham, Derby and
Harwell iocations in the UK, and another 5,000 in the US.
Colleagues in other locations also donated face shields using our
rapid prototyping capabilities as well as personal eguiprent.

By the end of the year. all of our manufactaring and testing
facilities were operating and delivering client requirermnents with
appropriate social distancing controls to meet the guidance of
governments. Our offices are all open far employeas who wish
to return to work there and can do so safely. We are encouraging
return for those who can and supporting those that cannot
yetreturn so they can fully contribute to the business. Qur IT
resources continue te support the business across a mix of
home-based and office-based working

‘Digital-first’is still the core strateqy for cient and supplier
communication. Our business trave! has been very limited in
recent months. Some travel within Europe, China and US has
commenced. There has been little long-haul travel and we
expect that situation to continue in the coming months.

Brexit

Across the Group, we have prepared for a range of possibilities
for the outcome of trade negotiations between the UK and

the EU and any disruption that may arise. Where passible we
are now contracting with customers directly through our
European-based subsidiaries and we have secured a European
accreditation route for our Rail business to supplement our
existing UKAS accreditation, which wil! allow us to continue to
offer our services across Europe. We have also assessed inventory
holding patterns for our MclLaren production line and have
appropriate plans in place to mitigate any short-term disruption
to the supply chain.

Outlook

Ricardo’s diversified business creates and delivers cross-sector
solutions, teols and products which help our clients address
some of the most pressing issues in the areas of decarbonised
and secure transport, clean air and the sustainability of scarce
resources. We enter the new financial year with a good order
book and we secured over £70m of new orders in July and
August 2020. We have an agile business that has proven its
resilience in a highly uncertain environment.

We continue to see good opportunities for Ricardo in the
markets that we serve, and through the execution of our
strategy we are well positioned to continue to grow our
Group as a sustainable business that delivers value for all of
our stakeholders.

TN~

Dave Shemmans
Chief Executive Officel
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Strategic performance

The Board monitors performance indicators related to our strategic objectives.

Sustainable business growth: we delivar profitabie and sustainable growth witn clear focus on futurs trends
and market demands, driven by client needs, technology change and the outlook for future policies and
regulations. which helps to create a cleaner, healthier and safer world.

Performance indicator

Commentary

Principal risks

Order book We closed the year with an order book of £314.0m, whizhos in ine with the pror Customers and markets
o year The Group’s order inzaxe ieduced by 4% to £308 7m nt-e year reflactirg
challenging trading conditiens, with delays in arders being placed in the imnal Brexit
2019/20 stages of the COVID-19 pandemic A discussion of the performance of each - R
201819 m segment 1s included on pages 47 to 59 covin-a
Revenue Repaorted Group revenue reduced by 8% to £352.0m Revenue was 12% lower Contracts

im

on an organic basis {after normalising the prior year result for the impact of RRA
and REEP)

Customers and markets

2019/20 he Energy & Environment, Defense and Rail segments saw increases in revenue Srexit
2o SN o oo year Automotive & Industrial, Performance Products and Strategic
2017118 m CZonsulting & Software segments saw revenue reductions CCVID-19
Maore details of this are described in the Financial Review seclion on pages 42 to
46, and in the operating segments review on pages 47 10 59
Net debt The Group had an increase in net debt of £26.0m in the year. This includes Contracts
fm £51m of acquisitions, net of cash acguired, and acquisition-related payments,
the net position on the purchase of the Detroit Technology Campus and Financing

2019/2¢ ReERl]

2018/19

201718 (26.%}

the sale of the Detroit engine test business of £114m; and a net £1.5m cash
outflow from restructunng activities. Contributions of £4 6m were also pard to
the definea cenefit pension scheme

Defned beneht
pension scheme

Risk mitigation: we mitigate business cyclicality and aim to avoid external dependency, whether this is related

to any particular geography, technology, industry, sector or client,

Performance indicator

Commentary

Principal risks

Segment diversity

Number 07 segmerts exwreedirg 10%
obigverue

2019/20
2018:19

201718

Four of our six operating segrments exceeded 10% of revenue, demonstrating
that the Group rermains well Jiversihed across s segrments. The four segmernits
which are above 1085 of revenue in all three years are: Energy & Envirenment,
Rail, Automorive & Industrial and Performance Products Performance by
segment is discussed on pages 47 (o 59

Segment diversity for FY 2017718 has been estimated as Ricardo began
reporting the cusrent seamantal spht in the current finanoial year, with
comparatives for FY 2018/19

Custorners and markets

Technclogy

Customer dependency
Number oF Zustomens sx eeding 30
O revenue

2019720

201819

20017118

The number of customers with whom reveniie was geperated rhat exceeded
5% of total revenue has remained consistently low over the last three years
Revenues from one customer represent approximately £46 1m (13%) of the
Group's revenue,

Whilst we retain a small number of key client refationships, we continue 10
have a dwerse customer base,

Customers and markets
Brexit

COVID-19
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Added value for clients: we deploy our know-how, experience and application expertise within a given sector
and draw on our cross-sector capabilities to provide greater insights and synergies. We employ research and
development to provide class-leading technology to cur Clients.

Performance indicator ~ Commentary Principal risks
Research and development 340 spend decreased Jus 1o a number of long runming Honzon 2020 propcts Technology

“rishing and the challe~ging auamotave maiketplace
spend ! Customers and markets

s Our R&7D spend focused on rasearch o1 maovative engineanng activitias, the
development of new technology, taols and processes. particularly in Autamorive
& Industnal and Energy and Environment, together with conunued investment in
deveropers of our software products

2019/20

2018.19

12.5

201718 Further details of active R&D projects are given on pages 13 1o 20.

Customer satisfaction % Custorrer sansfaction has improved over the past three years The net promoter Contracts
At s S Pl ot method, which we implemented three years ago, gives us greater insight nta the ) )
et feedback and has improved the number of scores received Customers and mar<ets

2019/20

2018119

201718

World-class talent: we promote and sustain a high-performance culture that attracts, develops and
motivates a highly skilled, diverse, agile and motivated workforce to deliver on our mission,

Performance indicator  Commentary Principal risks
Empioyee and The level of voluntary attrition has reduced and is consistent with current People
knowledge retention expectalions, as the economic situation rmpacts the global fabour market.

Volurtary employes turrover o We continue to see high demand from around the warld for our experienced Brexit

perarreum cansulrznts, eng neers and soientists who are experts in therr respective fields COVID-19

2019/20

201819

201718

Operational excellence: we maintain efficient and sustainable global operar ons thar are digitally enabled o
allow us to leverage data and bring existing processes and practices into a virtual environment. This improves
productivity and raduces the environmental impact of the business,

Performance indicator ~ Commentary Principal risks
Underlying™ operating The decrease in the Groups underlying  operaring profit marqin reflacts Contracts

profit margin methaencos fiom the slow-dowr 0 zroject delivery in the seoond half of ke

; 9 year Customers and markets
i Further details are described in the Hinancial Review on pages 42 to 46 COVID-19

2019120

201819

201718

Environment Scope t emissions vary based on project mix. We encourage improvements Laws and regulations
v 0 e per 2raplovec for szope 1 to reduce underying emissions and to mprove effective use of resourcss on

ardscope T oemissiors Broects.

2019120 3. QOur emissions per employee decreased this year, pnmarily due to the impact of

COVID-19 on operational activity Electricity 15 our largest single energy use; 74%

2 B N B
mans of electricity consumed is from renewable sources.

201718

1500 Glossary on page 200
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Engaging with
stakeholders

Culture, underpinned by our values, plays a fundamental role in the way that we do business
and deliver our strategic goals and KPis. The Board recognises that having robust governance
structures in place is vital to decision-making. The Board spends a lot of time listening to and
understanding the views of its key stakeholders. When discussing matters at 8oard meetings
these views form an integral part of the decision-making process.

In suppoert of the requirements of section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, we set out below how the Board has considered the key
issues of the Group’s stakeholders and how we have engaged with these stakeholders on these issues. As required by the UK Corporate
Governance Code 2018, the Board considers that its Non-Executive Directors, including the Senior Independent Director, have a good
level of understanding of the issues and concerns of major sharehalders.

Qur stakeholders Stakeholder issues How we have engaged

Clients

Clients are at the heart of what
we do - every decision we take
is to ensure we deliver great
service to our clients

Operational strength

of the Group and the
ability to meet customer
requirements

Ability to provide high-
quality services, technical
expertise and products

The Board receives regular feedback from Voice of the Client
reports completed by our clients

Staff

The experience and expertise
of our staff 1s 2ssential for

the delivery of our strateqic
objectives - we operate
within a culture of openness
to ensure that each of our
staff is focused an delivering
great service

See Qur People section on
pages 22 to 25

Culture and values
Wellbeing and flexibitity
Ethical standards

Pragression and personal
development

Remuneration

Diversity and inclusion
Workforce engagement
Health and safety

Focus on “Healthy People, Healthy Business” with the emphasis
on physical and mental wellbeing, of major importance during
the COVID-19 pandemic

Fast and efficient move to more flexible working practices,
including home working

Group-wide employee engagement survey

Annual Senior Leadlership Talent Programme, which pulls
together senior talent from across the divisions and regions

Annual Global “Business Leader Programme” to nurture
internal tatent

Promotion of Women in Engineering via a variety of
programmes worldwide

Group Code of Ethics, whistle-blowing hotline, regular training
Annual performance review and development process
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Engaging with stakeholders

Our stakeholders Stakeholder issues How we have engaged

Shareholders

Akey objective of the Board is
to create value for sharebolders
and deliver lorg-term,
sustainabie growth

- Financial performance
« Strategy

« Long-term viability

« ESG objectives

Annual General Meeting

Annual Report and Accounts, including enhanced
ESG disclosure

Results staternents, trading updates and press releases

Regular interaction between the Chief Executive Officer, the
Chief Financial Officer and institutional shareholders to foster a
mutual understanding of objectives, answer questions and to
keep them updated on ouwr performance and plans {one-to-
one meetings or group presentations and investor conference
calls following our results announcements)

The Senior Independent Director, the Chair of the
Rernuneration Committee, and the Chair of the Audit
Committee are available for discussions with major
shareholders, if required

The Chair also fooks to shareholder groups’ annual voting
guidelines to better understand their policies on governance
and voting

Regular reviews of major investors’ views on company
management and performance; Investec and Liberum, the
capital markets advisory firms, provide us with regular
reviews of major investors’ views on company management
and performance

Surveys of shareholder opinion following announcements
of results

Community/Social
Value

The Board s committed to
Improving sustainability and
helping communities thrive by
positively contributing both
sodially and economically

See the Environmental, Social
and Governance section on
pages 26 to 33

Economic and aperational
impact of Group businesses
on local communities

Environmental impact of
operations, both directly
and indirectly

Being able to demonstrate
clear ESG policies and how
these are measured

Enhanced ESG reporting within our Annual Report and
Accounts

Focus on providing services and products which positively
impact the environment

Celivery of approximately 15,000 face masks to local
communities during the COVID-19 pandemic across the UK
and US

Promotion of STEM in schools and colleges

Working with local communities and partnerships to provide
business input on economic regeneration

Supporting charitable fund raising activities across the globe

Suppliers

Building trusted partnerships
with our suppliers is important
in enabling us to provide the
best service to our clients and
provides a great platform for
our suppliers to grow

See the Environmental, Social
and Governance section

on pages 26 to 33 and the
Innovation section on

pages 18 to 20

Sustainable procurement
Paotential disruption of the
supply chain
Competitiveness

Single sourcing decisions
made with clients

Financial performance

Investrment in research
and development

We expect our suppliers to operate according to our Code of
Conduct, and other policies, and to behave responsibly. This is
embedded in our terms and conditions

Our Procurement Policy was published in January 2020

For key manufacturing suppliers, we have active supplier
quality assurance teams

We expect our suppliers to operate to 1509001, 1SO14001,
1S027001 and 13045001 or equivalent professional standards to
assure good performance

We encourage landlords and other key suppliers to maximise
use of renewable energy

Creating a world fit for the future 17
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Innovation

"Ongoing R&D investment supports Ricardo’s strategy for growth and business
diversification. We evaluate the benefit to our clients of our latest innovations, focusing on
delivering technology aligned with those enduring market drivers that bring value in volatile
market conditions. We understand the needs of our clients and provide solutions both to
create opportunities and to help those customers succeed in a world where the megatrends
of today are shaping the global economy of tomorrow.”

Mike Bell
Group Strategy and Transformation Director

In line with Ricardo's vision and missior, our R&D portfolic
extends across a range of market sectors. As the mobility
sector moves towards a zero-emissions future, the breadth of
Ricardo's operating businesses ofters symbnot:c opportunitics
The interdependencies between energy, environment, scarce
resources, waste, security and mobility are increasing. New roles
and responsibilities, collaboration and new digital entrants are
changing the landscape to open up new apportunities for
technological developments that will creaie a world fit for the
future

Our R&D investment is focused on enhancing cur
competitiveness and delivering innovative market-leading

services, sclutions and software within the context of a
sustainable, global marketplace. The impact of digitisation across
our market sectors is raflected in our current portfolio with a
wider range of appiications planned with particular focus on the
changes being brought as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Software and data are now playing a critical role in our research
projects -— whether in the context of virtual engineering,
modelling, cyber security or artificial intelligence 1he laigest
two areas of R&D are focused on Environmental Impact and
Virtual Engineering, with a smaller number of projects in the
areas of Cyber Security and Operational Excellence.

Cyber Security

Virtuat

Engineering

R&D Environmental
Portfolio

Environmental

lmpact Impact

Operational Excellence

R

The following sectians highlight key R&D projects which strive
to provide cost-effective solutions 1o the most prassing issues
facing our clients across cur operating sectors.

Environmental Impact: Manage & Optimise

Air Quality

RapidAIR was developed o fill the gap in the market for a
cost-effective, operational, city-scale dispersion madel with
convenient run-times. When using current modelling tools, run-
times in the order of several days or weeks can be expected for
city-scale Gaussian models with only a few hundred thousand
receptor locatians, which are then often interpolated to provide
continuous pollution surfaces. In contrast, the RapidAIR model
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Sustainable Mobility > < Environmental Sustainability ]

computes concentrations at maore than 100 million discrete
receptors in less than 10 minutes. This technology enables
policy options to be developed, tested and refined with more
speed and responsiveness than ever before. RapidAIR provides
an increasingly important decision-support wol for urban
planners and authorities as cities attempt to improve air quality
using zero- and low-emission zones linked to active traffic
management,

Vehicle Emissicns

The Real-world driving emissions project uses remote
sensing technology to accurately and instantanecusly measure
the emissions from vehicles on the roads in real time as these



emissions are released into the atmosphere. Remote sensing and
modelling support the design and development of effective
evidence-based clean-air strategies and low-emission zones

o mitigate air pollution preblems. In addition, local air guality
emissions inventories and air-pollutant concentration modelling
can be improved through the use of rzal-world emissions data
from remote sensirg Ricardo now has one of the largest real-
world emissions databases for the UK,

Environmental Impact: Abatement
Electrification

The BattSense project set out to measure the reversible

and irreversible changes relating to battery cells by using
other Ricardo P and know-how for low-energy ultrasonic
measurements. This technology was previously employed

to measure the thin films associated with bearing lubrication
and the change of the speed of sound in materiais under load
applied m wind turbine bearings. An informed defintion of
usable battery capacity will reduce pack size, and hence cost, by
approximately 7%.

Validation testing of BattSense technolegy has found accurate
state-of-charge tracking even under the extrernes of high
charge rates and sustained dormancy. Further work is underway
applying machine learning to determine the relationships
between measurements, chemical phenomena and state of
health/charge. The real-time measurements for the ultrasonic
devices will then be integrated as a primary measurerment within
our Battery Management Systems (BMS') to provide tangible
improvements for both cost and durability.

i-CoBat is 2 collaborative project, co-funded by Innovate UK,
which aims to address the application chailenges relating to heat

Strategic report
Innovation

rejectior and the need for constart temperature control within
battery cells by using a synthetic ester specifically developed

as a dielectnic and efficient coolant, and an optimised battery
pack. The main customer senefis of -CoBat include charging
times improved by 40-50% versus a conventionat liguid-cooled
battery pack; power density output increased by 20-30%; and
cell longevity improved by 5-109. Work packages delivered to
date have already helped secure projects with industrial, oit and
lubricant clients, together with a commercial deployment in
I"ﬂOTOFSpOFtS.

Flectrification Infrastructure

Active Response is a joint project with UK Power Networks,

an electricity distribution network operator (‘{DNO". Ricardo has
developed an inncvative solution to make better use of existing
network assets. The solution employs power efectranic devices
and advanced automation and optimisation algorithms to move
spare capacity around the network as demand changes. Active
Remsponse optimises power flows without disrupting the supply
of power to customers.

Renewable energy — Wind

Ultrasonic Bearing Measurement ('UBM’) is a project

1o develop a bearing instrurmentation system that enables
measurement of total roller load and load distribution on a rofler-
by-roller basis, both key inputs for a new bearing-life model.
Both systems have been active in a large energy supplier's trial
turbine, The retrofit sensor system will be capable of surviving
the harsh conditions faced by offshore wind turbines and can be
integratad with existing Condition Monitoring Systems (CMS')

1o enable straightforward deployment across new and existing
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wird farms worldwide. In conjunction with existing CMS data,
Ricardo’s UBM solutior will offer in-field measurement of wind
turbine bearing load conditions and enable operators to spot

the conditions that will lead to an early failure.

Managing Energy Storage

The TransPower project explorss vehicle-to-grid (V2G'} as one
of several smart rechnologies to benefit distiibution networks,
helping reduce netwark reinfarcement. costs to cops with

Lhe increase in electric vehicles “EVs). TransPower intends to
encompass the necessary work

to understand the value of
energy storage and further
prepare for sources

of network flexibility
such as V206, A greater
understanding and

7
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Jse of mobile battery assets (vehicles) have the potential to
dafer metwork reinforcement and support network resilence,
facilitating the connection of additional loads and low-carbon
techrologies It is estimared that the benefits of V2G could
deliver a customer benefit in the order of £450 per vehicle
annually.

Virtual Engineering

The Virtual Transmission System Calibration project has
developed a virtual transmission system calibration process
which offers the chance ta shift left (e to reduce the overall
programme timing of ) the calibration in order 1o mitigate
project overruns due to dependencies. Typically, transmission
developrment projects suffer delays ansing from late changes (for
example, packaging constraints). The process leverages Ricardo's
FAST-R (Flexible Advanced Software for Transmission control’)
and Ricardo Objective Assessment and Monitoring {R-OAM%}
software in combination with a new simulation model.

Operational Excellence
InfraMon was developed to provide continuous information
on the condition of railway tracks, using sensors and data-
loggers installed on board in-service trains. Data is reported to
maintenance teams via customised dashbeards, allowing
preventative action to be planned before track faults
cause serious disruption to services. InfraMon combines
cellufar communication, Gtobal Navigation
Satellite Systems (GNSS) positioning, and
sensor technologies coupled with a central
data processing server to deliver analytics and
operaticnal dashboards for track geometry,
railhead defects and ride comfort.
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Selected global and regional regulations

Global

‘ 26-28% reduction by 2025
compared to 2005 levels prior
to withdrawal from Paris Climate
Agreement*

PM. 12 ug/m’ Tyr average
NG, 100 pg/m? lyr average

IJb

O Federal Water Poliution Control
Act

57% reduction by 2030
compared tc 1990 levels

Net Zero by 2050

40% reduction by 2030
compared to 1990 {evels’

80-95% reduction by 2050

__\% As for EU

Q Transposition of the EU's Water
Framework Directive’

4L

PM_ . 25 ug/m?® Tyr average
NOQ, 40 ug/m’* Tyr average

O

e

India

-
-

|

China

Water Framewaork Directive

—

Japan

®

33-35% below 2005 emissicns
intensity of GCP by 2030

&

PM,. 40 pg/m? tyr average
NO. 40 ng/m? Tyr average (30
pg/m? in ecolegically sensitive
areas

4|l

Water {Prevention & Control of
Pollution) Act

Peak CO. emissions
by 2030

_% PM,. 35 ug/m?in Class 1 areas, 70

pg/mdin Class 2 areas lyr average

NO, 40 pg/m*in Class 1 areas, 80
pg/miin Class 2 areas 1yr average

Water Law of the Pecple’s
Republic of China

%

26% reduction 2013 levels by
2030

. )
=0

PM, 40 pg/m? Tyr average
NO. daily fimit value 75 - 113 pg/
m?, no annual limit value

O

Water Pollution Control Law

1 The EU s Currmatly proposing revised Largets of 30-33% educhor by 2230 compared to 1990 and Net Zoro ermissions by 20570 - these have nat yer bren enshrined in legisiation
2 "he Us axpressod sls Pans Thmate Agreement largel [or 2023 compared o 2005 foveks Thisis 2quivalent toa #0-'7% reduclion aganst 1390 levels by 2025 The US hag now withdrawn from the Pags
L B R e L A N S B TIT

3 The EL's Water Framework Dsreclive has been transposed (or the UK inte () The Water Ervirorment (Water Framowork Directivgd [England and Wales] Regulatiors 2017, w) The Water Environmaent and
Waler Services Scotland) Act 2003 and (i The Waler Frviror menl iWaler Framework Diroc tive) Regulations (vartherr leedand) 20017

& shipping P Aviation Wl GreenhouseGas(GHG =% Air () Water
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Our people

Board members

17%

10

Board
mambers

N roludes Compary Secretary

Who would have thought that the strapline of “Healthy People,
Healthy Business” would take on such a literal meaning this year?
Clearly the COVID-18 crisis is having an impact not cnly on the
financials of our business, but cven more s on our peeploe,

The pandemic has dramatically accelerated the already
ongaing trend towards mare flexible working, in terms of bath
place and time. The lockdown regulations in nearly all of the
counties in which we operate have forced most staff to work
from home; this, along with the closure of schools and the need
to factor in childcare reguirements, has made a more flexible
distribution of working hours necessary.

It is remarkable how seamlessly cur teams have embraced
these changes, and it is heart-warming to see how much our
employees have been locking out for each other in these
difficult times. There has been impressive creativity around
setting up provisional workspaces as well as in coming up
with team activities in spite of social distancing: the anecdotal

Senior leadership

W vl - -emale

All employees

22%

69 2,886

Rl Al employesas
leadersnio

12) =xcludes contractors

evidence of a lot of our colleagues stll finding time to volunteer
in their local communities proves once more that, as our CEQ
maintains, ‘good, geod people” are the heart of our business.

Despite the COVID-19 crisis taking a lot of management time
and attention, we have not lost focus on our ambitions as an
employer. We want all our employees to be happy and engaged
throughout their time with us - not just in terms of the cufture of
the organisation and their ongoing personal development, but
Jlso when it comes to competitive rernuneration and benefits
packages. The reduction in cur voluntary attriticn rate from
15% in FY 2018/19 to 1% in FY 2019/20 (which is inline with an
expected and healthy attrition level for a consultancy) shows
that our hard work is paying off.

To further assess the effectiveness of these efforts, we have
conducted a Group-wide Employee Engagement Survey, based
on the Gallup 12 guestionnaire. The results are generally positive,
with an overall average score of 3.8 out of a possible 5 and a

Ksenija Jelic
Head of the Shared Services Centre, Ricardo Prague

The Shared Services Centre in Prague is an administrative and financial
hub for Ricardo Automotive & Industrial’s EMEA business. | have a team of
thirty based in Prague and the UK, including experts in fields ranging from
accounts payable, project and general accounting, purchasing, to travel
planning and banking. Our mission and our passion are to deliver cost-
effective, customer-oriented, expert financial and administrative support
to the business.

With a Masters in Finance Management, | have 22 years’ experience
in finance, procurement and business support, in sectors including
public services and energy. | joined Ricardo in 2017 1o develop the Shared
Services Centre and find it to be the most exciting company that | have
worked for. | know that Ricardo is making a really positive impact on
the way society will work, travel and live in the future. | also enjoy the
company’s supportive, positive and open-minded corporate culture, which
values professionalism and excellence. At Ricardo | feel that L am in the
right place.
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Marques McCammon
President/Managing Director Ricardo, Inc

Coming to Ricardo is an exciting move for me. | have known Ricardo for
nearly as long as | have been in the auto business, having contracted
work to the US team when | was at Chrysler, consulted with them when
1was in the Board of Advisors for the Automotive Xprize, and partnered
with them while at Intel/Wind River. My hope is that | can bring a critical
outside-in view of the business that will help to guide our positioning, as
well as an appreciation for the market challenges and opportunities that

are unique to the North American market.

Since jeining the business in October 2019, my focus has been on
establishing a mindset of growth within the US operation, challenging
every employee to think big but stay focused. We want to blend the
discipline of scale and process that is inherent in Detroit’s automotive
complex, with the agility and rapid innovation that is indicative of
California’s Silicon Valley.

70% response rate, with slight variations between the divisions,
The survey will continue on a regular basis. Recent restructuring
activities, which were necessary 1o right-size the teams in scme
divisions, have clearly impacted the resuits,

Analysis of the survey data shows that across all divisions our
people value their colleagues’ commitment to quality work
and the overarching culture of excellence that Ricardo stands
for. We also score highly on clarity of responsibilities and the

The team based at Ricardo Shanghai

expectations of individual job roles, something that has been

an area of focus in recent years. [t was also confirmed that there
is a sense of genuine care displayed by managers throughout
the business, which for us is reassurance that cur management
training as well as our promation and selection processes are
succeeding in putting the right people into leadership roles and
supporting them well. Of course, there are also areas that we
would wish to further improve. Individual personal development
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The Ricardo Knowledge team responsible for the
launch of the new RiCK™ online research product

and recognition seem to be topics we need to pay even more
attention to. It will now be a great oppartunity for the divisions

to share their best practices and to address joint issues together.

The importance of ongoing feedback and recognition
is highlighted in our Senior Leadership Talent Programme,
which started in 2018 and which we are running for the third
time In 2020. The programme puils together senior talent
from across the divisicns and regions to work together an
improving leadership skills and building a solic network arcund
the business, It consists of a mixture of classroom training and
workshops with various executives of the business and is aimed
at the elite of our-up-and-coming feaders. The programme
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Andrea Suppa,
Manager, Systems, Controls and Virtual Engineering,
Ricardo Shanghai

I joined Ricardo nearly five years ago from an Italian automaker, and
initially worked in the UK on hybrid control systems before moving to
Ricardo China in 2017

The Chinese market is very dynamic, challenging and continuously
changing. Both as an organisation and at an individual level it is important
to keep adapting and improving how we work, given global market
conditions and increasing customer expectations.

I’'m not a nine -to-five kind of person, and the environment in Shanghai
- which challenges me every day with new and diverse tasks - is one that
inspires me and helps me to do my job with passion. At Ricardo China |
feel free to express my ideas and develop them, always looking at what
I'm doing as if it was my own company — and motivating others to think
strategically about everything they do.

Is complemented by

our global "Business
Leader Programme”

which focuses on the
business skills necessary
for SIT or executive level
positions, These leadership
development activities
aim to further increase

the bench strength and
successor readiness as part
of our Senicr Leadership
Tearn and Executive
Succession plarning. This
is an exercise we take very
seriously, not only from
the perspective of risk
management but also

to nurtura our internal
talent and provide career
perspectives up to the
highest levels in the
organisation. We are very keen 10 strike the best possible balance
between internal succession and a necessary influx of diverse
external talent, bringing different industry experience and
viewpaeints to the table,

In more general terms, our people activities revelve around
seeing employees as individuals rather than "resources”. Our
main focus has continued to be our apprentice, graduate and
young professionals’ schemes: the recruitment of the best
people who excel technically and are also a good fit with
our cultural values of Respect, Integrity, Passion, Creativity &
Innovation. in addition, a redesigned on-boarding process makes
new employees feel welcome and part of the team from the
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Kimberly Matenchuk,
Managing Director of Ricardo Software

| joined Ricardo early in 2020 from GE Digital where | had grown the
business substantially across the automotive, food and beverage,
consumer packaged goods, chemical, and life sciences sectors.

Digitalisation is of crucial importance to the future of Ricardo and will
affect almost every aspect of the Group's future business, from data
analytics to virtual product development and virtual consulting. It has
been great to join Ricardo at this point in its history and help shape the
future direction of the commercial software business.

I have a great team at Ricardo Software and together we are developing
the enabling simulation for the next generation of electrified and uvitra-
low and zero-emissions vehicles. More than just heiping define the future
of mobility, we are also seeking opportunities in adjacent industrial
sectors to broaden the market for our products and technology, while
also supporting the virtual engineering and consulting work of the wider
Ricardo Group.

day they sign their contract with us. We are providing training
and development to allow employees to give the best possible
performance based on their strengths, and we continuously
review and adjust cur policies and processes as well as our
remuneration structure,

The focus on “Healthy People, Healthy Business” last year
provided a special emphasis on employee wellbeing. The
increased provision around physical and memtal health gave
us a great head start ta effectively respond to the COVIED-19
situation. In fact, quite a few employees from our teams in Asia,
which was right at the peak of the crisis when the Gallup 12
Employee Survey took place, commented on how well they
thought Ricardo had managed the situation, showing great
flexibility and supporting staff on a personal level throughout.
Once we have left the acute phase of this pandemic behind us
there will be opportunity to look more closely at practices such
as large-scale home working — which could potentially reduce
fixed office costs, as well as broaden flexible working practices
10 take forward into the “new normal” business environment. In
that sense, the crisis has fast-forwarded a development which
would have taken us years to achieve to the same level under
“old-normal” conditions.

The excellence of our people is not only supported by cur
wellbeing programmes: it alse has its roots in our culture of
diversity and inclusion. We celebrate different cultures and

viewpoints and believe that our diverse workforce is the key o of nature will still outweigh any efforts of technology. It has
our success. The promation of Women in Engineering is a cause ernphasisec more clearly and more convincingly than ever
that is particularly close to aur heart, and we promote it with before the importance of our vision of Creating a world fit for

a variety of programmes across the globe, In terms of gender the future — and it has shown us that Healthy People do indeed
diversity, good progress was made during the year: particularly make a Healthy Business.

positive is the increase in women in senior leadership positions
from 11% to 17%.
If the last year has taught us one thing, it is that the power
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Our approach to managing Environmental, Social
and Governance (‘ESG’) matters

We understand the increasing importance of recognising and
mitigating cur impact on communities and the environment.
Qur vision Creating a world fir for the future 1s realised through

a mission which integrates the economic, environmental and
social aspects of sustainable development into our strategy,
operating model and significantly, into te work which

we undertake on behalf our customers. We recognise that
effective management of £5G issues s an integral part of
robust governance and business strategy with a link to firancial
performance and leng-term business model resilience. We

are increasing our use of ESG KPls o aid transparency and
measure aur progress guantitatively, espedially relating o
environmental impact.

Ricardo has a proactive and ergaged approach to ESG, which
is an essential part of our social value and the delivery of our
strategic objectives outlined on page 5. The envircnment is at
the heart of our strategy and is embedded in both what we do
and the solutions we deliver, as shown on page 1:
= Our core activities of access to clean air and water; decarbonised

and clean transport; and Net Zero energy and industry;
» Our enablers all provide the capability to deliver on our

E5G agenda

We support these core activities with research and development
to enhance our capabilities. These are described on pages 18 to
20. We rely on the inrovation, the talent and the technical and
communication skills of our employees, and we invest in their
development for the benefit of all our stakeholders. Dur values
and policies are designed to ensure that we and our suppliers
operate ethically and honestly, and that we meet our human
rights obligations.

We have a strong connection with many of the United
Nations' Sustainable Development Goals (UN 5DGS),
published on www.un.org/sustainabledevelopmert. These
connecticns link to our core activities, our internal operations
and our stakeholders, particularty the communities within which
we operate.

Opposite, we set out the UN SDGs which we strongly
connect with and outline how our core activities respond to
each of the challenges.

Key ESG topics
The table below details a number of key ESG topics and highlights our activities in the area.
ESG topics Highlights
Company Covernance and management of £50G Cormphance with the provisions of UK Corporate Governance Code 2018
matlers Roard oversight of ESG topics
Contnued inclusion o FISE4Go0d irdex
“ovironmental stewardshio and addressing  Implemented our Task Force on Climate-related rinancial Disclosuras [TCr D)
climate change recommendalions
Chimate Standards Disclosure 3oard published a case study on Ricardo’s scenario Dianning
Managing our environrmeantal footpnint corufe g s T AT on 3n anes Bt of einplovees)
oy al gt Cntissi oy ox e Ll v edn o Cordance weth 150008 -3, 000
Stralegy ‘o achieve Net Zero GHG status by 2030
Managing E5G-related risks TCFL activaties bave whenntad a miraber o Cimat -nzloed nsks
Climate-related nsks are subject 1o a br-annual board review
Customer Climate change/enviror mental projgcts 27% of our revenue = strongly driven by chmate change or the environment
56% of our revenue 1s drven by climate change or the environment to some degree
Employee "Healthy People, Hearthy Business” Focus on employee well-being  increased since LOVID-19
improving employes engagement - survey based on Gallup 12 (score 3 8/5)
Human Rights Support for Universal Declaration of Human Rights
Diversity Diversity - inCrease In women In senior leadership ocositions from 114 1o /9%
Healrh & Safety Conficatan Lo B0 AL Far 3y siten (990 of cmploy oo
Low reportable actident levels
Suppliers Sustainable procurernent Intraduction of sustainable procurement policy Uanuary 2020) and sustainable procurement
policy targeted for September 2020
Society COVID-19 contnbution Design and manufacture of 10,000 protective face shields for NHS workers, and ancther 5,000

in the Us

Local commurities

ACTive In communities working to promoete Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths

(STEMS in schools and colleges
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SUSTAINABLE e,
DEVELOPMENT =ms"AL

Sustainable
Development
Goal

Core activities The way we operate

GOS0 HEALTH
AND WELL-BEING

Decarbonised and clean

transport solutions Provision of a safe working

. environment, wel-bein
Access 1o clean air ’ 9

v programmes and employee
Secure, connected mobility benefits

solutions

CLEAN WATER
AND SARITATION

Monitoring water use on larger

Access 1o clean water N
sites

Decarbonised and clean
transport solutions

Net Zero and carbon-neutrai
solutions

Working in partnerships with
local communities around our
larger sites to reduce collective
energy use

Net Zero and carbon-neutral
solutions

Decarbonised and clean
transport solutions

Net Zero plan and targets which
will reduce energy and resaurce
use

1 CUMATE L
ACTION Decarbonisation of transport

Climate change risk management
Access to clean air Net Zero plan and targets

Net Zerg and carbon-neutral
solutions

GHG reporting and reducing
carbon footprint

1 4 1113
BELOW WATER

Active management of waste

Access to clean air and water .
streams on our sites

Active management of waste

. streams on our sites
Access ta clean air and water i
Encouraging low carbon travel

1o work

Stakeholders

Governments and local
communities, employees and
their families

Clients, governments and local
communities

Clients, governments and local
communities, employees and
their families

Clients, businesses, governments
and local communities

Clients, governments and local
communities

Clients, businesses, governments
and local corsmunities

Chients, businesses, governments
and local communities

United Nations Suslairable Development Goals web site hittps fwww L org/sustenabledevelopment/
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Governance and management of ESG matters
The Board is committed t¢ ensuring that the highest standards
of governance are maintained throughout the Group. The Board
reviews key elements of ESG on an annual basis. Wider aspects
of corporate governance including how we comply with the
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 are
descnbed on pages 90 to 96. In January 2020 we refreshed many
of our policies that cover the ESG agenda. They were all made
public via our website and are referenced in this report. This
gives our stakeholders increased transparency as regards our
commitments and the ownership for defivery within

the business.

To underline the importance of integrity in all relationships
between employees and stakeholders, we have ethics,
fraud-prevention and whistleblowing palicies, which are
communicated to all employees. A summary of these is
communicated externally through cur Code of Conduct,
which includes the policy elements required to meet our
human rights obligaticns.

Under our ethics policy we do not permit bribery, anti-
competitive or corrupt business practices in any dealings.

Under our fraud-prevention and ethics poiicies, which cover
anti-corruption matters, we do nct allow intenticnal acts by
one or mere individuals within the business to use deception,
bribery or theft to gain unjust or illegal advantage. Under our
whistleblowing policy we provide a procedure for any employee
to raise any malpractice CONCErns in an appropriate manner,
with protection to the whistleblower. Ethics and whistleblowing
policies and reports are reviewed annually by the Audit
Committee. We have an ongoing programme of training for
new employees as part of induction and refreshers for

existing emnployees.

Modern slavery

We continue to adhere to the requirements of the Modern
Slavery Act 2015 and have pubiished an updated statement
for this financial year on cur website. This subject is reviewed
annually by the Audit Committee. Our procurement policy
requires our suppliers to be comgliant.

Environmental stewardship and addressing
climate change
Clear scientific consensus exists that the Earth's climate is
changing, and that greenhouse gas {GHG) emissions from
human activities are a principal cause. For financial markets,
climate change is accepted as a non-diversifiable, principal risk.
At Ricardo, we understand that the implications of unchecked
erissions and the consequent global warming will be severe,
Climate change is pivotal to our ESG thinking, and to the
Group's stratagy.

In common with many organisations, Ricardo aiready
measures and discloses elements of its impact on the

environment, in particular via GHG emissions reporting (page 31).

We have chosen to start the process of disclosing the impact of
climate change on our business.
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Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
The Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures { TCFD')
recommendatiors are a global framework. The project was
imnitated by the Financial Stabiiity Board (F5B), designed to
erable publicly listed companies to better understand and
disclose the impacts of climate change on their businesses.

The TCFD recommends that businesses consider both the
opportunities and the risks associated with chimate change.

The TCFD recommendations aim to improve the disclosure of
information to allow investors, regulators and other stakeholders
to better assess and manage the risks and opportunities
resulting from climate change. Whilst the recommendaticns

are currently voluntary, Ricardo believes the recommmendations
align strongly with our vision and mission and aims to become a
leader in best practice in the sectors we operate in.

TCFD progress to date

In November 2019 we initiated a Group-wide programme based

on official TCFD recommendations. Fhe overall aims of our

exercise were:

« To build on the climate-related features of cur existing long-
term strateqy,

= Tofully explore our climate-related opportunities and risks, in
line with the TCFD ethos; and

+ To develop class-leading capabilities, enabling us to support
our clients” own TCFD journeys.

Qur programme included an exploration of future climate-
related scenarios, prioritisation of key risks and opportunities,
assessment of potential business impacts, and systematic
distillation of recommendations. This complex undertaking was
achieved using the Group's diverse skill-sets - climate specialists,
scenario-planning experts and management consultants. Using
external climate scenarios and impact assessments as inputs,
we developed four bespoke scenario narratives, each describing
a different hypothetical world around Ricardo in 2035, Brief
summaries of these scenarios follow:

« Creative Scavengers. The world is on a 4°C temperature-
rise trajectory through 2100, resulting in significant acute
and physical risks. This scenario assumes a lack of cohesive
international policy intervention, and sporadic technological
progress;

« Digitopolis, The world is on a 2-3°C temperature-rise trajectory
through 2100, with commensurate acute and chronic
physical risks. This scenario assumes some international policy
intervention, progress In energy efficiency, and a reduction in
travel enabled by digital technologies;

« Technopelis. Similarly, the world 1s on a 2-3%C terperature-
rise trajectory through 2100, with commensurate acute and
chronic physical risks. This scenario assumes little international
co-operation on policy interventions. Instead, major
breakthroughs in renewable energy technclogies enable
some climate change mitigation; and



« Feopolis. The world is on a less than 20C temperature-rise
trajectory through 2100. Chronic physical risks are being
addressed, although some extreme weather events remain
inevitable. This scenario assumes cohesive international policy
interventions and significant deployment of a broad suite of
effective renewable energy solut:ons.

The Climate Standards Disclosure Board has published a Ricardo
case study about the challenges of scenano planning for this
application. it can be found on the TCFD website {see https./
www.tcfdhub.org/case-study/). Our work has resulted in a clear
set of recommendations, which we have aligned to the four
officiat TCFD recommended disclosure themes

TCFD Theme  Progress to date

Governance = Thenclusion of 3 chmate change section in the
annual report represents the start of Ricardo’s
disclosure journey
Climare epportunities are reviewad at Joard level on
an annual basis as part of our strategy review and
budget setting processes

» Climate-related risks are reviewed at 3oard level as
par: of our bi-annual fsk review process

Strategy » Ricardo’s E3G agenda is aligned o our vision and
mission
o Roardasstarage inched-cospeciie thommess the et -

ta chmate change andits mingation: Jigitahsation,
decarbomsing transportation. and cross-a'visional
sotutions {see below)

Risk » Our TCFD achivsties have enabled us to assess

management and overlay further climate-related risks onto our
enterprise risk register

Met-ics and + Tosupelement the Group's existing GHG metnics and

targets Net Zero strategy, we have commuitted to sharing an

additional chimate change metric with stakehoiders
la order to provide increased ins.ght on chimate
change as a dnver for the business, we have analysed
Ricards’s own revenue stream and sohit this revenue
accorting to the extent o which each componrent
2lms to address an enviconmental or climate-change
issue. The results of this analysis are shown below

Opportunities to enable a world it for the futiure
We conducted TCFD activities in parallel with a leng-term
strategic planning project for the Ricardo Group. Indeed, both
activities used common future scenarics. Our TCFD journey
highlighted six key areas of cpportunity for the Group, including
focusing on the power and energy sectors, leveraging our
understanding of global requlatory frameworks, and providing
solutions outside the transportation sector. Importantly, the
rernaining three opportunity areas show clear overlap with our
strategy (set out on page 1)
= Digitalisation of products and services. Cur strategy includes a
strong digitalisation focus. Not only will this drive technical
innavation, it wilf alse enable Ricardo and its stakeholders to
reduce overall emissions.

Strategic report
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= Decarborusing transportation. Projects focused on reducing
the environmental impacts of transportation have been
a cornerstone of the Ricardo business for decades. The
development of mobility solutions with reduced life cycle
GHG emissions is a critical feature of Ricardo’s strategy; and

= Cross-divisional sofutions. Ricardo's operating segments
operate in market sectors with increasing synergies. Joining
up these capabilities to enable systems thinking, as well as
comprehensive technical delivery across complex client
programmes, is an essential part of our future strategy.

Managing ESG-related risks

Ricarda’s TCFD actiwties resulted in the identification a nurnber

of climate-related risks, including the following:

+ Physical nsks to our faciities. The growing severity of climate

change and variability causing physical disruption {for

instance, flonding) to business;

Climate fiability risks. Risks associated with either increases

in client litigation, a reduction in consulting budgets, or an

increase in litigation on Ricardo itself. Ricardo’s existing risk

register includes an assessment of risks to our business from
litigation;

Reputational risks. As investors and stakeholders place more

focus on climate change, a perceived lack of action could

result in reputaticnal damage;

» Changes in client requirernents driven by climate change. Climate
change could result in changing demand for certain products
and services. Qur strategy includes a strong decarbonisation
focus; and

« Changes in reguiations relating to climate change. As
environmental and emissions regulations tighten, the risk
of penalties for non-compliance increases. As a provider of
services relating to changes in global emissions standards
and environmental legislation, we are in a strong position to
anticipate and respond to emerging regulatory risks.

We have actioned the mitigation of these risks via our existing
enterprise risk management processes, At present, none of
the identified items are considered principal risks. Further
information on our risk management and principat risks to the
business is shown on pages 36 to 39,

Climate change and environmental revenue
Ricardo delivers many positive environmental cutcomes as a
resuft of the work we undertake. These include:

+ Ricardo- and customer-funded engineering projects to
develop low-emissicn and high-efiiciency technologies for
incorporation inte products around the world;

« Lower carbon usage through the delivery of engineering
projects that lead to more efficient consurmer products being
manufactured by our customers;

+ Ervirenmental consultancy, largely undertaken by Ricarde
Energy & Environment, which includes: excellence in thought
leadership around economic, societal and environmenital
interactions; extensive understanding of the climate change
challenges facing crganisations, including scarcity of natural
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resources, strategic sustairability and erergy management;
deep understanding of policy drivers, environmental strategy
ard economics, which provides insight and project delivery
for business and industry; and modelling and
data management to identify and realise value for
organisations; and

+ Improvements in operating efficiency carnied out by Ricardo
Rail for rail operators and rolling stock manufacturers,

These products and services will have ar impact on future levels
of emissions, waste, energy usage, water consumption and noise
across many of the markets we serve, The cumiilative benefits
of projects we complete each year save many multiples of our
operational carbon footprint aver the service iife of the products
we engineer and the service we provide to our clients,

In addition to the climate change/environmental impact, we
also categorise the revenue relating to safety as this has societal
benefits, For instance, Ricardo Rail s expertise and activities in
functional safety have significant societal benefits,

Ricardo’s revenue streams have been analysed to assess how
strongly they are driven by climate change and the environment.
For each item of revenue, we have applied one of the following
classifications:
= Revenue generated which is spedifically intended to address
climate change;

Revenue generated which 1s driven by a sigrificant

environmental issue;

+ Revenue genetated which has environmental benefit as one
of its drivers;

= Revenue generated which relates to safety in terms of both
assurance and mobility improvements; and

= None of the above

This analysis shows:

- 27% of our revenue is strongly driven by climate change or
the environment;

= 586% of our revenue is driven by climate change or the
environment, to some degree;

< 10% of our revenue relates to the sacietal benefits associated
safety; and

« Qur business activities are well aligned to our vision: Creating a
world fit for the future

H FY
Clll'l:late change and Sae120
environmental revenue %
contribution

Driven by climate change

Driven by an environmental issue
Has environmental benefits
Relates to safety

None of the abave

zEEEN
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Sedimentand water quality sampling as
part of an investigation at Heathrow

Managing our environmental footprint

We are committed to managing our environment footprint and

reducing it to a minimum, as well as ensuring that our services

have a positive impact on society and the communities where

we are based. The Board's commitment to this is embodied

in our environmental policy (available internally and via our

website) which covers:

= Relevant UN Sustainable Developrnent Goals;

+ Delivering services that enable strategic improvernents for our
customers and the end-users of their products and services;

= The need for continuous improverment; and

The desire 1o be responsible members of the local

communities in which Ricardo operatas.

The impact of our operations, particularly testing and
manufacturing, are the largest contributers to cur operaticnal
carbon footprint and GHG emissions. Our testing for custormer-
and research-funded programmes primarily uses fuels and
electrical energy; in addition, there is energy required for
heating some of our sites. Our manufacturing energy use is
predominantly power for machine tools and assembly facilities
and gas used in our heat treatment plant. Our Scope 2' use is
mainly electricity. We have measured our Scope 3' emissions

1 Socglossary on page 20°



from air travel. All our Scope 3 conclusions this vear have had
t2 be drawn from first-half data due to the distortion caused by
COVID-19 driven travel bans

We comply with the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic and
Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013 on GHG emissions and have
stated our comparative history in cur Strategic Performance
on page 15. We comply with Streamlined Energy and Carbor
Reporting ('SECR’) via our disclosures below under the
Greenhouse Gas Protocol. As this requires the inclusion of fuels
used in engine and vehicle testing, variability in results year-on-
year can be expected due to the varned mix in types of test and
engine size.

Greenhouse gas emissions

Strategic report
Environmental, Social and Governance (‘'ESG’)

Projects to reduce energy consumption and manage waste
responsibly are actively encouraged and have become more
important as Janit fuel costs increase; waste streams have also
become more significant as the manufacturing activities of our
Parformance Products division have grown.

We focus our operational carbon footprint improvements or
underfying energy efficiency pnor to the use of fusls for testing,
which varies based on client requirements. We continue to use
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (1CO2e") per empioyee as
an iNtensity measure.

FY 201718
Scope 1and scope 2
FY 2019/20 FY 2018/19 paseline
Emissions - 1CO2e (000s)
Scope 1 4,343 4914 8538
Seope 2 - Location based 4,981 6,187 8,221
Scope 2 Market based 2,016 2535 4175
scope 3 Aurtravel 3,967 Nodata o data
Total - Locanion based (Scopes 1 and 2) 9,324 11101 165,859
iotal - Market based (5copes 1 and 2) 6,359 7349 12,813
Total Location based (Scopes 1,2,2) 13,291 N/A N/A
Total - Market based Scopes 1,.2,3) 10,326 N/A MN/A
Scope 3 - Airtravel base line 6,015 N/A N/A
Intensity Measures
{1CQ2e per employes)
Scope 1 1.42 1.66 278
Scope 2 Location based 1.63 209 265
Scope 2 - Market based 0.66 Q89 135
Scope 3 - fur travel 1.30 No data No data
Total - Locauion based (Scopes 1 and 2) 3.05 3176 543
Total - Market based (Scopes 1 and 2) 2.08 255 413
fotal  Location based Scopes 1,2.3) 4.36 N/A N/A
Total - Market based (Scopes 1.2,3) 3.38 NAA N#A
Electricity consumption Mwh
Electricity consumed {all sources) 17.455 20,355 24113
Jenewable energy consumed 12.973 14,579 16,174
Percentage of renewabie electnoty used 74% 71% 67%

- Theoporatioral coelol teslis apphed Lo deterrura if an enrussior s within Scope
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« Eruission factars used for fuels and UK Iocauon based clectnoily are based on UK BEIS/DEF RA conversior factors for 2020 Electnaty crissiors factors osed for location-based calealations are the most
recent IEA factors for the countiy Blectucty erissions factors wsed for market-based calculations where rerewable clectnaly 1s not supphed are the most rivcent year GWP residuel mix factors from atb-
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- Our UK ap2malors are our biggest 2onsumes of olectocty, whore we directly procuce electnoily from ronowable sources for our largost sites

« Thesalo of the DTC test faciity had no mareaabimpact on ths year's crissions due Lo Lhe trming of Lhe sale
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Net Zero strateqgy

Ricardo intends to achieve Net Zero GHG emissions fromits

operations by 2030, through the following methods:

1. Maximising use of renewable energy sourcing;

2. Reducing the size of our properties as more flexible office
working is implementad;

. Maximising digital-frst” to optimise our travel needs;

4. Using high speed trains in place of short haul air travel where

practical;

Using the most fuel-efficient aircraft for long haul travel;

6. inplementing energy efficiency improvements focusing on

our high energy use sites; and

Making use of verified offsetting schemes to offset residual

emissions

[VE]

I

>

We will implement independently verified science-based targets
during FY 2020/21.

Passible trends in energy usage
It should be expected that FY 2020/21 data in some measures
will be above FY 2019/20 values due to low operational and
travel activity caused by COVID-19. The maost significant positive
impact will result from the full-year effect of the sale of the Detroit
Technology Carmpus (DTC) test facilities, which will significantly
reduce US electricity and test fuel use and therefore increase
the proportion of renewable electricity consumed. Some of the
countries in which we operate have nc energy market, and itis
therefore not possible 1o buy renewables in those lacations.
We believe that our test business will evolve over the course
of the Net Zero journey period to use tess conventional fossil
fuel due a combination of electrification and an increased use
of biofuel and e-fuels. This is a natural consequence of the
decarbonisation of transport in the marketplace.

Environmental management

As a responsible employer, we seek tc protect and care for our

employees by providing a safe and healthy work environment

and by minimising the environmental impact of cur operations.
Many of Ricardo’s customers require certification for their key
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sdppliers in respect of the enviranmental management system
standard, 15C 14001. Our certification directly covers 35 sites
and 25% of our employees. The remaining employees and sites
are managed via the i50 12001 processes. The achievement of
the standard 1s defined by appropriate paolicies, processes and
procedures as part of the management system in each division.
Many of these are closely Iinked to both quality and health and
safety procedures.

Other envirenmental impacts arfse from waste streams,
which are monitored to identify potential improvement
opportunities and 1o ensure legislative compliance. Higher-
risk areas of our facilities, such as fuel storage and distribution
systems, have containment and inspection regimes that meet
local legislative requirements.

The suite of 150 certfications and the supporting internal
and external audit programimes are used to check policy
effectiveness, to share best practice, identify improvement
cpportunities and ensure cormpliance. Stafl training in health and
safety and environmental matters is a priority and is reviewed
armually as part of normal appraisal processes, We have not had
any enforcernent action, ines or penalties this year.

Human rights
The Group firraly believes in the principles behind the Universal
Declaration of Hurman Rights. We support this by having a strong
commitment to comptiance with laws and regulations in the
regions in which we operate, and by expecting the same from
our suppliers. In January 2020 we published our Human Rights
Policy, enhancing and clearly stating cur commitments in the
public domain. We specifically include staternents on children’s
rights and chitd labour. We have no known incident of human
rights policy breaches during the year,

In our Human Resources Policy, we protect freedom
of expression, freedom of association and freedom from
harassment, bullying and discrimination. We promote diversity
and clear lines of responsibility, and we are a Living Wage
Ermnployer. We focus on cur employees taking ownership of their
work-life balance 1o provige a flexible working environment. In
South Africa we have very few employees and we do not need
to comply with B-BBEE legislation'. We have no known incident
of labour standards breaches during the year.

Health and safety

Ricardo is committed to compliance with local health and safety
legislation, to a safe working environment and to a minimal level
of reportable accidents. We support training in health and safety
internal audits and inspections, and we are now certified to ISO
45001 in our technical centres and larger offices in the US, the
UK, the Netherlands, ltaly, the Czech Repubilic and China. Qur
certification directly covers 35 sites and 95% of our employees.
The remaining employees and sites are managed via the I1SO
45001 processes. Our Health and Safety Policy is available
through our intranet and to the public through our website, Risk
assessment is an integral part of our processes, both on a project

* SeeGlossary or page 200



Ricardo’s Dipak Mistry volunteers with the See Kenya
eyesight charity, which works to reduce blindness
and provide specialist eyesight care in Kenya

basis for specific hazard management and more generally in the
way manage risk on our sites and in travel,

Our health and safety, HR and site management teams
ard occupational heaith providers have played a key part in
our COVID-19 respanse. They have been actively supporting
employees with concerns, delivering safe work environments
and ensuring the business can operate with rapidly changing
regulations across our sites around the world.

We recognise the level of reportable accidents as a measure
of performance in health and safety. The number of reportable
accidents decreased in this financial year. The overall level is still
low and shows the continued success of our health and safety
policies. We continue to focus on reducing accidents and near-
misses as part of our commitment to cContinuous improvement
and loss prevention. All accidents and non-injury incidents
are investigated and reported te divisional managements and
employee consultation forums.

Reportable accidents®

2018119
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Oerurrerces Regulations (RIDDOR)

Sustainable procurement
We published our Procurement Policy in January 2020 as part of
a range of commitments to cur stakeholders.

Retations with our suppliers are essential in achieving client
and shareholder satisfaction. Cur policy is that key suppliers
should be certified to 1SO 9001, 15O 14001 and 150 45007
standards, and all suppliers are encouraged tc obtain these

Strategic report
Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG")

certitcations There are no significant supply contracts which
are essential to the business of the whole Group, and we
are not reliant upon any suppliers that would jeopardise the
independence of the business.

Initiatives are managed by our Head of Global Procurement
and savings are delivered by consolidating the supply base and
reducing the total cost of doing business.

Investing in our communities

Itis our policy and objective to make a positive contribution

to all regions and communities in which we operate. Many of
the larger Ricardo offices support local community activity
and give charitable denations, especially where employees
participate in community or charitable fundraising activities. The
focus is on creating sustainable links to the community, and on
improving the image and understanding of the business, and
the engineering and scientific professions, in the community.
Qur policy is published here: Engaging and supporting local
communities (wwwy.ricardo.com/policies/engaging-and-
suppoerting-local-communities).

Community engagement in promaoting Science, Technology,
Engineering and Maths {STEM) subjects and diversity has been
a key part of our employee involvermnent. We responded to the
COVID-12 <risis by focusing on ‘digital-hrst’ for our engagernent
and look forward to resuming normal activities as sccial
distancing rules are relaxad,

A wide range of activities have been undertaken, namely:

= Partnerships with schools near our larger sites , supporting
curriculum delivery and teacher engagement in STEM;

« The automatic enrolment of many of our UK graduates as
S5TEM ambassadors when they join the business;

« Working with universities and coileges to give opportunities
for work experience and internships;

= Support for university teaching from Ricardo Software with its
products; and

« Support for employees and their farmilies who were not in
school during the COVID-19 pandemic, for whomwe setup a
range of "STEMCasts” cn a wide range of topics delivered by
employees across the Group. Each event had an activity and
offered prizes for the best soluticn to a challenge. Subjects
included "how planes fly”; “doud in a jar” and “steam engines”.

We also work with our local communities to provide business
input on econcmic regeneration, and we actively engage in
local partnerships, particularly in the area where our Shoreham
Technical Centre is located, where we are the largest private-
seCtor employer,

Donations

We often match staff donations to charitable activities,
particularly where there is active staff participation in events.
Financial contributions to charities in the financial year were
£17484 (FY 2018/19: £43,710). The external cost of the COVID-19
face shield project was £1,505 this is charitable in its nature.
The effectiveness of these policies is infermally measured by
community feedback.
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COVID-19

As part of the international effort to supply Personal Protective Equipment (PPE’) required
by those working to combat the COVID-19 pandemic, our purpose-designed protective face
shields were used by front line healthcare workers in Michigan, US and across the Midlands

and the south of England.

Around the middle of March when the COVID-19 pandemic
began to escalate, we all felt that we could be applying our
engineering, design or manufacturing capability to help
alleviate some of the biggest technical or product challenges
which were emerging. The need for PPE for frontline
healthcare workers was clearly urgent.

From concept of the face shields to assembly took just three
weeks, leveraging our experience in engineernng design in
Prague and the UK, high value rapid response assembly, and
supply chain management. In that three-week pericd our
team, which was headed by Programme Lead Phit Mortimer,
created a bespoke design for the face shields, working with
local NHS doctors to test the PPE for enhanced comfort and
wearability over extended periods. Secondly, Performance
Products’ Head of Procurement fan Morris and our
procurement teams sourced a manufacturer in longstanding
supply chain partner Stephens Plastic Mouldings, using tooling
co-funded jointly with us. Thirdly, the team worked with the
industry-leading test provider SATRA to secure fast-tracked
testing of its protective face shield to EN166  crucially, testing
that enabled the PPE 1o be NHS approved for COVID-19
emergency use.

To ensure that the face shields could reach care home and
NHS workers as quickly as possible, facilities were repurposed
at the Shoreham and Midlands Technical Centres as assembly
lires and logistics centres,

This effort was matched in the US where Ricardo North
America project engineer Patrick Jones also put his skills, and
3D printer, to good use by helping with the creaticn of PPE

face shields, partnering with Operation Face Shield Ann Arbor
to create face shields. Ricardo North America leaders were so

proud of bis work, they pledged to provide printing materials
and financing.

The results of these activities were that in the US an additional
5,000 masks were created for Michigan residents, while in the
UK 10,000 protective face shields which we designed, tooled
and assembied were delivered to front line NHS and healthcare
workers in just over 100 NHS hospital trusts, care homes, nursing
homes, GP surgeries and hospices across the Midlands and
south of England.
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As part of the national effort
to supply Personal Protective
Equipment {'PPE’) required by
those working to combat the
COVID-19 pandemic, Ricardo’s
purpose-designed protective
face shields were delivered to
front line healthcare workers
in care homes and NHS sites
across the Midlands and the
south of England
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Risk management and internal control

The Board has overall accountability for ensuring that risk

is effectively managed across the Group. We consider that
effective risk management is critical to the achievernent of
Ricardo’s strategic objectives and the lorg-term sustainable
growth of cur business. Such systemns are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve Ricardo’s
objectives and can only provide reasonable assurance against
raaterial misstatement or loss,

Risks are reviewed by all business areas on a half-yearly
basis and measured against a defined set of likelihcod and
impact criteria. Risks are measured both before and after the
mitigating effect of the application of compensating contrals.
This is captured and reported consistently, erabling the risk
information tce be consolidated and ranked. The key risks are
then summarised in the Group's risk profile ard submitted to
the Becard for review and approval.

As part of the bi-annual risk management process, Directors
and senior managers are required to certify that they have
astablished effective controls ta manage risk and to comply with
legislation, as well as with the Group's policies and procedures.

Ricardo’s internal contro! and monitoring procedures include:

» Clear and understood responsibilities by both line and
nnancial management for the maintenance of good
financial controls and the production of accurate and timely
rmanagement informaticn;

= Reguirement for divisional Finance Directors to confirm on
a monthly kasis that appropriate controls are in place and to
identify any exceptions, with the outcormne being reviewed
by the Group Financial Controfler and Group Risk Manager &
Head of Internal Audit;

« Divisional Finance Directors have line-management
responsibifity to their Managing Directors, but with an
independent renorting line to the Chief Financial Officer;

» Control of key inancial risks through clearly set authorisation

levels and appropriate segregation of accounting duties;

Control of key project risks through project delivery and

review systems;

Control of other key business risks through a number of

processes and activities recorded in the Group's risk register;

= Detailed monthty forecasting and reporting of trading results,
financial position and cash flow, with regular review by
management of variances from budget and forecast;

» Review and reporting by the internal audit function on
divisional compliance with internal procedures and financial
controls; and

+ Review and implementation of recommendations in reports
on interndl control by external auditors.

To ensure our risk process drives continuous improvement
across the business, we maonitor the ongoing status and
progress of key action plans against each risk on a half-yearly
basis. Risk is a key consideration in all strategic decisions made
at Board level. In the June 2020 risk review cycle, we considered
risks associated with cur custorners, suppliers, employees,
finances and climate change, the potential impact of Brexit and
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COVID-19; we now report the latter as an additional principal risk.
Progress on managing the impacts of COVID-19 was reported

to the Board on a weekly basis from end January 2020. Our
principal risks and the approach to their mitigaticn are discussed
on pages 37 to 39.

The Group bas risk management processes in place for
projects and other business risks, Contract risks are managed
through a project management process which is closely linked
to measurement of financial performance The majonty of active
projects are reviewed on a monthly basis within divisions. In
addition, the highest risk-category projects are independently
reviewed by the Group either on a quarterly basis or once
significant milestones are deemed to have been achicved. Non-
contract risks are owned by the Group functions and divisionaf
Managing Directors. These non-contract risks are analysed,
regularly reviewed and recorded in the Group’s risk register in
lizison with the Group Risk Manager & Head of internal Audit,
who has an independent reporting line to the Chair of the Audit
Committee, The Group's approach to risk management is to
identify key risks early and to remove, control or minimise the
impact of thern before they occur.

Risk transfer is managed through insurances by the Group
Risk Manager under the direction of the Chief Financial Officer,
The insurance programme is reviewed annualy by the Board
to ensure that it continues to meet business naeds as the risk
profile changes.

Risk appetite is managed through a number of internal
controls, autherity limits and insurance excesses. The Group's
risk appetite was reviewed during the year as part of the Board's
review of risks and is stated as an internal policy document.

The Group's internaf audit function provides assurances on
divisional systermns of internal control, risk management and
campliance with applicable legislation and regulations. This is
complemented by internal audits required as part of maintaining
certifications to international standards for management
systems, The effectiveness of these risk management and
internal audit processes is reviewed annually by the Audit
Committee and is set out on pages 98 to 101

Financial risks faced by the Group comprise capital risk,
liguidity risk, credit risk and market risk {comprising interest rate
risk and foreign exchange risk). The Group's objectives, policies
and strategies in respect of these risks are set out in Note 27 to
the Group financial statements.

The Company complies with the 2018 UK Corporate Governance
Code by ensuring that:

+ Risks are either classified as strategic or operational and as
either internally or externally driven;

Risks are evaluated on a gross and net risk basis; and

The Chief Executive Officer reviews the higher-rated risks on the
Group's risk register with the Audit Committee twice each year,
in the presence of the cther Executive Directers and the Chair.

We also ensure that emergent risks are considered as part of the
Board’s existing half-yearly reviews of risk and annual review of
strategy.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

In common with all businesses, the Group faces risks

and uncertanties on an ongomng basis, IUis the effective
maragement of these risks that places us in a strong position
1o be able 1o achieve our strategic objectives ard 1o embrace

opportunities as they arise.

The following table details the Group's principal risks, the
mitigating activities in place to address them, and the additional
actions implemented to further reduce the net risk to the Group.
The mitigation of the principal risks is within the Group's risk

Principal risk

Customers and
markets

The Group operatas in a dynamic,
diverse and poliucally volatile
rrarketniace, which is exposed to
marty legislative and econormic
pressures, These include pressiires
o Improve urdar air gudlity, reduce
graenhouse gas enisxons, provide
Independent emsions testirg and
to navigate the imopact of Brexit and
global trade 1ensions

Changes in the market could cause
changes or uncertainty in the product
plans of major customers or government
policy, leading to delays in the
placement of new orders of insourcing
of activity, the redirection, deferral

or curtailment of existing contracts,
slippage In payments or variations in
demand for resources and availability of
project funding. Unpredictability in the
timing of the receipt of orders and the
utilisation of our resources to generate
revenue and profit may give sorne
volatility in our ability to forecast future
performance. COVID-19 is an exampie of
one of many factors.

appetite, which is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee,
ltis also recognised that the Group is exposed to a number of
emergent risks that are currently deemed to be less material,
together with additional risks and uncertainties beyond those
listed that are presently not known to management and which
may also have an adverse effect on the business.

e Redurad nsk e No charge o roreased sk

Movement in risk

These risks are mitigated by the strategy of diversifying the Group to
reduce exposure 1o any one specific customer, territory or segment.
Challenges currently being faced by our automotive businesses across the
globe can be mitigated by other segments. The success of this strategy is
measured by the key performance indicators for customer dependency
and segment diversity shown on page 14 and by the geographic spread
of revenue, as disclosed in Note 6 to the Group financial staternents.

In the event of a sudden downturn in a segment or the wider econcmy,
contingency plans are quickly deployed to minimise the impact on
short-term performance and to preserve cash whilst protecting the long-
term needs of the Group's stakeholders. The impact of insolvency risk is
mitigated by robust working capftal managernent and the use of credit
insurance where this s economically available.

COViD-19
{Pandemic disease)

The Group operales In many
countries and 1s subject to their
public health controls incfuding
the control of diseases that can

e dvsted v eandes 5 Tha
consequences of this can be

s b ant e o o o peonle
and their health, to our operations,
abuhry o rravel and those of clieats
and supplers

o

COVID-19 has been the first pandemic
to 1impact the business The effects have
included- lockdowns for many weeks in
most territories where clients, suppliers
and Ricardo operate; working from
home or limited staff acuvity; delays in
supplies; client force-majeure notices;
significant limitations on commuting
and business travel, increased sickness,
new and rapidly changing government
requirements and so forth. All these
slowed revenue generaticn and, in some
cases, orders and payments.

This risk was mitigated by a series of actions managed via our Crisis
Managernent plan which was activated in early February using some
mitigations frem our pandemic disease planning and some from our
custormers and markets risks, We quickly set up a command structure
support by a team of senior Group staff reperting to the CEO. When
leckdown in Europe was inevitable, we increased our remote IT capability
without reduction in IT security controls and transitioned about 2,000
employees to heme-based working in less than a week, with minimal
disruption. We made limited use of appropriate government schemes to
support businesses.

As we move to a "new norrmal” which is likely to last until the pandemic

is under control, we have evolved our operating model 16 be less
dependent on fixed office laocations. We have become more agite in the
way our office-based stafl work and will need less space in some iocations
over time, employing an emplayee-focused “Healthy People, Healthy
Business” approach. Our client and supplier facing teams have successfully
adopied ‘dgital-first’ as we sell and detiver. We have reduced our cost
based to make the business more resilient.

Brexit

Brexir is a source of political,
regulatory and economic insiability,
which coulit have dsigificant
impact on the Group foran
uncertain period of tme The Group
has assessed the risk and taken
appropriale action, and continues
to maniter the situation in readiness
o change and implement further
plans as mare information becomes
available

The main areas of potential mpact

are these rade tanlls, exchange rales
and supply-chain disruption within
Performance Products, the need for
additional certficatons in the EU for Rail,
the ability to recruit staff, the mobility

of peaple to work within the EUJ and

the UK, and the ability to contract wilh
customers between the EU and the UK.

I Performance Products we have ensured all documentation is in place
to continue to export to key clients in the EU. We have considered the
potential impact of tariffs, exchange rate movements and logistics
disruption on our EU supply chains. Arrangernents are in place to increase
inventory levels.

Our Rail Notified Body {NoBo') accreditation in the UK is no lenger valid
in the EU after Brexit, s we have obtained NoBo status from the Danish
and Durch certification authorities so that we can maintain access to the
EU market.

Te reduce the risk of loss of contracts with the European Commission,
we added capability in the Netherlands to contract with the European
Commission and provide them with ongoing support.

We are monitoring the potential impact of the implications of ongoing
trade negotiations cn empioyee mobility and our ability to recruit

EU nationals for LUK roles and vice versa, We believe that our range of
geagraphic locations across Europe will continue to make us an employer
of choice.
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Principal risk

Contracts

LR I LTINS

or Ze Contracts for eng.nesnng,
techmizal 2wironmental and
strategic corsullancy services,
Lagether with accraditanon and
indegendent assurance sarvecas,
witn an noraasingiy broad ranga
of orojects, Customers ang
geographies There s arsk that the
obngaton to camplete the agreed
scaoe of these contracts may be
carred out over a longer imescale
IR
than irstally estimared, reducing

coyhie wea ye1 o
RIS

LT e gt

)
In product supp y confracts, there
15 a nsk of product ahility, recalt or
warrantly C'arms and dependency

on specialist supphers

Contracts denominared in foreign
currencigs can be subject o
axchange rate nisk,

Failure to perform on contracts within
estimated cost and delivery timescales
could impact profrabiliy, Failry
products, or the infringement of the
rights of others, could potentially subject
the business to increased costs, a claim
from a customer, reputational damage
or reduced opportunity for repeat
business. Failure of production processes
or product validation could lead to
warranty or recall claims Failure or poor
performance of a supplier could disrupt
delivery to customers and increase
operating costs, Unhedged adverse
foreign exchange rate movements on
contracts could aiso affect profitacility.

Project leadership and management are the Group's core competencies.
Led by the Group Engineering and Programmes Director, the Group
remains focused on the continuous improvement of these functions.

Risks are proactively managed by clearly defined fead qualification,
bidding, contracting and project management processes, whereby
projects are initially categorised according to their risk level and thewr
performance is continually assessed throughout the life of the groject,
which in turn dictates the level of approval or review required. Internal
procedures are in place 1o ensure that the technical content of our output
is of high quality and meets customer requirements without infringing the
rights of others, and within time and cost estimates.

Procurernent processes are in place 1o assess critical suppliers and
selections are often made with the invoivement of the customer. In
product supply contracts, there are rigorous quality assurance processes in
place to reduce the risk of product liability, warranty and recall claims.
Significant contracts in foreign currencies are hedged 1o protect aganst
volatility in exchange rates.

People

Ricardo 1s a diverse business that is
knowledge-drven and people-
led, with a focus on artracting and
retaining the best talent Recruiting,
developing and refaining
knowledge and talent in the right
lacations is essentuial

The failure to recruit, develop or retain
the very best talent would restrict
growth and the execution of our
strateqgy, and would have an impact on
delivery and customer relationships.

The Group is focused on & madel of ‘bringing in and bringing on’ the

best talent. We aim to ensure that we actively develop and manage

staff to encourage their optimum contribution; we foster mobility and
professional development, and we provide appropriate remuneration and
working conditions. Our IT infrastructure enables us to share work and
mitigates mobility issues. Qur people as stakeholders are discussed further
on pages 22 16 25.

Technology

The business ¢ enabled through
the development of new
rechnology 1o meet the neads of
market sectors, customers, and
regulators on varying time scales.

If the Group invests in technologies

that later prove (o be upsuitable, it

could lose markeiplace advantage

and revenue could reduce. f there are
disruptions in the implementation of
new regulations, which in turn accelerate
or delay customer programmes
dependent on new technology, the time
taken to deliver returns from our R&D
programmes may also increase.

Our R&D programmes are deveioped through @ mixture of customer
consultation, long-range forecasting, thought leadership and deep
technology roadmap development. Many of cur prograrmmes are
coliaboratively developed and delivered with customers, partners,
governments and suppliers, which creates strong links t¢ the market and
ensures the output is relevant and credible.

The programmes are approved and delivered within the divisions, with

a small number of programmes managed at a Group level through a
disruptive mnovations team Staff and fadlives are shared acrass multiple
geographies to deliver innovative sclutions and services to the market and
capitalise on our internally developed intellectual property and know-
how. Further details of a selection of cur current R&D programmes are
given on pages 18 1o 20,
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Principal risk Mitigation

Laws and regulations

Tz Groun s oparations arg
subject s an -noreasngly wide
rarge of evolving Jomestic and
Interngionaaws and regulations,
Nz ading st Cnons standards
and rax egsiation

Failure to comply with, or faillure to adapt
to changes in, laws and requlations
including restrictions, standards and

tax legislation could expose the Group
to increased compliance costs, fines,
penaities or reputationa’ damage, or
result in trading restrictions which could
have a materially adverse impact on the
business or Impede the Group's ability
10 recover certain available tax-related
credits.

To mitigate these risks, the Group has a number of defined policies and
operating procedures in place, and takes professicnal advice, where
considered necessary, to ensure that the Group acts upon current

and anticioated changes in legisiation. Our Code of Conduct, which is
published on www ricardo.com, ensures that employees and others act
with the highest ethical standards and within locai legal and regulatory
requirements.

In January 2020 we refreshed several policies and published them on
www ricardo.com to provide greater transparency to aur commitments to
many areas of the ESG agenda

The Group's internal 2udit programme includes within its remit the review
of compliance with applicable legislation and regulations, and awareness
of key Group policies and procedures. These are updated as regulations
change and as a result of cur continuous drive to adopt best practice. We
aim to anticipate the impact of working in new countries and new sectors,
particularly within our Rail business, which cperates in a growing list of
territories and cultures, each with its own regulations, standards and laws
with which we need to comply.

Unsettled rax credits clairned within 2 finandial year are recognised to
an appropriate levet at which management is highly confident of full
recovery, and in a manner that is consistent with both current legislation
and professional advice.

Defined benefit
pension scheme

Ihe Zravs Nas a Lk bt beenefr,
pension scheme which currently
Nas a luedny debon The -
uncertanty caused by both
COVID-19 and Brexit has increased
the volatiiity in the assets and
habibbes of the scheme

Jnarmin

(1)

Any decline in the value of the pension
fund assets, increase in life expectancy,
long periods of high inflation or
decreases ininterest rates would
increase the funding defiat and require
additional funding contributions in
excess of those currently expecied.

The Group closed the pension fund to future accrual in 2010. The current
funding plan was agreed on the basis of a valuation undertaken as at 5
April 2017 and anticipates deficit recovery contributions being made untid
July 2022, 1n addition, the Group regularly monitors the performance of
the pension fund.

Funher details of the Group's defined benefit pension scheme can be
found in Note 33 to the Group financial statements,

Financing

The Group s in a net debt postion,
naving drawn or available facilities
onmanly 16 fund acquisiions and
for generai rorporate purposes

There is a risk of the Group being
unable to secure sufficient financing at
reasonable cost in order to carry cut its
strategic objectives.

This risk Is mitigated by robust cash and working capital management,
reqular process impravement initiatives, monitoring actual cash flows to
budgets and forecasts, maintaining good relationships with the Group's
bankers and ensuring that sufficient borrowing facilities are in place at
all times 1o suppaort the Group’s funding requirements to deliver on its
growth strategy, with additional headroom availabie to meet possible
downside scenarios.

As at 30 June 2020, the Group has sufficient headroom in its facilities and
covenants, During September 202C the covenants for the December 2020
and June 2021 tests were amended, providing further headroom. The
Greup increased its borrowing facilities in May 2020, raising the committed
facility to protect against downside scenarios and support the Group’s
growth strategy to 2023.

Further details of the Group's barrowing faciliies and other financial risks
can be found in Note 25 and Note 27 to the Group financial statements,
respectively.

Information security
Ricardo nas valuabie inteliectual
assets comprised of propriety,
customer, and supplier data.

The theft or loss of intellectual assets
could result in reputational damage,
luss of coinpelitive advantage, business
disruption and financial penalties.

Ricardo has implemented a global Information Security Management
System (ISMS") and achieved certification to 150 27001 "Information
Security Management” at our rain facilities.

The Group IT Director is accountable for managing information security
resilience, which inctudes cyber risk. Dedicated information security
resources monitor and manage our threat profile. Externat penetration
tests are conducted to augment our control regime,

Information security risks are reviewed by the Group IT Director each
quarter and integrated with the Group's enterprise risk management
process. Bi-annuat briefings on informaticn security are made to the
Audit Committee.

Creating a world fit for the future 39



Strategic report

Viability statement

The Directors have assessed the prospects of the Group
in accordance with provision 31 of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governarce Code.

The context supporting the assessment

The Group's prospects are underpinned by its business
model and strategy, which can be found on pagss 4 to

5. The Group continues to follow a balanced approach

to 1ts strategy, which is subject to ongoing monitoring

and development as described herein. The underlying
operat:ng profir of the Group has grown on average by 7%
each year over the last five years. However, COVID-19 has
negativety impacted opsrating profit in the current year,
wath underlying operating profit reducing from £39.6m m
FY 2008/19 to £200m in FY 2019/20. The reported operating
loss was £09m in FY 2019/20. The Group has a year-end order
book of £314.0m, of which 35% is expected to be workable
beyond 12 months from the year-end. The year-end order
book comprises the value of all unworked purchase orders
and contracts received from customers.

The strategy of the Group is to develop and deliver
innovative, Cross-sector sustainable, efficient and secure
energy, environmental ang mobility solutions and products.
The Greup's businesses facus on the development of longer-
term, multi-year contracts and relationships, underpinned
by global macro trends. The Board has considered the risk
appetite and profile of the Group in this context and has
determined that this remains appropriate for the Group
as a whole.

Assessing the prospects of the Group

The Group's prospects are assessed primarily through its
annual strategy review and business planning processes,
which cover a five-year period and a three-year period,
respectively, and are both ied by the Chief cxecutive Officer.

The strategy review is a forward-locking process and is
undertaken by the Group's constituent divisions, with full
participation by members of the Board, which resufts in a
five-year strategic plan. Fart of the Board's role is to review
the performance of the Group in the last financial year and
to consider whether the strategic plan remains appropriate.
This includes an assessment of changes in the market and
competitive environment, together with macroeconomic,
potitical, societal and technological changes. Actions are
implemented as necessary to continue to support the
strategic plan.

Detailed business plans are also prepared during the last
quarter of each financial year by all the Group's constituent
divisions, with the involvement of relevant functions
including Finance and Treasury; these plans are then
reviewed and approved by the Board The first year of the
business plan forms the Group's annual operating budget.
This is subject to a re-forecast on a monthly basis. The second
and third years are based on the overall content of the year-
one business plan together with the strategic plan, having
been flexed for known or anticipated events.
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Assessment of viability

The three-year business plan reflects the best estimate of

the prospects of the Group. This has been stress-tested

to consider the impact of the COVID-19 ocutbreak on the

Group's results, operations and financial position in a range

of scenarios, including a severe but plausible downside

scenard, with more detailed cash flow forecasts orepared

which cover the period to June 2022, The scenario includes:

» Group revenue continuing at H2 FY 2019/20 CQVID-19
impactad run-rates for the whole of FY 2020/21. Relative
to FY 2019/20, the scenario assumes a 15% reduction
in annual A&l revenue and a 20% reduction in annual
Porformance Products revenue In addition, specific
sensitivities have also been included to modei the
potential impact of slippage in contracts and lower
volures in segments including Defense, Rail, and RSC
& Software. Given the current market and pipeline of
opportunities, ne sensitivities have been applied to Energy
& Environment. FY 2021/22 Group revenue is projected to
increase by 9% on the sensitised FY 2020/21 levels, broadly
in line with FY 2019/20 revenue, largely driven by increased
volumes in Defense and Performance Products; and

» Anincrease in the Group’s working capital days of ten, to
model the potential impact of a continuation of the slow-
down in project delivery, combined with delayed receipts
from customers.

This scenario incorporates appropriate mitigating actions and
cost saving measures which are within the Group’s control.
The impact of this scenaric on the Group's business plan has
been quantified and presentad to the Board as part of the
approval process. The scenaric, which is based on aspects
of the Group's principal risks and uncertainties, including
customers and markets, COVID-19, contracts, and financing,
as set out on pages 37 to 39, represents severe but plausible
circumstances that the Group could experience,

The results of cur stress-testing showed that the Group
would be able 1o withstand the impact of the scenaric
occurring over the period of the plan, by making adjustments
1o its operating activities within the normal course of
business. The severe but plausible downside scenario does
not present a significant threat to Group's liguidity. Although
headroom under the Group’s banking covenants is reduced
under the scenario, no banking covenants are breached.

The Group also performed reverse strass-testing on its
financial plan using these scenarios to identify the point
at which its banking covenants would be breached. In the
event of such scenarios materialising, more severe cost
actions would be taken to ensure covenant compliance.



Viability statement

The Directors have assessed the prospects of the Group over

the three-year period t2 30 June 2023 and confirm that their

assessment of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the

Group was robust. A three-year period was selected for the

following reascns:

+ This period reflects the detailed business planning cycle,

« Lead times on customer contracts and typical engineering
programmes are no longer than three years; and

« Although the strategic plan covers a five-year penod, the
Group's order book and pipeline of opportunities does not
extend significantly beyond three years.

Whilst the Directors have no reason to believe the Group
will not be viable beyond the three-year pericd of this

The Ricardo ConnectHEV
demonstrator vehicle showcases
connected technologies which are
helping to accelerate the adoption of
electric and hybrid vehicles

Strategic report
Viability statement

assessment, a three-year period is deemed most appropriate
given the inrherent uncertainty invelved and the stress-
testing scenarios considered as part of the three-year
business plan, together with the reasons outlined herain.

Based on their assessment of prospects and viability, the
Directors confirm that they have a reasonable expectation
that the Group will be able tc continue in operation and
meet its liabilities as they fall due over the three-year pericd
ending 30 June 2023.

Going concern

Given the viability statement provided above, the Directors
therefore considered it appropriate to prepare the financial
statements on a going concern basis, as explained in Note

1{a) to the Group financial statements.
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lan Gibson
Chief minancual Officer

"The Group delivered revenue of £352.0m and underlying profit before tax of £15.6m in the
year, a reduction of 8% and 58% on the prior year, respectively. The Group made a reported loss
before tax of £5.3m. The results reflect a backdrop of automative market challenges and, in the
second half of the year, COVID-19, which nad a significant adverse impact on the Group. The
closing order book was in line with the prior year at £314.0m.

The Group has taken positive steps to restructure and create a more agile and asset-light
business, including the sale of our test facilities in Detroit in June 2020. Our cash performance
has been good, particularly in the second half of the year, where net debt was flat, driven by a
continued focus on working capital. In May 2020, we negotiated an amendment to our banking
facilities, thereby increasing liquidity and near-term funding, with an additional amendment
agreed in September 2020, providing further headroom.”

Group results

The Group's headline financial results are presented on page 6.
Compared to the prior year, the Group’s performance reflects
market challenges in our automotive-related businesses and the
COVID-19 outbreak, which had a negative impact on trading in
the second half of the year.

Energy & Environment (EE") and Defense delivered increases
In profits in the year. Both benefited from buoyant markets and
a largely public-sector customer base, which helped to maintain
performance during the COVID-19 crisis. Our Defense operations
are deemed essential by the LIS Government. The Australian
acquisition in EE performed in line with plan..

Rail delivered an increase in profits, driven by the performance
of its recent acquisition in Australia, which has performed strongly
since its acquisition. This was offset by challenges in the UK
and Asia, with reduced volumes and delays to major projects.
Restructuring actions were cormpleted during the year 10 realign
the business to match demand.

Our automotive-related businesses were impacted by
continuing challenging market conditions and the COVID-19
crisis. COVID-19 resulted in a slow-down in project delivery, due
to customers either closing down their operaticns or working
remotely due to various lockdown restrictions, This first impacted
our China operations in late January 2020, before spreading to the
US and Europe in March 2020. Action has been taken to address
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these challenges through the restructuring of our automotive-
related activities including the disposal of test facilities and
reductions in the cost base, creating a more agile business, as set
out in the comments on specific adjusting tems below

Performance Products (‘PP delivered a lower volume of high-
performance engines and transmissions than the pricr year due
to the closure of some of our customers’ production lines as a
result of COVID-19 in the final quarter of the financial year Qur
customers have since returned to production.

The segmental results are discussed in more detail on pages 47
0 59.

Order intake down 4% on FY 2018/19 with ¢losing
order book at £314.0m,

The Group's overall order intake reduced by 4% to £368.7/min the
year, reflecting the challenging trading conditions, with delays

in orders being placed during the COVID-19 pandemic. Order
intake averaged £27m per month in the second half of the year,
compared to £35m in the first half. The closing order book was
£314.0m (FY 2018/19. £314.0m), demonstrating that the Group
continues to win work during these challenging conditions.
Order intake includes £16.3m In respect of Transport Engineering
{renamed Ricardo Rail Australia, or 'RRA) and PLC Consulting
{renamed Ricardo Energy, Environment and Planning, or ‘REEP")
which were acquired on 31 May 2019 and 31 July 2019, respectively.
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Headline trading performance

Underlying®” Reported

Operating  Profit before Operating {Lossl/profit

Revenue profit tax loss/{profit) before tax
FY 2019/20 {£m) 352.0 20.0 15.6 (0.9) (5.3)

=Y 2015419 L) 3344 306 372 291 202

Add performance o1 32usons - i m) 161 49 35 47 35

Qrgamc 1Y 205712 k) 4205 433 405 331 301
Decline {%) (8} (49} {58) (103) (120)
Organic decline' (%) {12} (54} (62) (103) {118)
Constant currency organic decline* (%} {12} (53} (61) (102) mz
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Revenue down 8% on FY 2018/19

Against what was a challenging market backdrop, reported
Group revenue reduced by 8% to £352.0m (FY 2018/19: £384.4m).
Revenue was 12% lower on an organic basls, after normalising the
prior year result for the impact of RRA and REEP.

Underlying operating profit down 45% on £Y 2018/19,
with a reportad operating loss of £0.9m (FY 2018/19:
profit of £23.1m)

Underlying operating prefit, which excludes net finance costs and
specific adjusting items, as set out in Note 7 to the Group financiat
statements, decreased by 49% to £200m (FY 2018/1%: £33.6m).

Underlying operating profit margin decreased to 5.7% (FY 2018/19:

10.398), reflecting the lower order intake and mefficiencies from
the slow-down in project delivery in the second half of the year.
EE, Defense and Rail delivered increased operating profit.
Rail's result reflects 2 strong performance from RRA since its
acquisition Operating profit declined in the Automotive &
Industrial (A&, Performance Products and Strategic Consulting
& Software segments. On an organic basis, underlying cperating
profit declined by 54%. The FY 2019/20 reported operating loss
was £09m (FY 2018/19: £29.1m), with the reduction driven by an
increase In specific adjusting itemns, as set out below.

Undetlying profit before tax down 58% on FY 2018/19,

with a reported loss before tax of £53m (FY 2018/19:
profit of £255m)
Underlying profit before rax decreased by 58% to £15.6m (FY
2018¢19: £370m). On an organic underlying basis, profit before tax
declined by 62%.

FY 2019/20 reported profit before tax includes £209m of
costs relating to specific adjusting iterns (FY 2018/19: £10.5m).
FY 2015/20 specific adjusting items include £11.9m (FY 2018/15:
£3.4m) of reorganisation costs, which reflect actions taken to
restructure the Group and right-size the cost base in the wake of
the challenging market conditions and the economic downturmn.

Sf e gty 30T reaf e Tan vsis aehuming e maIT o Tone g SR m AT ge Lee WOte 0 The T

It alse included the sale of our engine test businass in Detroit in
June 2020, for an initial cash consideration of £2.8m and joss on
disposal of £2.1m. These are discussed in more detail below.

Net debt up 55% to £73.4m
Closing net debt was £734m (FY 2018/19: £474m). The increase in
net debt in the year (£26.0m), was driven by the purchase of the
Detroit Technology Campus (DTC) facility (comprising north and
south buildings} in August 2019 for a consideration of £14.2m (see
further details below), the purchase of REEP (£3.8m, net of cash
acquired), £1.3m of other acquisition-related cash costs, and £1.5m
of net restructuring cash costs (net of the £2.8m of initial cash
consideration received in relation to the sale of the Detroit engine
test business). The net Cash inflow from working capital, excluding
specific adjusting items, was £4.5m in the period, reflecting a
strong focus on cash collections combined with lower levels of
trading in the second half of the year. The composition of net
debt is defined in Note 25 to the Group hinancial statements.
Details of the Group's banking facilities are set out on page 46.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared In accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (1IFRS) and
International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations
Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations adopted by the European
Union (EU") and the Companies Act 2006 applicable o
companies reporting under IFRS. The Group's principal
accounting policies are detalled in Note 1 1o the Group

finandial staternents. Those accounting policies that have been
identified as being particularly sensitive to complex or subjective
judgements cr estimates are disclosed in Note 1(c) to the Group
financial statements.
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New accounting standards

The Group adopted IFRS 16 leases as of 1 July 2012 The Group
adopted the modified retraspective approach to transition.
Under this approach, the Group has not restated comparative
financial information, which remains presented under 1AS 17 As
set out In mora detail in Note 2 to the Group financial statements,
the transitional impact from the application of IFRS 16 was a
reduction (o opening reserves as at 1 july 2019 of £3.7m after tax.
The impact of {FRS 16 on the Group's underlying operating profit
was an increase of £09m and there was a £0.2m regative impact
on the Group's underlying profit before tax for the year ended

30 june 2020. The impact of IFRS 16 on the Group's reported
operating profit was an ncrease of £4 8m and there was a [3.7m
increase in the Group's reported profit before tax for the year
ended 30 June 2020.

Acquisitions and acquired intangibles

As set out in more detaill in Note 14w the Group financial
statements, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of
PLC Consulting Pry Ltd (renamed Ricardo Energy, Environment and
Planning, or ‘REEP"} on 31 July 2019 for an initial cash consideration
of £4.2m (AUD 74m), which included an adjustment of £0.3m (AUD
04m} for cash and normalised levels of net working capital, paid

in November 2019, The maximum contingent Cash consideration
payable is £1 5m (AUD 2 6m), based on a combination of the
achievement of certain performance targets over a two-year
period and the continuing employment of seliers in the business.
£0.7m (AUD 1.3m), representing an accrual for the fair value of the
expected year-one earn-out payment, has been recognised in the
Income statement within specific adjusting items.

This investment added goodwill of £2.6m (AUD 4.6m) to the
Ricardo EE cash-generating unit and acquired intangible assets
of £1.3m (AUD 24m), which have a net book value at year-end of
£0.9m (AUD 1.7m). Amortisation of £04m (AUD 0.7m) has been
charged to the income statement as a specific adjusting item in
the period since acquisition, together with £0.2m (AUD 0.4m) of
expenditure incurred in relation to the post-deal integration of
the business.

In the prior year, the Group acquired the entire share capital
of Transport Engineering Pty Ltd (renamed Ricardo Rail Australia,
or 'BRA) for an initial cash consideration of £21.7m (AUD 392.5m;,
including an adjustment for cash and normalised net working
capital of £0.5m (AUD 09m), which was paid in August 2019,
together with the accrued provisional fair value of contingent
cash consideration payable of £5.1m (AUD 94m),

The maximum contingent cash considearation payable is £8.1m
(AUD 15.0my, based on the achievernent of annual performance
targets across a two-year earn-out period. £2.1m (AUD 3.8m} has
been accrued within specific adjusting items (see Note 7 to the
Group financial statements) in the current year, reflecting the
increase in the fair value of contingent consideration payable
based on RRA's results for the year to 30 June 2020,

Amortisation of £1.9rm (AUD 3.6m) on acquired intangibles has
been charged to the income statement as a specific adjusting
itern in the financial year, together with £0.2m of expenditure
incurred in relation to the post-deal integration of the business.

44 Ricardo plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019/20

Specific adjusting items

As set out in moere detall in Note 3 and Note 7 to the Group
financial staternents, the Group's underlying profit before tax for
the year excludes costs incurred duaring the year that have been
charged to the income statement as specific adjusting ttems of
£209m {FY 2018/19: £10.5m).

Reconciliation of underlying profit before tax to
reported (loss)/profit before tax

£m FY 2019/20 FY 2018/19
Underlying profit before tax 15.6 37.0
Amortisation of acqured rangibles @ (49
Acquistion-related expendiiue 30 R
AZIUS - D7 purcnase and

impairment 36
A&IUS - Test business foss on disposal {21}
ARILS - ex it of SCTC and other

recrganisation costs 0.9
Other reorganisation costs (53) (34}
GMP equakisation - 1.3
Reported (loss)/profit before tax (5.3) 26.5

£6.0m of amortisation on acquired intangibles was charged in FY
2019/20. In addition to amertisation in respect of RRA and REEP,
£37m was charged in respect of acquisitions made in prior vears.

Acquisition-related expenditure of £3.0m was incurred in FY
2019/20 {FY 2018/19: £1.8my). FY 2015/20 costs include £2.8m of
accrued earn-cut payments for RRA and REEP. A total of £1.3m
was recognised in respect of external transaction fees, acquisition
and post-deal integration costs. In addition, a £1.1m gain was
recognised from the settlement of a foreign exchange option
contract, which was tzken out 1o inance an aborted overseas
acquisition. FY 2018/19 costs included £04m of accrued earn out
costs and £1.4m of external deal fees and acquisition costs.

Reorganisation costs include £6.6m of costs in refation to
the major restructuring of our US A& business, in line with our
strategy of realigning its cost base in order to male it a more
operationally efficient business. These costs have been included
as specific adjusting items since they are significant in quanturn
and would distort the underlying trading performance if
included. In August 2019, we purchased the freehold property
at OTC (comprising the north test buildings and south office
building) for £14.2m (USD 17.3m), thereby removing the US A&
business from its long-term lease commitment on the property.
We immediately marketed it for sale, together with our DTC test
assets, which were held for sale at the end of the prior financial
year, and recognised a £6.7m impairment charge to write down
the value of the facility to its fair value. This was partially offset by
the release of a £3.1m lease liability on its purchase.

In June 2020, we sold our test operations in DTC (test assets
together with the DTC narth building) for an initial cash
consideration of £2.8m (USD 3.5m), which could increase to
£4.4m (USD 5.5m) depending on the volume of testing work
placed into the facility by Ricardo over the next two years. A
loss of £2.1m was recognised on the sale. In addition, we also
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Ricardo’s VR-based vehicle styling review app was demonstrated to attendees of the Ricardo Motorcycle conference

exited the aftertreatment business at our Santa Clara Technical
Centre (SCICY, incurring £0.4m of exit costs and the write-off of
equipment. £0.5m of redundancy and incremeantal contractor
costs were incurred in the year in connection with these acticns.
The OTC south building continues to be marketed and remains
held for sale.

£4.0m of redundancy costs were incurred in FY 2019/20 across
the Group's automotive-related businesses (A&l in Europe,
Performance Products and RSC & Software, totalling £2.6m) and
Rail (£1.4m). In our automative-related businesses, these actions
were taken as a result of major restructuring required to right-size
the cost base in these businesses in response to the challenging
trading conditions.

The Rail costs represent the completion of a restructuring
process which commenced in the prior year to realign the
business to market demand. As part of these restructuring actions,
a charge of £0.6m was recognised in respect of the vacant partion
of the Cambridge Technical Centre (CaTC), £04m of professicnal
fees and £0.3m of incrementat contractor costs were incurred
in relation to the restructuring initiatives in FY 2019/20. The total
costs of these restructuring actions have been included as specific
adjusting items since, together, they are significant in quantum
and would distort the underlying trading performance if included.
In the prior year, £24m of redundancy costs were incurred in
A&l Europe and Rail, together with £0.7m of costs in relation
to onerous contracts and £0.3m of contractor costs. The FY
2018/19 A&l restructuring costs were not linked to the FY 2019/20
restructuring programme.

Research and Development {'R&D’} and capital
investment

The Group continues 1@ invest in R&D and spent £12.5m (FY
2018/19: £13.4m) before government grant income of £1.1m
{FY 2018/19: £2.2r). Costs capitalised in the year were £8.0m
(FY 2018/19; £75m), reflecting our continued investrment in
our Software segment, together with new technology, tools

and processes in our A&l and EE segments. During the year,

we successfully completed the sale of the Group’s CryoPower
intellectual property to FPT Industrial S.p.A. An overview of current
RED activities is presented on pages 18 to 20.

Additions 1o property, plant and equipment, exduding right-
of-use assets, were £22.0m (FY 2018/19: £76m). Excluding the
DTC facility purchase, additions were £78m, reflecting continued
Investment in our business operations, including new and
upgraded test-cell equiprment, machinery and IT equiprnent.

The total Research and Development Expenditure Credit
(RDEC) recognised in the year was £7.7m (FY 2018/19: £71m).
This comprised an estimated RDEC credit in respect of the
current year of £6.7m (FY 2018/19: £6.9m), together with £1.0m
(FY 2018/1%: £0.2m) arising from the routing amendment of
open applications as a result of further analysis of the qualifying
expenditure incurred.

Net finance costs

Finance income was £04m (FY 2018/19: £0.5m) and finance costs
were £4.8m (FY 2018/19 £3 1m) for the year, giving net finance
costs of £44m (FY 2018/19: £2.6m). The increase was primarily
due 1o the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases, which resulted in the
recogniticn of £1.2m of interest costs in relation to leases brought
on to the financal position.

Taxation
The total tax charge for the vear was £1.1m (FY 2018/19: £6.6rm)
and the total effective tax rate was negative at (20.8)% (FY 2018/1%:
positive 24.99%). The underlying effective tax rate for the year was
263% (FY 2018/19: 22 2%), with the increase reflecting the iImpact
on deferred tax as a result of the UK Government’s decision not to
implement a reduction in the tax rate from 19% to 17%.

Deferred tax assets of £94m (FY 2018/19: £6.7m) include £51m
(USD 6.3m) (FY 2018719 £4.9m (USD 6.3m)) of R&D tax credits
in the US which continue to be recognised and have been
partially utilised during the year. The Directors have considered
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Ricardo supports Scotch Whisky industry with journey to Net Zero

the recoverability of these assets and remain satisfied that itis
probable that sufhicient taxable profts will be generated in the
foreseeable future, against which the recognised assets can be
utilised.

Earnings per share

Basic loss per share was 12.2p (FY 2018/19: earnings per share
37.1p). The Directors consider that underlying earnings per share
provides a more useful indication of performance and trends over
time. Underlying basic earnings per share for the year decreased
to 21.3p (FY 2018/19: 53.7p).

Basic loss per share is disclosed in Note 8 to the Group financial
statements, alongside a recondciliation to underlying basic
earnings per share, which excludes the net-of-tax impact of
specific adjusting items.

Dividend

The Group paid its FY 2019/20 interim dividend of 6.24 pence per
share (£3.3m) on & April 2020. The Group paid a total dividend

of 21.28 pence per share {£11.5m) in relation to FY 2018/19
performance. Due to the reduced performance experience by the
Group in the second half of FY 2019/20, after careful consideration,
the Board have decided not to recommend a final dividend

for the year. This difficuit decision has been taken to protect
Group's financiat position. The board recognises the importance
of dividends to shareholders and intends to resume dividend
payments as soon as it Is appropriate to do so.

Banking facilities

Cn 5 May 2020, the Group exercised £50m of the accerdion
option of its banking facilities, thereby increasing the Revolving
Credit Facility (RCF) to £200m and increasing the amount
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undrawn and available to £70m. This provides the Group with
increased committed funding available for the remaining term
through to July 2023,

In addition 1o the increased committed funding available, the
Adjusted Leverage (defined as n=t debrt over underlying EBITDA)
covenant was increased from 3.0x to 3.75x for the next two test
dates of 30 Jure 2020 and 31 December 2020. Following the
year end, on 9 September 2020, the definition of the Adjusted
Leverage covenant for the December 2020 coverant test date
was amended to be based on two times the six months  £BITDA
to December 2020. In addition, the June 2021 covenant was
increased t0 3.75. The only other financial covenant is Interest
Cover. This remains at 4.0x for each test date, but with the
December 2020 test based on two times the six months' EBITDA
to December 2020.

Net debt of £734rm at 30 June 2020 comprised cash and cash
equivalents of £66.3m and borrowing and overdrafts of £139.7m
excluding finance leases Tolal facilites before borrowings are
£2166m. This provides total cash and liquidity of £143.1m as at 30
June 202C.

The Group's cormmitted facilities are denominated in Pounds
Sterling and have variable rates of interest dependent upon the
Group's adjusted leverage, which range from 1.4% to 2.2% (FY
2018/19: 1.4% to 2.2%} above LIBOR.

The group continues to have good access to liquidity and
the Board remains focused on ensuring that the Group has
the appropriate capital structure to ensure its ability to trade
resiliently in these uncertain times as well as having the ability
to successfully pursue its growth strategy. Further details are
provided in Note 25 to the Group financial statements,

Foreign exchange

On consofidation, revenue and costs are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. The Group is exposed to
movermneants in the Pound Sterling exchange rate, principally
from work carried cut with customers that transact in Euros, US
Dollars and Chinese Renminbi. Compared to the prior year, the
average value of the Pound Sterling weakened by 3% against the
US Dotlar, and strengthened marginally against the Euro and the
Chinese Renminbi. On a constant currency basis, underlying and
underlying profit before tax on an organic basis would both have
been £0.2m higher.

Pensions

The Group's defined benefit pension scheme operates within the
UK. The fair value of the schemne’s assets at the end of the year was
£1504m (FY 2018/19: £1375m). The accounting deficit measured in
accordance with 1AS i9 Employee Benefits was £6.7m pefore tax
(FY 2018/19: £8.5rm).

The £1.8m decrease in the pre-tax pension accounting deficit
during the year was due a positive return on plan assets, offset by
areduction in the discount rate. £4.6m of cash contributions were
paid ta the scheme. Ricardo continues to fund the pension at
f46m per annum until 31 July 2022
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Segments review

Overview

From 1 July 2019, the Group has reported the following reportable operating segments: Erergy & Environment ('EE?, Rall, Automotive
and Industnal (A&, Defense, and Performance Products (PP'). There is also an ‘all other segments’ segment, which comprises the
results of Ricardo Strategic Consulting & Software, combined due to their size. Neither of these met the guantitative thresholds

for reportable segments in FY 2019/20 or FY 2018/19. This change was driven by successful acquisitions in Rail and EE, increasing

the prominence of these businesses within the Group, combined with the wish 1o provide more granularity into the key drivers of
performance within the Group.

Underlying"” Underlying™ operating
Revenue operating profit profit margin

For the year ended 30 June 2020 209 2020 213 2020 23
£m £m £m Lm Y% R

Erergy & environment VEE ) 50.8 4414 6.3 5.0 124 17.2
Rail 753 574 5.8 5.2 7.7 77
Automative Bandustaal (AR 1059 1293 0.5 161 ¢.5 125
Deferse 32.8 252 5.1 32 15.5 127
Serformance Proguc:s U'PR) 69.0 954 5.0 99 7.2 104
Strategic Consuling & Sottware (Drher’) 18.2 22.5 0.1 35 0.5 173
Operating segments total 352.0 3844 228 433 6.5 13

Plc costs - - (2.8) 37 - -
Total 352.0 3844 20.0 396 57 103

T) Sefimanethe ginsss y otz on o2 200

EE, Rail, A&, Defense (excluding the anti-lock braking system/electronic stability control (ABS/ESCY) product), and Strategic Consulting
were previously reported within the Technical Consulting operating segment. PP, the ABS/ESC product, and Software were previously
reported within the Performance Products operating segment. Plc costs include the costs of running the public imited company.

FY 2018/19 segmental analysis has been reported on a consistent basis to aid comparability.

Automotive &
Industrial

Performance Strategic
Products Consulting &

See page 56 ‘___:_.__v.-—-\ SOftWCIre '

~a B

See page 58
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Operating Segments
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Business model

Energy & Environment (‘EE’)

Ricardo Energy & Envirenment (EE"}) works with clients to solve some of the world’s most complex environmental challenges, and
provides governments, public agencies and businesses with industry-leading analysis, advice and data.

EE works across the value chain from gathering and evaluating evidence, setting policy measures, and working with its
customers, partners and stakeholders to support the implementation of a wide range of solutions. For example, EE assesses the
information impacting air quality within a city, works with stakeholders and leaders to derive policy options to improve air quality,
and then supports the delivery of measures such as vehicle charging zones, bus retrofits or electric charging infrastructure. EE has
over 500 expert consultants, including engineers, scientists, economists and data specialists cperating in over 75 countries.

In FY 2015/20, EE's revenue grew by 14% to £50.8m (FY 2018/19:
f44.6m) and underlying operating profit grew by 26% to £6.3m
(FY 2018/19: £5.0m). FY 2019/20 was a successful year for EE,
with the growth in revenue and operating profit reflecting a
combination of crganic growth and the successful acquisition,
on 31 July 2019, of PLC Consuilting Pty Ltd (renamed Ricardo
Energy, Environment and Planning, or ‘REEP'), which focuses
on the waste and planning sectors in Victoria, Australia. On

an erganic basis, after normalising for the impact of the REEP
acquisition, revenue and underlying cperating profit grew by
£4.0m (9%) and £0.5m (9%), respectively. Underlying operating
profit margin increased from 11.2% in FY 2018/19 1o 124% in FY
2019720, driven by increased utilisation of staff and leverage of
the cost base.
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Crder intake for FY 2019/20 was £56.0m (FY 2018/19: £46.1m;,
growth of 219%. At 30 June 2020, EE's order baok was £41.7m (FY
2018/19: £35.6my. Of this, £0.8m relates to REEP.

International projects have expanded significantly, due
to three principal factors: the acqguisition of REEP; increased
demand for cur air guality and waste services in the Middie
East; and growth in Europe; driven by economic and policy
studies for the European Commission. EE has also won new
projects in previcusty untapped territories, including a major afr
quality project in Lima, Peru, and a series of sustainable energy
opportunities in the Caribbean.

EE has continued to see steady growth in work with UK public-
sector customers, with increasing demand driven by the climate
emergancy and Net Zero agenda, as local authorities seek to
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take action in cities and counties across the UK. This has added
to EE's 40-plus vear track record in operating a wide range of air
quality/greenhouse gas modelling, inventory and monitering
projects, delivered on behalf of the UK Government. EE has also
won a four-year extension 12 the Resource Ffficiency Scotland
programme, supperting small businesses in implementing
energy and resource efficiency actions across Scotland.

EE has continued to see growth in UK private-sector work,
where its principal clients are in the water and energy sectors.
2020 has seen the commencement of the new five-year
UK Water Sector Asset Management Planning (AMP) cycle.
Although there had been a slight decrease in demand for EE's
strategic water resource planning skills at the conclusion of the
previous AMP cycle, EE has securad a range of new framework
contracts, to run for the next five year AMP cycle with many of
the largest water companies — including Southern Water, United
Utilities, Yorkshire Water and Thames Water - to support them in
planning the long-term future for sustainable water resources.

In the UK Erergy sector, EE has won a major innovation
project with Western Power Distribution (‘WFPD") and Electricity
North West Limited {ENWL) to trial a novel solution that enables
increased numbers of high-power electric vehicle chargers to be
connected to the efectricity network at lower cost.

EE also supports the chemicals sector in the UK, including a
relationship with the UK emergency services that goes

Strategic report
Energy & Environment (‘EE’)

. FY
Climate change and 2019/20 1

environmental revenue %
contribution

W Driven by climate change

[l Driven by an environmental issue

£503m

of revenue directly
linked to tackling
climate change

BB Hasenvironmental benefits
B Relates to safety

.« None ofthe above

Around 80% of EE's FY 2019720 revenue was directly dnven by climate
change or other emaronmental challenges such as arr quality, water
quality or waste managemeant Climate change driven projects
include greenhouse gas inventory support, renewable energy
orojects, life cycle assessment, climate change policy studies and
BNErgy 27 OEnCy advice To Susoesies The vast majonty of BFs

ather revenuss 1lso crovede crvironmental benefits, T or cxample,
power sector planning projects improve energy access and help
decarbenise the electncity grid while chemical nsk advice saves lives
and reduces the environmental impacts of chermicals

back 45 years; the practice alse has international relationships
with over 600 global chernical clients. This part of the business
has seen revenue grow in this financial year as it sought to
broaden its services to include a wider range of chemical
regulatory consultancy, and work on Poison Centie notifications.
EE was not significantly distupted by COVID-19, as the business
found innovative solutions by working closely with our clients
to ensure that we could maintain our services during a period of
highly restricted travel. In order to continue to support its clients,
the business adapted quickly to the challenges presented by
rerote working and the suspension of internaticnal travel.

Qutlook

EE ended the financial year with an order book and secured
revenue that were both ahead of the prior year. Although the full
extent of COVID-19 recovery plans and financing mechanisms
are not yet known, EE is confident that 2conomic stimuli will
have a positive impact on its markets in FY 2020/21 and create
opportunities, in particular the potential for re-alignment of UK
and global economies 1o cCreate a “clean and green” recovery.
EE expects continuing growth across sectors, with recovery-led
infrastructure projects driving the requirement for specialist
input and support across EE disciplines.

Brexit preparedness has continued throughout the year with
additionat recruitment inte European locations and continued
close working with Ricardo colleagues operating within the EU.

EE's focus for FY 2020727 will be on enhancing activity across
EE's spectrum of services, from evidence and policy work
through to supporting implementation solutions for clients.

EE plans to continue to grow its air quality and greenhouse
gases evidence expertise as well as developing its policy
offerings to include new environmental topics and additional
sectors. EE is already seeing strong demand in Europe with the
implementation of the "Green New Deal” and expects to see
stronger growth in the private sector, particularly in the UK
water sector.
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Operating Segments
Rail

Perronalsair

Business model

Ricardo Rail ('Rail’} serves the global rail market through two separate operations: 2 consultancy unit that provides technical advice

and engineering services, and a separate, independent entity, Ricardo Certification, that performs accredited assurance services.
Both have a similar geographic footprint across Europe, Asia-Pacific and the Middle East, and support a client base that

includes rail operators, infrastructure managers, regulatory bodies and industry suppliers. Ricarde Rait employs 623 rail engineers,

technicians, auditors and support staff, with key hubs in the UK, the Netherlands, China and Australia.

In FY 2019720, Rail's revenue grew by 12% 10 £75.3m (FY 2018/19.
£674m) and underlying operating profit grew by 12% to £5.8m
(FY 2018/19: £5.2rm). Underlying operating profit margin was
stable at 77%. The growth in revenue and underlying operating
profit was driven by the performance of Ricardo Rail Australia
('RRA), which was acquired on 31 May 2013, and delivered a very
strong set of results in the current year, in line with plan. The
performance of RRA was offset by challenges in other areas of the
business, in particular the UK, with reduced volumes on major LK
certification projects, and Asia, with delayed mobilisation on
large infrastructure projects. On an organic basis, after
normalising for the impact of the RRA acquisition, revenue and
underying operating profit declined by £6.0m (7%) and £2.6m
(3194), respectively.

FY 2019/20 order intake was £80.7m {an increase of £19./m on FY
2018/19). £14.0m of the FY 2019/20 order intake was generated by
RRA. The closing order book was £110.7m (FY 2018/19: £109.1m), of
which £26.7m related to RRA (FY 2018/19: £30.1m).

The performance of RRA in1ts first full year under Ricardo
ownership reflects the success of its established, long-term
relationships with clients such as Transport for New South
Wales, for which it has provided technical support throughout
the introduction of new fleets onto the rail networks. RRA was
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successfully integrated into the wider Rail business. Synergies from
complementary skills have been realised. RRA has supported Rall's
Middle East business, and UK Rail personnel have been actively
involved in supporting major bids for RRA.

The Duich consultancy team won several major assignments
with Nederlandse Spoorwegen (NS'), the principal passenger
railway operator in the Netherlands, underlining the team’s
position as the pre-eminent engineering consuitancy in Dutch
rolling stock.

The UK consulting team had a challenging year with reduced
volurmes and personnel changes. COVID-19 also had some impact
in the last quarter. Restructuring actions were completed during
the year to align the business to market demand.

Performance in Asia was also mixed. This was the first regicn
1o be widely affected by the COVIL-12 pandemic, with the Hong
Kong operations already having experienced significant disruption
as the office had been forced to dose on several occasions during
the autumn 2019 demonstrations. By way of a positive cantrast, in
Taiwan and Korea, the technical teams were engaged in some of
the largest systerns engineering projects of recent years.

The performance of Ricardo Certification remained resolute.
The China team has a strong order book; the Middle East
team secured notable wins in Qatar; whilst in Eurcpe the team
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continuas to support London's Crossrail and the re-signalling of
the Danish rail network, and awaits the commencement of several
rofling stock projects.

Outlook
Looking ahead, the Rail segment has a healthy and varied
portfolio of projects. These include projects in new areas such as
digital resilience and vehicle decarbenisation, as wel! as traditional
assurance projects such as Seoul's Great Train eXpress and Beijing
Metro Line 17. As a result, Rail enters FY 2020/21 with one of its
largest ever erder books.

Due to its presence in a number of European Union
countries and having maoved guickly to organise the necessary
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B Criven by dimate change
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£119m

of reverue directly
linked to tackling
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Railways represent the made of transport that has the lowest impact
on the environment and the majonty of railways in the markets Rail
serves are already flly 2lectnfied Rail supports the procarement of
upgrades Lo infrastructure and rolling stock that are being introduced
for reasons that 4o not have a direct additional environemental
hernefit. In many sases, Bail crov des the system satety eng neerirg
and cortitration of the upgrades 1o ensure the -ailway s safe for
passengers to use and workers to operate and maintain Ricardo
Certi“zanon assesses and accre dits railways 13 ensure they comply
with the strict standards for use and provide the assurance required
to operate the railway to design requirements

Core to Rail's strateqy is meeting the key industry challenges of
carbon, Cost, capacity and customer experience Revenue streams
whith have environmental bene ! as their key driver include projects
which improve rail systems to optimise the use of assets by (a)
reducing the guantity of rolling stock and spares by making trains
more reliable and available; and {5) Increased use of sustainable
materials for fuels and components

Rai 15 increasingly focusing on secunng projects that deliver
elecraficanon ana solutions that decarbonise 1a hways, such as
hybridisation and battery electnc trains, together with projects that
deliver energy et ciency iImprovermnents as railway systams fook to
reduce the consumption of energy and increase the use of energy
from renewable sources.

accreditations in Denrmark and the Netherlands, Ricardo Rail is well
positioned ta continue consulting projects and certification work
in the EU without disruption after Brexit.

Whilst there is no doubt that the COVID-19 pandemic will
continue to impact travel habits over the short and medium term,
there is little to suggest any serious long-term ramifications for the
rail sector. Rail, whether in the form of rapid transport systems in
major city centres or as national networks of high-speed routes,
remains an essential component of sustainable travel policies. As
well as new builds to support growing urban centres, we expect
10 see continued investment in the modernisation of mature
netweorks to seek continued improvement in safety, efficiency
and performance.
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Operating Segments

Automotive & Industrial ('A&lI’)

g

Business model

Ricardo A&l played a crucial rolein
the development of JCB’s Fastrac
tractor, which Guy Martin powered
to a Guinness World Records speed
record of 135.191 mph

Ricardo Automotive & Industrial {A&I") serves as a trusted global engineering design and development partner for the provision of
clean, efficient, integrated propulsion and energy solutions across the areas of hybrid and electric systems, electrification, engines,
driveline and transmissions, testing, and vehicle engineering. Custemers span the transportation and industrial markets, including
automative, aerospace, defence, energy, off-highway and commercial, marine, motorcycle and light-personal transport, and rail.
A&l has 1,154 staff, operating from engineering centres and sales offices within the UK, Europe, US, and Asia (primarily in China).

A&l was impacted by continuing challenging economic and
political conditions during the year. China's slowing economic
growth, trade tensions between the US and China, reduced credit
availability in India, Brexit and the UK General Election all had an
impact on customer activity and orders, This was compounded
by the impact of COVID-19 in the second half of the year, initially
within China and then Europe and the US, With populations in
lockdown, customers responded by temporarily shutting down
their operations, implementing part-time working, mothballing
manufacturing facllities, and impterenting significant cost-
reduction measures.

Order intake hald up relatively well, reducing by 7% from
£123.6m in FY 2018/19 to £115.3m in FY 2019/20. The economic
circurmnstances had a more significant impact on revenue and
operational efficiency as a number of customers delayed non-
business critical projects. Revenue decreased from £1293m in
FY 2018/19 10 £1059m in FY 2019720, and underlying operating
profit decreased from £161min FY 2018/19 to £0.5m in FY 2019/20,
with underlying cperating margin decreasing from 12.5% to 0.5%.
Within this, the business in Europe remained profitable. The US
business continued to be loss-making and has taken significant
steps 10 restructure its operations, as set cut belew. The China
business ended the year with a small loss.

New Managing Directors joined A&l's European and US
operations during the year. Both have had, and continue 1o have, a
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focus on strategy and business development, whilst continuing to
ensure that the resources within the engineering teams are suitably
matched with client needs and market opportunities.

A& has continued with its strategy to create a more flexible cost
base and become an operationally efficient consultancy. in August
29, the Detroit Technology Campus (D1C). comprising its engine
testing and office buildings, was purchased in order to extricate
the business from a long-term lease on the property. In June
2020, the Detroit engine testing business {together with the BTC
engine testing building) was sold to a non-competitive strategic
partner for an initial cash consideration of £2.8rm (USD 3.5m), with
up to £1.6m (USD 2.0m) deferred, reducing A8&'s fixed cost base
and allowing A&l to continue 1o offer test services locally i its
overall offering to customers. The DTC office building is currently
being marketed and is held-for-sale on the June 2020 staterment
of inancial position. In June 2020, we atso exited our Santa Clara
Technical Centre (SCTC) and aftertreatment business and set up
new premisas in Southern California, in order to develop new
market opportunities aligned with the business’ strategic goals.

Subsequent 1o the opening of the Southern California site, A&
strengthened the US tearmn with a senior appointment to lead the
transformation of engineering operations, particularly in the areas
of electrification and software. The team in Southern California
recently securad a £3.2m win with the US Department of Energy
to advance the developrnent of high efficiency silicon carbide
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inverters for electric vehicle applications.

As the COVID-19 pandemic developed and lockdown hit the
various parts of the business, A& responded iImmediately. Almost
overnight, those who could work from home did, whilst those
who were not able to work from home continued supporting the
business and client projects on site, with the business ensuring
staff were able to work safely by amending working practices in
line with safety guidelines. A& also re-evaluated its strategy and
made the difficult deasions required ta quickly reduce the cost
base and help protect cur employees, including some use of local

furlough schemes.

Over the course of the year, A&l secured and delivered a range
of successful customer programmes across the transportation
and industrial markets, which included: supparting CNH Industrial
with the deveiopment of a bicmethane-powered tractor; selling
its CryoPower clean engine intellectual property ta FPT Industrial
S.pA whilst continuing to assist in their developrnent of this
innovative and high-efficiency combustion engine; delivering
a highly versatile and cost-effective vehicie demonstrator for
general service defence purposes, adapted from Ford's iconic
Ranger series, Europe’s best-selling pick-up truck; partnering with
Nexperia to produce a technology demonstrator for an £Y inverter
based gallium nitride technology; and delivering safety-critical
transmission control software for China Eure Vehicle Technology
AB for a 7-speed dual dutch transmission in a compact luxury
crossover SUV I addition, A& also played a crucial role in the
development of JCB's Fastrac tractor, in which Guy Martin set a
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Approximately 70% of A& revenue comes from activities generating a
positve anviranmental impact with over 20% specifically irtended o
address the challenge of cimate change A&I's contributions consist
of cutting-edge propulsion system developments, which reduce
carbon emissions where internal combustion engines remain the
most appropriate technology, thraugh to next generation electrical
cnergy stora3e systers, wach power the growth i electifiea
propulsion. A&I's continued contrnibutions to the automative and
industrial ransportation markels. as well as its focus on the growing
sectors of clean aviation and aiternative fuels, reinforce A&l's mission
o deliver environmentally sustainable technological innovation

newy Guinness World Records” speed record, as shown on the
Channel 4 decumentary, Guy Martin: The World's Fastest Tractor.
During the COVID-19 lockdown period, A& has focused on how
to support its customers in innovative ways. A&l implemented
& ‘world first” in virtual vehicle corufication, whereby custormers
and certification bodies could observe lests via a secure, live
3-way feed to the automation and data management systems
of A&l's advanced UK test facilities. Reflecting the needs of global
customars working from home, but still wanting to access our
thought leadership and interact with our technical experts,
A& prioritised digital engagement. A& subject matter experts
delivered 14 webinars (3 with Autemative World, 11 own label
Ricardo Technology Webinars) which saw A&l engage with just
over 5,000 contacts on key industry challenges where A&I offer
waorld-leading technical solutions such as preparing for Euro 7, fuei
cells for heavy duty trucks, off-highway electrification, xEV holistic
thermal management, and the road ta zero carbon. As part of
its digital-first strategy, A&l also focused on LinkedIn as a primary
engagerment channel for customers, and broader audiences across
industry, media, government, academia and communities across
the world. The A&l corporate presence on LinkedIn attracted
particularly strong engagement in relation to content posts about
its design, assembly and delivery of PPE, and grew its community
of followers to just over 50,000.

Outlook

Carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions targets continue 10 drive

the global agenda, with industry increasing its investrment in
electrification and alternative energy propulsion, together with

its digitalisation of processes and products. Whilst COVID-19

may affect some markets in the coming year, the giobal agenda
still continues to provide a significant longer-term pipeline of
apportunities 1o A&l for the provision of innovative clean, efficient,
integrated propulsion anc energy solutions for customers within
our transportation and industriai markets.
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Defense

The US Army awarded GM Defense
and its strategic partner, Ricardo
Defense, a USD 214.3M contract to
build, field, and sustain the Army’s
new Infantry Squad Vehicle (See
case study on pages 82 to 85)

Business model

Ricardo Defense {Defense’) is focused on the delivery of services, software and products that protect life and reduce defence
programme costs and waste. Defense delivers wide-ranging engineering programmes across light and heavy land and sea
theatres of operation, supparting clients to improve processes to streamline the fielding, modification, maintenance and
support of complex systermns used in operational planning. This includes providing enterprise software to enable the electronic
distribution of technical data, ensuring data integrity and cyber security across disrupted communication environments. Defense
also provides anti-lock braking systermn/electronic stability control (ABS/ESC') systems for all new production High Mobility
Multipurpose Wheeled Vehicles (HMMWVY or ‘Humvee’) for the US Army and National Guard.

Defense’s staff of 162 technical professicnals and suppeort staff is based across the US, including major centres in Michigan and

California.

Defense delivered strong growth in FY 2019/20, with revenue
increasing by 30% to £32.8m (FY 2018/19: £25.2m) and
underlying operating profit increasing by 59% 1o £5.1m
(FY 2018/19: £3.2m). Underlying operating profit margin
increased from 12.7% in FY 2018/19 to 15.5% in FY 2019/20.
Growth was driven by increased activity in the engineering
services business and sales of the ABS/ESC product. The
underlying operating profit margin was low in the prior period
as costs were increased in preparation for the delivery of
ABS/ESC units.

Crder intake reduced by 26% to £23.0m (FY 2018/19:
£39.0m): this reflects the timing of ABS/ESC orders,
with Defense having secured a large order from the US
Government in the prior year, delivering these units in FY
2019/20. The FY 2019/20 closing order book was £15.6m (FY
2018/19: £20.3m), with the reduction reflecting the timing of
ABS/ESC orders.
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Defense designed, developed and integrated the ABS/ESC
kit to address an ongoing HMMWY roliover issue. The system
has been proven by the US Army to mitigate vehicle rollover
and foss-of-control accidents. Defense delivered 2,464 ABS/ESC
kits for new HMMWVs production vehicles in FY 2019/20 (FY
2018/19: 1,650). This includes the first shipments of retrofit kits
to a non-US country to upgrade the safety, performance, and
reliability of their HMMWVs.

Underpinning its commitment (o quality, Defense
again achieved Capability Maturity Model Integration
CMMI) Level 3 certification for its systems and software
development processes. Defense is supporting the US Army
and Marine Corps in the integration of a wireless, dismounted
communication system solution for ground support vehicles;
the system enhances the safety and situational awareness for
combat personnel conducting dismounted operations on or
around vehicle platforms. Through operational user testing,
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integration and sustainment planning, and cyber security
strategy, Ricardo Defense uses commercial off-the-shelf
solutions to provide mission-ready, cost-effective solutions
that protect lives and enhance communication in a rapid and
efficient manner.

As the US Department of Defense seeks more agile
development and depioyment of enhanced technologies,
Defense is providing solutions for designing, acguiring,
integrating and sustaining future systerns through
model-based system engineering methodoelogies. These
rmethodologies enable rapid and robust analysis, configuration,
change management, and integration of emerging disruptive
technologies. By creating “digitai twins” of vehicle systems,
Defense supports the US
military in developing,
fielding, maintaining and
effectively using the most
capable equipment in
order 10 maximise the
safety of serving personnel.

COVID-1% has not had
a significant impact on
Defense, which has been
designated by the US
Government as critical to
US infrastructure. During
the COVID-19 pandemic,

Strategic report
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chimate change
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B Has environmental benefits
BB Relates to safety

: None of the above

By developing and integrating new processes, technofogies and
software, Defense provides customers with enhancements in
orza~isitional performance while also realising associated benefts
to the environment. A paruicular area of focus s on the development
of products and services that support Ricardo's digitalisation
strategy, reducing the need for protatype manufacturnng through
simulation and automation, eliminating the maternal waste
assodidied with sample vebicle batds A significant portion of

the Defense business is targeted toward protecting human life

by improving the safety of vehicles used by US and internationat
service-members around the globe

the majority of Defense’s employees continued delivering
programmes safely and securely through remote work-from-
home during the US "Stay Safe, Stay at Home" mandate.

Outlook

The market outlook for our Defense business is positive. The

US President’s FY21 Defense Budget reflects funding priorties

of USD 740 billion for national defence. The proposed budget

includes a mix of funding for the procurement and deployment

of the ABS/ESC retrofit kit and additional new production

kit orders. Accordingly, Defense has expanded its ABS/ESC

cperations to meet anticipated demand for the coming year.
In addition, Defense expects growth in its software business

as well as significant growth in its established capabiity areas

of system life cycle management, fisld support services,

and condition-based maintenance. Ricarde Defense is firmly

embedded in nearly every end-to-end architecture node of

the US. Army’s fielding strategy. Defense’s systems engineers,

software developers, and logisticians provide integrated

life cycle support services that will improve the operational

readiness of US and allied assets worldwide.

Ricardo Defense is providing software that improves the management of
fuel and other consumable commadities across an enterprise

ing 2 world fit for th
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Operating Segments

Performance Products (‘PP’)

Business model

Bentley Continental GT3 on its
way to victery at the “Ligui-Moly
Bathurst 12 hour” with a Ricardo
designed and manufactured
transmission.

Ricarde Performance Products (PP manufactures and assembles niche high-guality components, prototypes and compiex
products, including engines, transmissions and other precision and performance-critical products. PP also provides
manufacturing and supply-chain services to enable products to move from concept to production for customers around the
globe. PP manages the complete process, from establishing a robust supply chain, to the efficient delivery of the tested end-
product to its prestigious customer base, These products are either designed by the metorsport products design team, other
Ricardo divisions or by PP customers thernselves. PP serves customers manufacturing low-volume, high-performance products in
markets such as motarsport, automative, aerospace, defence and rail.

PP emplcys 311 staff, with specialist capabilities in product design and development, production and operations management,
supply-chain development, industrial engineering and skilled production, all based in the UK. PP is backed by Ricardo’s global
support network with technical and engineering centres around the world.

In FY 2019720, PP's revenue reduced by 28% to £69.0m (FY
2018/19: £95.4m) and underlying operating profit declined
by 49% to £5.0m (FY 2018/19: £99m). Underlying operating
profit margin decreased frem 104% in FY 2018/19 to 7.2% in FY
2019/20. Order intake was £71.1m in FY 2019/20, a reduction of
£25)m compared to order intake of £96.2m in FY 2018/19. As at
30 June 2020, the order book was £62.8m (FY 2018/19: £66.5m).
The reductions across the key metrics were primarily due to
a reduced volume of engines supplied to MclLaren. In the first
half of the financial year, engine output was lower than the
previous six months, in line with an agreed production plan. In
the second half of the year, output was significantly disrupted
due to the effects of the COVID-19 lockdown, with McLaren
suspending vehicle production from March onwards. The
volume of engines delivered in FY 2019/20 was approximately
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40% lower than the prior year. Over this period, two new
engine variants entered producticn, including the latest vehicle
in McLaren's Ultimate Series, the “Speedtail”. The engine for

this vehicle, code-named P23, sits at the heart of an advanced
hybrid powertrain and powers the car to over 250mph (400
km/h), making this the fastest McLaren ever produced. FY
2019/20 also saw the completion of significant pre-production
activities in readiness for the new engine variant to be launched
in FY 2020/21.

FY 2019/20's resutts were also impacted by the scheduled end
of the Porsche 991 Cup transmission programme in FY 2018/19,
During the year, PP was successful in securing a replacement
programme of an equivalent size and duration (which is
reflected in the FY 2019/20 order intake). Deliveries to this
programme are on track to start in the first half of £ ¥ 2020/21.
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A programme to supply transmissions for the Aston Martin
Valkyrie, which was expected to go intc production in 2020, is
now confirmed for the FY 2020721 business year. A significant
number of prototypes for this programme were delivered in
FY 2019720 to support the successful testing and validation of
this advanced hybrid hypercar. PP continues to support Bugatti
with the supply of the complete driveiine system for the Chiron
hypercar. Demand for Bugatti transmissions continued in line
with expectations.

PP's contract with the Ministry of Defence, to refurbish
gearboxes for their Combat Vehicle Reconnaissance (Tracked)
{CVR(TY) vehicle, successfully started in FY 2019/20 and remains
on track to be completed ahead of customer expectations in
December 2G20.

PP remains a key supplier into the motorsport sector,
with effective cost of ownership solutions for the customer
racing market and the ability to adapt to the ever-changing
regulations in al! forms of factory racing to deliver a competitive
advantage to customers. PP rematns ever present at the top
tier of world motorsport and has manufactured transmissions
components to teams competing in Formula One, Formula E,
GT3, RS, Super Formula and Indy Lights. PP’s customers have
secured world championships and key victories in Formuta E,
WRC and GTE. During the year, PP extended its collaboration
with DS Performance, building on an incredible 2019 season,
in which PP designed and supplied transmissicns for the team
which won both the drivers” and teams’ champicnships.

Strategic report
Performance Products ('PP’)
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of revenue directly
linked to tackling
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B Driven by an environmental issue
. Has environmental benefits
B Relates 1o safety

None of the above

Whilst PP may not bave direct involvement in supporting the
environmental driver on customer projects, PP is directly involved in
actizos toreprove the ove-all etfiuercy and performance of eng ne
and transmissions, thereby lowering, or at least maintaining their
emvironmental impact

Asmall amount of PP's revenue 15 generated through psojects that
directly address climate change or other environmental challenges.
PP supports prograrmmes that include the development and
manufacture of transmissions for use in electric vefucles, such as
Formula E, tagether with the manulacture of hybrid engines and
hybrid transmission systems

Outlook
McLaren engine production resumed in July 2020, with a
planned gradual ramp-up of output through the year as
part of its plans to initially focus on limited-series models
(predominately the ‘Ultimate’ and *Super Sports’ series of cars).
Although PP’s transmission manufacturing capabilities were
not significantly impacted by COVID-19 during FY 2019/20, and
production continued througheout the outbreak under carefully
controlled manufacturing conditions, the pandemic has created
delays and cancellations of multipie races and championships,
with the potential to impact some of PP's motorspaort clients.
PP will continue to focus 1ts efforts on established markets
such as high-performance autcmotive, motorsport and
aerospace; additional focus will be applied to both the defence
and the rail markets, where significant contract opportunities
exist. These opportunities are enhanced by PP's ability o
utilise the in-depth design capabilities of Ricardo’s engineering
consulting divisions, providing a comprehensive set of solutions
across all PP's targeted markets.
With both customers and suppliers in the EU, PP has
established processes and procedures to address a variety
of potential Brexit scenarios. These capabilities were
successfully deployed in both 2018 and 2019 in readiness for
possible hard exits from the Furopean Union and remain in
place for 2020 onwards.
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Operating Segments

Strategic Consulting & Software

Business model

Ricardo Strategic Consulting {RSC) is a leading management consultancy dedicated to serving the automotive, transportation,
and rnobility industries. It offers a comprehensive portfolio of services, advising global leaders on high-impact strategic issues
and resolving operational challenges. RSC provides both corporate and strategic business advice which spans the full product
life cycle, including product development, manufacturing and supply chain management, procurement, sales, marketing and

distribution, and integrated cost reduction.

Software helps customers solve problems through technology exploration and process innovation. It also delivers advanced
virtual engineering tools and solutions, supported by a team of technical experts, to global customers across the automaotive,
rail, motorcycle, off-nighway, defence, energy and environment industries. Software’s leading-edge simulation software provides
customer solutions to reduce cost, resources and time to market, while efficiently managing complexity and safety.

Combined, RSC and Software employ 182 staff, based across the UK, continental Europe, the US, China and India.

Strategic Consulting & Software revenue reduced to £18.2m in
FY 2019/20 from £22.5m in FY 2018/19. Underlying operating
proft reduced from £3.9m to £0.1m in the same period.
Underlying operating profit margin fell to 0.5% from 17.3%,
The declines seen over the period reflect a combination of
challenging trading conditions in the automotive market
and the impact of customers reducing spending during the
COVID-19 pandemic in the second half of FY 2019/20.

During FY 2019/20, RSC delivered growth in arder intake
in Europe and Asia following the investment in its regionai
sales teamns. However, in the second half of the year there was
a reduction in orders across the business, as long-running
programmes came to an end and new order intake became
challenging. RSC was immediately impacted by COVID-19, with
the pandemic leading to the postponement of certain projects
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and delays in client decisions.

A softening in the US market has impacted profits, but the
strong relationship with Ford has continued. In addition to long-
running integrated cost reduction programmes, RSC supported
them in managing distressed supplier scenarios, which has
become a key area of growth.

in FY 2019/20, Software order intake was below the prior year,
driven by lower one-off perpetual licence sales, particularly in
China, due 1o the slowdown in the Chinese automotive market
and impact of COVID-19. The pandemic led to some delays in
new business wins, due to travel restrictions and the closure of
some customer sites. Licence renewals were also below the prior
year driven by some customers reducing the number of licence
seats they hold. There has been good growth in order intake
for application engineering and solutions in the year, which has
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partially offsel the reduced order intake from one-off perpetual
licence sales and renewals.

Outlook

Strategic Consulting & Software’s core automotive markets

are expected to remain challenging over the next financial
year. RSC is focusing on diversification into new sectors and
service lines, which bas progressed with the development of
the TRNTY onfine consulting platform and Ricardo Knowledge
(RSC's digital channel) products. These products provide an
efficient route to market to commercialise Ricardo’s expertise,
The investment made in the year in these new product offerings
will begin to deliver revenue growth in the new financial year
In addition, RSC, in partnership with Ricardo EF, have combined
environmental expertise with strategic advice to offer a unique
external Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD") service offering, aimed at improving business resilience
in the face of climate change.

Our 2019/20 Strategic Report, from page
1 to page 59, has been reviewed and
approved by the Board of Directors on

9 September 2020
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RSC supports a vaniety of projects which are positively impacting
chmate change and the environment, including providing an-site
support to all-electnc vehicle supphiers, supporting the increase in
production of wind turbine blades, supportng the development

of battery packs for electric vehicles, and providing bill of material
and cost analysis for battery packs, fuel ceils systems, and electric
marine engines RSC has also provided support 1o clients in mapping
environmentally focussed regulations, policies and inmatives

Ricardo’s Software products have historically been used by chients to
improve fuel consurnption and engine performance, reduce weight,
and Improve ermissions. Software is seeing a demand for its products
to perform hybrid vehicle transmission and 1s actively growing its
capabilities in battery analysis

Software’s strategy is focused on building an integrated
market-leading portfolio of products and solutions that work
across different engineering domains to provide value 1o
customers. In the year ahead, this will include a move to offering
web- and consumpticn-based licensing models to complement
its traditional cn-premise annual lease and perpetual licence
business. As travel restrictions are expected to persist, Software
will maximise local regional rescurces and digital technology to
win new business.

Dave Shemmans,
Chief Executive Officer
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Case studies

Improving sustainabllity in the farmed and
wild landscape

Helping UK water towards zero carhon

Supporting Europe’s largest ever rail re-
signalling project

Enabling high-capadity electric vehicle
charging

Ending range anxiety for electricvehicie
drivers

New model army
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Improvmg sustamablllty
' in the farmed and wild E®
landscape

The way that land is managed can have a significant
impact not only on the immediate greenhouse gas

balance of agricultural systems, but also on their longer-
term environmental sustainability. The Ricardo Energy &
Environment agriculture team is helping farmers, land
managers and food manufacturers apply the latest thinking
for both the farmed and the wild landscape.
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griculture is much like any other industry when
it comes to the evaluation of its greenhouse
gas (‘GHG) emissions. The carbon footprint of
agricultural business operations and the value
chain of food products from farm to fork can be
calculated using a broadly similar approach to that used for any
other commercial activity or industry: each process, from tilling
the soil ready for planting, through to harvest, together with the
downstream supply chain of storage, processing, distribution
and marketing, will be associated with a range of inputs and
outputs. Seen in GHG terms, these correspond to emissions to
the atmosphere and removals from the atmosphere. The cycle
of livestock husbandry can be treated in much the same manner.
Most conventional industries will typically involve only

Case studies
Improving sustainability in the farmed and wild landscape

emissions of GHGs. Agricultural processes, by contrast, can also
give rise to remaovals’ of carbon from the atmosphere; carbon
that is then stored in a stable and nen-gaseous form. Perhaps
the best known of these processes is photosynthesis, thiough
which plants and trees absorb carbon dioxide to create the
starches, sugars and structural materials that they need t grow.
Agricultural GHG emissions are dominated by methane and
nitrous oxide, with carbon dioxide forming a smaller contribution
within day-to-day operations but a much greater one in terms of
carbon emitted from, or removed into stored organic carbon in
soil or woody plants.

Terrestrial carbon stores
Althcugh atmaspheric carbon dioxide emissions have been
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Improving sustainability in the farmed and wild landscape

building up over the 260 years since the start of the industnal
revolution, soils contain approximately twice as much carbon as
is present in the air. So, in addition to ensuring that agriculture

is as efficient as possible in its day-to-day GHG emissions, the
effective stewardship of these tarrestrial carbon stores is of
crucial importance.

Forexample, ir arable cropland there s likely to be a net
emission over each year as carbon is lost from the soil by
oxidation, ard little of the plants” root systems will rermnain within
the soil in the long term. Conversely, in grassland there is likely
to be a net removal of carbon from the atmosphere as the
plants are perennial and there is little or no soil cultivation. In
commercial forestry the carbon removal inte wood may remain
locked up long after the tree is felled if, for example, the timber is
used in building materials. But If the felled wood 1s used to create
biomass pellets for combustion, the removed carbon is emitted
back to the atmosphere.

When land use changes, and a forest or a producticn system
that is removing atmaspheric carbon turns into a system that
begins emitting stored carbon, large and rapid GHG emissicns
can result. These can dwarf the usual annual emissions of
methane and nitrous oxide associated with agricultural
production. Conversely, land-use change from a system
that is emitting stored carbon to a system that is removing
atmaospheric carbon has the opposite effect, but the removals
tend ta build slowly over many years.

Ricardo agriculture team expertise
Estimating the overalf net GHG emissions and removals from
farms and farmiand, and taking account of carbon steck
change in and on land, is a particular specialism of the Ricardo
agriculture team. The requirement to investigate may come
from a large food manufacturer that wishes to ascribe a carbon
footprint to its products as they reach the consumer. For larger
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brands this might involve groups of farms which need to be
assessed ir terms of multiple irputs and cutputs, incuding crops
and their rotations, as well as details of livestock enterprises.
Strategic advice 1s also often required in terms of farmland
ranagement, including the assessment of non-productive areas
of land such as hedgerows, field margins and unmanaged farm
woodlands.

In addition to the agricultural incentives that are available
to farmers for particular initiatives  for example to improve
biodiversity and availability of natural pollinators - this form of
analysis is important in helping farms move towards Net Zero
emissions, and by extension to improve the carbon footprint of
food products manufactured from their produce and livestock.

Ricardo provides advice and a holistic approach not only
when it comes to the farmed and managed environment but
also to other major non-farming landowners and to non-
agricultural businesses conducted by farms. For exampie, water
and energy companies are businesses that are tasked with
transitioning their operations towards a Net Zero future, but at
the same time they are also responsible for the management of
significant land holdings. Simitarly, many farm-based businesses
are finding direct incentives from favourable electrical feed-
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Case studies
Improving sustainability in the farmed and wild landscape

the environmental footprint of agriculture at
the same time as maintaining our precious

terrestrial carbon stocks

In tariffs to pursue micro-generation enterprises such as the
preduction of renewable power from biomethane derived
from anaerobic digestion. For consulting engagements such

as these, the Ricardo agriculture teams often collaborate with
colleagues serving the utilities and power sectors, to ensure that
aninformed and holistic approach can be considerad.

Protecting natural carbon repositories

In the context of a noted wild landscape, the Ricardo agriculture
team was awarded a contract by World Wide Fund for Nature
{WWF) Scotland to investigate the aftermath of a May 2019
peatland wildfire that occurred in the internationally important
blanket peat bog of the ‘Flow Country’ of north-east Sutherland
in Scotland's Highland region.

Two complernentary approacnes were used. In the first,
sateliite images were employed to esumate the extent of the
burned area, alongside a literature review to determine typical
carben losses due to peatland fire, focusing on studies of fires
and terrains as similar as possible to those of the Flow Country.
The second approach involved the application of methods used
in inventory calculations, published by the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change (1PCC). Both approaches provided a
broad level of agreement.

IHustrating the significance of carbon dioxide emissions
from this type of peat wildfire, the study provided a low-range
estimate of 174,000 tonnes of carbon fost from the peatiand
into the atmosphere during the six days that the fire burned. To
put this into perspective, this carbon release to the atmosphere
is equivalent to the average greenhouse gas emissions of the
entire nation of Scotland for nearly a week.

Helping to ensure future sustainability
Whether it is for the protection of natural carbon repositories

or for the optimisation of farming operations for maximum
efficiency and minimum environmental impact, the holistic
approach of the Ricardo agriculture team provides valuable
guidance in moving towards true sustainability. Until recently,
the usual focus for the environmental assessment of the carbon
footprint of food products has been the analysis of the field from
which the crop is grown and the net emissions of downstream
production activities. Increasingly, however, governments, food
manrufacturers, supermarkets and farmers are beginning to
recognise the need to look more holistically at GHG emissions
across the farm and to reward the protection of carbon stocks,
including grasslands, woods, wetlands and peat. The advice that
Ricardo can offer is therefore increasingly crucial in improving
the environmental footprint of agriculture at the same time as
maintaining our precious terrestrial carbon stocks.
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Helping UK water
towards zero carbon

Aided by Ricardo expertise and consulting support,

UK water companies have set an ambitious target of
achieving Net Zero carbon emissions by 2030 — while
also delivering on medium-term goals of improved
customer service and affordability, long-term planning,
and operational resilience.
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ith its many and varied processes from

capture and storage to purification,

distribution and treatment, the water

industry is a significant consumer of

energy. According to industry body Water
UK, the industry is the country's fourth most energy intensive,
responsible for around five million tonnes of greenhouse gas
{GHG} emissions annually.

Despite this significant consumption of energy, water is the
first industrial sector in the UK (and ane of the first major sectors
globally} to commit 1o a Net Zero carbon future by 2030. The
goal forms part of the industry’s Public interest Commitment
document released earlier this year. It is one of a suite of pledgeas
that stretch the sector’s social and environmental ambitions:

to triple the rate of leakage reducticn; to improve hausehold
affordability of water and sewage services; to prevent 4 bn
plastic bottles ending up as waste by 2030; and to be the first
industrial sector to achieve a full commitment to the social
mobility pledge.

in pursuing its Net Zero carbon ambition, Water UK 1s working
with consuitants to devetop a comprehensive action ptan
detailing the measures that the industry needs to deploy over
the next decade. Those consultants include Ricardo and UK
Water Industry Research, the body responsible for facilitating the
shaping of the water industry’s research agenda.

In the first phase of the project, which ran from December
2019 1o March 2020, Ricardo focused on the development of a
scoping exercise to define the baseline and parameters of the
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ing UK water towards zero

study and to make projections as to how the water industry in
the UK could deliver on its 2030 Net Zero carbon ambition.

The project has now moved inte its second phase, in which
the Ricardo team is building a set of tools and methodologies
to help water companies design and test their own route-
maps that will enable the transition towards Net Zero carbon
emissions. This will enable each water company  and the
industry as a whole — to create, model and evaluate different
potential pathways towards the achievement of this goal.

The initial focus for the route-maps will be on improvements
within the existing water systerns and infrastructure, with the
aim of reducing and optimising demand. After this, the project
will consider the potential application of new technologies
and evaluate the impact those could have. An analysis and
assessment of costs and benefits will also be included.

By making use of a framework that can be used to assess
a range of alternative strategies, the industry will be able to
evaluate the alternative pathways that look the most promising

Ricardo support key stakehalders from across the water sector with
Net Zero workshop
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in attaining its 2030 Net Zero carbon emissions target. Water UK
wili thus be able to develop a strategy for the industry to meet
this challenge, and intends to share the lessons it learns from this
research. In this way, cther major energy-consuming industries
will be helped by the efforts of Ricardo and its research partners
in delivering cn their own sectors’ Net Zero ambitions.

Medium-term strategic resilience

In addition to assisting Water UK with strategic modelling and
planning for its 2030 Net Zaro ambition, Ricardo is also assisting
a number of other water companies with mediurm-term
resilience initiatives.

The strategic agenda for the water industry in England and
Wales is defined by the economic regulator, Ofwat, in its five-
year asset management plan (AMP') control periods. In advance
of each AMP period, and based on the strategic priorities set by
government, Ofwat sets out the methodology to be applied in
reviewing and evaluating each water company’s investment and
operaticnal business plans.

Key criteria for each control period are defined, and the
extent to which each company is able to deliver on these is
reflected in the so-called 'K factor percentage they are allocated.
This forms part of the ‘price review" which takes place a year
ahead of the start of the control period; the review defines the
allowable annual price increase to be charged to the company’s
consumers as 'K plus the Retail Price Index. For this reason,
delivery of the goals of the AMP is commercially criticat for the
water companies.

For the seventh contrel peried (AMP7), which runs from
2020 to 2025, key themes of focus include customer service
and affordability, long-term financial, corporate and operational



Ricardo water experts participating in practical safety training
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Ricardo water specialists conducting site based analysis

resilience, and innovation. Ensuring companies can meet future
water demands is a key area of investment, with almost £470m
allocated in England alene for planning of future strategic
integration of resources between regions. In addition, there is
funding for schemes within each water company region.

Since December 2019 Ricardo has secured framework
agreements with many of the largest water companies to
support them in planning the long-term future for sustainable
water resources. Under the terms of these flexible agreements,
the water companies can draw upon a wide range of Ricarde
services, technologies and expertise as they strive 1o deliver the
outcomes agreed with Ofwat under AMP7. Water companies
signed up include Southern Water, United Utilities, Dvirr Gymiru/
Welsh Water, Yorkshire Water, Thames Water and Bristol Water.
Ricardo's expertise in delivering services under these framework
agreements focuses on initiatives and projects such as strategic

Case studies
Helping UK water towards zero carbon

environmental assessments,
terrestrial and agquatic
ecology surveys, habitats
regulations assessments and
water framework directive
assessments.

Ricardo has already
begun work across a
number of the new
framework agreements.
Even under the lockdown
conditions following the
cutbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic in the first half of
2020, the company’s experts
were able to provide
sSUpport to maintain critica
water infrastructure resilience, including ensuring the continued
progress of a decade-long infrastructure project.

Delivering today’s goals and tomorrow’s
strategic ambition

Ricardo's water practice is increasingly recognised for its
expertise in planning and overseeing the most complex and
sensitive water and environmental projects, whether for the
five-year cycles of the UK AMP periods or in pursuit of the
longer-term ambitions of the industry over the coming decade.
The Ricardo team’s skills are being called upon by an increasing
number and range of clients within the public and private
sectors, including industry bedies, central and local government,
water companies, developers, infrastructure operators and other
commercial organisations, in the UK and internationally,
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Supportlng Europe S
largest ever rail
re-signalling project

Over the past decade, and with the support of
Ricardo in crucial certification roles, Denmark has
been engaged in an ambitious country-wide rail re-
signalling programme. Its mission: to eliminate the
frustration to operators and the travelling public that
patchwork upgrades can cause.
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he Danish nationwide railway re-signailing
programme is the largest of its kind that Europe has
ever seen. Initiated in 2008, the project is seeing the
replacermnent of a traditicnal lineside signal system
which dates back over 50 years and includes some
assets that are in excess of 100 years old. Banedanmark, the
state-owned company under the Danish Ministry of Transport
with responsibility for the maintenance and traffic control for
ruch of the national network, put forward a compelling case to
the national government showing how the optimum long-term
solution was not the traditional ‘patch-up and Hix’ approach
used by many existing railways across the world, but instead the
replacermnent of the entire system in one programme.
On behalf of Banedanmark, Ricardo Certification is performing

Case studies

assurance roles on the migration to both ERTMS and CBTC
systerns, including Assessment Body (AsBo') and Notified
Body {NoBo') services, as well as acting as the Independent
Safety Assessor (1SAN. In the role of AsBo Ricardo acts as an
independent party appointed to assess the safety risk process
applied during a project, determining compiiance with the
‘Common Safety Method on risk evaluation and assessment’
(CSM) regulations; secondly, as the project's NoBe, Ricardo
provides conformity assessments of products and subsystems
against the relevant requirements of the European Directive on
the Interoperability of the Rail System.

And finally, as the ISA, Ricardo can assure 1ts customer that
their project is meeting recognised industry, legal and regulatory
standards. The process also demonstrates that the assessed
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business is committed to operating in a safe, sustainable and
afficient manner, sending a reassuring message of transparency
1o passengers, regulators, investors and employees.

Nationwide integration

The new nationwide signalling systern is being installed

to enable the turopean Train Control System (ETCS), the
signalling and control component of the Luropean Rall Traffic
Management System (ERTMS). It will take in more than 3,000
km of mainline routes. ERTMS is a system based on direct radic
communications between in-cab driver displays and a central
traffic control centre. 1tis a standard backed by the Furopean
Union so that the industry can harmonise systems and practices
across EU mainline routes, and ultimately establish a single, cpen
Furopean rail network.

A key difference between ERTMS and traditional systems
is that by using control centres to monitor and instruct the
movements of individual trains, ERTMS allows for the removal of
some of the trackside signalling equipment that is a major cause
of maintenance costs and operational delays. Another benefit
is that trains wiil be able to operate across barders without the
array of on-board train protection systems, radios and signalling
equipment required today. By incorporating technology similar
to GPS, ERTMS will begin to enable control centres to monitor
with pinpoint accuracy each train's location, allowing trains
to run closer together, and even bi-directionally along certain
routes, thus increasing capacity.

All new mainline projects in the EU must now apply ERTMS
signalling, and Denmark is the first member state that has
committed to ERTMS on a national scale in a single programme.
This is a decision that offers a number of advantages. Firstly,
it provides a wider choice, and thus increased competition,
between signalling technology suppliers all working to the same
technical specifications. Equipment and interface problems
between components are also likely to be reduced, because
a single supplier can be tasked with delivering a full signalling
package. Costs will be further reduced, too, as only a single
safety approval is necessary per contract. Finally, design and
development costs will now represent a comparatively low
propartion of the investment The operational benehts will be
a network that can offer increased line speeds, improved safety,
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better reliability and higher traffic levels on key routes.

In addition to the use of ERTMS signalling on the country's
mainline routes, the metro-based Communications-Based Train
Control (CBTC') system is being introduced on Copenhagen’s
170 km suburban network: this is a technology standard
designed for the stop-start nature of urban metro systems
and allows services to operate at greater speeds and increased
frequencies, and with reduced energy costs.

Parallel electrification

Despite the delays to be expected on such a major project -
no other railway has attempted such a wholesale transition
before - the programme has now hit its stride. The challenge
has been compounded by the complication that the
nationwide re-signalling project has also had to progress
alongside Denmark’s plans to electrify its mainline routes,
requiring the procurement of new electric rolling stock, too.
The muttiple interfaces that are affected when migrating from
diesel to electric vehicles, as well as to new a signalling system,
have only added to this complexity.

However, feedback from the early deployment lines has been
positive, with performance generally exceeding expectations.
The team of assessors based in Ricardo Certification’s
Copenhagen office are confident that the expernence
accumulated during the commissioning of early deployment
lines means that the rollout of remaining routes will progress
smoothly. Two such early deployment lines entered service
in 2019, followed in early 2020 by the first rotlout ine for the
western region. An additicnal rellout line in the east is due to



Ricardo’s selection as thé
partner to carry out the

crucial roles of assessment ;

of safety, interoperability and
certification demonstrates
the extremely high regard in
which the company is held
within the industry

commission shortly, and further routes are scheduled o open at
six-month intervals.
When supporting a programme that will eventually last
more than two decades, a level of continuity in terms of
both approach and personnel is essential. As such, Ricardo
Certification has sought to provide a consistent tearm of assessors
waorking to a clear methodology. Each of Ricardo's lead assessors
is supported by 2 pool of assessors based in Denmark, and also
by celleagues in Sweden, the UK, Spain and the Netherdands,
ensuring access 1o the right expertise whenever required.
Regular meetings between the approvals teams enable
the project leads to compare notes, discuss issues under

- ‘ S Case studies
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investigation and ensure consistency. Lead assessors also

liaise closely with the project safety managers to anticipate
upcoming assessment priorities. The use of online tools such

as Microsoft Teams was embraced at an early stage to help
participants cperate as an integrated team across many locations
- something that has been particularly helpful during the
COVID-19 lockdown.

A network for the future
Both the re-signalling and electrification works are expected
t¢ be complete by 2028 1o 2030. At that point Denmark wil!
boast a network to rival any new-build: cleaner, more effhicient
and better able 1o support higher speeds, with shorter times
between trains, reduced service delays and improved safety
standards. It will alse ensure full interoperability in accordance
with Eurcpean standards.

This project, with its unprecedented national scale, represents
a world-class challenge for the railway industry, integrating
the latest signalling, control and safety technologies for metro,
regicnal and high-speed lines. With both the international
railway industry and city authorities and governments investing
in ambitious world-class infrastructure projects that promise
to have a transformative and highly beneficial effect on
the conurbations that they serve, Ricarde's selection as the
partner to carry out the crucial roles of assessment of safety,
intercperability and certification demonstrates the extremely
high regard in which the company is held within the industry.
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Enablmghlgh capacity
electric vehicle charging

Ricardo is participating in a research project, DC Share, that will
demonstrate the use of local DC networks to leverage spare capacity
across existing AC electricity distribution substations and enable

the connection of increased numbers of high-power electric vehicle
charging points — all without the need for significant and costly
distribution network reinforcement.
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he ability of power distribution networks 1o

accommodate a significant growth in dermand

arising from the need to recharge electric

vehicles (EVs) s likely 1o be a key enabler for the

decarbonisation of transport, a stated aspiration of
governments around the world.

In the UK for example, regulations have aiready been put in
place that will end the sale of new conventional gasoline and
diesel-powered cars and vans by the year 2040 or earlier. As a
reans of facilitating this transition, the UK Government’s Clean
Growth Strategy sets out the importance of accelerating the
shift to low-carbon transport: one of its key stated objectives is

10 “develop one of the best BV charging networks in the world.”

The significance of this aim is underscored by the fact that,

' d ]

- |
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Enabling high-cagliflly electric vehicle charging

by itself, home-based charging cannot possibly match the
convenience enjoyed by today's petrol and diesel drivers, who can
refuel their vehicles at will in a matter of a few minutes at multipie
filling staticn locations. More chargers are needed if range anxiety
is to be dispelled and drivers encouraged to switch to an EV;
likewise, for EVs 1o offer practical solutions for the opetators of
vehicle fleets such as delivery vans and taxis, a much greater
provision of rapid charging facilities will be required. These will
need (¢ be in short-stay destinations such as town centres, as well
as at taxi ranks and in commercial vehicle and car-club charging
hubs. Moreover, significant additional provisicn will be needed for
on-street charging for the approximately 40 percent of people in
the UK lacking access to home-based charging because they do
not have off-street parking.
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Distribution network capacity
constraints
Arguably the biggest challenge for the power industry in
accommodating an increasingly electrfied vehicle parc lies in
the capacity constraints of the medium voltage (up to 36 kV)
and low voltage (Up to 1 kV) distribution networks. Whereas
at grid scale additionat capacity can be provided through
focused investments such as new power statiors and renewable
schemes like offshore wind farms, the low-voltage distribuion
networks represent a highly complex and geographically
dispersed mix of infrastructure installed over many decades.

Previous research has shown that within the UK, the low-
voltage distribution network should be able to accommaedate
large-scale BV charging at up to 7 kW through the use of
managed charging solutions, such as focusing vehicle
recharging demand throughout the might and during off-peak
hours. A more fundarmental challenge occurs, however, if more
rapid 50-150 kW ¢ harging (whic h would give users the flexibility
to recharge in minutes rather than hours) is to be considered at
any scale in urban environments.

The level of power required for one such rapid charger uses
a large percentage of both a typical secondary transformer and
AC cabie load capacity. As such, while any given distribution
substation might be able 1o connect one or two rapid chargers,
as soon as such facilities are required at any scale, reinforcement
of the low-voltage network is likely to be necessary.

The wholesale upgrade of this infrastructure to accormmodate
the required change in vehicle use is neither commercially

feasible nor practical as a solution. Moreover, capacity is not likely
to be constrained universally across the network and will tend

to vary dramatically over time with the patterns of the day and
working week. Enabling the rapid charging of EVs within the
constraints of existing infrastructure is the challenge that the DC
Share project, in which Ricardo is partnering with Western Power
Distribution and Electricity North West Limited, seeks to address.

This approach enables uncertainty in
demand to be managed more effectively,
optlmzzmg power flows in real time to
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DC Share — a radically new approach

With funding awarded by the UK energy market regulator
Ofgem (the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets) through

the Network Innovation Competition Project, DC Share will
demonstrate the use of latent capacity in distribution network:
capacity which is difficult to access using traditional means. The
project will adopt a novel approach to supplying rapid charging
hubs, using power electronics to channel power from existing
substations and distributing this to rapid EV charge peints via a
new high-capacity DC cable network.

Using this approach, transformers experiencing heavy
demand can receive support from those that are more lightly
lcaded, thus enabling uncertainty in demand to be managed
more effectively and optimising power flows in real time to react
as needed. Enabled via fibre-optic communication infrastructure
installed with the DC cables, the DC Share solution provides a
means of sharing system capacity across secondary substations
with different load profiles. The demonstration will comprise
four such substations to which around 20 rapid EV chargers can
be connected.

I addition to the promise of improved distribution network
capacity utilisation, the approach envisaged by DC Share will
leave spare capacity on existing low-voltage AC feeder cables to
customers’ premises. This is important to provide for likely future
demand growth associated with the existing connections - for
example, to supply further off-street EV charging or for domestic
heat pumps.

Since the DC Share project commenced in January 2020,
Ricardo and its partners have researched and identified a

Case studies
Enabling high-capacity electric vehicle charging

suitable site to accommodate the technology demonstration
and are addressing technical issues and concluding designs
prior to defining the necessary procurernent packages.
Discussions are also being pregressed with commercial charge-
point operators with a view to the possible integration of

the DC Share project rapid chargers into a viable commercial
network following project completion. Despite the effects

of the COVID-19 pandemic, the BC Share project remains on
track for the demonstration site to be commissioned by June
2022, with the results of testing then being evaluated over the
subsequent year.

A holistic perspective of the power
system

The DC Share project demonstrates the urgent need for
innovation in the power network to work alongside the other
incentives that will defiver new electrified vehicles to market.
The car drivers and light-vehicle fieet operators of the future will
need to know that when switching to EVs they can experience

a convenience of transportation that is at least as flexible as that
offered by the conventional venhicies of today. The widespread
and pukblic availability of destination-based rapid charging is
thus an essential element of the future low-carbon transport
acosystemn, and this can only be realised through a fresh
perspective on the distribution network. With its unique insights
into both the automotive and power industries, the DC Share
project is a further demonstration of the crucial role that Ricardo
is able to play in making this low-carbon future a reality.
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Ending range anxiety for
electric-vehicle drivers

Maximising range is the top priority for developers of electric vehicles,
and demands the best possible powertrain efficiency from battery
to wheels. Ricardo engineers are achieving significant efficiency
gains through an integrated approach to electric powertrain design,
including a focus on the highly complex subject of electrified vehicle
thermal management.
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ith electric vehicle (V") buyers becoming

more cash conscious, the recipe for
greater range is no longer just to add
bigger, heavier and costlier battery packs.
Instead, EV buyers will now be able to

get the range they need by choosing models with higher

powertrain efficiency te help make the most of every kilowatt-

hour in the battery.

A kay factor here is the efficient thermal management of

the whaole suite of xEV systems - ‘x’ standing for all types of

electrifiad vehicle, from pure battery electric vehicles ta plug-in

hybrids and range-extended EVs. As well as boesting range,

good thermal management can significantly improve passenger

cornfort, charging performance, battery durability and the

Case studies
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predictability of the increased range. This last point is important
because range anxiety and the difficulty of predicting available
driving distance over different routes and in different weather
conditions is still a big concern for many potential EV buyers.

Ricardo's Integrated Thermal Management approach to the
design of xEV systems focuses not just on the powertrain, but
on the whole vehicle system including the cabin. The key to
this is the Ricarde Integrated Medel-based Development
Framework (IMBLY) which takes inte account all onboard
systems and the impact they have as a whole on the vehicle’s
total energy resources.

How the process works
Under the IMBD umbrelia and using a number of tools including
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Ricardo's IGNITE software, the powertrain (motaor,
power electronics and battery), and HVAC

(cabin and heating and cocling systems) are

first defined as a maodel sub-system and their
parameters established.

The next step is to create a 1D base model of the
thermal system model including the powertrain
and vehicle. Known as a plant model, it includes the
cooling circuits, HVAC and cabin, and the battery and electrical
system. Stage three is to generate a manageable Reduced
Crder Model| (ROM') for the simulation and analysis of driving
scenarios. Finally, the ROM is optimised to make it capable
of running in, or faster than, real time when integrated into a
physical control unit.

Evaluating different alternatives quickly
This approach makes it possible to evatuate the many different
technical alternatives that might be used for a particular task.
For example, battery cooling can be accomplished in a number
of different ways. Air cooling is one, liquid cooling with cold
plates is another, and further options are refrigerant cooling or
immersian cooling where electronic components (battery
cells/bus bars, MOSFETs, IGBTs, electric motor end windings or
stator slots) come into direct contact with a dielectric (non-
conductive) coolant.

With the introduction of super-fast chargers now bringing
rates of up to 350 kW, the thermal management of
batteries is becoming increasingly demanding. By
using a nonr-electrically conductive fluid, the
coefant can be in direct contactyith.
el cormnection tabs and bus B3

capacity and making it possible to charge at much
faster rates than would otherwise be possible
without risking permanent damage.

Typical fluids used for this purpose are gearbox
transmission oils or cooling oils used in transformers.
Although the thermat conductivity of these fluids
is lower thar that of water-based cooling fluids,
the overall cooling benefiz is much greater than
the conventional cold plates approach with ethylene-glycol
water. Ricardo is collaborating with the manufacturer M&l on
the devetopment of these new fluids as part of aninnovate
UK-funded project called FCoBAT (immersion-cooled Battery),
which started in June 2019 and will finish at the end of 2020.

Taking inte account all improvements to the powertrain and
cabin heating and cooling systems, Ricardo estimates IMBD
can deliver a remarkable 10 to 15% gain in the overall energy
efficiency of the vehicle, What is more, work in this area is already
moving beyond the automative sector and expanding into
marine, rail and aviation applications.

Integrated electric drive units

Combining an EV's electric motoer with the transmission and
power electronics to make a single unit is an effective way
to improve efficiency and reduce cost. Concepts of this type
could be used by EV manufacturers across a range of EV classes
- and an optimum solution that has emerged from Ricardo’s

work is a multi-speed Electric Drive Unit (EDU). This unit

incorporates a three-speed dual clutch transmission,

The ali-electric DS E-TENSE FE2Q from DS Techeetah with an output of 250kW or 338hp and a Ricardo
transmission secured victory in bath the drivers and constructors ABB Formula E championship
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an electric machine, a final dr've and aninverter, and 1s intended
for application n a mid-sized, two-wheel drive SUV.

This technclogy is scalable, too, with the number of
transmission speeds chosen for a giver application depending
o1 factors such as efficiency, cost, packaging, and inverter,
motor and other vehicle attribures. In most applications the
decision will be driven by the cost versus efficiency balance — for
example, the fact that cost can be taken out of the battery by
increasing range through driveline efficiency

Formula Eracing
In competitive electrified motorsport, Ricardo has many years'
experience working with world-leading Formuia E teams
including DS Performance. The DS Techeetah racing team
won both the manufacturers’ and drivers’ championships in
the 2018-2019 season and was leading the 20319-2020 season
before the competition was paused due to the COVID-19
pandemic. In Formuia £, grid regulations require
that much of each car is common. Significant
competitive advantage can be gained
with a highly efficient powertrain,
however, and the transmission
plays a vital part in this. In this
case, the transmission was
designed by Ricardo and DS
Performance in partnership.
Using software it had
developed in house, Ri )

was able to predict the og l!

Y

efficiency of the transmission, g

minimisirg O#Wdﬁg.
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bearing drag and other parasitic losses to develop the most
efficient transmission possible The software is so accurate that it
is possible to predict differences smaller than 0.1% — and because
there is a direct correlation betwesn overall drivehne efficiency
and lap time, any reduction of losses in the driveline improves the
performance of the car. The very important lessons learned in this
demanding field are expected to contribute directly to road car
developrnent.

Electric future
Ricardo is continuing its research into producing high-efficiency
and cost-effective electnic powertrains capable of underpinning
future xEV products as weil as fuel cell electric vehicles. What is
clear from the work so far is that treating the powertrain as single
system rather than a collection of separate components, and
optimising thermal as well as mechanical systems in an integrated
manner, gives significant efficiency gains. And the
best thing is that there are many more gains
sttt to come.

J_J.
L

The softvvore is so accurate
that it is possible to predict

dlfferences smaller thon 01%
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Ricardo’s engineers are at the forefront of delivering safe,
flexible, robust and cost-efficient defence vehicle technology
— everything from reimagining Europe’s best-selling
commercial pick-up as a general service vehicle concept,

to assisting General Motors (GM’) with integrated product
support for prototypes of the U.S. Army’s future Infantry Squad
Vehicle, and delivering crucial safety technology for the
workhorse HMMWYV ‘Hummvee'.
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anufactured in Ford's South African facility and

scld globally, the Ranger is a commen sight

on the highways of Europe. A vital tocl of the

trade in sectors ranging from construction

10 agriculture and forestry, the Ranger is the
continent’s best-selling pick-up and is alse valued for its versatility,
durability and high towing capacity in leisure applications.

However, while the model is familiar in many differing roles,

it has not - until now, at least - been seen as a candidate for
military service. In response to a request from Ford, Ricardo
engineers created a Ranger military general service vehicle
concept. Building on the wealth of experience of the company’s
special vehicles team, this latest commercial platform adaptation
is the most recent embodiment of the Ricardo approach to

Case studies
New model army

The US Army awarded GM Defense
and its strategic partner, Ricardo
Defense, a USD 214.3M contract to
build, field, and sustain the Army’s
new Infantry Squad Vehicle

cost-effective modern mifitary vehicle design, a heritage that
stretches back almost three decades.

The Ricardo Ranger concept is set to be available with a range
of powertrain options, including Ford’s strong and refined 213
hp 2.0-litre EcoBlue bi-turbo diesel, which produces 500 Nm
of torgue for excellent load-hauling capability. This 1s mated to
an advanced new 10-speed automatic transmission for easy,
economical driving.

Key featurss of the adaptation designed by Ricardo include
options for a rollover protection system similar to that used
in the highly successful WMIK vehicle developed by Ricardo
for the British Army; an armoured ballistic underfloor and
armoured glass; lightweight but heavy-duty front and rear
burnpers; skid plates for the radiater, powertrain and fuel
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tark; rock sliders ard improved wading/fording protection;
NATO [RR paint/camouflage, and four-ooint seat harnesses In
addition, the 24V electrical system is enhanced to provide the
power requirements and EMC protection expected of modern
defence vehicle applications, and the chassis can be equipped
with upgraded springs, dampers, brakes, heavy-duty wheels
and all-terram tyras, which combine 1o offer greater rid= height
and more versatile towing capacity. in delivering this project,
Ricardo bas worked closely with Polaris Government and
Defense, in particular for support in the areas of onboard power
management and C4i {commanrd, control, communications,
computers and intelligence) integration.

Advanced concept support for GM

While the Ricarde-developed Ford Ranger general service
vehicle is an example of a very modern platforrm-adapted
concept closely based on a series production vehicle, the US.

Army’s Infantry Squad Vehicle {15V} is intended as a more was GM Defense, which teamed with Ricardo Defense to
extreme adaptation suitable for more frontline use. The 1SV is provide integrated product support. Ricardo's support includes
aimed in particular at providing tactical mobiiity for airborne vehicle technical manual and training material developrnent
toops. Its speciiication requires it o be sufficiently light in for operators and maintenance personnel. The ISV developed
weight that it can be sling-loaded from a UH-60 Blackhawk by GM Defense is basec on the Chevrolet Colorado 7R2?
helicopter, as well as compact enough to fit within a CH-4/ architecture, which leverages 70% commercial off-the-shelf parts
Chinoock. It needs to be versatile as a ground vehicle, too — able in a flexible, light, all-terrain vehicle.

to carry up to nine troops together with their kit, and with a
payload capacity of 5,000 Ibs {1,866 kg).

In order to fast-track the entry into service of this ali-terrain,
highly transpertable vehicle, the US. Army selected three
suppliers to develop ISV prototypes for evaluation by service
personnel, with the intenticn of awarding a producticn and
deployment contract later in 2020. One of the chosen suppliers

The Ricardo Ranger general service
vehicle conceptis based on Ford's
highly successful commercial
platform
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Ricardo has already provided a total
of aver 4,000 ABS/ESC systems for the
U.5. Army's HMMWVs, and has begun
shipments directly to allied foreign
countries that also use the vehicle

Enhanced safety for the ‘Humvee’
The High Maobility Multipurpose Wheeled Vehicle (HMMWY') or

‘Humves'is a core element of the US. Army's vehicle fleet and one

that is planned to remain in service well into the 2030s. in order
tc Improve the safety, serviceability and agility of this important
military vehicle, Ricardo embarked on a project in 2014 to modify
a fleet of ten HMMWVs belonging to the Michigan National
Guard, installing a Ricardo-engineered ABS and £SC system that
would significantly improve occupant safety.

The Ricardo system was developed, in part, in response 1o a
Mational Highway Traffic Safety Administration {NHTSA) report
conducted in 2014 that discovered a 74% reduction in vehicle
roflovers for similar light trucks and vehicles if ABS/ESC had been
fitted. In 2011 NHTSA mandated ABS and ESC systerns on all
passenger vehicles sold in the US. The Ricardo system 15 the first
of its kind to uniquely adapt the same commercial automotive
components cited in the NHSTA report to improve HMMWY
handling and vehicle stability. Moreover, the systern also
provides shorter, safer stopping distances, a significant reduction
in the wear and replacement cost of brake system components,
and increased reliability and hence operational readiness. The
inclusion by the US Congress of the HMMWYV Rollover Mitigation
program' as a priority in the 2021 defence budget validates
the important contribution to vehicle safety that this Ricarde-
engineered system offers.

The complete package developed and tested by Ricardo
for the HMMWYV includes anti-leck braking, electronic stability
control, active roliover protection, traction control, and improved
brake calipers, pads and rotors. The entire system leverages
proven components in a package that Ricarde engineered
specifically for the arduous requirements of the military
environment; the whole programme was designed for ease of
retrofit upgrade to the existing fleet.

A significant milestone in the take-up of the Ricardo ABS/

ESC kit was the assignment of a National Stock Number, which
enables the US government, its agencies and the Army to place

Case studies
New model army

1 appesar.aear s

direct orders for the Ricardo retrofit system. To dale, a total

of over 4,000 Ricardo ABS/ESC systems have been provided,
improving the safety and manoeuvrability of this staple vehicle
of the U.S. Army.

In addition to supplying the ABS/ESC retrofit kit to the US.
Army, Ricarde has also begun shipments directly to allied foreign
countries that deploy the HMMWV as part of their ground force
operations, To support the increasing supply chain requirements
that result from this success, Ricardo Defense has expanded
its kit production facility to include a new location in Sterling
Heights, Michigan.

Global technology partner

The programmes described above build upon Ricardo’s long-
standing and well-deserved reputation for the delivery of
high-quality, cost-effective vehicles and technology integration
for the world’s armed forces. In previous years Ricardo has

been respensible for programmes such as the design and
construction of a fieet of WiMIK light-reconnaissance multi-role
Land Rovers and the crew-protected Foxhound vehicle, both of
which are in successful ongoing use by the British Army. Today,
Ricardo's capabilities extend well beyond mobility, with the
company increasingly seen as the partner of choice for a wide
range of software, technical services and practical solutions
that help to protect lives, reduce costs, and minimise waste, both
for the forces of NATQ countries and for other allied

naticns worldwide.
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lan Gibson

Board of Directors

as at 30 June 2020

Dave Shemmans
Ang
Chief Executive Officer

Dave Shemmans joined
Ricardo in 1999 and was
appointed Chiefl Executive
Officer on 4 Novemoer 2005,
Prior to joining Ricardo, he
was managing director of a
subsidiary of Powergen plc.
He has also gained consulting
experience in both listed
and private companies, He
s a graduate of the Harvard
Business School Dave was
appointed non-executive
director of Sutton and East
Surrey Water plc on

1 Santember 20114

Sir Terry Morgan

{8, rzng

Non-Executive Director and
Chair of the Board

Sir Terry Morgan was
apponted Nan-Executive
Director on 2 January 2014
and Chair on 23 October
2014 He was previcusly
non-executive Chair of
Crossrail Limited, High
Speed Two (HS2) Limited,
The Manufactunng
Technology Centre Limited
and NSARE Limited {the
National Skills Academy for
Railway Engineering) Sir
Terry was also previously a
non-executive director of
Boxwood Limited and the
Department of Energy &
Climate Change

Sir Terry Morgan

Mark Garrett

lan Gibson
35¢, ACA
Chief Financial Officer

lan Gibson was appointed
Chief Ninancial Officer on
tJuly 2013 A member of
the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England

anc Wales, fanos a finance
professional with more

than 30 years of commercial
experence. He was
previcusly Chief Financial
Officer of Cable & Wireless
Worldwide plc, where he
spent atotal of 17 yearsina
number of senior financial
management posItions, Prior
teyrhis fan spent 12 years at
Deloitte where he worked in
both the London and
Toronto offizes.
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Patricia Ryan

Mark Garrett
Ceng. ribdechs, FRENg
Chief Strategy Officer

Mark Garrett joined Ricardo
in 1998 and resigned on 31
July 2020

Patricia Ryan

M s (Fls 1]

Group Generai Counsef and
Company Secretary

Pariicia Ryan 15 3 Juaiified
solicitor. She joined Ricardao's
legal department in 2002
and was appointed Group
General Counsel in 2005
and Company Secretary in
Novernber 2008. Patricia
holds an honours degree in
law from the University of
Westminster. She achieved
the Certificate of Investor
Relations from the Investor
Relations Society in
February 2017,



£ Laurie Bowen

£ Russell King

5 Bill Spencer

Laurie Bowen

A5A
Non-Executive Director, Chair
of Nomination Committee

Laurie 3owen was appointed
Non-Executive Directer on

I July 2015, She has over

30 years of iInternationzl
leadership expenence

at [BM, British Telecom,

Tata Group, Telecom Italia
Sparkle and Cable & Wireless
Communications. She was
appointed non-executive
director of Chemnng Group
plcon 1 August 2019, Laurie
has an MBA, 2 B5¢ in Electrical
Engineering and a BSc in
Computer Science from
Washington University in St.
Louis, Missouri

Jack Boyer

3A |

Jack Boyer OBE was appointed]
Non-Executive

5 Seprember 2019, Jac

a non-executive director

and Senior Independent
Director of TT Electronics pic
where he s a member of the
Audit, Remuneration and
Nominations committees. He
chairs the Board of Trustees

of the Urnversity of Bristol and
is @ non-executive director

of the Henry Royce Institute
for Advanced Matenals He
recently chaired AlM listed
compaAany Seeing Marhines
and was praviously a non-
execulive director at £ {5k

250 companies Mitie ple and
Laird plc after a background in
engineerng and biosciences.
He was until recently a board
member of the Engineering
and Physical Sciences Research
Council and co-chaired the
Advanced Materials Leadership
Coundl at the department for
Business, Energy and industnat
Strategy Jack was awarded

an OBE in 2015 for services to
Science and Engineenng,

Jack Boyer OBE

£ Malin Persson

Russell King
Non-Executive Director,
Chair of the Remuneration
Committee

Russell King was appointed
Non-Executive Director on

5 September 2019 Russell

15 Chair of Hummingbird
Resources plc, and an
Independent non-executive
director of BDO LLP Russell
served as Chief Strategy
Oficer at Anglo American
plc where he had global
responsibility for strategy,
business development,
government relations,
safety and sustainable
development. He was also

a member of its executive
committee for eight

years. Additionally, Russell
was senior independent
director and remuneration
commuttee chair of Spectris
ple from 2010 to 2020 senior
independent non-executive
director and remuneration
committee chair of Aggreko
plc, from 2007 to 2017

Malin Persson

Non-Executive Director, Senior
Independent Director

Malin Persson was appointed
Non-Executive Director on

4 January 2015 Makhin held a
number of senior executive
roles during her employment
by the Volvo Group

between 1985 and 2012

She is an elected member

of the Rayal Swedish
Academy of Engineering
Sciences and has an MSc

in Ingustrial Engineenng

and Management from

the Chalmers University of
Technology in Gothenburg

Bill Spencer
o f

Non-Executive Director and
Chair of the Audit Committee

3ill spencer was appointed
Non-Executi rector on
24 April 2017 and Charr of
the Audit Commitiee on 8
November 2017 For 15 vears
untit 2010 he was the CFO of
Intertek Group plc and has
since held audit committes
chair roles at UK Mail plc and
Exova Group pic. Bill has also
been the interim Charr, senior
independent director and
audit and risk committee
Chair of Northgate plc. Bill 1
non-executive director of The
Roval Mint. He is a Chartered
Management Accountant
and Corporate Treasurer and
has a BS¢ in Management
Sciences from the University
of Manchester
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Corporate governance

Corporate
governance
statement

Sir Terry Morgan
Chair

CHAIR'S OVERVIEW

The Board is committed to ensuring that the highest standards of governance are maintained throughout the Group.

This report sets out the ways in which we comply with good corporate governance principles. It describes how the Board and
its Committees work, and also outlines our approach to risk management and internal control.

The Board recognises the importance of considering the Company’s responsibilities and duties to both its shareholders and its
broader stakeholder group, and this has been at the heart of our culture and decision-making process for many years.

The Board spends time listening to and understanding the views of its key stakeholders. When discussing matters at Board
meetings these views form an integral part of its decision-making. In support of the requirements of section 172 of the
Companies Act 2006, we set out on pages 16 to 17 together with page 85, how the Board has considered the material issues

of the Group’s stakeholders and how we have engaged with these stakeholders on these issues. As required by the Code, the
Board considers that its Non-Executive Directors, including the Senior independent Director, have a good level of understanding

of the issues and concerns of major shareholders.

Sir Terry Morgan CBE

UK Corporate Governance Code

The Board confirms that the Company has complied with the
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 ("the Code”)
throughout the year ended 30 June 2020.

This report described how the Company has applied the
principles and provisions set out in the Code during the year and
sets out our activities relating to the main sections of the Code;
1. Board Leadership and Company Purpose
2. Division of Responsibilities
3. Composition, Succession and Evaluation
4. Audit, Risk and internal Control
5. Remuneration

The Code and assodiated guidance are publicly available on the
Corporate Governance and Stewardship page of the Financial
Reperting Coundil's website, https//www.frc.org.uk/directors/
corporate-governance-and-stewardship.

SECTION 1:

Board Leadership and Company Purpose

The role of the Board is to provide entrepreneurial leadership and
we recognise that we are collectively responsible for the long-term
success of the Group.

Our values and leadership behaviours are a vital part of our
culture 1o ensure that through our conduct and decision-making
wae do the right thing for the business and our stakehclders.

The Board recognises that it s accountable to stakeholders for
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ensuring that the Group is appropriately managed and achieves its
objectives in a way that is supported by the right cuiture and behaviours.

Our values underpin our purpose and are recognised across the
Group as the basis of our culture. The Board sets the strategy for the
Group to align with our purpose. It oversees the implementation of
that strategy to ensure that the Group is suitably resourced to deliver
on its strategic objectives.

The Beard holds an annuai strategic planning session to support
the long-term direction of the Group. At the session, held every
Novernber, senior managers present on each of our global
business areas 1o better understand market trends, technology
developments, innovation and people strategies as well as culture,
diversity and inclusion.

Throughout the year, the Board receives reqular updates on these
areas 1o ensure the delivery of strategy in line with our purpcse.

We have a formal schedule of matters reserved for our approval
which are not delegated to the executive team. These include:

- Suategy;

= Acquisitions and disposals of businesses (above a certain size);

« Annual budgets;

« Capital expenditure (@bove a certain amounty;

= Finandial results;

+ Overseeing systems of internal control, governance and risk
management;

+ Dividends,; and

+ Appointment and removal of Directors and the Company Secretary.
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Board Committee meetings

meetings Audit Remuneration Nomination
Nurzer of scheduted meetings in the year 7 3 4 1
Numoer atiended by each member
Dave Shemmans 7 1
lan Gibson 7 - - -
NMark Garerr® 5] -
Sif Tesry Morgan C3c 7 4 1
lack Joyer OBE*S 3 3 4 1
Bill Spencer 7 3 4 1
Laune Bowen 7 3 4 i
Malin Persson 7 3 4 !
Russelt King™* 5] 3 4 1
Peter Gilenr st*** 3 2 3

‘Mark Larett resigned from the Board ard the Zompary or 31 Julv 202
**Jack Bover GBE ard Russell Kirg jowred the Boerd on 5 septermiber 2079
***Peter Gilchrst eonred from the Board on 14 Noveraber 2019

Our Board has Nomination, Audit and Remuneration Committees
and we delegate certain responsibilities to them. These
Committees comprise our independent Non-Executive Directors
{save for the Nomination Committee, which includes our Chief
Executive Officer) and all play a key role in supporting the Board
The fuli schedule of matters reserved for the Beard, together with
the written terms of reference for each Committee, are avallable on
our website, www.ricardo.com ar on request fram the

Company Secretary.

Our Code of Conduct, which defines the standards and
behaviours expected of colleagues, is a fundamental part of
our culture and supports our values, The Code of Conduct is
supported by Group pelicies and mandatory training, which
includes anti-bribery and corruption, whistleblowing and
data protection.

In addition, an independent and confidential whistleblowing
telephone hotline allows colleagues to raise concerns regarding
misconduct and any breaches of the Code of Conduct. The
Audit Committee routinely receives reports of any matters raised
through the whistleblowing hotline. Updates on any investigations
underiaken and any corrective actions are provided to the Board.

The Board in financial year 2019/20

There are seven scheduled Board meetings per vear, and otherwise
as required. Details of attendance by Board and Committee
members at scheduled meetings are shown in the table above.

If any Director is unable to attend a meeting, they discuss their
views and comments with the relevant Chair in advance, so that
their position can be represented at the meeting.

Board meetings focus on driving Ricardo's strategy, developing
stong leadership, succession planning, reviewing financial
business performance, monitoring risks and protecting the
strength of our relationships with clients, employees and other
stakehalders. The Board has a detailed programme that ensures
operational and finandial performance, risk, governance, strategy,
culture and stakeholder engagement are discussed at the
appropriate time.

Qur forward planner gives Board members visibility of what is
on future agendas for their consideration. A number of the key

matters considered by the Board during the year under review are
set out in the table below:

Meetingin FY 2019/20  Significant matters under review

July 2019 1Y 2019420 pudget approvat;
Risk management and internal contral, and

Mazters reserved for the Board and
Committees’ terms of reference
September 2019 Preliminary results and Annual Report,
Final dividend; and
Annual General Meeting (AGM")
November 2019 Strategy; and

Board objectives

February 2020 Intenm results and Interim Report,
Intenm dividend;
Key pertormance indicarors, and
Health, safety and enviranment ('HSE")
Aprit 2020 Treasury and Financing “aciiities
May 2020 Human resources and Employee Survey
results
June 20520 FY 2020421 divisional budget presentat.ons

Insurance

In each meeting the Board receives reports from the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer together with
reports and updates on health and safety as well as potential
acquisition and disposal activities. The Board challenges
management to ensure that the flow and guality of information to
the Board is of & high standard.

At the beginning of the second half of the year, the Board
recognised the potential impact to its global operations of the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and immediately scheduled
additional board meetings to enable it to regularly monitor the
impact on aperations and the actions being taken to protect the
health and well-being of employees.

In addition, the Board reviewed the Group's financial facilities
and approved the extension of a revolving credit facility with
the Group's banks to ensure the liquidity of the business. Since
February 2020 the Board has received weekly briefings on the
operational status of each of its global businesses, together with an
update on health, safety and wellbeing of employees.
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SECTION 2:

Division of Responsibilities

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of
the Group, ensuring that it operates within a framework of effective
controls.

The operations of the Board are underpinned by the collective
experience of the Directors and the diverse skills and experience
which they possess. This experience ensures that leadership and
decision-rmaking are focused and balanced, and approached with
independent thought and judgement. Accordingly, decisions
are taken for the benefit of the Company as a whale, with due
consideranion for all stakeholders who may be affected.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Charr
and the Chief Fxecutive Officer, which is documented, clearly
understood and approved by the Board.

The Chair

Sir Terry Morgan is primarily responsible for leading the Board

and ensuring its effectiveness. Sir Terry sets the Board agenda in
consultation with the Chief Executive, other Board members and
the Company Secretary Sir Terry promaotes eftective communication
between the Executive and Non-Executive Directors and ensures all
Directors effectively contribute to discussions and teel cornfortable
in engaging in healthy debate and constructive challenge.

Sir Terry ensures all Directors receive accurate, timely and clear
information to assist them to make their decisions and ensures
appropriately tailored induction programmes are delivered for new
Directors.

Chief Executive Officet
Dave Shemmans has direct responsibility for the Group on a
day-to-day basis and is accountable to the Board for the financial
and operaticnal performance of the Group. He plays a key role in
devising and reviewing Group strategies for discussion and approval
by the Board. Dave is tasked with providing regular operational
updates to the Board on all matters of significance relating to
the Group's business of reputation and for ensuring effective
communication with shareholders and other key stakeholders.
Dave Shemmans chairs the Executive Committee, which meets
regularly throughout the year. The Executive Committee is primarily
responsible for developing and implementing our corporate
strategy and pelicies.

Senior Independent Director

The responsikilities of the Senior Independent Director are also
documented and include the provision of an additional channel
of communication between our Chair and the Non-Executive
Directors. The Senicr iIndependent Director aiso provides an
additional point of contact for our shareholders should they have
concerns that communication through normal channels has failed
to resolve, or where such contacts are inappropriate.

The Senior Independent Director meets with the Non-Executive
Directors at least annually when leading the Non-Executive Directors
appraisal of the performance of the Chair.

Malin Persson was appointed Senior Independent Director at the
close of the AGM in Novermnber 2020,
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Non-Executive Directors
On 5 September 2019 Jack Boyer OBE and Russell King were
appointed to the Board as Non-Executive Directors.

Peter Gilchrist was Chair of the Remuneration Committee and
Senior Independent Director until his retirement in November 2019,
Russell King was appointed Chair of the Remuneration Committee
at the close of the AGM in Novernber 2019,

Bill Spencer has been the Chair of the Audit Committee
throughout the year under review.

At the close of the AGM in November 2019, Sir Terry Morgan stood
down as Chair of the Nomination Committee and Laurie Bowen was
appointed in his place.

On a number of occasions during the year, the Chair met the
other Non-Executive Directors without the attendance of the
Executive Directors. There were several other occasions during the
year when discussions between various Directors took place on
an informal basis. in addition tc formal Board meetings, the Chair
maintains regular contact with the other Direc tors to discuss specific
issues.

The Non-Executive Directors bring insight and experience to
the Board. They have responsibility for constructively challenging
the strategies proposed by the Executive Directors, scrutinising
the performance of management in achieving agreed goals and
objectives and play leading roles in the functioning of the Board
Committees, bringing an independent view to the discussion. They
meet with the Senior Independent Director to review the Chair's
performance and other matters.

Workiorce Engagerment Director

Malin Persson was designated as the Non-Executive Director
responsible for overseeing Workforce Engagement during the

year under review. Ricardo has a structured engagement plan

with its employees, including Pulse presentations, Town Halls,
Works Councils and biennial Group employee surveys together
with divisional surveys on a more regular basis. Before COVID-19.
Ricardo had designated a nurmber of senior executives who travel
axtensively and regutarly, consulting with employees whilst in
overseas territories and providing feedback. However, due to the
restrictions imposed by the pandemic, this practice is under review
with a view to providing Malin with direct access to employees
through the use of video-conferencing facilities and other means of
technclogy.

Company Secratary

Patricia Ryan is secretary to the Board. Her responsibilities include
ensuring the Board has the informaticn, time and resources it
needs in order to discharge its duties and function effectively and
efficiently.

The Company Secretary advises the Board on all governance
matters and facilitates induction programmes for new Directors
and provides briefings and guidance on gavernance, legal and
regulatory matters. The appointment and remaoval of the Company
Secretary is a matter reserved for the Board as a whole.

Time commitment
Regular Board and Committee meetings are scheduied throughaout



the year, ensuring that Directors allocate sufficient fme to
discharge therr duties effectively. Durng the year, the Board held
seven scheduled meetings and additional strategy days, which
included presentations by senior management on each of the
business areas.

In addition to scheduled meetings, the Board held additional
meetings to consider the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its
global operatiors,

Directors are expected to attend all Board and relevant
Committee meetings. The table on page 91 shows the record of
attendance at the scheduled Board and Committee meetings.

The nature of the Non-Executive Director role makes it
impossible 10 be speafic about the maximum tme commitment.
Howaver, it is anticipated that at least 20 days per annum after the
induction phase are required, plus additional time to devote to
preparation ahead of each meeting.

Itis recognised that at certain times It may be necessary to
convene additional Board, Committee or shareholder meetings.
Prior to appointment, the Nomination Cornmittee assesses
the commitments of a proposed candidate, including other
directorships, to ensure they have sufficient time 1o devote 1o
the role.

Conflicts of interast

Directors are required to report actual or potential conflicts

of interest to the Board for consideration and, if appropriate,
authorisation. If such conflicts exist, Direciors excuse themselves
from consideration of the relevant matter. The Company
maintains a register of authorised conflicts of interest, which is
reviewed annuaily,

Details of the Directors’ service contracts and terms of
appointment, together with their interests in the Company’s
shares, are shown in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages
102 t¢ 127.If Directors have concems about the Company or a
proposed action which cannot be resolved, it is recorded in the
Board minutes.

Ali Directors have access 1o the advice of the Company Secretary
and, in appropriate Circumsiances, may obtain independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense. No such reguests
were made in FY 2019/20. A Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
lnsurance policy is maintained for all Directors and each Director
has the benefit of a Deed of Indemnity.

SECTION 3:
Composition, Succession and Evaluation
Diversity and inclusion
Our Board sets the tone for inclusion and diversity across the
Group and believes it is important to have an appropriate balance
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity on the Board and at
senior management level to ensure good decision-making. The
Board recognises the need to create conditions that foster talent
and encourage all colleagues to achieve their full potential. The
Board and Nomination Cemmittee receive regular updates on the
progress of diversity Initiatives across the Group.

Our Board and Committees are committed to promoting
equality of opportunity for all employees and job applicants, free
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from all forms of discrimination. Ricardo is an inclusive employer
and values diversity of skills, knowledge, background, industry,
international experience and gender in its employees and aims to
recruit the best person for the role in all its positions across

the Group.

Our Nomination Committee appreciates that a diverse range
of backgrounds is ar important part of succession planning
at all leveis in the Group. Our Committee continually monitors
tenure profile and is vary conscious of the need to continue to
promote diversity at Board level and throughout the Group. Upon
engagement of external search consultants, our Board requires
that full account of all aspects of diversity are considered in
preparing candidate lists,

The Board recognised that the appointment of our two
additional Nor-Executive Directors during the year under review
had diluted female gender diversity. Careful consideration of
this impact was undertaken by the Nomination Committee and
the Board before appointment and it was determined that in
accordance with our aim to recruit the best person for the role,
itwas appropriate 1o appoint Russelt King and Jack Boyer OBE
as Non-Executive Directors. As part of its determination, the
Nomination Cornmittee considered that these appointments
should be viewed in relation to its overall responsibility for
succession planning of the Board. In addition, the Nomination
Commiittee recommended to the Board that Laurie Bowen
and Malin Persson should be appointed to the roles of Chair of
the Nomination Committee and Senicr Independent Director,
respectively, to reflect their contributions and status on the
Board. Since the departure of Mark Garrett on 31 July 2020, the
composition of the Board has returned to 25%
female representation.

The Board remains committed to prormotion of diversity at
allfevels within the Group and will report on this further in
future years,

Details of female representation elsewhere within the Group are
set out on page 22.

As set out in their biographies on pages 88 to 89, each member
of the Board offers a range of core skills and experience that is
relevant to the successful operaticn of the Group, providing a
strang independent element to the Board and a sclid foundation
for good corporate governance, as well as fulfilling the vital role
of corporate accountability. The cversight each of the Directors
provides is balanced with individuals contributing a broad range
of skills, diverse experience and knowledge, dernonstrating
independence and constructive challenge.

Non-executive Directors’ independence,

The Nomination Committee considers whether each of the
Non-Executive Directors is continuing to maintain his or her
independence of character and judgement in line with the
defintion set out in the Code. The Non-Executive Directors met
with the Chair without the Executive Directors being present on

a number of occasions and, at least annually, Directors meet with
the Senicr Independent Director to review the Chair's performance
and other matters.
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Appointment, induction and development
Nen-Executive Directors are initially appointed for a three-year
term, with an expectation that they will continue for at least a
further three years. Directors are norminated by the Nomination
Committee and are subseguently approved by the Board for
election or re-election annually by shareholders at the Company’s
AGM. After three years' service the performance of a Nor-
Executive Director is rigorously assessed by the Normination
Committee, Any development needs identified are discussed by
the Chair with the Non-Executive Director.

All Birectors will submit themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM in November 2020. Upon appointment, al
new Directors receive a comprehensive induction programme
over a number of months, which is designed to facllitate their
understanding of the business and is tailored to their individual
needs. The Chair and the Company Secretary are responsible for
delivering the programme covering the Company’s core purpose
and values, strategy, key areas of the business and corporate
governance. The New Director induction programme is delivered
through meetings with senior managers across the Group as well
as via a number of advisors, attendance at Committee meetings,
site visits and access to a library of reference materials. In support
of the ongoeing development of Diractors, technical updates
are provided at Board and Cormmittee meetings to ensure that
Directors remain up to date with key developments in the
business environment.

Directors are encouraged to attend training sessions © ensure
their knowledge is up to date on relevant legal, regulatory
and financial developments or changes. The Board receives
presentations on each of the business areas to understand the
market conditions and challenges in the different countries the
Group operates in. Directors have spent time individually and
collectively exploring specific operational actiities in detail
through presentations, meetings and site visits, giving them
the opportunity to meet with local senior management o
gain an insight of the business operations. The Board visits our
overseas business functions on a regular basis to gain a greater
understanding of the market conditions that the business cperates
in and to understand the challenges they face. This provides
in-depth knowledge for the Directors, enabling them to share
their own experiences and chaflenge the business. Unfortunately,
due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the planned Board visit to cur
operations in the US had 1o be cancelled during the year
under review.

Board evaluation

The Board undertakes a format review of its own performance and

that of its Committees each year, Foliowing the recormmendation

of the Nomination Committee, an extermnally facilitated review

was commissioned during the year under consideration and the

evaluation was reported back to the Board towards the latter

part of the year. Condign Consulting undertook the review and

concluded that the Boara was strong and effective, with each

Director actively contributing to the effectiveness of the Board and

the Committees of which he or she was a member during the year.
Following the external review, the Board set itself improvernent

94 Ricardo plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019/20

actions and abjectives, including, amengst other things, gaining

a deeper insight into shareholder views and seeking additional
engagement; review of the board schedule and agenda planning;
further review of diversity goals and workforce engagement;
review of strategic priorities and succession planning, The
outcome of these improvement actions will be reported in the
next annual report.

SECTION 4:

Audit, Risk and Internal Control

This Report provides shareholders with a clear assessment of the
Group's position and prospects, supplemented, as required, by
other periodic finandial and trading staternents

Audit Committee and auditors

The Board has delegated oversight of the relationship with

the Group's and the Company’s external auditors to the Audit
Committee. Their work is cutlined in the Audit Committee report
on pages 98 to 101

Risk management and internal control

Each year, the Board undertakes a comprehensive review of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and how those:
risks may impact the Group's prospects.

Overall respensibility for systems of internal contral rests with
the Board. The Board's arrangements for the application of risk
mianagement and internal control principles are detailed on
pages 3610 39

Financial and business reporting
The Staterment of Directors’ Responsibilities for preparing the
Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
financal statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulations are set cut on pages 102 10 127, and pages 134 10 199
respactively.

The Group's business maodel is set out within the Strategic
Report on pages 4 to 5.

The Directors’ statement relating to going concern and
the Viability Statement are set out on pages 130 and 40 to 41,
respectively.

SECTION 5:

REMUNERATION

Please refer to the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 102 to
127 for further information, and in particular:

Level and components of remuneration
Please refer 1o pages 103 to 118



Procedure
Please refer to pages 11910 127

The Non-Executive Directors have never been empioyees of
the Company, nor have they participated in any of the Company’s
share schemes, pension schemes or bonus arrangements.

The Non-Executive Directors receive no remuneration from
the Company other thar the Directors fees disclosed, and travel
expenses. Their fees are getermined by the Board as a whole on
the recommendation of the Chief Execunve Officer.

No Director fs involved in deciding their own fees,

Stakeholders

Culture, underpinned by our values, plays a fundarmental sole in the
way that we do business and deliver our strategic goals and KPIs.
The Board recognises that having robust governance structures

in place is vital to decision-making. The Board spends a lat of time
listening to and understanding the views of its key stakeholders,
When discussing matters at Board meetings these views form an
integral part of its decision-making.

Clients

Clients are at the heart of what we do. Every dedision we take is to
ensure we deliver great service to our clients. The Board receives
regular feedback from Voice of the Client reports completed by
our Clients.

Staff

The experience and expertise of our colleagues is essential for the
delivery of our strategic objectives. Operating within a culture of
openness and inclusivity ensures that each of our colleagues is
focused on delivering great service.

Suppliers

Building trusted partnerships with our suppliers is important in
enabling us to provide the best service to our dients and provides
agreat platform for our suppliers 1o grow.

Community

The Board is committed to improving sustainability and helping
communities thrive by positively contributing both socially and
economically. A key consideration of the Board in making its
decisions is to balance the sometimes-conflicting needs of our
stakeholders to ensure they are alt treated consistently and fairly.

Shareholders
A key objective of the Board is to create value for shareholders and
deliver long-term, sustainable growth.

Tne Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
regularly meet with institutional shareholders to foster a mutual
understanding of objectives, answer their questions and to keep
them updated on our performance and plans,

These meetings range from one-to-one discussions to group
presentations and investor conference calls following our results
announcements. Any presentations provided in these meetings
are upleaded to our website and comments are fed back to us.

In additicn, the Senior Independent Director and the Chair
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of the Audit Committee are available for discussions with major
shareholders, if reguired.

The Chair also looks to sharehclder groups' annual voting
guidelines o better understand their policies on governance
and voting.

For an independent view. investac and Liberum, the capital
markets advisory firms, provide us with ragular reviews of major
investors’ views on company management and performance.
Surveys of shareholder opinion are normally carned out following
announcaments of results and are circulated to the Board.

As reguired by the Code, the Board considers that its Non-
Executive Directors, including the Senior Independent Director,
have a good level of understanding of the issues and concerns of
major shareholders.

Directors’ duty under section 172 of Companies
Act 2006

In discharging our section 172 duties, Directors are required to
have regard, amongst other matters, to: the fikely consequences
of any decisions in the fong term; the interests of the company’s
employees; the need to foster the company’s business
relationships with suppliers, customers and cthers; the impact of
the company's operations on the community and ervironment;
the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for

high standards of business conduct; and the need to act fairly as
between members of the company. In addition to the above, we
also have regard to other factors which we consider relevant 1o
the decision being made. Thaose factors include the interests and
views of Ricardo’s pensioners and our relationship with regulators.
The Board acknowledges that every decision it makes will not
necessarily result in a positive cutcome for all of the Group’s
stakeholders. By considering the Company's purpose and values,
together with its strategic priorities and having a process in place
for decision-rnaking the Board does, however, aim to make sure
that its decisions are consistent and predictabie. Details on how
the Board operates and the way in which it reaches decisions
lincluding the matters discussed and debated during the year,
the key stakeholder corsiderations that were central to those
discussicns and the way in which it has had regard to the need
to foster the Company’s business relationship with customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders), are set out on pages 16to 17.

Ricardo’s Annual General Meeting
The Company’s Annual General Meeting is an opportunity
to meet private investors. However, due to the outbreak of
COVID-19, and the continued uncertainty about its containment
and the changing public health guidance and legislation, the
Board of Directors have decided to implemem changes to
safeguard the health of our shareholders and employees,

The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held
at our registered office, Shoreham Technical Centre,
Shoreham by Sea, West Sussex, BN43 5FG on Thursday 12
November 2020 starting at 10.00am.

THE AGM WILL BE RUN AS A CLOSED MEETING.
SHAREHOLDERS WILL NOT BE ABLE TO ATTEND IN PERSON.
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We will make arrangements such that the legal requirements
to hald the meeting can be satisfied through the attendance of a
minimum number of people. The format of the meeting will be
purely functional, Details will be provided on our website, in
due course.

You should cast your vote on the resolutions via the Form of
Proxy. Given the current restrictions, we suggest that you appoint
the chair of the meeting as your proxy, rather than a named
person who will not be permitted to attend the meeting. Once
completed, the Form of Proxy should be submitted to Link Asset
Services as soan as possible, and no later than 10.00 am on
10 November 2020.

The Notice of Meeting sets out the resolutions being proposed
at the AGM on 12 November 2020 at 10:00am and shareholders
can vote separately on each proposal.

Last year, all resclutions were passed with votes ranging from
83.96% to 9995%.

The AGM in November 2019 was attended by all Directors

Nomination
Committee
report

Laurie Bowen
Chair of the Nomination Committee

Chair's Overview

in office at the time of the meeting. As a matter of policy the

level of proxy votes (for, against and vote withheld) lodged on

each resclution is declared at the meeting and displayed on the

Company’s website. Ricardo’s website, wwwi ricarde.com, contains

awealth of information, including:

= Latest Ricardo news, stock exchange announcernents and press
releases; and

= Annual report, interim reports and investor presentations.

The Corporate Governance Staternent was approved by the Board
of Directors on 9 September 2620 and signed an its behalf by:

“4h

Sir Terry Morgan CBE
Chair

The primary objectives of the Committee are to support the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities to ensure that, firstly, there
are formal, rigorous and transparent processes in place for the appointment of new Directors, both to the Board and to senior
management positions and, secondly, that there are effective, deliverable and well thought-through succession and contingency

planning processes in place across the Group for all key positions.

This year has been particularly busy for the Nomination Committee. Key focus areas included:

- The on-boarding of two new Non-Executive Directors. Details of the selection process were provided in the 2019 Annual

Report.

+ Reassignment of responsibilities for the Chairs of the Normination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Senior

Independent Director

- Malin Persson assigned as Non-Executive Director responsible for Workforce Engagement.

In the forthcoming year we will be updating talent management and succession planning for Board and senior management

positions.

Laurie Bowen
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Composition

On 14 Novemnber 2019 P was appointed Chair of the Nomination
Committee, and during the year under review the Nomination
Committee comprised the independent Non-Executive
Directors Sir Terry Morgan, Peter Gilchrist, Malin Persson, Bill
Spencer and, subseguent to their appointment on 5 Septernber
2019, Russell King and Jack Boyer, together with the Chief
Executive Officer, Dave Shemmans. The Commuttee has one
scheduled meeting per year, which is supplementad by ad hoc
meetings as necessary, and informal meetings between the
Committee members.

Responsibilities

The Committee:

= Evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and experience of
the Board;

« Monitors the leadership needs and successicn planning of the
Company;

« Considers the training needs of the executive and non-
executive members;

» Regularly reviews the structure, size and composition of the
Board; and

« Makes recommendations to the Board for executive and non-
executive appointments.

Before such recommendations zre made, descriptions of the
roles and skills required 1o tulfil each role are prepared for each
appointment. To attract suitable candidates, appropriate
external advice is taken and interviews conducted by at least
two members of the Nomination Committee to ensure a
balanced view.

After careful consideration and as announced on 6
September 2019, the Nomination Committee recommended
the appointments of Russell King and Jack Boyer OBE as Non-
Executive Directors.

As a result of the changing composition of the Board, the
Nomination Committee took the opportunity to review the
responsibilities of Non-Executive Directors and, with effect from
the close of the AGM on 14 November 2019, Russell King was
appointed Chair of the Remuneration Committee and Malin
Persscn was appointed Senior Independent Director.

The search for new Non-Executive Directors during the vear
was managed with the assistance of recruitment consultants, the
Inzito Partnership, who have signed up to the veluntary Code
of Conduct for executive search firms. Both new Non-Executive
Directors undertock an extensive induction programme to
ensure a rounded understanding of the business and our
amitions. The Inzito Partnership has no other connection with
the Company.

When an appointment of a Non-Executive Director is made,
afarmal letter is sent clearly setting out the expected time
commitments for the board, committee membership and
involvermnent cutside of board meetings. Chosen candidates
are required to disclose to the Board any other significant
commitments before appointments can be ratified.

Non-Executive Directors, including the Chair, are subject to

Corporate governance
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rigorous review when they continue to serve on the Board for
any term beyond six years.

Succession Planning

Name Date of Appointment  Tenure {years)
Dave 5hemmanrs Aonil 2073 3
lan Gibson July 2013 7
Mark Garrett resigned July 2323 12
Sir Terry Margan C3k January 2014 o
Peter Gichrist CB retired 14 Novenber 2019

Laure Bowen July 2015 5
Maiin 2ersson lanuary 2016 4
Bill Spencer Apnl 2017 3

1ack Boyer OBE September 2019

Russell King Seprember 2019

Following completion of Sir Terry Morgan's second three

years of service, the Committeg, in his absence, conducted a
rigorous review of his pertormance and confirrmed his continued
independence as a Non-Executive Director. Accordingly, the
Committee unanimously recommended to the Board the
renewal of his appointment as Chair of the Board. In addition, Bill
Spencer completed his first thiee years of service and, following
review by the Committee, in his absence, the Committes were
satisfied of his continued independence as a Non-Executive
Director and unanimously recommended the renewal of his
appointment to the Board. The Board approved both these
renewals at the appropriate time.

The Committee spent time looking at succession planning for
the Executive Directors as well as for the Board over the medium
term. Following Mark Garrett’s resignation, the Committee
reviewed executive director appointments to the Board, and
concluded that no further executive appointment should be
made to the Board at the current time. We also discussed talent
management and succession planning for the top-performing
senior managers within the business.
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Commiittee
Report

Bill Spencer
Chair of the Audit Committee

Chair’s Overview

As Chair of the Audit Committee, | am pleased te present to you my report for the year ended 30 June 2020.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has been actively engaged in risk management to provide appropriate challenge
and guidance throughout the year. Particular attention has been given te the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the trading
performance, viability, operations and internal contro! environment of the Group.

The Committee has also evaluated the effectiveness of the internal contral environment to ensure the integrity of the Group's
financial reporting. This has included enhancing our internal audit resources with the appointment of PricewaterhousetCoopers
LLP {Pw(C} to undertake certain internal audit assignments during the year.

fhope that vou will find this report useful and | would welcome any comments.

Bill Spencer

Responsibilities

The Committee is established by, and is responsible to, the
Board. As autherised by the Board, the Committee has
obtained all necessary documentation and information it
required from officers ar employees of the Company, as

well as external professional advice. In order to carry out its
responsibilities during the year, the Committee undertook the
following activities:

- Assessed the Group's risk profile, as well as its appetite for risk

Composition
| chair the Audit Committee, which during the year under review
also comprised the independent Non-Executive Directors, Laurie
Bowen, Malin Persson, Jack Boyer and Russell King. This is the
first year that Jack Royer and Russell King have sat on the Audit
Cormnmittee, both having joined the Committee on 5 September
2019. The competence and experience of all the members of the
Audit Committee s set out on pages 88 and 83,

As the Committee’s Chair and as is considered desirable by the

Financial Reporting Council's Guidance on Audit Committees, |
have recent and relevant inandial experience and a professional
accountancy qualification.

As set out on page 94, the performance of the Audit

Committee has been evaluated and 1s considered to be effective.

The Committee convenes at three scheduled meetings
each year and other ad hoc meetings. as required. Details of
attendance at meetings held during the financial year are set
out on page 91. The Chair, Executive Directors, the Group's Head
of Internal Audit and the Company’s external auditors all have
standing invitations to attend all Committee meetings.
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on behalf of the Beard, and evaluated the effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems,
together with the policies and procedures in relation tc ethics,
whistleblowing, fraud ard bribery prevention;

Maonitored the key risks to the Group in respect of data and
cyber security and evaluated the effectiveness of ts control
environment;

Considered significant matters arising from internal audits
performed during the year, evaluated the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, and reviewed the scope and available
resource for the internal audit plan in the following year to
ensure that it is appropriate;

Reviewed the scope and planning of the external audit, and
evaluated the external auditors’ remuneration, effectiveness,
independence and objectivity, including consideration of the
provision of non-audit setvices,



Cersidered separate reports prepared by the Chief Financial
Officer and external auditors on financial reporting and
internal control matters as part of the interim review and
annual audit processes;

Assessed the results, on behalf of the Board, of the application
of agreed assumptions to re-confirm the continuad
opetational and financial wviability of the Group for a period of
three years from the date of this report;

Reviewed the significant financial reporting matters,
judgements and estimates, and changes in accounting
policies applicable in the preparation of both the Group's
nterim and year-end consohdated financial statements, which
included the transition te IFRS 16 [eases, prior to submission to
the Board for approval; and

Evaluated the content of the Annual Report & Accounts as

a whole and assessed the processes in place to assure its
integrity, to advise the Board on whether the information
presented s faly, balanced and understandable, and whether
it contains the information necessary for shareholders to
assess the Group's position and perfermance, business model
and strategy.

Risk management
The Committee has monitored the Group's risk managerment
processes and internal control systems as part of its role on
behalf of the Board to oversee the Group’s approach to risk
management and with due consideration to the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group.

The Committee raviews the Group's pelicies and procedures
in relation to ethics, whistleblowing, and the prevention of fraud
and bribery.

Significant financial reporting matters
The Committee received and considered reports from the Chief
Financial Officer in relation to the ¢ritical accounting judgements
and key sources of estimation uncertainty. Following discussions
with senior management and the external auditors, the
Committee approved the disclosure as set cut in Note 1(c) to the
Group financial staterments.

The Committee considered the following significant financial
reporting matters, judgements and estimates in approving the
Group financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020:

Corporate governance
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Considerations of the risk and irnpact of COVID -19
Management’s perception of the risks associated with COVID-19
has been considered as part of the Committee’s bi-annual
nsk profile review The risks, their potential impacts and the
mitigating actions taken are set out in the Group's Principal Risks
and Uncertainties on pages 37 to 39. The committee reviewed
the impact of COVID-19 on the internal controls and internal
audit programme and noted that the core internal control
elements of all planned internal audits were undertaken, and
that the timing of fockdown did not impact these elements of
the test methods of the larger audits. The committee noted that
rmanagement had maintained all efements of its internal control
environment during the lock down and restart periods.
Although the potential impacts of the perceived risks
of COVID-19 are inherently uncertain and the full range of
identifiable risks and possible cutcomes cannot be known,
severe hut plausible downside scenarios to reflect the impact of
a continuation of low levels of trading have been factored into
the assessment of the Group's continued viability. In addtion,
the actuarial assumptions used to value the Group's retirement
benefit obligations at the year-end reflect the level of economic
uncertainty of COVID-19 as at the reporting date. While no
business can fully prepare for, or mitigate against, the potential
impacts of COVID-13, the Committee is satished that appropriate
considerations of the perceived risks associated with COVID-19
have been made, together with reasonable actions taken t©
mitigate those risks, where possible.

Considerations of the risk and impact of Brexit
Management's perception of the risks associagted with exit of
the UK from the European Union has been considered as part
of the Committee's bi-annual risk profite review. The risks, their
potential impacts and the mitigating actions taken are set out in
the Group's Principal Risks and Uncertainties on page 37

The potential impacts of the perceived risks of Brexit are
uncertain. The Committee is satisied that the severe but
plausible downsides in respect of COVID-19, which have been
factored into the assessment of the Group's continued viability
as stated above, are sufficiently severe as to also encompass the
risks to trading from Brexit,
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Fevenus recogn tion on fixed-price contracss

The Group recognises a significant proportion of its consulting
revenue from the supply of services under fixed -price
contracts, which may span a number of reporting pericds. The
idenzification and separate accounting of distiner parfarmance
obligations within the context of a contract is a critical
Judgement in recognising revenue, as set out in more detail in
Note Hc) to the Group financial statemens.

A surmnrmary of the judgements and estimates taken by
management 1o assess the extent to which these contract assets
are recoverable was reviewed by the Committee at the February
and September meetings and the positions taken are considered
o be appropriate.

The Committee 1s sansfied that the Group’s policies and
procedures have been followed to reflect management’s best
estimate of revenue recognised at the reporting date and that
no individual judgement or estimate is expected to have a
materially different outcome.

Changes in these estimates may impact revenue recognition
ard the actual outcome may differ to the estimate made at the
reporting date.

Defined benefit obligation
The Cornpany operates the defined benefit Ricarde Group
Pension Fund (RGPF). The accounting basis of the RGPF is
exposed to changes in the value of its assets and liabilities.
The economic uncertainty caused by the COVID-19 pandemic,
together with continuing uncertainties around trade
negotiations between the UK and European Union, has resulted
in a period of significant short-term volatility in markets and
therefore in the value of the scheme’s assets and liabilities, The
liabilities of the RGPF are also sensitive to changes in actuarial
assumptions, on which management takes professional advice.
Further detail is set out in the financial staterents in Note 1(2)
and Note 33 to the Group financial staterments.

The Committee is satisfied that the assumptions were
reviewed by senior management and that the value of the
RGPF's liability reflects the best estimate at the reporting date.

Impact of new accounting standards

IFRS 16 Leases became effective for the Group from 1 July

2019. The transitional impact of this standard and the changes
required to acceunting policies have been reviewed by the
Committee and are considered appropriate. Further detail is set
outin Note 1, Note 2, Note 3 and Note 18 to the Group financial
statements.
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Change in operating segments

In September 2019, the Group announced its intention to

report 1ts results for the financial year ending 30 June 2020
using the following reportable operating segments: Energy &
Enwironment {(EE), Rail, Automotive & Industrial {A&I"), Defense,
and Performance Products. There is also an ‘all other segments’
segment, comprising the results of Ricardo Strategic Consulting
and Software, combined due to their size. This change was
driven by successful acquisitions in the Rail and EE segments,

in May 2019 and July 2019 respectively, which increased the
prominence of these businesses within the Group, combined
with a wish to provide more granularity into the key drivers of
performance within the Group. Segmental information was
provided on this basis in the Group's interim results for the six
months to 31 December 2019, which was made available on the
Group's website. The Committee considered the presentation
of the segmental information and the new segmental reporting
structure and concluded these appropriately reflected the
management and decision-making structure adopted by the
Group from 1 July 2019.

Internal audit
The internal audit function is accountable to the Committee, and
is considered to be a key function for effective risk management.

Historically, internal audit has been led and resourced by
suitably skilled and experienced staff from the Group's head
office or parts of the Group independent from the business
or function being audited. In agreement with the Committee,
for the year ended 30 June 2020, a number of divisional
internal audits were conducted by PwC. The engagement of
Pw(C has given the Group access to specialist internal audit
staff for deployment on higher risk and more complex audits.
Responsibiiity for the internal audit process and setting the
internal audit plan has remained with the Group's Head of
Internal Audit, who has independently reviewed and scrutinised
the work performed by PwC, This co-source approach ensures
indepandence in the internal audit process and the identification
of relevant findings and recommendations, and combines
external experience with the sharing of best practice arcund the
Group.

All internal audit reports submitted during the year were
reviewed by the Committee, and the status of each remedial
action is tracked to completion to ensure appropriate resclution.
Meetings are held with the Group’s Head of Internal Audit
without the presence of management.

The Committee also monitored the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal audit function including the approval of the
scope and resources reguired 10 carry out work 1o be performed,
and received an external perspective on internal audit
development from PwC.



External audit

KPMG LLP were first appointed the Group's external auditors for
the year ended 30 June 2019, following an audit tender process.
KPMG were reappointed for the audit of the Group’s results to 30
June 2020 at the Group's AGM on 14 November 2019,

Non-audit services

The Board's policy is that the provision of permissible non-

audit services may only be undertaken by KPMG in limited
circumstances and is subject to a cumulative cap. In order

to remove the possibility of a percewved conflict of auditor
objectivity and independence, KPMG has agreed with the
Committee that no permissible non-audit services will be
provided to Ricardo other than those closety related to the audit
of the Group, such as the interim review.

Fees for non-audit services paid to the external auditors
during the year were 5% of KPMG's audit fee (FY 2018/19: 9%).
The ratio of audit and non-audit fees and the nature of non-audit
fees are disclosed in Note 171 to the Group financial statements
Given the nature and scale of the services provided by KPMG,
the Committee concluded that these services did not cause any
concerns regarding KPMG's objectivity or independence.

There are limited instances where Ricardo enters into business
relationships or joint arrangements with KPMG to pursue
commercial opportunities, either as a prime contractor, sub-
contractor or as part of a consortium, with either party or a third
party being the project manager. These business relationships
are considered acceptabie to the extent that they remain
immaterial to both organisations and do not compromise the
audiors’ independence.
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indepandence and effactiveness

Both the Board and KPMG have safeguards ir place to ensure
the auditors’ objectivity and independerce cannct be
compromised. The Committee supports KPMG in having the
necessary professional scepticism in its role. KPMG also provides
the Committee with information about policies and processes
for maintaining its independence.

The Committee confirms that during the year it has
maintained formal and transparent arrangements for
considering corporate reporting, risk management and
interral control and for maintaining an appropriate relationship
with KPMG.

During the year, the Committee carried out its annual
effectiveness review of the external auditor, which primarily
focused on the 2020 audit. This assessment was completed at
the end of the 2020 audit and was based upon KPMG's audit
findings and responses to questions from the Committee,
tocjethern with thput frorm senior managerment and finance
personnel. The Committee alsc met with the audit partner
without management being present There were no signihicant
findings following the review and it was concluded that the
audit process was cffective, The Committee recommended
to the Board that their re-appointment be proposed to
shareholders at the 2020 AGM.
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Russell King
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

PART 1 - CHAIR’S OVERVIEW AND ANNUAL
STATEMENT

Dear Sharehoider,

This is rmy first report since becorning Char of the Rermuneratiors
Committee (the Committee’) in November 2019, taking over from
Peter Gilchrist. On behalf of the Board | would like to thank Peter
for his hard work and effectiveness in the role.

As reported elsewhere in this Annual Report, the lockdown
measures put in place to control the spread of COVID-19 had a
negative impact on Ricardo’s parformance in the second half
of the year. Our automaotive-related businesses have been most
affected, and underlying profit before tax 15 significantly lower
than the prior year. Qur Energy & Environment, Defense and Rail
businesses have been impacted less and all delivered an increase
in profits on the prior year.

The Committee considered carefully how to treat our
executives' pay in the light of COVID-19 and whether any
reduction to salaries should e made. In reaching the conclusion
that no reduction was necessary, several factors influenced our
decision. These included that salaries have not been reduced
for our workforce; we have not and do not expect to access any
UK Government loan scheme; and the Company's use of the UK
Government's furiough scheme has been limited. Naturaily, we
keep these matters under close and ongoing review but
consider our response appropriate in the context of the treatment
of the wider workforce and properly aligned with the interests of
other stakehclders.

New Directors’ Remuneration Policy and
Implementation

At the 2020 AGM we will be submitting our Directors’
Remuneration Policy for renewal by our shareholders. After a
tharough review of the current divectors’ remuneration policy
during FY 2019/20, the Committee has concluded there are
several changes to the policy that will better align with Ricardo's
strategy at this stage of its development. As part of the pracess
wa have consulted with our major shareholders on the proposed
policy. | would like to thank those shareholders who participated
for their feedback and guidance, which resulted in changes to the
original proposal.
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The directors’ remuneration policy we are proposing is:
« simpler and more straightforward;

= better aligned with practice internally and externaily;
» competitive and fair; and

» remains focused on performance.

The policy not only rewards the high performance that our
shareholders require but also encourages share ownership and
fosters alignment of interest between the Executive Directors and
shareholders.

In shert, we think that the policy shareholders are being asked
to approve at the 2020 AGM will work well for Ricarde in light of:
« our medium term business plans;
= our continued longer-term diversificalion approach,
= cur growth plans, both organic and through carefully

considered acquisitions;

« the time horizons of an internaticnal consultancy business;
= shareholders’ views on executive pay; and
» the requirements of the new Corporate Governance Code,

The principal modifications we are proposing are:

Pension provisicn

+ The pension of incumbent Executive Diractors will be aligned
to the pension provision levels of the UK waorkforce (currently
7% of salary) by 1 January 2022 {in addition to any new
appointees being set at this level from the date of joining).

= For the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer this
will be 7% of salary. However, the Chief Executive Officer will
receive a further 1.2% in line with all other employees who
were praeviously members of the former Ricarde group defined
benefit plan.

Annual bonus

+ A cash conversion measure replaces net debt and the
weightings of measures are being harmonised across all the
Executive Directors.

= Athird of any bonus paid will be deferred into shares for three
years, This is in line with FTSE SmallCap nerms and the three-
year deferral is at the upper end of market practice.



Long-term incentives

+ Tosimplify our incentive arrangerments, the tonus-linked shares are
being removed and therefore goirg forward long-term incentive
awards will only be made under the new 2020 LTIP (see below),

« Atwo-year holding period under the 2020 LTIF Is being
introduced for future grants to Exacutive Directors once any
shares have vested.

As it has been a number of years since the current LTIP was
adoptad the introduction of a new 2020 Long Term Incentive Plan
(LTIPY) will also be proposed alongside the new policy. The 2020
ITIP will be sirilar iy structure to the current plan but will reflect the
terms of our proposed policy as well as current developments in
market practice and legislative changes.

We are also proposing to take the opportdnity to align the award
levels for the Chief Finanoial Othicer more closely to the market

The table below shows the maximum long-term incentive award
levels under the current and proposed policies.

The propeosed LTIP maximum going forward results in a small
reduction compared with the current arrangements for the Chigf
b xecutive Officer. For the Chief Financial Officer, the maxinmoum
award level increases by 25% of salary. The Committee has set these
award levels considering appropriate levels of internal refativities
and is aware that the proposed level is not out of fine with award
levels in similar sized companies. For the avoidance of doubt, we
regard market practice as one input only of several but when
we ook at the competitiveness of pay, we loak at total target,
rmaximum and realised remuneration.

Share ownership guidelines

= A 200% share ownership guideline for all Executive Directors
is introduced with a requirement that 50% of any gains from
any share awards {vesting of LTIP or deferred bonus awards) be
rerained until the increased level is met.

« Theincreased share ownership guideline (from 100% to 200%) 1s
to be extended for two years post-cessation with 200% of salary
{or actual holding if lower) to be held for an initial 12-month
period and half of this level 1o be heid for the second 12-month
period. LTIP and deferred bonus grants made following the
sharehoider approval of the new policy will be subject to these
post-cessation restrictions.

The Committee thinks the suggested approach to these pest-cessation
requirements is appropriate for Ricarde as tis being introduced at the
same time as the in-post shareholding guideline is being increased.
The guideline level for the second-year post-cessation will therefore be
equal to the current in-post level of 100% of salary.

The post-cassation restrictions are to apply to any LTIP and
deferred bonus awards granted following approvai of the new policy
in order to avoid changing the terms of curently outstanding awards.
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Pay outcomes and performance for FY 2019/20
Basic salaries for the Executive Directors were increased from 1
January 2020 by 3% against a Group-wide average increase of 3%,

The negatwve impact of COVID-13 on profizability resulted in the
Group's underlying profit before tax for the year, as adjusted for
bonus purposes (on which 60% of the Executive Directors’ total
borus opportunity is based) being £15.3m, which was below the
threshold we set for bonus purposes. Performance against the
net debt measure was also below the threshold target. Using its
overarching discretion, the Committee determined that, despite
very impressive leadership of the business during exceptionally
difficult ames, no bonuses would be payahle inrespert of FY
2019/20, notwithstanding that the Executive Directors achieved
part of thar non-financial ahjectives for the year,

In October 2018, awards under the LTIP granted in Octcber
2016, and the bonus-linked shares that were grarted at the same
time, lapsed on the basis of underlying EPS and TSR performance
over the relevant performance periods.

The Cormmittee s satisfied that the current rermuneration
policy has operated as intended during FY 2019/20 and incentive
outcomes are in line with Company performance. In short,
Executive Directors received no variable remuneration in respect
of FY 2019/20.

Remuneration for FY 2020/21

he fust award under the new 2020 LTIP will be made in
Novermber 2020 shortly following the AGM. The Committee has
been considering the most appropriate performance targets

1o be atlached 1o the first award under the new plan. The
intention is to continue o use a mix of EPS and TSR measures.
Due to the current high level of uncertainty surrounding setting
suitably stretching EPS targets, the EPS targets are yet to be
finalised and will be confirmed by the Committee In due course
and, in accordance with recent guidance frem the Investment
Association, no later than six months following grant. Full details
of the targets will be set out in an RNS announcement issued
immediately after the LTIP award is granted or subseguently if
they are determined later.

The Cormmittes will also determine the appropriate size of
award at the ume of grant reflecting various considerations such
as the share price around the grant date. As confirmed inthe
new policy, the Committee has the ability to adjust the formulaic
outcomes from performance conditions where appropriate and
the Commitzee will ensure that outcomes reflect Company and
executive performance as well as the experience of shareholders
and other stakeholders. The Committee will also use its discretion
to reduce vesting outcomes where it determines that windfall
gains have been received.

2017 Directors’ Remuneration Policy 2020 Policy

Bonus-Linked Shares
Executive Director Maximum LTIP Maximum Total LTIF Maximum
CeO 62.5% 100% 162 5% 150%
CFO 50% 55% 105% 130%
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Ricardo’s employees across the Group
Curemployees are global experts and are crucial to the delivery of
our strategy and to the success of our business. We strive to recruit
the best talent and to retain a diverse and inclusive workforce
through apprenticeships, graduate recruitment and industry
hire programmes. We invest in the developrment of the skills and
competencizs of our staff, prowviding 2 gual coportunities for all.
From the begirning of the COVID-19 crisis, we set out a "Healthy
peopie, healthy business” agenda. This focused on supporting our
employees and their families together with the heaith and wellbeing
of aur clients, suppliers and the communities in which we operate.
The Committee receives reguiar updates on overall pay and
conditions in the Company and this report includes for the first tme
our CEO to employee pay ratio which the Committee has reviewed.
In making decisions on executive pay, the Committee considers
wider workforce remuneration and concditions and 15 satisfied that
the overall executive remuneration structure rernains appropriate.

AGM

We trust that you find this Report to be infermative and transparent,

and we hope tG recelve your support for the three remuneration-

related resolutions at the AGM on 12 November 2020:

» Approval of the 2620 Directors’ Remuneration Policy;

« Approval of the FY 2019/20 Directors’ Annual Report on
Remuneration; and

+ Approval of the 2020 LTIR as summarised in the Notice of AGM.

If you have any questions or comments on the Directors’
Remuneration Report please de contact me through Patricia
Ryan, Ricardo's Group Legal Counsel and Company Secretary, at
patriciaryan@ricardo.com.

Russell King
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

SUMMARY OF THE KEY ELEMENTS OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' PAY IN FY 2019/20

Crave Shemmans lan Gibson Mark Garrett
CEO CFO cso
Base salary
[effactive 01/01/2020) £530484 £344,816 £296,589
Other benefits » Company car alowance; £17,500; Company car allowance: £12000; Company car aflowance: £12,000;
-+ Private fuel; Private fuel; : Private fuel;
" Private medical insurance; and Private medical insuranice; and - Private medical insurance;.and
« Life assurance. Life assurance. Life assurance.
Pension 21.2% of salary 20% " of salary 209" of salary
{over Lower Earnings Limit) {over Lower Earnings Lirmit) (over Lower Earnings Limit)
Annual bonus with + Maximum opportunity of 125% of Maximum opportunity of 100% of Maximum opportunity of 100% of
deferral of half of any salary; salary; salary;
bonus earned .

Based on underlying PRT (60%), net
debt {15%) and

personal targets (25%}); and

5096 of any bonus to be deferred
into shares for three years,

Based on underlying PBT (60%), net
debt (20%) and

personal targets (20%); and

50% of any bonus to be deferred
into shares for three years,

Based on underlying PBT {50%), net
debt (20%} and

personal targets {20%); and

509 of any bonus to be deferred
into shares for three years,

Long-term incentive shares

(A) Bonus-linked shares? 62.5% of salary 50% of salary 50% of salary
(B) Long-term incentive plan® 100% of salary 55% of satary 55% of salary
Total maximum annual
award of shares 162.5% of salary 105% of salary 105% of satary
(A+B)
Share ownership and « A minimum of 100% of base salary; A minimum of 100% of base salary; A minimum of 100% of base salary;
retention policy « Net value of all vested shares to be Net value of all vested shares to be Net vatue of ali vested shares to be
retained unti! holding met; and retained until holding met; and retained until holding mes; and
+ Year-end helding is 80% of base Year-end holding is 58% of base Year-end holding is 84% of base
salary salary.™ salary.®
) Tz el legacy 2en ~arsars thown o 0332 " 21 Inlmawe™ cayment. Eld -0 WWETE DTEVIOUS TErsees of e 2ld
d=f-2d A e d 9y the Zamoary, adeimanil 2% ot saliy ass ionbrrgitgtheioal a2l 2%

21 Maximur award on grart of bonus-inkad shares:

a An award of sharos with a value or grant of halfthe goss cqunvalent of any arnual bonus declased,

b vests appraxiematoly our years from the start of the bonus performance penod il executive stlhin sceace aed addional perloemacee cotera are Met over a Lhiee yeas perod Based on a mux of
nzerlyng 7 crovethanz TSR vs 77 5E Small Lap Index exclud ng fina~c e servees comnari=sana nuastme—t usts;,

.Net value of all vosted shares 1o be rotained unul share ownership requiremenrt met, and
d The vaic of the bonus-finked shares granted ir 2019 {which related to the annual bonus payable nrospoct of tho FY 2018/19) was 16%, 13% ard 1% of salary for the CEO, CFO and €SO respectively

(3) Face vah.c of award of lang-term incentive plan shares granted in October 219 was " 00%, 55% and 33% of salary for tbe CEQ, CFO and C30 respoctively

A 1.LIRCTIO N ZE-vear 221fa I condit ans twa-t rds unaetlyrg TP5 grawrh, ane-thud TSR 8 25T Sl Tap Ihdex zxclud ng Ainanc al siv 25 DRI RImes 307 nve srmant tusts, ans

b hetvalue of all vested shares 10 be retained unol share ownership requirement met.

M Jakulared by Afeceng x ot ~umibier of merefinally oween hares 3 share o e of 29 2o oe shae (019 767001 and salar o5 a5 2t 30 5une 2020
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PART 2 - ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
This section of the report explains how Ricardo's Directors’
Remuneration Policy, which was last approved in 2017, has been
imalemented durirg the financial year ended 30 June 2020 The
paragraphs in this Annual Report on Remuneration that have
been audited are indicated.

The Remuneration Committee

During the year under review, the Committee was chaired by
Peter Gilchrist (until he retired from the Board on 14 November
2019), and Russell King (from 14 Novemnber 2019 - Russell
became a member of the Committee on appointment on

5 September 2019). The Committee also comprised Sir Terry
Morgan, Laurie Bowen, Malin Persson, Bill Spencer and Jack
Boyer (from 5 September 20719).

The Non-Executive Directors serving on the Committee have
no personal financial interest (other than as shareholdersy in
matters 1o be decided, no potential conflicts of interest atising
frorm cross-directorships and no day-to-day involvernent in
running the business. Bicgraphical details of the members of the
Committee are shown on pages 88 and 89; details of attendance
at the meetings of the Committee during the year ended 30
June 2020 are shown on page 91. Prior 1o his appointment
as Chair of the Committee, Russell King had served on a
remuneration committee for at least 12 months.

Advisors to the Remuneration Committee

The Committee is supported oy the Group HR Director (Timothy
Hargreaves), the Group Head of Remuneration (Mark Jarvis)

and the Company Secretary (Patricia Ryan). The Chief Executive
Officer (Dave Shemmans) attends the Committee’s meetings

by invitation and is consulted in respect of certain proposals.

Annual report on remuneration
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The Chief Financial Officer (lan Gibson) may be invited to attend
meetings to address specific matters. Neither the Chief Executive
Cfficer nor the Chief Financlal Officer is consultad or involved in
any discussions in respect of their own remuneration.

During the year, FIT Remuneration Consultants and Shepherd
and Wedderburn {who have been jointly appointed by the
Committee following a competitive tender process) provided
independent advice on matters under consideration by the
Committee and updates on legislative requirements and market
practice.

FIT Remuneration Consultants’ fees for this work amounted
to £47657 (calculated based on a mixture of fixed fees and
time spent). Shepherd and Wedderburn's fees for advising
the Committee amounted 10 £38,593 (also calculated based
on a mixture of fixed fees and time spent). Shepherd and
Wedderburn also advises Ricardo on the design, implementation
and operation of its various share incentive plans,

FIT Remuneration Consultants are members of the
Remuneration Consultants Group and their work is governad
by its Code of Conduct. Shepherd and Wedderburn is a law
firm and is regulated accordingly. Having carefully considered
all relevant factors and using its judgement, the Committee is
satisfied that the advice provided on executive remuneration is
objective and independent and that no conflict of mterest arises,

Voting outcome at AGM

The AGM for the financial year ended 30 June 2019 was held on
14 November 2013. The result of the vote on the remuneration
report is set out below, The remuneration policy in cperation
during the year was approved by shareholders at the 2017 AGM;
details of this approval are also set out in the table below.

Directors' Remuneration Policy

approved at 2019 AGM approved at 2017 AGM

vores % Number % Number
For including discretion 3148 35,718,305 940 35127967
Agaimst 852 3,327,390 [30) 2224774
Total votes cast 10000 39,046,795 000 37352741
Withheld 2775 1,851,358

11 Excludes withheld votes A vote withheld s not a vote in law and so s not cowrtod for the punposes of the Calc dalon of the proportion of voles Tor ard ‘against’ a resohution

Performance at a glance in FY 2019/20 compared with FY 2018/19

Bonus performance outcomes

Long-term incentive performance outcomes in respect of awards vested in 2019

Underlying PBT
(adjusted) Net debt (adjusted)  3-year underlying EPS growth in excess of RPI 3-year TSR growth
£15.3m £(58)m Overall (12.4)% to 30 June 2019 (31.2)%
(FY 2019/20) (FY 2019/20) {below threshold vesting level) {below median 1o October 2019)
£36.7m £(26.2)m Overall 26.9% to 30 June 2018. {28)%
(FY 2018/19} (FY 2018/19) (between threshold and maxirurm vesting levels} {below median to Octaber 2018)

The closing mid-market price of the Company’s shares on 30 June 2020 was 4190p per share (2019: 760.0p). The highest closing price
during the year was 820.0p per share and the lowest closing price during the year was 3160p per share.
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Pay at a glance in FY 2019/20

¥5 2019720 : e 656 - 656
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T 201902020 . ., L L 36E 361
=y
25
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0 200 400 600 800 1,000 1,200
Single total figure {£'000)
Fixed remuneration (salary, benefits and pension) Bonus
Face value at grant of vested long-term incentives Share price grawth above face value of vested long-term incentives

CENO anrLal bonuses wore awarded 10 the Executve Direclors in respoct of FY 2079720
2 Thelong-loreyncentve awards grartod e FY 2070/ 7 lapsod e fullin By 2079720 a5 a el the Tace valo al grart of these awards ard any share price approciator bas rol beer sbownir 1he above Lable

31 Astbe shase prce decieased over Lhe e of the long termyinceetve awaids that vested e HY 201875, the face value gt grart of these awards bas boen adjusted accordingly ard ra share pree appraciation
15 show

Single total figure table (audited)
The table below sets out the remuneration received by the Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors during the year.

Long-term variable

Short-term variable remuneration: 3- year
Fixed remuneration remuneration performance periods Totals
Base Bonus  Bonus Bonus-

salary (cash (deferred linked Total Fixed Total Variable
Einancial .80 fees Benefits® Pension element® element) Total shares® LTIP®  Total Total Remuneration Remuneration

ear ' £000 - £000 _ £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 __£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dave 2019/20 . 523 . .23 110 - - - - - - 656 656 -
Shemmans _ 2018/19 508 23 106 8] 81 162 54 145 199 998 637 361
\an 2019/26 _ 346 17 67 - . . . - - 424 424 -
Gibson 2018719 8 17 64 43 43 86 27 5% 78 573 409 164
Mark 2019/20 292 12 57 - - - - - - 361 361 -
Garrett 2018/19 284 12 56 31 31 62 23 45 G8 482 352 130
Sir Terry 2019/20 157 1 - - - - - - - 158 158 -
Morgan CBE  2018/19 152 1 - - - - - - - 153 153 -
Peter 2019/20 25 1 - - - - - - - 26 26 -
Gilchrist CB S 2018/19 £ t - - - - - - 66 6 -
Russeil 2019/20 . 46 - 1 - - - - - - - a7 47 -
King'® 2018719 - - - - - - - - - - - -
Laurie 2019/20 .50 '35 - - - - - - -85 85 -
Bowen'” 2018/19 4G 57 - - - - - - - 106 106 -
Malin 2019/20 55 4 - - - - - - - 59 59 -
Persson 208/19 - R - - - - - - - 57 57 -
Bill 2019/20 . JR - - - - . - - 60 60 -
_Spencer 2018/19 - A | - - - - - - - 58 58 -
Jack 2019/20 @t % - - - - - - - 43 43 -
_Boyer® 201819 e - - - - - - . - - -
20920 1589 . 96 234 - - - - - - 1919 1919 -
Totai 2018/19 1492 0 1, 226 155 155 310 104 241 345 2493 1238 655
() -Lthor o v ange on oenefrsfor T Sxecutve D o Dan B ound 0 page 108 The oareTtios Nane Tl ot ee Doty 8 T ernLsement af axpeniss ncared ncluding ay assocates

porsonal Lax charges) white traveiling tor business and Comimitiee mestings

{2y Furtber details of the aneual bonus car be found from page 109

(31 wrkee e v the fans et v e e aeche kel e s VA A0 g et d oo e By Ao e kol d ey
wncluded in the above Lable

by

Sl e HOD Fae eIz oo the el 1 e

W) e zetale otz lapse ot tea T2 awardain BY 2075 20 can beourg on zage Fid A ao U shizres Veste 1 the yey sham ones apprec 31100 ~ad no npacs srthe s levant tgure ~cludezn the shove tible
5y Peter Gilchnst retred as a Dircclor on "4 Novernber 2079
B Russell Kirg was appainted as a Diecctar on 5 September 2003 ard Charr of the Bemuneratior Comrittee o 14 November 2079

PR =)

Svens e et s agely cansst ot frovel excznan e 1o and trom the Jmited sates

$8) Jack Boyer was appoirted s g Dreclonor 5 Sepleriber 2019
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Following the year-end, the Committee considered whether there were any circumstances that could or should result in the recovery
or withholding of any sums pursuant to the Company's clawback arrangemenrts. The conclusion reached by the Committee was that it
was not aware of any such circumstances.

Pay for performance - TSR performance graph and CEQ pay history
TSR for the ten years to 30 June 2020

£600

£500 - - - -

£400

£300

£200

Total Shareholder Return (rebased to £100)

Jun-10 Jun-1 Jun-12 Jun-13 Jun-14 Jun-15 Jun-16 Jun-*7 Jun-18 Jun-19 Jun-20
At 30 June each year
—— RICARDO TSR = FTSE SMALL CAP {EX INVTRUSTS) TSR === FTSE ALL SHARE SUPPORT SVS TSR

Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream

The chart above shows Ricardo's TSR performance for the past ten years against the FTSE Small Cap index (excluding investment trusts).
In the Committee’s opinion, the FTSE Small Cap index lexcluding investment trusts) represents an appropriate index against which

the Company should be compared when considering the Company’s size. The FTSE All Share Support Services index is also shown for
information. The remuneration of the Chief Executive Gfficer, Dave Shemmans, for the same period is shown in the tabie below.

Single figure of CEQ's Annual variable element award rates Long-term incentive vesting rates

total remuneration against maximum opportunity against maximum opportunity

Financial year £'000 % %
2019720 6556 - -
2018718 998 25 40
2001718 141 43 74
2016417 1.612 - 100
20156 2,291 63 100
2014715 1,367 59 67
2013714 760 38 N/AH?
2012/13 1.546 75 77
2011712 979 58 35
201011 1116 97 46

N The pedormance penod [on awards made n November 2007 ended ie October 2014 and o thau vesting rate s included g the 2014415 row of the table above The vestirg rate s W/ for the 2013714
row bocause the perlorrance pened for awards made ir October 2000 orded in Jure 2013 and so the applicable vosurg rate for those grants s ircluded 10 the 2012413 row of the table above
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Directors’ remuneration compared to employees

The table below compares the percentage change in the Directors’ remuneratior, and the percentage change in the remuneration of
all employees (on a full time equivalent basis), betwsen FY 2018/19 and FY 2079/20. The year-on-year change in annual bonus of (1001%
shown in the final column for both “"All Employees” and the Executive Directors reflects the fact that no annual bonus is payable in

respect of FY 2019/20.
% change in base salary and fees % change in taxable benefits % change in annual bonus
All Employees 3 - (100)
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dave Shemmans (CEQ) 3 - (+00)
lan Gibson (CFO} 3 - (300)
Mark Garrett (CSO)™ 3 - N/A
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Sir Terry Morgan CBE 3 - N/A
Peter Gilchrist CB® {62) - N/A
Russell King'® N/A NA N/A
Laurie Bowen'¥ 3 (39 N/A
Malin Persson' 14 B2 N/A
Bill Spencer 3 - N/A
Jack Boyer® NA N/A N/A

{11 As Mark Garrett resigred as an Frecutve Dircctor, he was not chigible 1o oceve ary borus thal may have been declared for FY 20°9/20.
2 Peler Gikchast relired as a Direcwor and Char of the Remureration Zommities on 14 Novamber 2019

31 Russell Kar o wds 2ppoirted ds a Dnectoror 3 septerbaee 2372 ard Char of th2 Bemueeratior Commilles or 14 Novemboer 2219

aida

BILEV STl MR OGO TS D710 VeIl

e 3319

. i BFE A E <
B Jack Boyer was dppointed as 2 Dinctor on 5 septomber 2019

(71 7he hon-Exccabive Dhicctors are not ehgible to partsapate e the bonos sehome

Pay ratio information in relation to Chief Executive’s remuneration

Method of calculation 25" percentile pay ratio Median pay ratio 75" percentile pay ratio
Year adopted {CEQ : UK employees) (CEOQ : UK employees) (CEQ : UK employees)
2020 Option A 19:1 141 101

Pay data for the Chief Executive Officer is taken from the total single figure of remuneration table on page 106. The median, 25th
percentile and 75th percentile igures used to determine the above ratios were calculated by reference to the full-time equivalent
annualised remuneration ([comprising salary, benefits, pension, annual bonus and long term incentives) of all UK based employees of
the Group as at 30 June 2020 (ie. "Cption A" under the applicable regulations). The Committee selected this calculation methodology

as it was felt to produce the most statistically accurate resuit available to it.

The Committee considers that the median pay ratio for 2020 that is disclosed in the above table is consistent with the pay, reward
and progression policies for the Company's UK employees taken as a whole. Consistent with practice elsewhere, executives have a
greater proportion of their overall pay subject te perfermance than other staff. Accordingly, the ratio may prove volatile from year to
year, The Committee has considered the wider workforce context in terms of alignment of tetal reward for the Executive Directors, with

the pension changes in the proposed new policy being one such example.

Pay details {on a full-time equivalent annualised basis where appropriate) for the individuals whose FY 2019/20 remuneration is at the

median, 25th percentile and 75th percentile amongst UK based employees are as follows:

25th percentile Median 75th percentile
Salary £31.515 £41,962 £61,761
Total pay and benefits £33,621 £45,251 £65,271

108 Ricardo plc Anrual Report & Accounts 2019720



Relative importance of pay spend
The following table sets out the total amounts spent on
remuneration for all employees, the dividends declared and
ather significant distnbutions to shareholders in FY 2018/19 and
FY 2019720,

FY 2019/20

Y 201813 3 Zhange

fota' remuneration
soend [£m) 188.5 1793 48

Key management
remuneration as
apercentage of
talai rermuneration

spend (%) 2.7 27

R&D expenditure

£y 12.5 134 &7
Distnbutions o

shareholders {zm) 33 15 /1.3

O3 Thekey management pessornel arc the Board of Diectors, togelor with 1he Maraging
Direc 1o wi*o have the authonty and rosparsibiity o plarmirg, direcurg ard cortollirg
Lhe Group s activilios dnd resources wathir e miarket sectors ir whick Lhe Grop oporates
Further details or ky rManagoment remuncratior caen be tound or page 183 Al sbares that
wore vestod duneg the yearn were dlso exerosed for thanr poce of mil Ths imeasure was choser
M order Lo give greator contaxt for the szale of koy management muneranoe wilkie Ricaido

2 Eortber detarls oo R0 oxperditu 2ar be found on pages 13 and 45 This mcasurn was
crosar because of 1hosmportance 10 Rizada’s business of dovelopirg 1 R0 portioho

3 Reanly distrdunors mada by the Zompany over thesa yoarswers intho lorm of divdeeds

Detailed breakdown of pay in FY 2019/20

. Base salary

Base salaries were reviewed with effect from January 2020, As
described in the policy section an page 121, a number of factors
are taken into account when salaries are reviewed, principally:
market levels of total pay for comparable roles in companies of
a similar size, complexity and sector; the individual's experience,
scope of responsibilities and performance; and the salary
increases for employees across the Group. The current salary
levels from 1 January 2020 for the Executive Directors are shown
in the table below which reflect a 3% salary increase. The Group-
wide average increase approved in FY 2019/20 was 3%.

Corporate governance
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Pension (audited)

{a) The defined benefit scheme is closed and there are no active
members. During the year ended 30 June 2020, the transfer
value in respect of the Chief Executive Officer has increased.
The transfer value at 30 June 2020 was £721,555, an increase
of £81.002 from the prior year The Chief Executive Officer’s
Normat Retirement Date {NRD') is 16 June 2031, at which
point he will receive his pension at the date of leaving the
fund, increased for the period in deferment until his NRD.

If he decides to retire early, he will recelve an immediate
pension calculated as for retirernent at NRD but reduced for
early payment.

() With respect to defined contribution pension schemes:

Executive Director Salary from 1 January 2020
Dave Shernmans {CEQ} £530,484
lan Gibson {CFO) £344.816
Mark Garrett (C50) £296,589

Other benefits auaitad)
The Cormpany provides other cash benefits and benefits in kind
to its Executive Directors. These include a company car or cash
alternative, private fuel, private medical insurance, life assurance
and permanent health or disabiiity insurance. The car allowance
levels remain unchanged and are set at £17,500 p.a. for Dave
Shemmans and at £12,000 p.a. for lan Gibson and Mark Gareett.
Non-Executive Directors can recover travel and
accormmodation expenses for carrying out their duties and
do not receive any other benefits. If tax is payable by a Non-
Executive Director on expenses received, these may be paid
gross of tax,

Employer
contributions Cash
payable in the year inlieu
£000 £000
Dave Shemmans ({CEQ) 4 106
lan Gibson {CFO) - 67
Mark Garrett (CSO) 2 55

Annual performance-related bonus {audited)

Introduction

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the maximum annual

performance-related bonus opportunity was 125% of salary

for the Chief Executive Officer and 100% of salary for any other

Executive Director. To determine the amount of bonus payable

for the vear, the Committee assessed the level of achieverment

against the inandial measures and targets set in respect of;

= Group underlying profit before tax (60% for each of the
Executive Directors);

« Group net debt at year-end (15% for the CEO and 20% for the
other Executive Directors); and

» The achievement of specified individual objectives (25% for
the CEO and 20% for the other Executive Directors).

The choice of these measures, and their respective weightings
for each individual, reflected the Committee’s belief that any
incentive compensation should be tied both to the overall
performance of the Group and to those areas of the business
that the relevant individual can drrectly influence.

Details of financial targets

The financial targets for the 2019/20 financial year {details

of which are provided in the following table along with
confirmation of their respective weightings) were set by the
Committee after taking into account several factors such as
the business plan, management’s expectations and brokers’
forecasts.
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Detailed breakdown of pay in FY 2019/20 (continued)

Annual performance-related bonus {audited) {continued)

Weighting Performance

{% of maximum opportunity} required (£m)
Measure CEQ CFO 50 Threshold On-target Maximum
Unedethany proht before tax 60 60 60 400 420 440
Group net debt balance 15 20 20 {514) 474 {45.4)

A gliding scale of rargets for 2ach Ainancial measure of the Group
was set at the start of the 2019/20 financial year

Performance achieved Element payable
Threshold -
On-target 50%
Maximum 100%

Between any two
performance levels

Sliding scale between
the above percentages

Details of personal objectives

The personal objectives of the Executive Directors were different for
rachindividual and were asciibed different weightings. The Cormenittec,
supported by the Chair of the Board in the case of Dave Shemmians,
ard supported by Dave Shemmans in the case of the other Executive
Directors and members of the leadership team, sets the persenal

objectives at the start of the year The Cormmittee usually identiies ‘strateqiz
areas’ which each Executive Director is asked to focus on and seeks to
ensure ™at all personal objectives are specific, measurable and are indirect
dnvers of financial performance and value creation. They usually set five
objectives and weight thern in accordance with their relative importance.
Atthe end of the year, based on a formal and qualitative assessment

of performance against each objective (at half vear and full year), the
Committee decides how well each individual has performed overall.

The targets set by the Commmittee take into account a number of issues
shown in the table below but also include an assessment against other
strategic and business critical issues which are planned, or occur during the
year, but are not declared as they are business sensitive.

The targets set by the Cornmittes for the Chief Strategy Othcer have
not been included in the table below as, following his resignation, he is not
eligibie for a performance-relatad bonus for FY 2019/20.

Overall
Personal objectives Examples of performance outcomes against achievement
FY 2019/20 personal objectives (%)
Dave + Focus on on-boarding and embedding new Managing + Increased diversity with new recruits during the year at 86.5%
Shemmans  Directors to strengthen the Company’s executive committee. and below board level. Successfully embedding and on-
{CEO) Enable the executive committee to deliver a more commercial boarding all new Managing Directors which has strengthened
culture throughout the business and inter-divisicnal the Company’s executive committee.
collaboration. Develop and strengthen management - The acquisitions completed at the start of the year have been
succession planning and increase diversity. integrated and are performing weil,
+ Continue to focus and deliver on a strategy of acquisitive - increased time spent with shareholders, analysts and the team.
growth with a view to building sustainable revenue and aim to However, customer interaction in the second half of FY 2019/20
maintain business balance. wars difficult due to customer dosures during lockdown
+  Maintain turn around delivery of the US business in line with - Managed the business through a high impact COVID-19 Phase,
budget and meet targets for order book levels. steng:hened the finanoal iguidiny and cortinued profitable
+ Maintain the high level of time dedicated to strategic delivery with the minimum of government support as a
relationships and support of carporate objectives. philosophy.
= {Continue to deliver the strategy and reinforce the broader » Maintained high fevels of ransparency and communications
based business in the minds of stakeholders and internal teams.  waith all stakcholders and led through a digital-ArstAaual work
Aim 1o increase the rating of the business by increasing the from home mode with minimal disruption to the business.
promotion and communication of higher velue added parts + Business strategy has been developed and divisional alignment
of the business. Continue to develop employee engagement documented and agreed. Increased cornmunication with
around the 'Creating a world fit for tre future mission employees including a survey which has yielded positive
+  Manage risks and opportunities created by Brexit and ensure results, particutarly in relation to morale and culture.
the FY 2015/20 budget and sustainabie operational strategy is - [ffectvie managoment of the unpied:atable nature of Braxt in
in place to respond to the changes, first half of FY 2019720 with the focus on managing the impact
of COVIR-19 in the second- inchuding the design and free
pravisien of 10,000 face masks to care homes and the NHS.
lan + Lead work with divisional finance management to ensure profit »  In light of the COMD-19, there was a focus on extreme cash 85%
Gibson and cash delivery and drive process improvements to support managernent and licnicity and ensinng thar the financial
(CFO) forecasting. directors across the Group were focussed on the same topic.
« Deliver robust audit design so as to be target-driven and compliant.  Cash performance outperformed COMD-19 expectations.
« Continue to evolve and improve the management and = Rolled out new segmentation and increased transparency and

corperate reporting te meet govemance, best practice and
simplicity requirements,
= Insupport of strong divisional business models, lead regular
reniews of pricang, fees and utihsatien with financizf direcrors
across the Group. -
Progress the finance team development and create career
progression and ensure retention and diversity.

granularity of segrental reporting, in fine with FCA guidance.
Further improvernent planned with external lrvestor Refations
support however this was put on hold to manage the impact
of COVID-19.

Efectvely managed movements and maternity leave in his
team and has developed a high performing and high work
ethic professional team,
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Detailed breakdown of pay in FY 2019/20 (continued)
Annual performance-related bonus (audited) (continued)

Committee’s assessment of achievement levels and determination of bonuses payable
The performance of the Group over the year included a 58% decrease in underlying profit before tax to £15.6m (2019 £37.0m) and a
year-end net debt of £(734m (2019: £@74)m).

The Group underlying profit before tax of £13.5m was adjusted by £3 3m for acquisition-related expenditure. The adjusted profit
performance at £15.3m 15 below the lower threshold of £42.0m and therefore no bonus is payable in respect of Group undetlying orofit
before tax. The Group net debt of £(734)m was adjusted by £15.4m for unbudgeted PLC Consulting consideration and exceptionat cash
iterms. The adjusted net debt performance at £(38.0)m is below the lower threshold of £(51.4)m and therefore no bonus is payable in
respect of Group net debt,

The Committee carried out a detailed and rigorous review of the achievement of personal objectives and determined that these
had been achieved at a level of §6.5% for the Chief Executive Officer and 85% for the Chief Financial Officer. Achievement aganst
rhe targets set by the Committee for the Chief Strategy Otficer were not reviewed as, following his resignation, he is not eliqible for a
performance-related bonus for FY 2019/20.

Notwithstanding the above high level of achicverment against the personal objectives by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer, the Committee decided that:
= in light of the fallure to achieve threshold levels of performance against both the profit and net debt measures; and
+ after taking into account the overall perfermance of the Group during the year and the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 crisis,
no bonuses would be paid to the Executive Directors in respect of FY 2019/20.

Given the above decision, no deferred bonus awards will be made under the Deferred Bonus Plan {DBP) in respect of the year to 30
June 2020.

Long-term incantive awards vesting during the inancial year (auded)
Awards under the LTIP and bonus-linked awards under the DBP made in October 2076 lapsed in October 2019 on the basis of
underlying EPS and TSR performance measured over specified periods, the last of which ended in October 2019 For the avoidance of
doubt, the Committee did not exercise any discretions in relation to these awards.

The performance conditions applicable to these awards are summarised below:

Relative TSR portion (50%)

Relative TSR performance against the FTSE
Small Cap {exc. financiat services companies and

Underlying EPS growth portion (50%)

investment trusts} Vesting level (%) Underlying EPS growth performance Vesting level (%)
Below median - Less than RPl + 3% p.a. -
Median 25 AP+ 3% pa. 25
Upper quartile {or above) 100 RPl+10% pa 100

Sliding scale between
the above percentages

Between median and upper quartile

Between RP! + 3% and RPI + 10% p.a. Sliding scale between

the above percentages

Over the three-year performance period, Ricardo was ranked below the median of the TSR comparator group, giving a zero vesting
tevel for this portion of the award. Ricardo’s TSR over the period was (31.2)% against a median of 7.29. The underlying EPS figure for the
year resulted from growth of (12.4)% in real terms with the result that the underlying EPS target was not achieved. Therefore, the overall
vesting level for this award was zefo and the shares under the awards fapsed in full.

The number of shares which lapsed in October 2019 in respect of awards granted to each of the Executive Directors in October 2016

are set out on pages 114 and 115 of this report.
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Detailed breakdown of pay in FY 2019/20 {continued)
The Chair's and the Non-Executive Directors' fees
The Chair's and the Non-Executve Directors fees as of 1 January 2020 are as follows:

£000
Tnan's fee 153
Noa-Cxecative Direc o fees,
Basic foe 31
Addit onal fee for Audit and Remuneratior Zommitres Thairs 3
&34y sral tee for the senior Indeoendent irecior 5]

The above table reflects a 3% increase in the Chair's fee and a 3% increase In the basic fee for Non-Executive Directars, Cormnmittee
Chair fee and Senior Independent Director fee relative to the prior year.

Payrments to past directors and in rescect of foss of office {a.dited)
No payments have been made to past directors of the Cornpany or in respect of loss of office in the financial year.

Long-term incentive awards grantes during the finandial year (audited)
Awards were made to the Executive Directors under the DBP (bonus-linked shares) and LTIP in October 2019, The awards granted to

each Executive Director were as follows:

Deferred Bonus Plan

CEO CFO cso
David Shemmans lan Gibson Mark Garrett

Type awarded Performance shares (bonus-linked shares)”
Basis for award 123 match for coresponding Deferred Award
Date of award 24 October 2019
Number of shares 12,969 6,844 4963
Share price™ {£) 6236 6.236 6.236
Face value of award (£) 80.875 42,679 30,949
Vesting level for achievement of threshold performance (%) 25 25 25

End of performance period 35 days after release of preliminary results announcement for FY 2021/22

{expected 1o be October 2022)

(1) As tha Bonus-linked shares are granted in the form of performares sharg awards, no oxrCise prce’ s Dayahlo e order Lo recowe ary vested shares This positior Pas nolchanged siece Lthe awards
weor graricd

SEAEAD I ThE ShAT g 2 DI RYD T L0 T AN Y b g A3 D0 ane 200

Long Term Incentive Plan

CEO CFO Cso
David Shemmans {an Gibson Mark Garrett

Type awarded Performance shares™
Basis for award (% of base salary} 100 55 55
Date of award 24 October 2019
Number of shares 82,590 29,526 25,396
Share price® (£) 6.236 6.236 6236
Face value of award {£) 515,031 184,124 158,369
Vesting ievel for achievement of threshold performance (36) 25 25 25
End of performance period 35 days after release of preliminary results announcement for FY 2021/22

(expected to be October 2022)

Ay the LI awards are granted in the form of performance share awards., ro ‘oxerass prcs s payable in orde 1o recove any vested shares "his posilion bas not changed since the awards were
grantad

e 3 T smare e S sethe ve Taysun iz ana noludieg 23 Dot A0
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Detailed breakdown of pay in FY 2019/20 (continued)
Long-term ingentive awards granted during the financial year (auditedy (continuad)
The vesting of these awards will be based on Ricardo’s underlying EPS growth (two-thirds) and three-yvear relative TSR (one-third)
performance sumrmarised in the table below. The relative TSR measure was chosen by the Committee to link the remuneration of
Executive Directors 1o the performance experienced by shareholders and further align their interests. The underlying EPS measure was
chosen to reward sustained profit growth and align with ane of our key performance indicators. In addition, no part of an award will
vest unless the Committes 1s satisfied that the achievernent against the TSR and underlying =75 performance conditions 1s a genuine
reflection of the underlying perfarmance of the Group over the performance perod,

The Committee decided to tilt the balance away from an equal weighting between TSR and underlying £PS growth to signal the
importance of Increasing Ricardo’s profitability as measured by underlying EPS and to give the management team a stronger incentive
to drive profitable performance which should in turn lead to increased shareholder value.

Relative TSR portion (one-third) Underlying EPS growth portion (two-thirds)

Relative TSR performance against the FTSE

Small Cap {excl. financial services companies Adjusted underlying EPS for the final year in

and investment trusts) Vesting level (96) the performance period (FY 2021/22) Vesting level (%)

Below median - Less than 60.1p -

Median 25 a0.\p 25

Upper guartile (or above) 100 Equal o or greater than 69.1p 100

Between median and upper quartile Sliding scale between Between 60.1p and 69.1p Sliding scale between
the above percentages the above percentages

Performance target setting and those applying to awards cutstanding during FY 2019/20

As shown in previous Directors’ Remuneration Reports, the Committee has a track record of setting stretching underlying EPS targets
which are carefully calibrated to deliver maximum pay-outs only where Ricardo has outperformed the business plan and market
expectations. Full vesting of the shares linked to relative TSR performance only occurs where Ricardo’s performance is in the upper
quartile of the FTSE Small Cap Index {excluding finandial services companies and investrment trusts).

The performance targets applicable to outstanding LTIP and bonus-linked share awards are as follows: For awards in the year ended
30 June 2017, maxirnum vesting of the underlying EPS portion required growth of RPI + 10% per annum. The underlying EPS target to
achieve threshold vesting for awards granted in the year ended 30 June 2017 required performance in excess of RP + 3% per annum.

As explained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report in the Annual Report and Accounts 2017 for awards granted in the year ended
30 June 2018, the Committee decided to move away from expressing our targets as growth percentages in excess of RPL. The reason
for this change was to simplify and enhance the ‘line of sight’ for participants and also to recognise the international scope of Ricardo.
The underlying EPS target to achieve threshold vesting for awards granted in the year ended 30 June 2018 required underlying EPS of
at least 65 pence and maximum vesting required underlying EPS of at least 75 pence. The underlying EPS target to achieve threshold
vesting for awards granted in the year ended 30 June 2019 required underlying EPS of at least 60 pence and maximum vesting required
underlying EPS of at least 69 pence.

The performance condition applicable to the TSR portion of awards has remained constant through this period and is the same as
set out above for awards granted in the year ended 30 June 2020. The number and value of shares which were awarded to each of the
Executive Directors in the year ended 30 June 2020 are set out in the tables on page 112.
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Directors’ interests in shares provisionally awarded under the LTIP (audited)
The following chart sets out in graphical form how the Company's LTIP was operated in FY 2019/20 and earlier years:

Targats 2t for 3 year penoa
AR o share awais 3hares relesses sub echro performancs catena
:

L
|

After tax shares continue to be held pursuant

performance period . to the share retention policy at least until
minimum shareholding is achieved

Year 1 Year2 Year 3 Year 4 and ongoing

I ]
| i
| '
1 ]
| '
1 '

-or details o7 the share retertior pohcy, se¢ page 116

As at 30 June 2020, the Directors' interests in shares provisionally awarded under the LTIP were as follows:

Share price at Number of provisional shares
3-year cycle Award awarddatein  At1lJuly At 30 June

ending datet® perke 2019  Awarded?® Lapsed Vested 2020 Vesting date

Dave 2019 Gct 16 954.30 48915 - {48915) - - 25/10/2019
Shemmans 2020 Nov 17 83000 57927 - - - 57927  08/11/2020
(CEO) 2021 Oct 18 756.00 66,141 - - - 66141 25/10/2021
2022 Cct 19 62360 - 82,590 - - 82,500  24/10/2022

lan 2019 Oct 16 954.30 17318 - (17,318 - - 25/10/2019
Gibson 2020 Nov 17 83000 20,510 - - - 20510 08/11/2020
{CFO} 2021 Oct 18 75600 23,418 - - - 23418 25/10/2021
2022 Qct 19 62360 - 29,526 - - 29526  24/10/2022

Mark 2019 Oct 16 954,30 15114 - (15,114} - - 25/16/2019
Garrett® 2020 Nov 17 830.00 17,899 - - - 17809  08/11/2020
(C50) 2021 Oct 18 756,00 20,437 - - - 20437 25/10/202)
2022 Oct 19 62360 - 25,396 - - 25396  24/10/2022

VU Awards made seder the rules of the Ricardo ple 2074 Long Term Ircortive Plan porformance corditiors as outined on page 13
(23 TPe face vahue at the date ol grart of the gwards made in October 2019 was £315031 101 Dave Shemmans, £184 24 for lan Gibson, and £ 138,369 for Mark Gaerott
3 Te rud-markel Closirg once of the Coempany’s sharcs 0a 32 June 220 was 13 dp per share 2019 7500

A AP awards hold by Matk Garrelt subseguently lapsed infull or 37 uly 2029, being 1he date be coased craployeernst walh 12 aroup

The October 2016 awards that were due to vest in October 2019 lapsed in full because the performance conditions as set out on page
113 were not satisfied.
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Directors’ interests in shares provisionally awarded under the DBP {audited)
The following chart sets out in graphical form how the DBP was operated in FY 2019/20 and earlier years:
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As at 30 June 2020, the Directors’ interests in shares provisionally awarded under the DBP were as follows:

Share price Number of provisional shares
Deferral/  ataward

Award performance datein At T July Dividend At 30 june

Type of Award date period pence 2019 Awarded” shares? tapsed Vested 2020

Dave Deferred Oct 16 3years 954.30 20,762 - - - (20,762} -
Shemmans pgon o inked shares®  Oct 16 3 years 954,30 19,336 . - (19336) - -
(CEQ) Deferred Oct 18 3 years 756,00 18,090 - 73t - - 18,821
Bonus-linked shares®  Oct 18 3 years 756.00 17,568 - - - - 17,568

Deferred Oct 19 3 years 623.60 - 12,969 523 - - 13,492

Bonus-linked shares®  Oct 19 3 years 623.60 - 12,969 - - - 12969

lan Deferred Oct 16 3 years 954 30 10,311 - - - {10,311) -
Gibson Bonus-finked shares®  Oct 16 3 years 954.30 9604 - - (9,604) - -
(CFO) Deferred Oct 18 3 years 75600 5974 - 403 - . 10,377
Bonus-tinked shares™  Oct 18 3 years 75600 9,686 - - - - 9,686

Deferred Qct 19 3years 623.60 - 6,844 276 - - 7120

Bonus-linked sharas® Qct 19 3 years 62360 - 6,844 - - - 6,844

Mark Deferred Oct 16 3 years 954.30 8,850 - - - {8,350) -
Garrett®  ponuslinked shares®  Oct 16 Jyears 95430 8,244 - - 6.249) - -
(€50) Deferred Oct 18 3 years 756.00 6,097 - 245 - - 6,342
Bonus-finked shares™  Oct 18 3years 756.00 5,922 - - - - 5922

Deferred Oct19 3 years 623,60 - 4963 200 - - 5183

Bonus-iinked shares®  Oct 19 3 years 623.60 - 4963 - - - 4963

1 The face values at the date of gract of awards made ir October 2019 were Dave Shemmans, L80875, lan Gibson 142,679, Mark Garroll £30.949
21 Amounts allocated nclude shares equivalort to divideoads on provisional delered award shares ard vosted bonus-heked stares

3 e rud-market closing price of the Compary’s siates or 30 June 2020 was 4190p 20°9 7600p)

Ay Bonus-rked shares awarded urder the rules of the Ricardo pic 2017 Defenied Borus Plan performarce condinons as o lined on page 113

(51 Al D8P awards bold by Mark Garrett subsequently lapsed i full on 30 July 2020 being the date be ceased erployrent with the Group

The values of the October 2016 Deferred awards vesting were £134,953 for Dave Shemmans; £67,022 for lan Gitbson; and £57525 for
Mark Garrett, The market price per share of the shares that vested on 25 Gctober 2019 was 650.0p.

The October 2016 bonus-linked shares that were due to vest in Octeber 2019 lapsed in full because the performance conditions set
out on page 113 were not satisfied.
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Share retention policy

Current policy

In order to foster greater alignment between our Executive
Directors and our shareholders, the Board currently operates

a share retention policy for the Executive Diractors with the
intentior that each Executive Director will own shares in the
Company with a value at least equal to one times arnual base
salary with a requirement that vested incentive awards (net

of tax} are held until this is met. While each of the Executive
Directors met this target during the year, the impact of COVID-19
on UK share prices has meant that the requirement was not met
as at 30 June 2023, as shown in the table below,

Future policy —in post

As part of the package of changes to the Directors’
Remuneration Policy proposed for adoption by shareholders at
the 2020 AGM, the Committee has reviewed the above share
retention policy and propases to revise this as scon as the new
policy comes into force. In particular, the holding reguirernent
will be increased from one times annual base salary to two times
annual base salary. Until such increased holding requirement
has been reached Executive Directors will be required to

retain at least 50% of any vested shares (net of tax) from the
Company’s discretionary share plans. In line with the Investment
Assodiation’s Principles of Remuneration 2019, vested shares
subject to a holding period (i.e. vested LTIP awards under the
new 2020 LTIPY and unvested shares that are not subject to
performance conditions {i.e. DBP awards) will count towards this
shareholding requirement on a net-of-tax basis.

No.ofshares Share awards not subjectto

Future policy - post-cessation

The above new retention requirement witl continue post-
cessation of employment with shares worth two times annual
base salary {or, if lower, the shareholding as at the date of
cessation) to be held for the iritial 12 month period and half

of this amount required to be held for the second 12 month
period. This will apply to share plan awards granted after the
new policy has been approved by shareholders. The Committee
thinks the suggested approach is appropriate for Ricarde as it is
being introduced at the same time as the in-post sharehoiding
guideline 1s being increased. The guideline level for the second-
year post-cessation will therefore be equal to the current in-post
level of one times salary.

Directors’ shareholdings (audited)

The interests of Directors and their connected personsin
ordinary shares as at 3¢ June 2020, including any shares
provisionally awarded under the LTIP and DBP are presented

in the table below. At 9 September 2020, the interests in shares
of the Directors who were still in office were unchanged from
those at 30 June 2020,

Share awards subject to Shareholding

held performance conditionst™ performance conditions® {% of base salary)®
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dave Shemmans (CED) 101.085 32,313 237195 80
lan Gibson [CFO) 47,827 17497 83,984 58
Mark Garret (C50) ¥ 59,723

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Sir Terry Morgan CBe 15,000 - + -
Russeli King” - - - -
Laurie Bowen 6,000 - - -
Malin Persson 1,500 - - -
Bill Spencer 8,000 - - -
Jack Boyer™ - - - -
Peter Gitchrist 4870 - - -

3 Defered awards granted pursuart 1o 1he rules of the Ricardo ple 201! Delerred Bonws Plar

.21 Borus-inked awards grarted purseant 1o the rules of the Ricamio plc 20017 Deferred Borus Plan ard LTP awards graried purseant 1 the rules of the Ricarde ple 2004 Long ferm Incentive Plar,

Br-orbvesu ve lDocriri ol e v os e s arz subizot o the share rerenton polity Zaloolatez cvreterance o e ureser of haoef ally swned sreres astirepree of 213092 385 are D013 T2300)

ard salanes 15 al 30 June 2020

A AIDEP and LTIP awards teld by Mark Garrettiapsed in full or 31 July 2029, bairg the date he feased omployenent wilh the Group

) Bussell King was appointad as a Direclor on 3 September 2019
B Jack Boyor was appoinrted a5 a irector on 3 Seplomber 20°2
73 sharcholdng as at "4 November 2073, boing the date Lhat Pater Gilchast rotired as Direclor
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Dilution limits

The number of shares that may be issued under ail Ricardo
employee share plans in any ten-year rolling period wil be
restricted to 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the
Company and 5% of the issued ordinary share capital of the
Company for discreticnary employee share plans.

At the end of the year under review, the Company's overall
dilution was 4.56%, of which 4.12% related to discretionary
employee share plans. The Company operates an employee
benefit trust which has principally been used o fazilitare the
operation of the LTIP and DBP arrangements. Any new shares
issued 1o the trust are, however, included in the dilution limits
noted above.

Executive Directors and their Board positions
with other companies during FY 2019/20
Executive Directors may, with the prior consent of the Board,
hold a non-executive directorship with another company.

On 1 September 2014, the Company’s Chiel Fxecutive Officer
was appointed as a non-executive director of Sutton and East
Surrey Water plc. He is permitted to retain the associated fees
which, for the year frorn 1 July 2019 to 3G June 2020 (inclusive),
amounted to £35,444.

On 25 November 2016, the Compdny's Chief Strategy Officer
was appotnted as the non-executive Chair of Secured By Design
Limited. He is permitted to retain the assodiated fees which, for
the year from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 (inclusive), amounted
to £21,000.

Implementation of Directors’ Remuneration

Policy in FY 2020/21

[t is anticipated that the implementation of the 2020 Directors

Remuneration Policy (the 2020 Policy’) will be simitar to the

implementation of the applicable policy in FY 2019/20.

The Committee will:

« Review base salary levels for the Executive Directors with
effect from 1 January 2021;

» Setand review the performance targets for the FY 2020/21
annual bonus and the LTIP awards to be made in 2020 to
ensure continued alignment to strategy; and

= Make awards under the new Ricardo plc 2020 Long Term
Incentive Plan ithe 2020 LTIP"}, subject to shareholders’
approval at the 2020 AGM.

As no bonus was payable to employees across the Group in

Fy 2019/20, including to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, the Committee will not make any awards under
the DBP during the year,

Corporate governance
Directors’ remuneration report

Annual Bonus

For the FY 2020/21 arnual bonus, a cash conversion measure
replaces ret debt and the weightings of measures are being
rarmonised across all the Executive Directors. The maximum
annual performance-related bonus opportunity will be 125% of
salary for the Chief Exscutive Officer and 100% of the salary for
any other Executive Director.

To determine the amount of bonus payable for the year, the
Committee will assess the level of achievernent against the
financial measures and targets set in respect of:

» Group underlying profit before tax (50%);
= Cash conversion (20%}; and
« The achievernent of specificd individual objectives (20%).

The cash conversion measure is being introduced as itis
regarded as a key and more etfective indicator of ongoing
opeorational cash efficiency.

The propasal for the cash measure for bonus purposes in
respect of the year ending 30 June 2021 is a cash conversion
percentage. Cash conversion is defined as underlying cash
generated from operations {exctuding defined benefit pension
scheme payments) divided by underlying EBITDA. "Underlying”
excludes spedhc adjusting items, which comprise amortisazion
of acquired intangible assets, acquisition-related expenditure
and reorganisation costs.

On-target performance (50% pay-out) will be set at the
budgeted cash conversion, i.e. budgeted underlying cash
from operations + budgeted underlying EBITDA. The current
intention is for cash conversion to be calculated from budgeted
performance calculated to give the threshold and maximum
cash conversions.

Owing to concerns about commercial sensitivity, we do not
believe it is in shareholders’ interests to disclose any further
details of these targets on a prospective basis. However, the
Company is committed to adhering to principles of transparency
and wili, provided disclosure of targets is not deemed to be
commercially sensitive, make appropriate and relevant levels
of disclosure of bonus targets and performance against these
targets for the FY 2020/21 bonus in next year’s report.
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2020 LTIP Awards

Introduction

Subject to receipt of the necessary sharebolder approvals, it is
anticipated that awards will be granted under the new 2020
LTIP shortly after the conclusion of the 2020 AGM. The 2020

LTIP is substantially the same as the existing arrangement that
was adopted in 2014, with any changes mainly intended to
ensure alignment with the 2020 Policy and current best practice
reguirements. In particular, the 2020 LTIP includes a new two
year holding period that will apply following the vesting of
awards and incorporates an increase to the maximum levels of
award (1o 150% of base salary for the Chief Execurive Officer and
130% of base salary for any other Executive Director).

Quantum of awards

The quantum of the initial awards under the 2020 LTIP will

be determined by the Cornmittee at or around the time they
are granted. Any such determination will be subject to the
maxirmum award limits described above and will alsc take into
account a range of other factors including the Company’s share
price at the time of grant and the overall performance of the
business.

Performance measures and targets

The Committee believes that TSR and underlying EPS continue

to be appropriate measures for the Company’s long-term

incentive arrangerments as they are strongly aligned to

shareholder value creation. In FY 2019/20, the Committee moved

away from an equal weighting of these measures in order to

provide additional focus on Ricardo’s profitable performance

and determined that:

» one-third of the relevant shares will be subject to the relative
TSR measure; and

+ the remaining two-thirds of the relevant shares will be subject
to the underlying EPS measure.

The Committee has determined that these weightings should
also apply to the LTIP awards to be granted in FY 2020/21.

The targets applicable to the TSR portion of these awards will
be the same as those which applied to awards granted last year.
Threshold performance (i.e. median ranking in the comparator
group, far which 25% of this portion will vest) is generally
intended to align to the anticipated performance of the relevant
market and our competitors. if the maximum performance is
achieved (i.e. upper guartile ranking in the comparator group),
we would expect to have significantly outperformed the
relevant market and our competitors.
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As roted in the Chair's Overview, the Committee has
concluded that, in light of the current uncertainty created by
the COVID-1G crisis, It would be inappropriate to set the specific
targets for the EPS portion of the FY 2020/21 awards until such
ume as there is greater clarity around the long-term impact
cf the pandemic on the Company's business and the various
markets in which it operates. As a result, the Committee intends
to finalise these targets no later than six maonths after the date on
which the awards are granted. Once 1t has done s, full details of
the selected measures will be set out in an RNS announcement
released to the market.

It should also be noted that, in terms of the 2020 Policy, the
Committee will have the ability to adjust the formulaic outcomes
from performance conditions where appropriate and the
Committee will ensure that outcomes reflect Company and
executive performance as well as the experience of shareholders
and other stakeholders. The Committee will also use its
discretion to reduce vesting outcemes where it determines that
windfall gains have been received,

Other points

The Committee considered, and will continue to consider,

the impact on the Company’s incentive arrangements of the
introduction of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

on 1 July 2018 and IFRS 16 Leases on 1 July 2019. It will make

any adjustments when assessing the performance cutcomes

to outstanding long-term incentive awards to ensure that
performance measurements are carried out on a like for like basis
and are fair to both shareholders and plan participants.



PART 3 - DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY
Introduction

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report provides an
averview of the Company’s policy on Directors’ pay thatis
designed to align with and support Ricardo's strategic plan and
will operate over the three years from the AGM to be held on

12 November 2020 (the 2020 AGM'} until the AGM 1o be held in
2023 (the 2020 Policy”). The pravious policy that was approved
by shareholders at the AGM held on 8 November 2017 {the 2017
Policy’) will continue to operate until the 2020 AGM and indeed
the new policy will permit the execution of remuneration
arrangements that were agreed when the 2017 Policy was in
effect. The 2017 Policy applied throughout the financial year
ended 30 June 2020 and was most recently reproduced in the
Annual Report and Accounts 2019 with the originally approved
text being included in the Annual Report and Accounts 2017, both
of which are available on our website at: wwwi.ricardo.com.

Corporate governance
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In accordance with the requirements of the Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports)
Regulations 2008 (as amended) (the ‘Regulations’}, the 2020
Policy will be subject to a binding vote at the 2020 AGM and
will take effactimmediately upon receipt of such approval from
shareholders.

As discussed in the Chair's Overview, following a thorough
and careful review of the structure of the 2017 Policy, its
operation in our business (including in the context of the
pay and employment conditions of employees (other than
Diractors)) and the views of our largest shareholders, their
industry bodies and other corporate governance commentators,
the Committee concluded that a number of changes should be
made to the 2017 Policy in order to improve its ability to support
Ricardo at this stage of our development. Details of the changes
to the 2017 Policy are set out on page 120.

The Remuneration Committee - what we do

and reviewing such provisions for senior management,

= Agreeing the remuneration of the Chair of the Board,

and the duty to mitigate loss is recognised wherever possible; and

- Agreeing the terms of reference of any remuneration advisors it appoints

The Commirtee’s orimary purpose is to make recommendations to the Board on the Group's framewaork or broad pelicy for executive remuneraton The
Board has alss deleqared responsinility to the Commuittee £ dstetminina ~he esmunaranon, Sensiirs and s onrractual arrangements of the Chair and the
Executive Directors. No individual 1s involved in deziding his or her remuneration,

The Committee has written terms of reference. which are available at www ricardo com, anad its responsibilities include

« Determining and agreeing with the Board the policy for executive remuneration and monitoring and considering the policy for, and structure of, senior
managernent remuneration taking into account that the ultimate decision-making responsibiiity for the remuneration of the senior management
ieam {otror than the Executive Directors) i=s wath the Chuef Exe_Ltive Officer,

= Agreemng the terms and conditions of employment for Executive Directors, ncluding their individual annual remuneration and pension arrangements,

- Agreeing the measures and targets for any perforrmance-related bonus and employee share pians,

+ Ensuring that, on termination, contractual terms and payments made are fair, both to the Company and the individual, so that failure 15 not rewarded

Taking shareholders’ views into account

When considering Ricardo’s remuneration policy and its implamentation, the Committee 1s
always keen to ensure that it takes into account the views and opinions of all the relevant
stakeholders in the business. In particular, when preparing its policy for approval at the

Consideration of employment
conditions elsewhere in the
Company

2020 AGM, the Commuttee undertock a programme of engagement with the Company’s
largest institutional iInvestors and their representative bodies in order to better understand
therr perspective on our previous pay practices and the proposed policy for 2020-2023.
Sharehelders were gven an early opportun ty to provide {ecaback and n finalising the
proposals this was taken into account As a result of the feedback received through this
cansultalion programme:

+ Incumbent Executive Directars will be aligned to the pension provision levels of the UK
workforce by 1 January 2022 (in addition to any new appointees being capped at this level

» One-third of any bonus paid will be deferred into shares for three years, and

- Extension of share ownershup guideline to two years' post-cessation of employment
{reducing from two ames salary in the first year 1o ore times salary in the second year).

in the spirit of continuous improverment and in order 1o ensure that our remuneration policy
continues fully to support achieverment of business objectives and delivery of value to
shareholders, the Committee will continue to review our policy pencdically in the context of
the changing business environment Any ratenial future changes to policy will be discussed
with shareholders in advance.

from the date of joining) - further details are included in the 2020 Policy table on page 121,

While Ricardo does not consult directly with
employees on the subject of Directers reruneration,
the remuneration packages for each Executive Director
and rhen fixed ard vanable elements are reviewed
annually This process (and the setting of the revised
rermuneration policy as a whole) takes into account 2
nurmber of factors, including the following:

« Individual and business performance;

Pay arrangements for similar roles in other
companies and consultancy erganisations of
Ricardos size, complexity and international reach;

Risk management; and

+ Pay and empioyment conditions of employees of
the Group.

The Zommittee also looks at the dirferential between

the Chief Executive Dfficer’s pay and Ricarda average

employee earnings over time.
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Overview of Ricardo’s remuneration policy for 2020 - 2023

The objective of Ricardo’s executive remuneration policy is to support the business strategy ard timescales of an international
consultancy business by not only rewarding the standard of performance and the outcornes that our shareholders require, but also
encouraging share ownership and fostering alignment of interest between the Executive Directors and shareholders. We do this by
setting base levels of salaries that are competitive, compared with companies of similar size and complexity to Ricardo, and providing
other remuneration package elernents, namely the short-term annual bonus plan and long-term incentive arrangerment, that only
pay for performance Taken together, our two vaniable pay platforms focus on growing the profitabifity of the business, its resilence,
the achievermsnt of discrets non-financial targets and linking executive outcomes with the shareholder experience both by delivering
rewards in the form of Ricardo shares and also by using a relative total shareholder return performance measure over the fonger term.

Changes to the 2017 Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The changes (o the 2017 Directors' Remuneration Policy are as follows.

Overview of the decision making process
that was followed for the determination

« Pension provision for new joiners and incumbents alike will be aligned with the UK | of the new p0|icy

workforce,

One third of any bonus will be deferred into shares and ordinanly delivered at the
exprry of a three year period from grant,

lo simplify our long-term incentive arrangements, the ability to receive bonus-
linked shares is being removed and the fimits under the LTIP are being increased in

As explained in the Chair's introduction on page 102, the new
2020 Policy which shareholders are being asked to approve
at the 2020 AGM was developed by the Remuneration
Committee following a thorough review of the existing
execubve remuneration arrangements; it also involved the

Committee undertaking a consultation exercise with our
may 21 sharsholders and the Zhief Executive Ofbicer and Chief
Finanial Officer

order to compensate;

= & wwo-year post vesting holding period under the LTIP 1s being introduced for

future grants to Executive Directors, and ) ‘ .
In its deliberations, the Commitiee recgived support and

advice from FIT Remuneration Consultants and Shepherd and
Wedderburn, its independent external advisors (see page 105
for details)

= A 200% share ownership requirerment for all Executive Directors is being
introduced with a requirement that 50% of any gains from any share awards
(vesting of LTIP or deferred bonus) be retained until the increased level 15 met
This will zontinue post-cessation of employment for two years (with the holding

requirement reducing by 509 for the second year). Although the kxecutive Directors provided the Commitiee

with a level of Input in relation o the formulation of the new
pob oy, the final decsicns around s structure were taken by
the Commuttee slore in orden =2 aveid any conflicts of interest
arsing

Corporate Governance

When determining the 2020 Poticy, the Committee was mindful of its obligations under Provision 40 of the Corporate Governance Code 1o ensure
that the policy and other remuneration practices were clear, simple, predictable, proportionate, safeguarded the reputation of the Company and were
aligned 1o Company culture and strategy. Set out below are examples of how the Committee addressed these factors

Clanty
+ Remuneration policy and arrangernents are clearly disclosed each year in the Annual Report

+ The Company invited its principal sharehaolders and shareholder representative groups 1o consult on the updated remuneration policy and received
good feedback. Changes were made 10 the proposals following inpur from this process.

+ Tho Commurter s regularly updat=d or woikforce pay and beretits acioss The Jroup durnng the Taurse of Its aztivity
Ssimphcity

s D rRmungaton s uctars s Lomprs2d of Txed and vanable remiunzration, with the perfonmance condisons for vanable elements Cearly
communizated o, and understood by, particpants in order to ensure they are cffective,

+ The proposed 2020 Policy has receved positive feedback from stakeholders in relation to its simplicity. The benus-linked shares have been removed to
result 10 a simpler structure

Risk

« The rules of the 2020 LTIP provide discretion to the Committee to reduce award levels and awards are subject 10 malus and clawback provisions
= The total pay of the Executive Directors is considered by the Committee as well as pay ratios with the wider workforce and shareholder returms,
Prechctability

= The range of possible rewards for the Executive Directors s considered in the scenano chart on page 125

= The C ommittes has a range of Jiscretions nrelation to vanacle pay awards, new jomer and leavers which aredenrified ard explaned in the
Remuneration Policy section.

Proportionahty

» Asshown n the scenar o chart on pags 125, variable oerformance-related eleme~ts reprasent a significant proportion of the toral remuneraton
opportunity for our Executive Directors.

-+ The Committes considers the appropriate financial and cersonal perfarmance measures 2ach year to ensuie that there s a clear ink to strategy. For
example, for FY 2020/21 the cash conversion measure is being introduced under the annual bonus.

- Discretions are available to the Committee to reduce awards if necessary to ensure that outcornes do not reward poor performance,
Algrment to culture

The Commutres remain confident thal the incentive schemes operated under the Remuneration Policy are ahgned with the Company’s purpose,
values and strategy.

+ The use of otncs in bath the annual bonus and LTIP mesure how we perform against our finandial and non-financiat KPls.
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THE STRUCTURE OF OUR DIRECTORS REMUNERATION PACKAGE — THE POLICY TABLE

Pay element and

link to strategy Maximum Operation Framework for assessing performance
Base salary Base salary increases  Salary levels are reviewed annually in January each year. None
o y - ”
To provide a will not ordinarily Pay is set by considering:
core level of be more than 109% . .
' pa. with exceptional  * Market levels of total pay for comparable roles in companies of
; i’;g;ifjggrfpany increases over the similar size, complexity and secior;
to attract and retain r]oq:mal maximum » Each individual Director’s experience, scope of responsibilities
skiled high-calipre  Mitcapped 2125%  and perfarmance; and
executives todeliver P2 + The salary increases for employees across the Group.
s strategy. spea::ivn? g‘. nEcrl : al asesly Ricardo places a strong emphasis on internal succession planning.
will be in,line it This emphasis may mean that talered individuals are promoted
N rapidly. In such drcurnstances, the Committee’s policy is to seta
salary increases for . L . /
ernpl across the relatively low base salary initially and then increase this to a market
Gr oup! competitive level for the role over time. This may mean relatively
) high annual salary increases as the individual gains experience in
the new role. We will notify shareholders where this is the case.
Other benefits The total value of The Compary provides other cash benefits and benefits in kind None
To provide market-  0enefits wilk not to Executive Directors in fine with market practice. These include
cormpetitive benefits, €xceed 10%of base  a company car or cash alternative, private fuel, private medical
salary p.a, save In the insurance, life assurance and permanent health and disability
case of relocation. nsurance. The benefits arrangements are reviewed on an annual
basls.
The Committee reserves the right to provide further benefits
where this is appropriate in the individual's particular
circurmstances (for example, costs assoclated with relocation as a
residt of the Director’s role with the Cormnpany).
Certain other employees are eligible for the same or similar
benefits described above depending on their role, seniority and
geographicat location.
Pension Until 31 December The Company operates a defined contribution scheme, the None
T offer market- 2021 the maximum  Ricardo Internaticnal Pension Scheme (RIPS). The policy for
competitive pension contribution  Executive Directors (save for the Chisf Executive Officer’s

retrement benefits

is 20% of salary over
the Lower Earnings
Umit. From 1 January
2022 this reduces to
match the pension
provision level of
the UK workforce
from time to time
{currently 7%).

In addition, in line
with payments given
to all employees
who were previous
members of the

old defined henefir
scheme operated

by the Company,

the current Chief
Cxecutive Officer

is entitled 1o an
additicnal 1.2%

of salary pension
contritution. This will
continue throughout
the 2020 Policy
period.

legacy pension arrangements described opposite) continues

to be a pension contribution of 26% of base salary over the
Lower Earnings Limit. From 1 January 2022 {again, save for the
Chief Executive Officer’s additional 1.2% legacy entittlement),

this will be aligned with the pension provision levels of the UK
workforce from time to time (currently 7%). To the extent that any
contributions have used up the adjusted annual allowance limit,
any additional payment will be cash in lieu of pension.

Executive Directors may only choose to opt out of the RIPS where
they are close to or have exceeded the pension lifetime allowance
and have applied for ixed protection from HMRC. Under such
circumstances, Executive Directors will receive a cash payment in
lieu of pension.

On death in service, all Executive Directors, subject to the medical
requirements of the insurance company, are entitled to a lump
sum of four times armnual salary at date of death.

Early retirement is available with the consent of the Company and
the pension scheme trustees if the individual is over 55 or retiring
due to it health.

All UK employees are entitled to receive Company pension
contributions. While levels vary, the majority of UK employees
receive a 7% of salary employer pension contribution into the
REPS.

For new Executive Director appointments regardless of
appointment date, pension contribution wilt be aligned with the
centribution available to the wider workforce.

Creating a world fit for the future
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THE STRUCTURE OF QUR DIRECTORS REMUNERATION PACKAGE ~ THE POLICY TABLE (continued)

Pay element and

Operation

Framework for assessing performance

link to strategy Maximum

Pay for Maximum
performance: cpportunity of 125%
Annual bonus cof base salary for

To reward the the Chief Executive
onnual delivery Officar and 00" of
af Francial and base salary for other
operational targets Executive Directors

Bonuses are awarded by reference to performance against
specific targets measured over a single financial year.

Two thirds of any bonus paid 1o an Executive Director will be

paid out in cash shortly after the assessment of the performance
targets has been completed. The remaining one third of the
benus will be compulsorily deferred into ordinary shares, the
vesting of which is normaily subject to continued employment for
a three-year period from the award date. The cash element of the
bonus is not payable unless the individual remains in employment
at the payment date.

The principal purpose of this bonus deferral mechanism is to:

+ Provide for further alignment of executives' and shareholders’
interests;

+ Provide an additional retention element; and

+ Encourage Executive Directors te build up a shareholding in
accordance with our share retention policy.

Dividends and dividend equivalents for each deferral period may
also be paid in respect of shares under award to the extent that
shares have vested in the relevant participants.

Bonus arrangernents exist for certain other employees
throughout the Group on terms that are applicable to their

role, seniority and geographical location, although typically at
lower levels of maximum opportunity to reflect that a gieater
pragortion of Executive Directors’ remuneration is performance-
based.

Malus and clawback: Annual bonuses (including any element
deferred into shares) may be subject to malus and clawback
provisions if certain events occur in the period of three years from
the end of the financial year to which they relate. These events
include the Committee becoming aware of:

» A material misstatement of the Corrpany’s financial resulrs;

» An error in the calculation of performance conditicns; or

« Anact committed by the relevant participant that could have
resulted in summary dismissal by reason of gross misconduct
or which has caused signific ant reputational damaage to the
Group.

The mechanism through which malus and clawback can be

implemented enables the Committee to take various actions

including:

+ Reducing cutstanding incentive awards, and

= Requiring a cash payment to be made by participants.

The measures and targets applicable

to the annual bonus scheme (and the
diflcrent weigttings ascibed ta themy are
set annually by the Committee in order
to ensure they are relevant to participants
and take account of the most up-to-date
business plan and strategy.

A significant majonty (at feast 50%) of

the bonus ocpportunity wili normally be
determined by reference to performance
against Group KPIs such as:

Underlying Profit Before Tax; and
= Cash conversion.

Any remaining part of an Executive
Director’s bonus will normally be based on
the achievement of personal cbjectives
which relate to delivery of the business
strategy. See page 110 for exarmples.

A payment scate for different levels of
achievernent against each performance
arget is specified by the Committee at
the outset of each year - this ranges from
zero for below-threshold performance up
e 100% for full satisfaction of the rejevant
target.

Bonus payments wiil also be subject to
the Committee considering whether the
proposed awards, calculated by reference
to performance against the targets,
appropriately reflect the Company's
overall performance and shareholders’
experience. if the Committee does not
believe this to be the case, it retains the
discretion to adjust the bonus outtum
accordingly.
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THE STRUCTURE OF QUR DIRECTORS REMUNERATION PACKAGE - THE POLICY TABLE (continued)

Pay element and
link to strategy

Maximum

Operation

Framework for assessing performance

Payfor
performance;
Long-term
incentives

Performance shares
under the Long-
Term Incentive
Plan (LTiP)

To focus motivation
on the long-rerm
performance of the
Group and reward
shareholder value
creation.

To encourdge share
ownerstup and
alignment with
sharefiolders,

Maximum

opporturity of 150%

of base salary for
the Chief Executive
Officer, 130% for
other Executive
Directors.

LTIP - performance measured aver a three-year period:

Performance share awards under the LTIP are made on an annual
basis to the Executive Directors and a small group of other senior
managers.

From time to time a number of employees beiow board level
are granted nen-performance based share awards to reflect
exceptional performance

Holding Period

Vesting of awards will generally take place on the third anniversary
of grant ¢, if later, the date on which the performance conditions
are assessed by the Committee.

Executive Directors’ awards that vest will normally be subject o

a holding period in terms of which the relevant shares will only
be released after a further period of at least two years has expired
from the vesting date.

Dividends and equivalents

BGividends and dividend equivalents for each performance /
holding period may also be paid in respect of shares under award
to the extent that shares have vested in the relevant participants.
Malus and clawback: Long-term incentive awards may be
subject to malus and/or clawback provisions if certain events
oceur after their grant but before the expiry of the period of two
years from the end of the refevant performance pericd. These
events include the Committee becoming aware of:

= A material misstatermnent of the Company’s financial results;

+ Anerror in the calculation of performance conditions; or

+ Anact committed by the relevant participant that has (or
could have) resulted in summary dismissal by reason of gross
misconduct or which has caused sigrificant reputational
darnage to the Group.

The mechanism through which malus and clawback can be

implemented enables the Committee 1o take various actions

including:

» Reducing outstanding incentive awards; and

+ Requiring a cash payment to be made by participants.

The vesting of long-term incentive awards
is subject to both cominued employment
and the extent to which performance
corditions measured over a specified
three-year period are met.

The measures and targets applicable to
the long-term incentive awards will consist
aof challenging sharehotder return, financial
and strategic measures.

The particular measures and targets

10 apply {and the different weighlings
ascribed to them} will be set annually by
the Committee in order io ensure they
are relevant to participants, challenging to
achieve and take account of the most up-
to-date business plan and strategy.

The initial weightings between the two
leng-term incentive measures that we
intend to use for the initial awards after the
2020 AGM are 679 EPS performance and
33% TSR performance; however our policy
is shnply for financal and shiareholder
return targets to make up at ieast 50% of
awards.

25% of each element of an award will vest
for achieving the threshold performance
target with 100% of the awards being
earned for maximum performance (with
straight-line vesting between these
points).

Further details of the performance
conditions applicable to awards to be
made in FY 2020/21 are set outon
page 8.

Formulaic outcome of all LTiP
performance measures will also be
subject to the Committee considering
whether the proposed vesting levels,
calculated by reference to performance
against the targets, aporopriately reflect
the Company’s overall performance

and sharehciders’ experience. If the
Committee does not believe this to be the
case, it re1ains the discretion to adjust the
LTiP outturn accordingly.

Chair and other
Non-Executive
Directors

Helps recrut and
retan fugh-quahty
expenienced
wndrneduals
Hptioe !, ppege
commitment and
role

Company’s Articles
of Association
place a limiton the
aggreqgate annual
level of Non-
Executive Directors’
and Chair's fees
{currently £500,000)

The fees for Non-Executive Directors are set in line with prevailing
market conditions and at a level that will attract mdividuals

vl aecessary et enenace ard abuliny e sk 3 gl ant
CONTE Ut ar 1o the Croupy’s affae

Non-Executive Directors receve an annual basic fee plus an
additional fee for acting as the Chair of the Audit or Remuneration
Comrmittee or the Senor independent Director. An additional

fee may be paid for rmembership of the Technical Exploitation
Board ('TEB"). No Non-Executive Director is currently a member

of the TEB The Chair of the Board receives an annual fee payable
monthly with no additional fees for chairing Board commitiees
They alsa receve reimbursement for bavel and incidental wosts
lincluding any associated personal tax charges) incurred in
furtherance of Company business

None
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Notes to the 2020 Policy table:

1. Where maximum amounts for elemen:s of remuneranon have been
setwathin the 2020 Policy, these will operate simply as caps and are not
indicative of any aspiration

2. A descripuon of how the Company intends 1o implemeant the 2029
sy set out i the rables 2npages (21 W 723 dunng the ing~aigl vear
10 30 June 2021 is provided on Dages 117 and 118

3. A general overview of how each remuneration alement app'ies to other
amployees of the Group s included under the relevant section of the
policy table

4, The Zommuitlee reserves the nght to make any remuneration payments
and paymeants for loss o7 office (ndduging 2xer2<ing any discrzuzns
available 1o it N connection with such payments) notwithstanding that
they are not In line with the 2020 Policy (a5 set ouf on pages 121 19 123)
where the terms of the payment were agreed:

a. pefore 29 0utober 2014 (the date the Zompanys first srarshol der-
aprroved Swectors Remureranon Policy same into effect,

b. betore -he 2720 Policy camz into effzct, provided that the terms
of the payrment were consistent with the shareholder-approved
Directors' Remuneration Policy in force at the time they were agreed;
or

¢ ata time when the relevant individual was not a Director of the
Company and, in the opinion of the Committee, the payment was
not in consideration for the individual becaming a Directar of the
Company.

For these purpases payments include the Committee satisfying awards

of vanable remuneration and, In relation o an award over shares, the

terms of the payment are agreed” at the ume the award is granted.

[¥a]

. The‘tramework for assessing performance’ column of the tables on

pages 12110 123 provide information on choosing the particular
performance measures and target setting in relation o therm

. Aicardo’s variable pay may have any performance conditions applicable

to the relevant alement amended or substituted by the Committee

if an event occuss whizh zauses the Committee to determing that

an amended or substituted performance condition would be maore
appraprate snd oot matesally 1255 hificult o sansfy, Tha Zommitres
may make adjusiments, where *hese are fair and reasonable. to
measures of targels 1o take accoun: of, for example, the implizetions of
acguisitions and disposals.

. Long-term mcentive awards can be granted in a variety of forms such

as performance shares, mil-cost options or forfeitable shares and the
Commuttee reserves the right to grant long-term incentive awards with
the same econome effect but 1~ ary of thase different contractual
forms {including in cash) Long-term incentive awards can also be
adjusted in the event of any variation of the Company's share capital or
any demerger, dehisting, special xividend or other event that may affect
the Company's share price,

. Under the terms of long-term incentive award performance conditions,

where any company becomes unsuitable as a member of the
comparator group as a resuft of, for example, a change of control or
delisting, the Committee has the discretion to treat that company
in such manner as it deems approprate (including replacing it with
another organisation)

. In the event of 3 change of control, long-term incentive awards will

normally vest al that ume, taking into account, amengst other things,
the extent 1o which any performance criteria have been met (over the
shortened performance periods) and the time elapsed since grant.

All-employee share plans

For its UK employees the Company operates from time to tme tax-advantaged share plans. These are a Share Incentive Plan ('SIP) and a Save As You
Earn share option plan and they are intended to encourage share ownership and wider 1nterest in the performance of the Company’s shares Executive
Directors are eligible to participate in these arrangements up to the applicable statutory limits. The SIP provides for partnership, matching, free and
dividend shares bquivalent arrangements operate from time to time for non-UK employees.
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Illustrative remuneration cutcomes at different performance levels

Ricardo's pay policy seeks to ersure the long-term interests of Executive Directors are aligred with those of shareholders. The
remuneration packages for each Executive Director and their fixed and variable elements are ieviewed annually. The scenano chart
below presents remuneration outcomes for the 2020 Policy under minirmum, on-target, maximum and maximum with share price

appreciation scenarios.

3,000

2,521

2,500

2,123

2,000

1,500

1,228

Total remuneration (£000)

1,000

500

10G%

Minimum Maximum

On-target

Chief Executive Officer

& Fixed elements

The target scenario broadly illustrates the remuneration level

when budgeted performance is achieved. A further column

has also been included which illustrates the impact on the

figures contained in the maximum scenario of an assumed share

price appreciation for the LTIP award of 50% over the relevant
performance period. The disclosures in the chart above reflect FY

2020/271 data on the basis of the assumptions set out below.

» Fixed elements comprise current base salary, pension and cther
benefits. For example, for the Chief Executive Officer, fixed
elements comprise base salary of £530,484, pension {pension
contribution and cash in lieu) of 21,2% of base salary above the
Lower Earnings Limit and benefits equal to those received in
the 2019720 financial year;

» For minimum performance, Executive Directors receive only
the fixed elements of pay;

Maximum with
share price
appreciation

# Short-term variable element

1 A4——

1,222

15%

6% .

Maximum Maximum with
share price
appreciation

Chief Financial Officer

59%

Minimum

On-target

# | ong-term variable element

For target performance, an assumption of 55% cf bonus
pay-out and threshold vesting (25%} in respect of long-term
incentives has been applied;

For maximum performance, an assumption of maximum
bonus pay-out ang maximum vesting in respect of long-term
incentives has been applied;

Save for the "maximum with share price appreciation column”,
no share price increase has been assumed for the above and
this means that the single total figure in any year may be higher
than the maximum shown above; and

For maximum with share price growth performance, share
price appreciation of 50% over the relevant performance
period has been assumed for the LTIP awards.
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Recruitment remuneration policy

New Executive Directors will be appointed on remuneration packages
with the same structure and elements as descrnibed in the oolicy table
starting on page 121 Annual bonus and long-term incentive awards

wil: be within tae limits described in the policy table for the particular
role The hirmits for any new Zxecutive Jirector roles will be set by the
Commuttee taxing Into account the particular responsibilities of the role,
aut wll N2t xcned those thar apely o the arrenr Chisf Lo Stve Dffic e
Pension cortrioution levels will e aligned to those applizable to the
wider workforze

o evresal appointments, 2ithough we ~ave ~o plans to o=z addianal
benedts anrecruitment (and ndeed did not dz so for cur last Execunive
[arector appsodntrrienty, the Cammittae reseryes Tha rahr ro offer such
benefrs when (consizers this to be nt-e cestinterests of the Compary
and shareholders and in order to protect a new Director against additional
costs The Commitiee may agree that the Company will meet certain
relocation expenses as appropriate,

The Company may make an award to compensate a new recruit for

the value of any rermuneration relinguished when leaving a former
employzr Any such award would reflect the nature, 1mesciles ard
performance requirements attaching to that relinguished remunerasion
The Listing Rules exemption 94 2 may be used for the purpose of such
an award. Shareholders will be informed of any such payments as scon as
practicable following the appointment

For an internal aopointment, any varable pay element awarded in
respact of the prior role may be allowed to pay out according to its
rerms, adjusted as relevant to take into account the appointment. In
addition, any other ongong remunesation obligations existing prior to
appointment may continug, and will be disclesed to shareholders at the
earlest opparturity,

On the appointment of a new Chair or Non-ExeCutive Director, fees will

be sel laking into account the experience and calibre of the individual
Where speohic cash or share arrangemcents arc delivered to Non-Lxecunive
Directors, these will not include share options or other performance-
related elements

The Board's policy on setting notice periods for Directors 1s that these
should not exceed one year |t recognises, howsver, that it may be
necessary 19 the Case of new executve appontments o offer aninimal
longer notice period, which would subsequently reduce to one year after
the expiry of that period. All future appointments to the Board will comply
with this reguirement.

Termination remuneration policy

The contractual terrmination provision 1s payment in heu of notice egual
10 one year’s base salary or, if termination 1s part way through the notice
oernod, the amount of Dase salary ralating o any unexpired notice o

the date of termuination.  There 1s an obligation on Directors Lo mitigate
army loss whizh they may sutfer if the Company rerminatss their sera_e
contract the Committes will take such mitigation obligahion into
account when Jetermining the amouant and tming of any compensazion
savable to any departing Director No compensation is paid for summary
disrmissal, save for any statutory enfirlements.

The ash element of the bonus 15 not payable unless the individual
remains in employment at the payment date.

Unvested share-based awards will lapse unless the indvwdual concerned
leayes for one of a number of specifiad 7004 leaver ieasons which

are: death; injury, lliness or disability, redundancy, or retirement The
Committee retains the discretion to prevent such awards from lapsing
depending on the circumstances of the departure and the best interests
of the Company

Awards which do not lapse on cessation of employment will vest on

their cniginally anticipated vesting date with the new holding period

also continuing to apply {although the Committee retains the discretion
10 allow vesting and/or release fram the holding pericd at cessation,
depending on the circumstances under the applicable rules). These
awaras will also usually be subyect 1o 1 tme oro rating reduction to teflect
the unexpired portion of the perormance or deferral period concemed.
although the Committee witl retain the discretion to disapply this pro-
rating. Awards that are subject to performance conditions will usually only
vest 1o the extznt thas these condimions are satished

Executive Directors will also be entitled to a payment in respect of any
accrued but untaken hohday and statutory entitlernents on termination

In the event that any payment 15 made in relation to termination for an
Executive Director, this will be fully disclosed.

U lorlan Gibson the contractLal lerruration provisior s peymert In hew of notce cqual 1o one
your s tuase walay, war allovis e a3 censonallowasce sothe eviet by thesz canefits are
pachir cash

126 Ricardo plc Annual Report & Accounts 2016/20




Corporate governance
Directors’ remuneration report

Executive Directors’ service contracts
The current Executive Directors service contracts contain the key terms shown in the table below:

Provision Detailed terms

Remuneration s by s o we s
« Company Zar or cash allowanca,
Prvate heaith insurance for Jirector and deoendants
L I T L e L LA
Zermanent Aealth and disabi ity insurance,
« Dwrecor's fiability snsurance,
30 days'oaid annual leave,
« Parucipation in annual bonus plan, subject ta plan rules and at the discret.on of the Committee; and

Ehgible 1o participate v share plans, subjec to plan -ules ara &t tve discretion of the Committee

Duration L AT Eo T TR A N Ce T A R TR T R I T T R R T P P (R0 PRTE SR £ Lo P IR TR DO
beiow

Notice period » 6 months notice by the Director and 12 months notice by the Carmpany

Terminaticn payment + See separate disclosure on page 126

Restrictive covenants + Dunng employment and for 6 months after leaving

i) Lxcopt for lar Gibsor whao s rostnctod for 12 montks after lcaving

The Fxecutive Directors’ service contracts are avallable for inspection, on reguest, at the Company’s registered office,

Non-Executive Directors - fees and letters of appointment
The Committee determines the Chair's fees. The Chair and the Executive Directors determine the fees to other Non-Executive Directors.
No Director 1s present for any discussion or decision about his or her own remuneration. The feas are reviewed each January.

The Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any of the Company's employee share plans, pension schemes or bonus
arrangements, nor do they have service agreements. They are appeinted for a pernod of three years by letter of appointment and are
entitled 1o one menth’s notice of early termination for which no compensation is payable. The unexpired terms of the Non-Executive
Directors appointments, as at 30 June 2020, are:

Non-Executive Director Unexpired terms of appointment (months}
Sir Terry Morgan CBE 30
Russelt King 26
Laurie Bowen 12
Malin Parsson 8
3l spencer 34
Jack Bover 26

The Directors' Remuneration Repart, comprising the Chair's Overview and Annual Statement in Part 1, the Annual Report on
Remuneraticn in Part 2 and the Directors’ Remuneration Policy in Part 3 was approved by the Board on 9 September 2020 and signed
on its behalf by:

Russeil King
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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Directors’
report

Patricia Ryan
Group General Counsel and
Company Secretary

The Directors prasent their report and the audited
conselidated financial staterments of Ricardo ple for the year
ended 30 June 2020,

Dividends

On 6 April 2020 an interim dividend of 6.24p (HY 2018/19: 600p)
was paid to shareholders, Due to the reduced periormance
experienced by the Group in the second half of the year and,
after careful consideration, the Board have decided not to
recommend a final daidend for the year. This difficult decision
has been taken to protect the Group's inancial position. The
board recognises the importance of dividends to shareholders
and intends to resume dividend payments as scon as it is
appropriate to do so.

Acquisitions and disposals
The acquisition of PLC Consulting Pty Ltd was completed on
31 July 2019 and the entity was subsequently repamed Ricardo
Energy, Environment and Planning Pty Ltd, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Ricardo Australia Pty Ltd.
Ricardo Real Estate LLC purchased the freehold title to
the campus occupied by its feliow subsidiary, Ricarde, Inc.in
Detroit, Michigan on 21 August 2019, on which Ricardo, Inc. was
previously committed as a leasehold tenant until October 2037
Ricardo Real Estate LLC and Ricardo Inc sold the business,
assets and freehold title to the real estate of the testing business
conducted at its campus in Detroit, Michigan on 3 June 2020,
Ricardo sold the business and intellectual property rightin
Dolphin N2 Limited to FPT Industrial S.p.A. on 19 December 2019,

Events after the reporting date

On 9 September 2020, the definition of the Adjusted Leverage
covenant for the December 2020 covenant test date was
armended to be based on twe times the six months’ EBITDA
to December 2020. In addition, the June 2021 covenant was
increased to 3.75. The Interest Cover covenant remains at 4.0x,
with the December 2020 test based on two times the six
months' EBITDA to December 2020.
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Research and Development

The Group continues to devote effort and resources to the
research and develepment of new technologies. Costs of
£12.5m have been incurred, of which £8.0m has been
capitalised and £4.5m has been charged to the income
staternent during the year.

Board of Directors

The current Directors of the Company at the date of this report
appear on pages 88 and 89. Russell King and Jack Boyer OBE
were appointed to the Board on 5 September 2019, Peter
Gilchrist CB retired from the Board on 14 November 2019 and
on 12 May 2020, Mark Garrett announced his intention to resign
from the Board with effect from 31 July 2020,

Directors’ interests in shares
Directors’ interests in shares and share options are detailed on
pages 114 1o 116 of the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Directors’ indemnities

The Company has enterad into deeds of indemnity in favour
of each of its Directors, under which the Company agrees to
indemnify each Director against liabilities incurred by that
Director in respect of acts or cmissions arising in the course of
their office or otherwise by virtue of their office.

Where such deeds are for the benefit of Directors, they
are qualifying third-party indemnity provisions as defined by
section 3098 of the Companies Act 1985 or section 234 of the
Companies Act 2006, as appiicable. At the date of this report,
these indemnities are therefere in force for the benefit of all the
current Directors of the Company.

On 30 June 2014, Ricardo UK Limited and Ricardo-AEA
Limited, subsidiaries of the Group, entered into qualifying third-
party indermnity provisions as defined by section 234 of the
Companies Act 2006 in favour of their Directors, under which
each Director is indemnified against lizbilities incurred by that
Director in respect of acts or omissions arising in the course
of their office or otherwise by virtue of their office and such
provisions remain in force as at the date of this report.



Employee information

The Company provides employees with various opportunities

to obtain information on matters of concern to them and to
improve awarzness of the financial and economic factors that
affect the performance of the Company These include bi-annual
presentations to all members of staff, department and team
briefings and meetings with employee representatives that take
place throughout the year.

All companies within the Group strive to operate fairly at all
times and this includes not permitting discrimination against
any employee or applicant for employment on the basis of
race, religion cr belief, colour, gender, disability, national origin,
age, military service, veteran status, sexual orfentation or marital
status. This includes giving full and fair consideration to suitable
applications for empioyrment from disabled persons and making
appropriate accommodations so that if existing employees
become disabled they can continue 1o be employed, wherever
practicable, in the same jobs or, if this is not practicable, making
every effort to find suitable alternative employment and to
provide relevant training.

Change of control provisions

There are a number of agieements that take effect, aker or
terminate upon a change of control of the Company following

a takeover bid, such as commercial contracts, bank facility
agreements, property lease arrangements and employees’ share
plans. None of these are considered to be significant in terms of
their likely impact on the business of the Group as a whole.

Management report

The management report required by the provisions of the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules is included within the
Strategic Report and has been prepared in consultation
with management,

Share capitai

As at 19 August 2020, the Company’s share capital is divided
solely into 53,406,250 ordinary shares of 25 pence each, all of
which are fully paid. The ordinary shares are listed on the London
Stock Exchange.

All ordinary shares rank equally for alt dividends and
distributions that may be declared on such shares. At general
meetings of the Company, each member whe is present (in
person, by proxy or by representative) is entitled to one vote on
a show of hands and, on a poll, to one vote per share.

With respect to shares held on behalf of participants in the
all-employee Share Incentive Plan, the trustees are required to
vote as the participants direct them o do 5o in respect of their
plan shares. There are no restrictions on voting rights and no
securities carry special voting rights with regard to the controt of
the Company.

Awards granted under the Company's share plans are satisfied
either by shares held in the employee benefit trust or by the
issue of new shares when awards vest. The Rernuneration
Committee monitors the number of awards made under the
various share plans and their potential impact on the ralevant

Corporate governance
Directors’ report

dilution limits recommended by the investment Association.

Based on the Company’s issued share capital as at 30 June
2020, the overall dilution was 4.56% {i.e. below the 10% limit for
all plans in any rolling 10-year period) and 4.12% for discretionary
employee share plans (i.e. below the 5% limit for discretionary
employee share plans in any rolling 10-year period}.

The Company was given adthority to purchase up to 15% of
its existing ordinary share capital at the 2019 AGM. That authority
will expire at the conclusion of the 2020 AGM unless renewed.
Accordingly, a special resolution to renew the authority will be
proposed at the farthcoming AGM.

The existing authority for Directors to allot ordinary shares
will expire at the conclusion of the 2020 AGM unless renewed.
Accordingiy, an ordinary resclution to renew this authority will
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. In addition, it will be
proposed to give the Directors further authority for a period
of one year to allot ordinary shares in connection with a rights
issue in favour of crdinary shareholders. This is in accordance
with guidance issued by the Association of British Insurers. If the
Directors were t¢ use further authority in the year following the
2020 AGM, all Directors wishing to remain in office would stand
for re-election at the 2021 AGM.

Details of these resolutions are included with the Notice
of AGM.

Resolutions at the Annual General Meeting

The Company's AGM will be held on 12 November 2020. The
Notice of AGM sets out the resolutions to be considered and
approved at the meeting, together with some explanatory
notes. The rasolutions cover such routine matters as the renewal
of authority to allot shares, to disapply pre-emption rights and to
purchase own shares.

Substantial shareholdings

As at 19 August 2020, the Company has been notified of the
following material interests in the voting rights of the Company
under the provisions of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules.

% of issued
Number of share
Shareholders shares capital
Aberdeen Standard Investments
(Standard Life) 3,845,543 720
Aviva Investors 3557855 6.66
Invesco Asset Management 2.931,849 549
Impax Asset Management 2792457 523
Rayal London Asset Management 2723324 510
Canaccord Genuity Wealrh Mgt 2,700,000 506
JU Hambpro Capital Mgt 2,283 850 424

Donations

During the year the Group made various charitable donations,
which are summarised in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on page 33. The Group made no politicat
donations during the year to 30 June 2020
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Independent auditors
Follewing shareholder approval at the 2019 AGM, KPMG LLP
were appointed as independent auditors of the Group and
Company for the year ended 30 June 2020.

A resolution to re-appoint KPMG LLP as independent auditors
of the Group and Company will be proposed at the 2020 AGM.

Going concern

Having assessed the principal risks and the other matters
discussed in connection with the Viability Staternent on
pages 40 and 41, the Directors considered it appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statemnents.

Branches outside the UK

The Company has no overseas branches outside the UK. A
number of the Group's subsidiaries bave overseas branches
outside the UK, which are disclosed in their local statutory
financial statements, where required.

Additional information

Certair information that is required to be included in the

Directors’ Report can be found elsewhere in this document

as referred to below, each of which is incorporated into the

Directors’ Report by cross-reference:

+ Anindication of the likely future developments in the Group’s
business can found in the Strategic Report, on pages 9, 13, 49,
51,53,55,57 and 59;
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+ Information on greenbouse gas emissions can be found on
page 37;

= The Group's statement on corporate governance car be
found in the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 90 to
96; and

« The Group's financial nsk management objectives and policies
in relation to its use of Ainancial instruments and its exposure
to capital, liquidity, credit and market risk, to the extent they
are material, are s2t out in Note 27 to the Group finandial
statements.

The Directors' Report was approved by order of the Board on
9 September 2020 and signed cn its behalf by:

*
Wi
Patricia Ryan
Group General Counsel and Company Secretary



Statement of Directors’

responsibilities

Corporate governance

in respect of the Annual Report and the financial statements

The directors are respansible for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group and parent Campany financial stataments in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Compary law requires the directors to prepare Group and
parent Company financial starements for each inanaial year
Under that law they are requred 0 prepare the Group financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted
by the EU} and applicable law and have elected to prepare the
parent Company inancial statements in accordance with UK
accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satished that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent
Company and of thew profit or loss for that period. In preparing
each of the Group and parent Company financial statements,
the directors are required to:
= Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them

consistently;
= Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant,

reliable and prudent;
+ For the Group financial statements, state whether they have
been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;
« For the parent Company financial statements, state whether
appticable UK accounting standards have been followed,
subject 1o any material departures disciosed and explained in
the parent company financial statements,
Assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as
a geing concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern; and
» Use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either

intend to liguidate the Group or the parent Company or 1o

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directers are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the parent Company and
enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal
control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for
taking such steps as are reascnably cpen to them to safequard
the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.

Under applicabie law and regulations, the directors are also

responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report,

Directors’ Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance

Statement that complies with that law and those regulations.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and

integrity of the caorporate and fnancial infarmation included

on the company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissermination of financial statements may differ

from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement of the directors in
respect of the annual financial report
We confirm that o the best of our knowledge:

« The tinancial statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or
loss of the company and the undertakings included in the
consofidation taken as a whole; and

The strategic report includes a fair review of the development

and performance of the business and the position of the issuer
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as
awhole, together with a description of the principal risks and

uncertainties that they face.

We consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is
falr, balanced and understandable and provides the information

necessary for shareholders to assess the group’s positicn and
performance, business model and strategy.

TR~ T

Dave Shemmans
Chief Exocttive Offioer

lan Gibson
Chuef Financial Ofncey

9 September 2020
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Financial statements

Independent auditor’s report

to the members of Ricardo plc

1. Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of Ricardo Plc {(*the
Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2020 which comprise
the Consolidated income statement, Consolidated staterment

of comprehensive income, Consolidated staternent of inancial
position, Consotidated statement of changes in equity,
Consolidated cash flow statermnent, Company statement of
financial position, Company statement of changes in equity, and
the related notes, including the accounting policies in Note 1.

In our opinion:

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of
the Group's and of the parent Company's affairs as at 30 June
2020 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;

the Group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the
EUY,

the parent Company financial staterments have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and
as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006; and the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
and, as regards the Group financial staternents, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation.
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs {UK)"} and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We believe that the audit
evidence we have chtaned is a sufficient and appropriate basis
for our opinion. Qur audit opinion is consistent with our report to
the audit committee.

We were first appointed as auditor by the shareholders on 15
November 2018. The period of total uninterrupted engagement
is for the two financial years ended 30 June 2020. We have
fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and we remain
independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical
requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to
listed public interest entities. No non-audit services prehibited by
that standard were provided.

Overview

Materiality: £1.3m (2019:£1.6m)
graup financial 5.0% (2019: 4.8%) of normalised profits and
statements as a whoe losses that make up Groug proft before tax
B2% (Z0196%) of notmalised profis and losses

that make up Sroup profit before tax

Coverage

Key audit matters vs 2019

Emergence of
COVID-19

Recurring risks

New: Going Concern A

Rewenue recaqnition of fixed priced
contracts

<>

valuation of defined benefit nenson
T -
obligation
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2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements
and include the maost significant assessed risks of material misstaternent (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including thase
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resaurces in the audit; and directing the efforts of the
engagement team. We summarise below the key audit matters, in decreasing order of audit significance, in arriving at our audit opinion
above, together with our key audit procedures ta address those matters and, as required for public interest entities, our results from
those procedures, These matters were addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context of, and solely for
the purpese aof, our audit of the financial staternents as a whale, and in forming our opinion thereon, and conseguently are incidental to
that opinion, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The risk Our response

Gaing Concern Disclosure quality: Cur procedures included:
The brancal statements exolain how the . Fending assessment: Ohra nad ditect confirmation from the lender
Board has formed a judgement that itis of the committed facilities available to the Group and any related
appropriate to adopt the going concern covenants;
bhasis of preparation for the Group and

+ Historical comparisons: Assessed the directors histonical forecasting
acturacy by compar ng previnus furecasts with the actual cashflows
achieved in the respective periods;

parent Company.

That judgement is based on an

evaluation of the inherent risks to the . .
Group's and parent Compary's business  ~ Key dependency assessment: ldont fec the citical factors in

maodol and how these nsks might affect determining whether there is a risk of faiture by identifying the key
the Group’s and parent Company’s drivers behind the cashflows, oeing the uming of delivering on
financial resaurces or ahlity to contnue contracts, that are most exposed to the economic uncertainty that
operations over a period of at least a year COVID-19 presents;

from the dare of aporoval of the finarical L gengitivity analysis: Consicered sensitivities over the level of

staternents. available financial resoisrces .ndicated by the Group's financial

The nsks most lkely 1o adversely affect the forecasts taking account of reascnably possible {(but not unrealistic)
Group's and parent Company’s avaifable agverse effects that could srise from these risks nevidually and
financial resources over this pened 1s the collectively;

impact of the global pandemic caused ! . !
by?he emergegnce OFF; novel coronavirus, Challenged the directors’ assessment of forecasts with, particular focus

coVID-19, on revenue as this is considered to be the key driver in the forecasts;

The risk for our audit was whether or not  * Evaluating directors’ intent: Evaluated the achievability of the
those risks were such that they amounted actions the Directors consider they would take to improve the

1o a material uncertainty that may have position should the risks materialise;

cast sgnificant deubt about the ability » We cntically assessed the mitigating actions identified, for example
o continue as a going concern. Had they the reduction of discretionary spend and obtained an understanding
been such, then that fact would have of their potential impact on the Group should they need to be

been required to have been disclosed. implemented.

+ Assessing transparency: Assessed the completeness and accuracy
of the matters covered in the going concern disclosure by comparing
it to our knowledge obtained during the course of cur audit.

Our results

- We found the going concern disclosure without any material
uncertainty to be acceptable.
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2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement (continued)

The risk Our response

Revenue recognition on fixed
price contracts {£189.5 million;
2018: £210.7m)

Subjective estimate:

o fivert poce ¢ ontracts the Grogp
recognises the majority of revenue

and piofit or the stage of completion
based on the proportion of contract
costs incurred for the work performed
to the balance sheet date, relative to
the estimated total forecast costs of the
contract at complencn.

The highest value, highest risk, most
technically complex and finanaally
challenging contracts to deliver are
categoerised as ‘Red CAT 4' contracts,
which are subject to more frequent and
senior levels of management review

Refer to page 100 (Audit Comimittee
Report), page 148 taccounting policy)

and page 15 (nan el deciosures,

The key judgments impacting the
recagnition of revenue include:

+ Theidenufication of distinct
performance obligations.

= Assessment of stage of comgpleticn
and costs to complete

» The recognition of variations.

The maost significant csumate imnpactng
the recognition of revenue is costs to
complete.

The effect of these matters is that, as part
of our risk assessment, we determined
that amount of revenue recognised on
fived price contracis has a high aegree of
estimation uncertainty, with a potential
range of reasonable outcomes greater
than our materiality for the financial
statements as a whole, and possibly
many times that amount The Ainancal
statements (note 1c) disclose the range
estimated by the Group.

Qur procedures included:

+ Control reperformance: Qur planned procedures initially included
testing key controls aver recording work dane through timesheet
approvals and invoicing through inveice approval. Our testing cver
the [T control ervarone er tr1antified gaaknessey and 3y 4 1esult v
expanded the extent of our detailed procedures over and above that
originally planned

The following procedures reflect our expanded testing:

+ Control observation: We attended the Red CAT 4 review meetings
in Jaruary and July 2020 at which perfermance of these contracts was
discussea with the Chief finsncal 2theer and Jiv sional Managing
and Fnance Directors;

+ Test of detail: We selected a sample of costs incurred in the year and

agreed to supporting documentation which included, for example;
invoices and timesheets;

We inspected a sample of correspondence with customers and
instances where contractual variations had arisen to inform our
assessment of the revenue and costs recorded up to the balance
sheet date. We also agreed the variations to relevant invoicing
schedules and payment plans and the subsequent cash receipts,
where possible.

» Historical comparisons: We assessed the reasonableness of the
Group's forecasts by comparing with the comparative year forecasts
ard the fnancial poformance.

» Independent reperformance: We recalculated the stage of
completion on the basis of actual costs and the Group’s latest forecast
to inform our assessment of the appropriate amount of revenue and
profit 1o recognise and compared this to the amounts iecorded by
the Group.

« Assessing transparency: We considered the adequacy of the Group's
disclosures about the degree of estimates invoived In estimating the
stage of completion for determining the revenue amounts for ixed
price contracts.

Our resulits

We found revenue tocogrtion or fiked price contracts to be acceptable.
{2018: acceprable)
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2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement {continued)

The risk Our response

Group and parent Company: Subjective estimate: Our procedures included:
Valuation of defined henefit

!  O= Seerrifiear 1 esimates, inclunng the » Benchmarking assumptions: We challenged key assumptions
pension obligation Avscout rare nflar d reortality ol (e ,‘ 4 oy v ated werth o
soourtrate inflanon rate and rrortahity arphed (discount rate mih on cate dind mootality rate) wath the
(£1571m; 2019: £146.0m) rate, are made in valuing the Group's support of our own actuarial specialists, including a comparison of key
anrf carent Company's defined benet assumptions against external market dara;

obligation (before deducting the R .
Refer to page 100 (Audit Commitiee schgmes’ a(ssets), Small chan%es nthe + Assessing transparency: We considered the adeguacy of the Group

Repart), page 152 faccounting pohicy} assurmptions and estimates would have a~d Company’s disclosures it respe 1ot e sens Tvity of the deficit o
und page 183 (hpune ! disciosures) a sgritcant effect on the Group's and changes in key assumptions.
rares . Lort any's fret defi] o

Thz effect of these mattersis that, as part Qur resuits
of our risk assessment, we determined
that the valuation of the detined ben=fit
cbligation has a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, with a potential range of
reasonable outcormes greater than our
matenighty for the inangial statemerits

as a whole, and possibly many times that
arrioant [he financial starements (Note
13) disclose the sensitivity estimated by
the Group and Parent Company.

W found the vatustion of the definrg boefi: penson obl:gation to ke
acceptable. (2019 acceptable}

We continue 1o perform procedures over the impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on our audit. However,
following the business having established a clearer understanding of the risks posed and also the emergence of more severe risks such
as the COVIB-19 pandemic, we have not assessed this as one of the most significant risks in our current year audit and, therefore, it is
not separately identified in our report this year
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3. Our application of materiality and an overview of
the scope of our audit

Materiality for the group financial statements as a whole was set

at £1.3m (2019: £1.6my), determined with reference to a benchmark
of Group profit before tax, normalised to exclude exceptional
acquisition related expenditure, asset purchases and disposals and
other recrganisation costs as disclosed in note 6 and by averaging
cver the last three years due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the results of the Group, of which it represents 5.0%
(2019: 4.8%).

Materiality for the parent company financial statements as a
whole was set at £0.5m (2019:£1.5m)}, determined with reference
to a benchmark of company total assets, of which it represents
0.2% (2019: 1.5%). We agreed to report to the Audit Committee
any corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding
£007r (2019: £0.08m), in addition to other identified misstatements
that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Of the group’s 60 (2019: 63} reporting components, we subjected
10 (2019: 12) to full scope audits for group purposes and 9 (2019:

4) to specified risk- focused audit procedures. The latter were not
individually financially significant enough to require a full scope audit
for group purposes, but did present specific individual risks that
needed to be addressed. We have changed the way that we have
assessed the number of components in the current year and have
restated the prior year comparative to be aligned. We subjected 9
{2019: 4) components to specihed risk-focused audit procedures over
revenue and journal entries.

The group team performed procedures on the items excluded
from normalised group profit before tax.

The components within the scepe of aur work accounted for the
percentages illustrated opposite. The remaining 109 (2019: 18%) of
total group revenue, 17% (2019: 33%) of group profit before tax and
10% (2019: 18%) of total group assets is represented by 41 (2019: 47)
reporting components, none of which individually represented more
than 6.5% (2019: 5.5%) of any of total group revenue, group profit
before tax or total group assets. For these residual compenents,
we performed analysis at an aggregated group level 1o re-examine
ouwr assessment that there were no significant risks of material
misstatement within these.

The Group team instructed component auditors as to the
significant areas to be covered, including the relevant risks detailed
above and the information to be reported back.

The Group team approved the component materialities, which
ranged from £0.3m to £1.0m (2019: £0.5m to £1.5m}, having regard 1o
the mix cf size and risk profile of the Group across the components.
The work on 7 of the 19 components (2019: 3 of the 16 components}
was performed by component auditors and the rest, including the
audit of the parent company, was performed by the Group team.

The Group visited 0 (2019:3) component auditors in 3 (2019: 2)
kocations to assess the audit risk and strategy. No sites were visited
by the Group team in the current year due to trave! restrictions
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and instead video and telepheone
conference calls were held with all component auditors. At these
meetings, the findings reported to the Group team were discussed
in more detail, and any further work required by the Group team was
then performed by the compoenent auditor

138 Ricardo plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019/20

Normalised Group profit Group Materiality
before tax £1.3m (2019: £1.6m)
£26.6m (2019 £33.0m)

£1.3m

whole financial
statements matenality
(2019 £16m)

£1.0m

Range of materiality at 14
components (E03m-£10m)
{201%: £Q5m to £1.5m)

= Normalised Group profit £0.07m
before tax Misstatements reported 1o the
@ Group materiality audit committee (2019:
£0.08m)
Group revenue Group profit before tax

90%

{2019 82%)

Group total assets

90%

{2019 82%)

Key:

- Full scope for group audit purposes 2020
I soccified risk-focused audit procedures 2020
I " scope for group audit purposes 2019
I 5occificd risk-focused audit procedures 2019
L3

Residual components



4. We have nothing to report on going concern
The Directors have prepared the financial staternents on the
going concern basis as they do not intend 1o liquidate the
Company or the Group or to cease their operations, and as they
have concluded that the Company’s and the Group's financial
position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that
there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant
doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least
a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the
going concern period”).

Our responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of the
Directors’ conclusions and, had there been a material uncertainty
related to going concern, to make reference to that in this
audit report. However, as we cannot predict all future events or
conditions and as subsequent events may resuft in outcomes
that are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at
the time they were made, the absence of reference to a material
uncertainty in this auditor's report is not a guarantee that the
Group and the Company will continue in operation.

We identified going concern as a key audit matter (see section
2 of this report}, Based on the work described in our response to
that key audit matter, we are required 1o report 1o you if:

= we have anything material t¢ add or draw attention to

in relation to the directors’ statement in Note 1 to the
finandcial statements on the use of the going concern basis

of accounting with no material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt over the Group and Company's use of that
basis for a period of at least twelve months from the date of
approval of the financial statements; or

the related staternent under the Listing Rules set cut on page
131 is materially inconsistent with our audit knowledge.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Financial staternents
Independent auditor’s report

S. We have nothing to report on the other
information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information presented
in the Annual Report together with the financial statements.

Qur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the

other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
50, consider whether, based on our financial staternents audit work,
the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with
the financial staternents or our audit knowledge. Based solely on
that work we have not identified material misstatements in the
other information.

Strategic report and directors' report

Based solely on aur work on the other information;

« we have not identified material risstaternents in the strategic
report and the directors’ report;

= inour opinion the information given in those reports for the
financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and

= in our opinion those reparts have been prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

Disclosures of emerging and principal risks and

longer-term viability

Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial

staternents audit, we have nothing material to add or draw

attention to in relation to:

= the directors’ confirrmation within the Viability statement
page 40 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the
emerging and principat risks facing the Group, including those
that would threaten its business moedel, future performance,
solvency and liquidity;

« the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and
explaining how they are being managed and mitigated; and

= the directors’ explanation in the Viability statement of how
they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done so and why they considered that
period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether
they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be
able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall
due over the period of their assessrent, including any reiated
disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or
assumpticons.
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5. We have nothing to report on the other
information in the Annual Report (continued)

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review the Viability
staternent. We have nothing to report in this respect.

Cur workis limited to assessing these matters in the context
of only the knowledge acquired during our financial staterments
audit. As we cannot predict ali future events or conditions and as
subsequent events may result In cutcomes that are inconsistent
with judgments that were reasonable at the time they were
made, the absence of anything to report on these staternents is
not a guarantee as o the Group's and Company's longer-term
viability.

Corporate governance disclosures

We are required 1o report 10 you if;

= we have identfied material inconsistencies between the
knowledge we acquired during our financial statements
audit and the directors’ statement that they consider that the
annual report and financial staterents taken as a whole is fair,
balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and
performance, business model and strategy; or

= the section of the annual report describing the work of the
Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

We are required to report to you if the Corporate Governance
Statement does not properly disclose 2 departure from the
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified by the
Listing Rules for our review.

We have nothing to report in these respects,

6. We have nothing to report on the other
matters on which we are required to report by
exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are requiired tc report 10 you

if, in our opinion:

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

+ the parent Comnpany financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreerent with the accounting records and returns; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law
are not made; or

« we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
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7. Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 131,
the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statements including being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing
the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as 2 going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company
or to cease operations, or have no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities
Qur objectives are to obtain seasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whale are free frorm rmaterial
misstatement, whether due to fraud or other irregularities (see
beiow), or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report,
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(UK} will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstaterments can arise from fraud, other irregularities or error
and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
dedisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the
FRC's website at wwwi.frc.org.uk/auditersresponsibilities.

Irreguiarities — ability to detect

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably
be expected to have a material effect on the financial staternents
from our general commerciat and sector experience and
through discussion with the directors and other management
(s required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the
group’s regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed

with the directors and other management the policies and
procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations, We
communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our
tearmn and remained alert to any indications of nen-compliance
throughout the audit. This included communication from the
group to component audit teams of relevant laws and regulations
identified at group level.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the
financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the group is subject to laws and regulations that directly
affect the financial staterments including financial reporting
legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable
profits legistation and taxation legislation and we assessed the
extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of
our procedures an the related financial statement items.



7. Respective responsibilities (continued)

Secondly, the group is subject to many other laws and
regulations where the consequences of nen-compliance could
have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial
statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or
litigation. We identifed the following areas as those most likely to
have such an effect: health and safety, anti-bribery, employment
faw, pension regulations, requlatory capital and liquidity and
certain aspects of company legislation recognising the nature of
the group’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit
procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and
regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management
and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
These limited procedures did not identify actual or suspected
non- compliance

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an
unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material
misstaternents in the financial staternents, even though we have
properly planned and performed our auditin accordance with
auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations (irregulatities) is from the
events and transactions reflected in the financial statements,
the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by
auditing standards would identify it. In addition, as with any audit,
there remained 2 higher risk of nan-detection of irregularities,
as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls, We are
not responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot be

expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Financial statements
Independent auditor’s report

8. The purpose of our audit work and to whom
we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body,
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
to state to themn in an auditor's report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume respensibility 10 anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.

Michael Harper

{Senior Statutory Auditor)

forand on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square London E14 5GL

9 September 2020
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June

2020 2015
Specific SpET
adjusting adjusting
Underlying items™ Total Underlying iterns’ Total
Note £m £m £m tm fm Im
Revenue 5&6 352.0 - 352.0 3344 - 3844
Cost of sales (236.9) - (236.9) (249.5) - (249.5}
Gross profit 1151 - 115.1 1349 - 1349
Administrative expenses (96.4) {20.9) {117.3} (96.3) {10.5} 106 8)
Other income 1.3 - 1.3 1.0 - 10
Operating prontAloss) 4&5 20.0 (20.9) (0.9} 386 {16 5) 251
Finance inceme 10 0.4 - 0.4 05 - 05
Finance costs i0 (4.8) - {4.8) (3.1) - 3.1)
Nt fifaree costs 0 {4.8) - (4.4) (2.6 - (2.6)
Profit/{loss) before taxation 15.6 {20.9) (5.3) 370 1105} 265
Tax expense i2 {4.1) 3.0 .y 82 16 6.6)
Profit/{loss) for the year 11.5 (17.9) {6.4) 88 89) 199
Prafitsitass) atinbuatable to:
- Owners of the parent 1.4 {17.9) 6.5} 287 8.9} 19.8
- Non-contrailing interests Ell 0.1 - 0.1 01 - 0.1
115 {17.9) (6.4) 288 {8.9) 199
{Loss)/earnings per ordinary share attributable to owners of the parent during the year
Basic 8 (12.2)p 371p
Diluted 8 (12.2)p 369p

(1) Seecthc adjust ng tems are disclased separately ir the #narcal statermerts wherz st s necessary to do s 1o prowide “urher understanding of the financizt performance Further deta ls zre giver 1=
Note 3 and Nate 7

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June

2020 2019
Note £m im
{Loss)/proft for tho year {6.4) 199
Other comprehensive {expensel/income
lzems that will not be reclassificd to probt or foss,
Rermeasurernent s of the defired henefit pension scheme 33 (2.7} (79)
Deferred tax on remedsurerments of the defined benefit pension scheme 21 1.1 14
Toral rems that will not be reclassifed 1o profit or loss {1.6) (6.5)
[rams that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Currency translation on foreign currency net investments 29 0.5 1.2
Fair value gains on foresgr currency cash flow hedges 26 {0.1) 0.1
Taral tems that may be subsequertly redlassified to profit or loss 0.4 13
Total other comprehensive expense for the year (net of tax} (1.2) (5.2)
Total comprehensive {expense)/income for the year {7.6) 147
(Expense)/income attributable to:
- Owners of the parent {7.7) 146
- Non-controlling interests 31 0.1 0.1
{7.6) 14.7

The notes on pages 146 to 191 form an integral part of these Group financial statements,
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as at 30 June

Financial statements
Group primary statements

2020 2019
Note £m im
Assets
Non-current assets
Goodwill 15 87.8 84.2
Other intangible assets 6 39.9 410
Praperty, plant and equipment 17 45.4 446
Right-of-use assets 18 239 -
Other receivabies 23 3.2 -
Deferred 1ax assets 21 9.4 6.7
209.6 176.5
Current assets
Inventories 22 201 145
Trade, contract and other recervables 23 115.6 1414
Denvative finanaal assets 26 39 03
Current tax assets 57 -
Cash and cash equivalents 25 66.3 36.3
211.6 192.5
MNon-current assets held for sale 19 53 29
216.9 1954
Total assets 426.5 3719
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 25 {10.6) 4.0
Lease liabilities 18 {6.7) -
Trade, contract and other payables 24 {72.0) (84.8)
Current tax liabilities {7.5) (3.5}
Denvative finanaal fisbilities 26 (6.5) 1.2
Provisicns 20 {3.2) (2.2)
{106.5) 95.7)
Net current assets 10,4 597
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 25 {129.1) (79.7)
Lease liabilities 18 (22.6) -
Trade, contract and other payables 24 (3.6) (5.1
Retnernent benelit obligatons 33 8.7) {8.5)
Deferred tax liabilities 21 {5.6) 73
Provisions 20 {3.3) (3.7
{170.9) (104.3)
Total liabilities {277.4) (200.0)
Net assets 149.1 1719
Equity
Share capital 28 13.4 134
Share premium 28 143 143
Other reserves 29 17.4 1689
Retained earnings 30 103.5 1268
Equity attributabie to owners of the parent 148.6 1714
Non-controlling interests 31 0.5 05
Total equity 149.1 1713
The notes on pages 146 10 191 form an integral part of these Group financial statements
Approved by the Board of Ricardo plc on 9 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:
Dave Shemmans —W
Chief Executive Officer FB%/\/\/‘\ Chief Financial Officer < 4.—.______
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June

Attributable to owners of the parent

Non-
Share Share Other Retained controling Total
Note capital  premium reserves earnings Total interests equity
£m £m £m £m £M £m im
At 1 July 2018 134 143 157 1243 167.7 04 168.1
Proftfor the year - - - 198 198 ol 199
Other comprehensive incomes{expense) for
the year - - 1.2 64) (5.2) - (5.2)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 1.2 134 146 01 147
Equity-settled transactions 34 - - - 10 1.0 - 1.0
Purchases of own shares to settle awards 30 - - - {9 09 - 0.9)
Ordinary share dividends 9 - - - (11.0) [URY)] - (11.0)
At 30 June 2019 134 14.3 169 126.8 1714 05 1719
Adoption of IFRS 16 {net of tax) 2 - - - (3.7) (3.7} - 3.7)
At 1 July 2019 (adjusted) 13.4 14.3 16.9 1231 1627 0.5 168.2
Loss for the year - - - {6.5) (6.5} [+ Al (6.4}
Other comprehensive incomedexpense) for
the year - - 0.5 (1.7) (1.2) - {1.2)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the
year - - 0.5 (8.2) (2.7) 0.1 {7.6}
Equity-settied transactions 34 - - - 0.6 0.6 - 0.6
Purchases of own shares to settle awards 30 . - - {0.5) (0.5} - 0.5)
Ordinary share dividends 9 - - - (11.5) (1.5) {0.1} {11.6)
At 30 June 202¢ 13.4 14.3 17.4 103.5 148.6 0.5 149.1

The notes on pages 146 to 191 form an integral part of these Group financial staterments
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June

2020 2019

Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
{Losui/pro=t before 1ax {5.3) 265
Adiustments for:
Share-hased payrments 34 0.6 10
Fair value louses/ aans) on doerratiaz Ainanc atnstrame ars 26 03 0.8)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4 (1.0} 0.7)
MNet inance caats o 4.4 26
Deprecianon, amortisation and impairment 16,17& 18 303 154
Operating cash flows before movemaents insworang < apial 29.3 440
Increase in inventories (5.6 (1.2}
Decrease/(increase) in trade, contract and other receivables 254 (5.2)
Decrease in trade, contract and other payables {12.3} (1.0
Increase In provisions 1.0 0.2
Defined benefit persion schame payments in excess of past service costs 33 (4.6) 4.3)
Cash generated from operations 33.2 324
Net finarice costs 4.2) 2.3)
Income tax paid {5.3) (49)
Net cash generated from operating activities 3.7 252
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 4 4.3) (18.9)
Purchases of property, plart and equipment 7 (22.0) (7.6}
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2.8 07
Purchases of intangible assets and capitalised development costs 6 9.2) 9.1)
Net cash used in investing activities (32.7) (349
Cash flows from financing activities
Purchases of own shares to settle awards (0.6) 09)
Principal element of lease payments (5.6) -
Principal element of lease receivables 0.2 -
Proceeds from borrowings 25 140.3 64.7
Repayment of borrowings 25 (90.7) (34.8)
Dividends paid to shareholders 9 {11.6) (1.0
Net Cash generated from finanang activities 32.0 180
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash egunalents 0.4 03
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 25 234 86
Net cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 324 238
Net cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 55.8 324
At 1 July
Cash and cash equivalents 36.3 331
Bank overdrafts (3.9} (9.3}
Net cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 324 238
At 30 June
Cash and cash equivalents 25 66.3 363
Bank overdrafts 25 {10.5) 39)
Net cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 55.8 324

The nctes on pages 146 to 191 form an integral part of these Group financial statements,
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Notes to the Group financial statements

1. Principal accounting policies

This section describes the critical accounting judgements and estimates that management has identified

as having a potentially material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements and sets out our
significant accounting policies. Where an accounting policy is generally applicable to a specific note to

the financial statements, the policy is cross referenced. We have also detailed below the new accounting
pronouncements that we will adopt in future years and our current view of the impact they will have on our

finandial reporting.

Ricardo pic, a public company Imited by shares, is listed on the London
Stock Exchange and incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom.
The address of its regustered office 1s Shoreham Techrical Centre,
Shoreharm-by-5ea, West Sussex, BN43 5FG, Engtand, United Kingdom, and
its registered number is 222915,

a) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the Ricardo plc Group
{‘Group’) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (1FRS) as adopted by the European Unicn (EUY), IFRS
interpretations Committee (1FRS IC') interpretations adopted by the EU
and the Companies Act 2006 applicable te companies reperting under
IFRS. The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
hasis under the histonical cost convention, as modified by financial assets
and financial labilites which are measured at fair value through profit

or loss. Derivative instruments are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income for the effective element of the hedge, with the
ineffective element being charged to the profit or loss.

The principal accounting policies appiied in the preparation of these
financial statements have been consistently applied to the years ended

30 June 2019 and 30 June 2020, except for the Group's accounting policy
for feases as disclosed in Note i{n). Under the transition method chosen,
comparative information has not been restated for IFRS 16 Legses, which
was adopted as at 1 July 2019. Comparative Information complies with the
Group's accounting policy for leases under IAS 17 Leases, the changes from
which are also disclosed in Note 1(n).

In the context of the current COVID-19 outbreak, the Board of Ricardo plc
has undertaken an assessment of the ability of the Group and Company
to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over

the period of its assessment. In doing so, the Board considered events
throughout the period of their assessment, including the availability

and maturity profile of the Group's financing facilities and covenant
compliance These Ainancial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis which the directors consider appropriate for the reasons set
out below.

The Group funds its operations through cash generated by the Group and
has access to a £200m Revolving Credit Facility ("‘RCF") which is linked to
two covenants. These covenants are tested at 30 June and 31 December
each year until the debt matures in July 2023

On 5 May 2020 the Group exercised £50m of the accordion opticn of

its banking facilities, thereby increasing the Revolving Credit Facility

to £200m. At the same tire, the Directors successfully negetiated a
relaxation of one of the related covenants, the Adjusted Leverage (defined
as net debt over underlying EBITDA), by increasing the threshold from 3.0x
to 3.75x for the next test date, being 31 December 2020. On 9 September
2020 this covenant was further relaxed as the calculation was amended to
be based on two times the six- month EBITDA to December 202C. It was
also agreed that the June 2021 covenant would be relaxed to 3.75x. The
other inancial covenant linked to the Revalving Credit Facility 1s Interest
Cover which remains at 4.0x for each test date.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the armount of

RCF undrawn and available to the Group was ¢.£70m with total borrowing,

including cverdrafts, of ¢.£137m and cash and cash equivalents of . £58m.

The Directors have prepared a cash flow forecast which covers the period
from the date of approval of these financial statements to June 2022. In
this forecast, the directors have considered the impact of the COVID-19
outbreak on the Group's results, operations and inancial position in a
severe but plausible downside scenario, which included the following key
assumptions:
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» Rewvenue continues at H2 FY 2019720 COVID-19 impacted run-rates
for the whole of the FY 2020/21 to model the expected prolonged
economic downturn due te the COVID-19 pandemic, Relative 1o actual
results reported for the FY 2019/20, the downside scenario assumes a
15% reduction in annual A& revenue and a 20% reduction in annual
Performance Praducts revenue. Specific sensitivities have alsc been
applied to model the potential impact of a delfay in delivering on key
contracts and fower contract velumes in segments including Defense,
Rail, and RSC & Software, Given the current market and pipeline of
opportunities secured, no sensitivities have been applied to the Energy
& Environment revenue, Revenue for the year ended 30 June 2022 is
projected to increase by 9% on the sensitised June 2021 levels, which
is largely driven by increased volumes in Defense and Performance
Products.

= Anincrease in the Group’s working capital days cof ten, to model the
potential impact of a continuation of the slow-down in project delivery,
combined with delayed receipts from customers.

» The non-payment of the FY 2019720 final dindend in November 2020

The modelled scenario incarporates mitigating actions which are within
the control of the Group, such as the non-payment of discretionary
bonuses, discretionary cost saving measures (including travel and
professional fees), a temporary freeze on recruitment, and a reduction in
non-essential capital expenditure.

Although headrcom under the Group’s banking covenants is reduced
under this downside scenario, the group and company is expected to
operate within its committed facilities and covenant requirements during
the forecast period.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the Group and company
will have suflicient funds to continue Lo meet 1£s lisbilues as they tall due
for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financal
staternents and therefore have prepared the financial statements on a
going concern basis.

b) Basis of consolidation

The financial statements of the Group consolidate the results of the
Company and its subsidiary entities, and include its share of its joint
ventures' results accounted for under the equity method. Subsidiaries are
all entities {including structured entities) over which the Group has contrel.
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
1o affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries

are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to

the Group and are deconsclidated from the date that control ceases.
Intercompany transactions and baiances are eliminated on consolidation.

The Group applies the acquisition method of accounting for business
combinations. The consideration translerred lor an acquisition is the fair
value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting

from a contingent consideration arrangement. Changes in fair value of
contingent cansideration are included within spedific adiusting items.
Contingent consideration dependent upon the employment or retention
of specific individuals is expensed over the specified period and included
within specific adjusting items, Identifiable assets acquired, together with
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-
related expenditure is expensed as incurred and recognised within specific
adjusting items.



1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

<) Management judgements and key accounting
estimates

The preparation of financial statements under IFRS requires the Group's
managernent to make judgements and estimates that affect the
appiication of accounting pelicies and the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and costs. These judgements and estimates are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, inciuding expectations of future events that are believed tc be
reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the Directors
have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect an the amounts recognised in the
financial staterments:

Specific adjusting items: Reorganisation cosis — Note 3 and Noie 7

Reorganisation costs relate to non-recurring expenditure incurred as

part of fundamental restructuring activities, significant impairments of
property, plant and equipment, and other items deemed to be one-off

in nature. These casts are presented within specific adjusting items in

the income statement The classification and presentation of these items
require significant judgement to determine the nature and intention of the
transaction. Details of the Group's atternative performance measures and
specific adjusting items are induded in Note 3 and Note 7.

Carrying value of Goodwill: CGUs - Note 15

Significant judgement is applied in order to allocate goodwill to cash-
generating units ('CGU's), or a group of CGUs, as a change in the allocation
of goodwill would impact the result of the impairment review, As set out
in Note 1(k). for the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allecated to each of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs,
that s cxpected to benefit from that business combination, at the lowest
level at which goadwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
The Rail segment comprises several CGUs which have been grouped for
impairment testing purposes as they are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the relevant combinations,

Recoverabilitv of capitalised development costs — Note 16

Judgement is required as ic when development costs meert the criteria
to be recognised as intangible assers. The majority of capitalised
development costs relate to the development of software, products and
other technology, tools and processes. These costs are recognised as

an asset once it has been determined that the attributable expenditure
can be measured reliably, that there is an intention and the necessary
resources to comglete development and that it is considered probable
that the resulting asset will generate future economic benefits for the
Group. Determining whether it is probable that the resulting asset will
generate sufficent economic benefits in the future requires management
judgement,

Impairment of inancial assets - Note 23

Management has applied judgement to rebut the presumption of IFRS

9 Financial Instruments that default does not occur fater than a financial
asset is 90 days past due. This is based upon the Group’s customer profile
and limited experience of bad debts, which demonstrates that although
debts can become significantly overdue, they are rarely irrecoverable.
The default rate used for each overdue period is reassessed annually and
1s based upon the Group's historic ageing profile, adjusted for forward
looking information.

Financial statements
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimates and underlying assumpticns are reviewed on an ongoing

basis. Revisions 1o accounting estimates are reccgnised in the period in
which the estimate is revised If the rewision affects only that penod, or in
the periad of the revision and future periads if the revision affects both
current and future periods. The areas involwing significant risk of a maternal
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are as follows.

Revenue recogrition on hxed price corracts - Nute 6

The majority of the Group's revenue in is earned from contracts for the
provision of consultancy services that are typically awarded on a fixed
price basis. A small number of similar contracts are alsc entered into by
Performance Praducts to design and set up production lines and supply
chains, Services provided under a fixed price contract generally have

a single distinct performance obiigation, or a single distinct series of
performance obligations, which is satished over time. For each distinct
performance obligation recognised over time, revenue is recoegnised using
an input method, based on total costs incurred to date as a percentage of
total estimated costs to satisfy each performance obligation.

The dentification of and separate accounting for distinct performance
obligations within the context of a contract is considered to be a critical
Jjudgement. Fixed price contracts often have multiple performance
obligations that are indistinct from cne another within the context of

the contract. This 15 due to a hormogenecus pattern of transfer of control
10 the customer who Is unable 1o benefit from the performance of less
than all of the promises set out in the contract. This is particularly the case
where any intellectual property created is stipulated as not being owned
by the customer until the full transaction price has been paid.

The percentage of completion basis of revenue recognition is determined
as actual costs incurred as a proportion of total forecast contract costs 1o
complete. This method places importance on the accuracy of uncertain
estimates, including total costs to complete, the cutcome of contract

and technical risks, as well as the extent to which variation requests

are recognised for proposed changes to the agreed schedule, price or
scope of a contract under negotiation with a customer at the reporting
date. Changes in these estimates may impact revenue recognised at

the reporting date with the revenue recognition in the reporting period
appropriately adjusted as required.

The actual outcome of wholly or partially unsatisfied performance
obligations may differ to the esumate made at a reporung date and (s
reasonably possible that outcomes on these contracts within the next
reporting petiod could differ, adversely or favourabty, in aggregate to
those estimated. It is not possible to fully quantify the expected impact
of this, but the estimated costs to complete reflect management's best
estimate at that point in time and no individual estimate is expected to
have a materially aifferent outcome.

As set out further on pages 38 and 100, management undertakes a
process to assess the risks on inception of all fixed price contracts, then
monitors and reviews the risks and performance of contracts as they
progress to completion. The highest value, highest risk, most technically
complex and finandially challenging contracts to deliver, as measured
against a number of quantitative and qualitative factors, are categorised as
‘Red Category 4 contracts, which are subject to more frequent and senior
levels of management review.

As at 30 June 2020, the number of live contracts within the portfalio
was in excess of 2,400 {2019 3,000}, with a total value in excess of £750m
(2019: £700m). Of this portfolic of contracts, 6 contracts (2019: 7) were
categorised as Red Category 4. At 30 June 2020, £7.8m {2019 £3.9m) of
revenue had been recognised in respect of work performed on these
contracts which was under negotiation with the customer. Management
has made a specific judgement gver the ability to recover each of the
amounts under negotiaticn and has recognised provisions of £2.9m
(2019: £1.7m} against this revenue, resulting in a net exposure of £4.9m
(2019: £2.2m). The possble financial outcomes from these negotiations
range from an upside of £2.9m, if management recovers the full £7.8m
of revenue, to a downside of £4.9m, if management is unsuccessful in
recovering any of the £7.8m.
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1. Principal accounting policies {continued)

c) Management judgements and key accounting
estimates {continued)

Acquisition accounting - Note 14(b)

The fair value of contingent consideration payable for post-acquisition
financial performance of acquired busincsses against agreed targets
during ar earn-out period, as defined by a sale and purchase agreemert,
requires judgement and is based on a probability-weighted and
discounted assessment as at the acquisition date and recognised at the
reporting date as goodwill. The difference between goodwilt recognised
and earn-out payments made, together with any arrangement that is
whoily or partially contingent on the continuing employment of specific
individuals, 1s charged to the income statement as a speafic adjusting itern
asincurred on a pro rata basis, as set out in Note 7 The use of different
assumptions could change the fair value of contingent consideration
recognised as goodwill and the amounts chargeable to the income
statement. Any changes in fair value are recognised wathin specific
adjusting iterns.

Other intangible assets include acquired intangible assets which primarily
relate to customer contracts and refationships arising from business
combinaticns. The significance of these assets relative to the Group's
fingncial position reguires aritical judgements 10 be exercised in their
dentification, initial recogrition and subsequent measurement, The
identification of these assets separable from goodwill and their expected
useful lives are considered as part of pre-acquisition due diligence
processes and post-acquisition activities carried out with management

of acquired businesses, The fair value of identified acquired intangible
assets is determined through the use of appropriate valuation techniques,
inctuding the excess earnings method, for which an expectation of
discounted future cash flows is desived from a combination of due
diligence reports and post-acguisition management forecasts and
business plans, together with other readily avallable sources of financial
information. The subsequent amortisation of acquired intangible assets is
charged to the incorne staternent as a spedfic adjusting item, ds set out in
Note 7 The use of different assurnptions could change the fair value used
in the initial recognition of acguired intangible assets and the amounts
chargeable to the income statement within specific adjusting items.

The fair value of contingent consideration in relation to the acquisition of
Transport Engineering (see Note 14b)) is dependent on the performance
of the acquired business compared to agreed targets, if the business
does not achieve these agreed targets the impact on the future periods
would be a reversal of an expense of £2.7m. If the business does achieve
these targets the impact on the future periods would be an additiona!
expense of £1.2m. These adjustments would be recognised in the income
statement within specific adjusting items.

Carrying value of Goodwill - Note 15

In performing the impairment assessment of the carrying amount of
goodwill, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, to
which goodwill has been allocated are determined using value-in-use
('VIUY calculations (see Note 1(k)).

The recoverable amount of each CGU, or group of CGUs, is calculated by
assessing its value in use, which is determined by performing discounted
future pre-tax cash flow calculations for a three-year period and projected
into perpetuity. Significant judgements are used to estimate the gperating
profit, cash-conversion rate, growth rates and pre-tax discount rates
applied in computing the recoverable amounts of different CGUs, or
groups ¢f CGUs. The sensitivity of estimates used 10 calculate the value-in-
use of each CGU, or group of TGS, are discussed in Note 15,

Defined benefit obligation —Note 33

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme that provides
benefits to a number of current and former employees. This scheme

is closed 1o new entrants and the accrual of future benefits for active
members ceased at the end of February 2010 The value of the deficitis
particularly sensitive to the market value of the discount rates and actuarial
assurnpuons related to mortality. The sensitivity of the defined benefit
obligation to changes in the principal assumptions is set out in Note 33,
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d) Research and development expenditure — Note 4

Research and development expenditure is recognised as an administrative
expense In the income statement in the year in which itis incurred. Where
the activity is performed for customers the cost is recognised as a cost of
sale Directly attributable developrment expenditure that meets the criteria
for recognition as an intangible asset is described in Note 16,

e) Government grants — Note 4

The Group receives income-related grants from varicus national and
supranational government agencies, principally for credits in respect of
qualifying research and development expenditure, together with funding
of research and development and capital projects. The Group also receives
employment-related grants. A grant is recognised in the income statement
when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with its
conditions and that the grant will be received. Grants are presented in the
income staternent as a deduction from the related expenses.

Grants contributing to the cost of an asset are deducted frem the cost of
the asset and refiected in depreciation throughout its useful Iife.

Grants are not normally received until after qualification conditions have
been met and the related expenditure has been incurred. Where this

is not the case, they are recorded within trade, contract and other
payables either as payments received in advance on contracts or as
deferred revenue.

f} Revenue - Note 6
Principle approach

The Group principaily earns revenue through the provision of consuitancy
services and bespoke products and recognises revenue based on the
satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with its customers.
The core principle is that revenue Ts recognised in a manner that depicts
the transfer of promised goods and services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods and services.

A contract with a customer is considered to exist when the Group is in
possession of documentation to provide an agreed scope of goods or
services on mutually understood terms and conditions that are acceptable
o the Group which, subject to the successful execution of the contract,
is expected (o be invoiced against and paid for by the customer. Each
contract with a customer is assessed to identify the promises to transfer
distinct goeds or services, or a series of distinct goods or services, that
are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer. Goods and services are distinct and accounted for as separate
performance obligations if they are separately identifiable in the contract
and if the customer ¢an benefit from them, either on their own or
together with cther readily available resources.

The total transaction price for a contract is estimated as the amount of
consideration 1o which the Group expects 1o be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised goods or services to the customer, excluding
sales taxes, Where muitiple distinct performance obligations are identified
within a contract with a customer, the total transaction price is allocated
to each of the distinct performance obligations in propertion to their
relative stand-alone selling prices. Given the bespoke nature of many of
the Group's products and services, which are designed or manufactured
under contract to the customer's individual scope and specifications, there
are typically no cbservable stand-alone selling prices. Instead, stand-
alone selling prices are typically estimated based on expected costs plus
contract margin.

Costs of fulfilling performance obligations on existing contracts with
customers are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in advance of
obtaining a new contract or an anticipated contract that directly relate to
the fulfbment of specific performance obligations are initially recognised
as an asset and subsequently expensed once the new contract is obtained
or obtaining the contract is no longer anticipated. Incremental costs
incurred to obtain new contracts with customers are recegnised as an
asset and amortised consistently with the recognition of revenue over
the contract term, providing: the contract term is greater than one year;
the costs are only incurred as a direct result of the new contract being
obtained; and the costs do not directly relate to the fulfilment of specific
performance obligations. Costs incurred to obtain new contracts with



1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

f) Revenue ~ Note 6 (continued)
Principle approach (continued)

customers are expensed when those costs are incurred irrespective of
whether a contract is obtained from a customer.

Revenue is recogrised as distinct perfarmance obligations are satishied,
and as control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer,

For each distinct perfermance obligation within a contract, the Group
determines whether they are satisiied over tirne or at 2 point In time
Performance obligations are considered to be satished over uime if the
goods or services provided have no alternative use to the Group and there
is an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date, or
the customer simultanecusly receives and consumes the goods or services
as the Group provides them.

Services provided under fixed price contracts

The majority of the Group's revenue is earned from contracts for the
provision of consultancy services that are typically awarded on a fixed
price basis. A small number of similar contracts are also awarded to
Perfermance Products to design and set up production lines and supply
chains, Services provided under a fixed price contract generally have

a single distinct performance obligation, or a single distinct series of
performance obligaticns, which is satisfiad over time. For each distinct
performance obligation recognised cver time, revenue is recognised using
an input method, based on total costs incurred to date as a percentage of
total estimated costs to satisfy each performance obligation.

Revenue and attributable margin are calculated by reference to reliable
estimates of transaction price and total expected costs, after making
suitable allowances for technical and other risks. Revenue and associated
margin are therefore recognised progressively as costs are incurred, and
estimated costs to complete are updated regularly as anticipated risks are
mitigated or unanticipated risks materiatise. The Group has determined
that this method faithfully depicts the Group's perfermance in transferring
control of the services to the customer,

The transaction price generally dees net include consideration resulting
from contract modifications of distinct performance obligations, such

as variation orders, until they have been approved by the customer
Variabie consideration, such as for the achievernent of performance
targets or variation requests under negotiation with the customer at the
reporting date, can be included in the transaction price together with the
estimated costs to perform the associated obligations. These estimates
of the expected value or most likely amount are recognised to the extent
that it s highly probable that there will not be a significant reversal in the
ameunt of cumulative revenue recognised in a future reporting period.

Changes in transaction price from contract modifications that do nor
create separate distinct performance obligations are added tc the
transaction price of pre-existing performance obligations te which the
maodification relates. Contract madifications for goods or services that

do create separate distingt performance obligations are accounted for
separately from pre-existing performance obligations, together with the
expected costs to satisfy those separate distinct performance obligations.

Contract assets arising from the recognition of revenue as and when
performance cbligations are satistied are initially recogrised as accrued
revenue or amounts recoverable on contracts (AROC) within trade,
contract and other receivables, ang transferred 1o trade receivables when
invoiced. Contract liabilities arising from amounts received from customers
for services not yet performed are initially recognised as deferred revenue
or payments received in advance on contracts (POA) within trade,
contract and other payables, and transferred to revenue as and when
performance obligations are satished.

A loss on a distinct performance abligation is recognised immediately
when it becomes probable that the total estimated directly attributable
costs to satisfy the distinct performance obligation wil! exceed the
transaction price allocated to that distinct performance obligation.
Monthly reviews of contracts by local management, in conjunction with
reviews by senior management of contracts deemed to be of higher risk,
ensure that the Group identities and immediately recognises expected
losses on fixed price performance obligations within a contract.

Financial staterents
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Services provided under time and materials contracts

Certain contracts for the provision of consultancy services may be
awarded on a time and materials basis. Services provided under a time
and materials basis typically have a single distinct performance obligation
to provide a variable amount of labour to the customer at an agreed set
of time-based labour rates, which represents the sales value. Revenue is
therefore recognised over time based upon the agreed sales value of the
time worked and costs incurred 1o date, as the customer simultanecusly
receives and consumes these services as the Group provides them,

Services provided under subscription and software support
contracts

Other contracts primarily relate to annual subscriptions by customers to
emergency response and support services for chemical incidents and crisis
management. Subscription services are considered to be a single distinct
performance obligation for which revenue is recognised at the agreed
transaction price on a straight-line basis over the penod of subscription,

Software maintenance and support services revenue 1s recognised
separately from the supply of software products on a straight-line basis
over the period of maintenance and support. Revenue derived from

the supply of ad hoc software-related services, such as training and
application engineering, 1s recognised at the agreed transaction price on a
straight-line basis over a typically short period during which the obligation
is performed.

Supply of manufactured or assembled products

The majority of the Group's revenue in Performance Products and
Defense is earned from the supply of manufactured or assembled high-
performance products, some of which are supplied with assurance-type
warranties. Revenue for the supply of these products is measured at the
agreed transaction price per unit that is expected to flow to the Group,
and is recognised at the peint in time that the Group has transferred
control of the products to the customer, which is typically on delivery or
collection. The point in time at which revenue is recognised can

vary based on the specific intercompany terms present in a contract with
a customer,

Revenue recognised from bili-and-hold arrangements occurs when all
performance obligations have been satished and there is a substantive
reason for the arrangerment, which is typically that the customer has
requested the products to be held by the Group untii such times as
delivery or collection is required by the customer, Revenue is recognised
and billed under usual payment terms when the customer formally agrees
to accept contrel of the bespoke products which cannot be sold to
another custormner and provided that the products have been separately
identified and made available for delivery or collection.

Supply of software products

The Group's software products are standard version-controiled computer
aided design, engineering and analysis tocls, available for general sale and
are primarily scld threugh Performance Products. The majority of revenue
is derived from new and renewed licences of these software products,

for which the customer has the right to access the product duning the
licence periad, including rolling releases of the latest functicnality. A new
or renewed licence is considered to be a single distinct performance
obligation for which revenue is recognised at the agreed transaction price
on a straight-line basis over the licence period.

Perpetual licence sales provide the customer with an indefinite right to use
the product, excluding rolting releases of the latest functionality. Relling
releases are provided through the separate provision of maintenance and
support services. The transaction price of these two distinct performance
obligations are separately identifiable within a contract. Revenue is
recognised for perpetual licence sales when the perfermance cbligation is
satisfied, being the pomt of delivery of the licence key to the customer.
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1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

g) Specific adjusting items - Note 7

Spedific adjusting itermns are disclosed separately in the financial
statements where 1t is necessary to do 50 to provide further understanding
of the financial performance of the Group. These items comgprise the
amortisation of acquired intangible assets, acquisition-related expenditure,
recrganisation costs and other non-recurrning items that are included

due to the sigrihcance of their nalure or amount. Acquisition-related
expenditure includes the costs of acquisitions, deferred and contingent
consideration fair value adjustments {including the unwinding of discount
factors), transaction-related fees and expenses, and post-deal integration
costs. Reorganisation costs include costs arising from major restructuring
activities, profits o1 losses on the disposal of businesses, and significant
impairments of property, plant and equipment.

h} Dividends — Note 9

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the year in which they are fully
autherised. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.

i) Net finance costs - Note 10

Finance income and finance costs are recognised in the income statement
in the period in which they arc incurred using the offective interest
method.

j) Income tax expense - Note 12

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is
recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The
current tax charge is the expected tax payable on taxable income for the
year, calculated using the average rate applicable for the year on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date

in the countries where the Group operates. The current tax charge also
includes any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

The Group submits annual claims in respect of the UK Government’s
Research and Development Expenditure Credit (RDEC") scheme. RDEC is
taxable income and is a form of government gramt that effectively gives
corporation tax relief on qualifying research and development (R&D’)
expenditure, In accordance with IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants
and Disclosure of Government Assistance, credits receivable under the
ROEC scheme are offset against the associated qualifying R&D expenditure
incurred, both of which are included within operating profic.

The Group have provided for uncertain positions taken in the tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation Is subject to
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the relevant tax authorities, IFRIC 23
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments, which provides further guidance
on the measurement and provision of uncertain tax positions, became
cffective for the group from 1 January 2019, IFRIC 23 has been applied
retrospectively, although the adoption has not had a transitional impact
on reserves as the measurement of the uncertain tax provision included
in the prior year accounts is not deemed to be matenally different under
IFRIC 23,

Uncertain tax positions relate primarily to risks around transfer pricing
and on-going tax audits. The Group's provision is based on experience of
dealing with Tax Authorities in certain jurisdictions in which it operates
and an estimate of the most likely outcomes in each territory.

k} Goodwill - Note 15

Goodwill arises on the acguisition of subsidiaries and represents the
excess of the consideration transferred and the fair value of contingent
consideration, over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. Goodwil: arising on acquisitions denominated in
foreign currencies is retranslated using exchange rates prevailing at each
reporting date.
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Goodwill is recognised as an asset and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment |osses. It is not subject to amortisation, but is reviewed

for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in 2 business combination is
allocated to each of the CGUs, or group of CGUs, that is expected to
penefit from that business combination. Each LGU, ar group of Cals, to
which goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level at which goodwill
is monitored for internal management purpcses and is not larger than an
operating segment before aggregation.

The Group’s impairment review compares the carrying value of the
goodwill te the recoverable amount of the CGU, or group of CGUs, 1o
which the goodwill has been allocated. The recoverable amount is the
higher of the value in use or the fair value less costs of disposal. Estimating
the value in use requires the Directors to perform an assessment of the
discourted future cash flows that the CGU, or group of CGls, is able 1o
generate. See Note 1 {c) for discussion of the critical estimates involved in
this assessment.

Animpairment is deermed to have occurred where the recoverable
amount of a CGU, or group of CGUs, is less than the carrying value of the
allocated goodwill. Any impairment is recognised immediately in the
income statement within specific adjusting iterns and is not subsequently
reversed. On disposal of an operation, the attributable amount of
goodwilt is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal.

1) Other intangible assets — see Note 16

Acquired intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets that are either separable or arising from
contractual rights are recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition,
and subsequently at amortised cost. Such intangible assets include
customer contracts and refationships, together with acquired software
and technology. The fair value of acquired intangible assets is determined
by use of appropriate valuation technigues,

Software

Purchased software is capitalised on the basis of the purchase price of
the software product plus any external and internal costs subsequently
incurred that are directly attributable to bring the software product to
the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended.

Development costs

Directly attributable costs which are incurred in the development of
certain assets are capitalised and amortised over their finite useful

lives once the Group has determined that it has the intention and the
necessary rescurces to complete the relevant project, that it is probable
the resulting asset will generate economic benefits for the Greup and the
attributable expenditure can be refiably measured.

Amortisation

Amortisation Is typically catculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of intangible assets over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

= Acquisition-related intangible assets:

- Customer contracts and relationships  Between 3 and 9 years

- Software and technology Between 5 and 7 years

= Software Between 2 and 10 years

= Development costs Between 3 and 5 years

For certain assets classified as development costs in the Group's Defense
operating segment, amortisation is charged on a units of production
basis, as this is considered 10 more accurately reflect the expected pattern
of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the assets,
Assets under constructicn are carried at cost less any impairment in value,
and are included in the relevant asset category. Amortisation of these
assets commences when they are available for their intended use or sale.



1. Principal accounting policies (continued)

m} Property, plant and equipment - see Note 17

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation,
The gross cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase
price and any costs directly attributable to bring the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it 1o be capable of operating in the manner
intended.

Depreciation is typically calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less any
resicdual value, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

+ Freehold land Not depreciated

+ Freehold buildings including

improvements Between 25 and 50 years

* Leasehcid property improvernents Qver the term of the lease

» Plant and machinery Between 4 and 25 years

» Fixtures, ittings and equipment Between 2 and 10 years

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting penod. For certain assets classifi-
ed as plant and machinery in the Group's Defense operating segment,
depreciation is charged on a units of production basis, as this is considered
to more accurately reflect the expected pattern of consumption of the
futurc cconomic benefits embodied in the assets.

Assets under construction are carried at cost fess any impairment in value,
and are included in the reievant asset category. Depreciation of these
assels commences when they are available for their intended use or sale.

Government Grants

Grants contributing to the cost of an asset are deducted from the cost of
the asser and reflected in its depreciation throughout its useful e,

n) Leases - see Note 18

The Group’s accounting policy for leases under |AS 17 Leases was disclosed
in Note 1{j) to the financial staternents in the Annual Report & Accounts
2018/19.

The Group's policy for leases as of 1 July 2016 under IFRS 16 Leases, is as
follows:

Definition of alease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
aright to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Lessee accounting

At the lease commencement date, a right-cf-use asset is recognised for
the leased item with a corresponding lease liability for any payments due.
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, being the present value
of the lease payments paid or payable {net of any incentives received frem
the lessor), plus any initial direct costs and/or restoration Costs.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis from the
commencement date of the lease to the earlier of the end of the asset’s
useful life or the end of the lease term. The lease term is the non-
cancellable period of the tease plus any periods for which the Group is
‘reasonably certain’ to exercise any extensicn options. If right-of-use assets
are considered to be impaired, the carrying value is reduced accordingly.

For assets where the lessor transfers ownership of the underlying asset
to the Group by the end of the lease term, or where the lease contains
a purchase option at a nominal/nctional value, then these assets wiil be
initially classificd as property, plant and equipment, and subsequently
follow the depreciation rules set out in Note 1{mj) to the financial
staternents in the Annual Report & Accounts 2018/19),

The lease liability is initially measured at the value of future lease
payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. Where
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this rate is not determinable, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate is
used, which is then adjusted toreflect an estimate of the interest rate the
Group would have to pay to borrow the amount necessary to cbtain an
asset of similar value, in a similar econoemic environment, and with simitar
terms and cenditions.

After initial recognition, the lease hiability is recorded at amortised cost
using the effective intorest method, itis remeasured when there s a
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate
(e.d. an inflanon related iIncrease) or if the Group's dssessment of the jease
term changes. Any change in the lease liability as a result of these changes
alsoresults in a carresponding change in the recorded right-of-use asset.

Payments in respect of short-term and/or low-value leases continue to
be charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
lease term,

Lessor accounting

The Group determines at inception of the lease whether the lease is a
finance or an operating {ease. When a lease transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee then
the lease is classified as & finance lease; otherwise, the lease is classified as
an operating lease. Where the Group is an intermediate lessor, the interest
in the head |ease and the sub-lease is accounted for separately and the
lease classification of a sub-lease {finance or operating) is determined by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset. This is the only substantive change for
lessor accounting from IAS 17 to iFRS 16.

This resulted in one significant operating lease being reclassified as a
finance lease. This is presented in other recevables and measured at fair
value on transition to IFRS 16. The other sub-leased assets are all dlassified
as operating leases, where payments received (net of any incentives
granted by the Group} are recognised in the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

o) Non-current assets classified as held for sale - see
Note 19

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction, rather
than through continuing use, and & sale is considered highly probable
within twelve months of their classification as held for sale. They are stated
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. An
impalrment loss is recognised in the income statement for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the assets 1o fair value less costs to sell. A gain
is recognised in the income statement for any subsequent increases in

fair value less costs to sell an asset, but not in excess of any cumulative
impairment lcsses previously recognised.

A gain or loss not previously recogruised by the date of the sale of the
non-current assets is recognised in the income statement at the date of
derecognition. Non-current assets are not depreciated or amaortised while
they are classified as held for sale and are presented separately from other
nan-curent assets.

p) Provisions for liabilities and charges - see Note 20

Provisions are required for restructuring costs and employment-related
benefits when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
at the reporting date as a result of a past event and it is probable that
settiernent will be required of an amount that can be reliably estimated.
Provisicns for warranty costs are recognised at the date of sale of the
relevant products, at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the Group's probabie liability.

Other provisions reflect the Directors’ best estimate of future obhgations
relating to legai claims and litigation, together with dilapidation costs for
the maintenance of leasehold properties arising from past events such
as lease renewals or terminations. These estimates are reviewed at the
reporting date and updated as necessary.
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1. Principal accounting policies {continued)

q) Deferred tax — Note 21

Deferred tax is recognised on temparary differences between the carryirg
amaounts of assets and lizkilities for financial reporting purposes and

the amounts used for taxaton purposes. Deferred tax fiabilities are not
recognised if they arise frorn the initial recognition of gocdwill. Deferred
tax is not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset

of liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the trarsaction affects reither accounting nor taxable profit and
differences relating to investments in subsidiares to the extent that it is
not probable that they will reverse in the foreseezble future. The amount
of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recagnised only to the extent that 1t is probable
that taxable profits will be available in the foreseeable future against which
the asset can be utilised, Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that
itis no longer prokable that the related 1ax benefit will be realised within
the foreseeable future.

1} Inventories — Note 22

Inventaries are stated at the lower of cost, including attributable
averheads allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity, and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the ‘weighted average method
across the Group apart from Performance Preducts and Defense which are
on a ‘first-in, first-out’ method.

s) Trade, contract and other receivables — Note 23

Trade receivables are stated net of impairment and for the purpases

of impairment testing includes the non-financial contract assets of
amounts recoverable on contracts (ARCC') and accrued revenue. These
assets are assessed for impairment using the simplified approach’ to the
‘expected credit loss’ {ECL’) model, which appties a ‘default rate” at the
point of origination that increases as the unpaid asset ages. The simplified
approach’ of IFRS 9 applies a 'default rate’ to trade receivables and contract
assets, which considers both past experience and future expectations of
credit losses, Although past experience of significant credit losses on these
assets has been negfigible, the impairment assessment considers both
past experience and future expectations of credit losses. As a result of

this assessment, the Group considers the risk of expected credit losses on
contract assets to be immaterial.

For the requiring an assessment of the ECL over the lifetime of the asset
using a histerical provision matrix to create a group wide ‘default rate’
which together with past events is alsc adjusted for current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. To calculate the Group
default rates a weighted average default rate for each division was taken.
It is the Group's judgement that it is appropriate for Ricardo to use one
set of default rates across the Group as our international credit rating and
geographical profite is sufficiently similar across the globe. The customer
base across the Group is sufficiently homogenous as each division's
customers are primarily comprised of large corporations and historical
provision matnxes are sufficently homoegenous,

Trade receivables and contract assets are provided in full and subsequenitly
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there may be no reasonable expectation of recovery could include,
amongst athers, evidence that the customer has entered administration

or liquidation proceedings, or the persistent failure of a customer to enter
into or adhere to a repayment plan. The ‘general approach’is applied to
the impairment of other financial assets, the amount of which is based on
whether there has been a significant deterioration in the credit risk of a
financial asset.

t) Trade, contract and other payables - Note 24

Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their
nominal value.
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u) Net debt and borrowings - Note 25

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and bank overdrafts
repayable on demand. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities and bank loans and finance leases are shown within
borrowings in either current liabilities or noncurrent fiabilities depending
on the maturity date.

finanaal liabilites are classified as either amortised cost or fair value
through profit and loss Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value

net of dircct issue costs and subsequently at amortised cost Ditferences
between initial value and redemption value are recorded in the income
statement aver the period of the loan. The fair value of borrowings due for
repayment after more than one year approximates to the carrying value as
they are primarily floating rate loans where payments are reset to markat
rates at regular short-term intervals

v) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities - Note 26

The Group uses dervative inancial instruments, including foreign
exchange contracts, to mitigate cufrency exposures on trading
transactions. Fair values of dervatve financial instruments are based on
the market values of similar instruments at the reporting date.

The Group designates the fair value of foreign currency swap contracts
on intercompany loans as hedging instruments. The initial fair value is
determined with reference to the relevant spot market exchange rate.
The differential between the contracted strike rate and the discounted
spat market exchange rate is defined as the movement in fair value.
The effective clement of the hedge's fair value gains and fosses on

the remeasurement of cash flow derivatives are hedge accounted and
recognised in retained earnings through other comprenhensive income.
The ineffective element of the hedge's fair value gains and losses on
the remeasurement of cash flow derivatives are recognised in retained
earnings through the income statement.

The Group hedges the entire carrying value of all intercompany loans
denominated in foreign currencies, on which credit risk is considered to
be immaterial. Therefore, only when the econemic relationship faifs or
ceases to exist would the Group recognise the net financial impact of the
hedging instrument and the hedged item as ineffective in the income
statement. Changes in fair value of foreign currency forward and option
contracts that relate (o hedged items are recognised in retained earnings
through the income statement, together with the change in the fair value
of the related hedge at the reporting date.

Short-term borrowings and deposits

The fair value of short-term depcsits, loans and overdrafts approximates to
the carrying amount because of the shart maturity of these instruments.

Long-term borrowings

The fair value of borrowings approximates to the carrying amount as they
are primerily floating rate loans where payments are reset to market rates
at reguiar intervals,

Derivatives

Derivative financial instrumenits are inftially recognised and measured

at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into ang
subsequently measured at fair value on the reporting date. Fair value

is estimated by discounting expected future contractual cash flows

using prevailing interest rate curves. Amounts denominated in foreign
currencies are valued at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date
{Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy within IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement).
Measurement of all derivative financial instrurments was taken to the
income statement.



1. Principal accounting policies {continued)

w) Retirement benefits - Note 33

The Group operates one defined benefit and several defined contribution
pension schemes, the assets of which are held in separately administered
funds. The defined benefit pension scheme is closed 1o new entrants

and the accrual of future benefit for active members ceased at the end

of February 2010, Paymenits to defined contribution pension schemes are
charged as an expense as they fall due. Differences between cordributionrs
payabte in the year and contributions actually paid are included in either
accruals or prepayments. Payments to state-managed pension schemes
are dealt with as payments to defined contribution pension schemes as
the Group’s obligations under the schemes are similar in nature

For the defined benefit pension scheme, the cast of providing benefitis
deterrmined using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations
being carried out at each reporting date. Remeasurements are recognised in
other cormnprehensive income except where they result from settlements or
curtailments, in which case they are reported in the income statement.

Where necessary, past service costs are recogmsed immediately in

the income statement at the earlier of when the plan amendment

or curtaiiment occurs and when the related restructuring costs or
termination benefit are recognised. The defined benefit abligation
recognised represents the present value of the pension scheme
liabilities net of the fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from
this calculation is lirnited to past service cost, plus the present value of
available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The interest cost on the net defined benefit obligation for the year 1s
determined by applying the discount rate used 10 measure the defined
benefit cbligation at the beginning of the year to the net defined benefit
obligation at the end of the year, and is included in finance costs.

x) Share-based payments — Note 34

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the
date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed

on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. The amount expensed

is adjusted over the vesting period for changes in the estimate of the
number of shares that will eventually vest, save for changes resuiting from
any market-related performance conditions.

Cash-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date
of grant and expensed over the vesting period until the vesting date with
the recognition of a correspending fiakility. The liability is remeasured to
fair value at each reporting date up to and including the settiement date,
with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement for the year.
The amount expensed is adjusted over the vesting period for changes in
the estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. Fair value

is measured by using the Monte Carlo and Black Scholes models. The
expected life used in the models are adjusted for the effects of exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

y) Foreign currency
Transactions

The functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency of
the Group is Pounds Sterling. The functional currency of each subsidiary

is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates. Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are
recerded at prevailing exchange rates. At each reporting date, monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated

at the rates prevailing on the reporiing date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the transaction occurred. Gains and losses
arising on retransiation and settlements are included in the income
statement for the year.

Consolidation

On consclidation the assets and liabitities of foreign operations, including
goodwill and fair value adjustments, are translated into the presentation
currency at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting date. Revenues
and costs are translated at the average exchange rates of the year unless
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exchange rates fluctuate significantly. All resutting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and the translation reserve
within eguity. On disposal of an operation, or part thereof, the related
cumulative translation differences are recognised in the income statement
as a component of the gain or loss arising on disposal.

z) Recent accounting developments
Adopted by the group
IFRS 16 Leases became effective for the Group from 1 July 2019. The impact
of adoptien is set out In Note 2.
The following other standards, interpretations and amendiments to
existing standards became effective on 1 January 2019 and have not had a
material impact on the Group:

Effocinve date

{period Endorsed
commenciﬂg} by EU

Amendrments and Interpretations
to iFRS

- IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income
Tax Treatments

- IFRS 9 Financiaf Instruments:

1 Jan 2019 Yes

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

- IAS 28 investment in Associates
and Joint Ventures:

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

- |AS 19 Employee Berefits:

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlerment

- Annual iImprovements to IFRS
Standards 2015-2017 Cycle:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations, IFRS
11 Joint Arrangements,

1AS 12 income Taxes and 1AS 23
Borrowing Costs.

1 Jan 2019 Yes

1Jan 2015 Yes

1 Jan 2019 Yes

1 Jan 2019 Yes

{ssued standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective
The following cther standards, interpretations and amendments to
existing standards have been issued but were not mandatory for
accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2020 and are not expected to
have a material impact on the Groupr

Effective date

(period Endorsed
commencing) by EU

issued IFRS

- IFRS 17 insurance Contracts
Amendments and Interpretations
to IFRS

- IFRS 3 Business Combinations:
Definition of a business

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,

IAS 38 Financial Instrumerits:
Recognition and Measurerment and
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform

- 1AS } Presentation of Financial
Staternents and JAS 8 Accounting
Poficies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors' Definitior of
Material

- Amendments 1o References to
the Conceptual Framework in IFRS
Standards

-1AS 1 Presentation of Financia!
Staternents: Classfication of
Liabilities as Current or Non-
Current

1 Jan 2021 Na

1 Jan 2020 Yes

1 Jan 2020 Yes

i Jan 2020 Yes

1 Jan 2020 Yes

1Jan 2022 No
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2. Changes in significant accounting policies

IFRS 16 Leases
Transition method

The Group adopted the modified retrospective approach to transition, with the option being taken to recalgutate the value of eight materially significant
leased property assets while recognising the remaining leased assets at an amount equal to the lability on transiticn, adjusted for any prepaid or accrued
lease expenses, Under this approach the Group has not restated comparative iirancial information, which remains presented under 1AS 17 For the eight
leased property assets which have been recalculated, the Group has elected to measure the right-of-use asset as if IFRS 16 had been applied since the
start of the lease, but using the wncremental booawing rate at 1 July 2019, with the difference between the nght-of-use asset and the fease ability taken to
retained earnings on transition

The Group has elected to adopt the following practical expedients on transition:

= not to capitalise a right-of-use lease asset of refated lease liability where the lease expires before 30 June 2020;

* not to reassess contracts to determine if the contract contains a lease nor to separate fease and non-lease compenents,
» touse hindsight in determining the lease term;

« toexciude initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-cf-use asset; ang

* toapply the portfolic approach where a group of leases has similar characteristics.

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised at the date of initial application are the same as described
in Note 18.

IFRS 16
Previously transitional Adjusted

Asat 1 July 2019 reported adjustment  under IFRS 16

Motes £fm £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Right-of-use assets 18 - 371 371
Other receivables 8 - 23 23
Deferred tax assets 21 67 1.1 7.8
Total non-current assets 176.5 40.5 217.0
Current assets
Trade, contract and other receivables 141.4 (0.5) 140.9
Total current assets 192.5 0.5) 192.0
Total current assets and non-cusrent assets held for sale 195.4 (0.5) 194.9
Total assets 3719 40.0 411.9
Liabilities
Current liabilities
| ease liabilities 18 - (4.7) (4.7}
Trade, contract and other payabies (84.8) 1.4 {83.4)
Total current liabilities (95.7) {3.3) (99.0)
Net current assets 99.7 (3.8) 95.9
Non-current liabilities
Lease fabilities 8 - {40.9) (40.9)
Provisions 20 {3.7) 0.5 (3.2)
Total non-current liabilities (104.3} (40.4} {144.7)
Total liabilities (200.0) (43.7) (243.7)
Net assets 1719 (3.7} 168.2
Equity
Retained earnings 30 126.8 (3.7) 123.1
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 171.4 (3.7) 162.7
Total equity 171.9 (3.7) 168.2

Reconciliation between operating lease commitments and lease liabilities

The fellowing table explains the differences between the operating lease commitments disclosed applying 1AS 17 at 30 June 2019 and the lease liabilities
recognised on transition to IFRS 16.on 1 july 2019,

£m
Total operating lease commitments under IAS 17 at 30 June 2019 61.2
Discounting 129
Exernpt lease payments 0.8)
Non-lease component payments (1.9
Lease liabilities recognised on transition to IFRS 16 at 1 July 2019 45.6

Exempt lease payments are short term or low value leases which per the Group’s lease policy are not included within the lease liability recognised on the
staternent of financial position. Non-lease compenent payments are service charges which were built inte the lease and included within the operating lease
commitment as at 30 June 2019, These are not included within the lease liability under the Group’s lease policy.
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3. Alternative performance measures

Throughaut this document the Group presents varnious alternative performance measures (‘APMs') in addition to those reported under RS, The measures
presented are those adopted by the Chief Operating Cecision Maker {CODM, deemed to be the Chief Executive Officer), together with the main Board,
and analysts who follow us in assessing the performance of the business. Explanations of how they are calculated and how they are reconciled to an IFRS
statutery measure are set out below.

a) Group profit and earnings measures

Underlying profit before tax ('PBT’) and underlying operating profit: These measures are used by the Beard to manitor and measure the trading
performance of the Group. They exclude certain items which the Board believes distort the trading performance of the Group. These include the
amartisation of acquired intangibles, acquisinon-related expenditure, recrganisauon costs, and other specific adjusting items.

The Group's strateqy inchudes geographic and sector diversification, including targeted acquisitions and disposals, By excluding acquisition-relared
expenditure trom underlying PBT and underlying operating profit, the Board has a clearer view of the performance of the Group and is able 1o make better
operational decisions to support its strategy.

Acquisition-related expenditure includes the costs of acquisitions, deferred and contingent consideration fair value adjustments (including the unwinding
of discount factors}, transaction-related fees and expenses, and posi-deal integration costs.

Reorganisation costs ansing from major restructuring activities, profits or Josses on the disposal of businesses, and significant rmpairments of properly, ptant
and equipment, are excluded from underlying PBT and underlying operating profit as they are not reflective of the Groug's trading performance in the year,
as are any other specific adjusung items deemed to be ane-off in nature.

The related tax effects on the above and other tax items which do not form part of the underlying tax rate are also 1aken into account. ltems are treated
consistently year-on-year, and these adjustments are alsc consistent with the way that performance is measured under the Group's incentive plans and its
banking covenants. A reconciliation is shown below. Further details of the nature of the specific adjusting items are given in Note 7.

Reconciliation of underlying profit before tax to reported {loss)/profit before tax

2020 2019
Specific Specific
adjusting adjusting
Underlying items Total Underlying items Total
£m £m £m fm £m £m
Revenue 352.0 - 352.0 3844 - 3844
Cost of sales (236.9) - {236.9) (249.5) - {249.5)
Gross profit 1351 - 1541 1345 - 1349
Administrative expenses and other income (95.1) - {95.1) 953 - (953}
Amortisation of acquired intangibles - 6.0 6.0} - “.0) 4.0
Acquisition-related expenditure - (3.00 (3.0} - 18 (1.8
Recrganisation costs - (11.9) {11.9) - (34) (34
GMP equalisation - - - - (1.3) {1.3)
Operatng profit/foss) 20.0 (20.9) {0.9) 39.6 {10.5) 291
MNet firance costs (4.4) - 4.4) (26) - (2.6)
Profit/{loss) before tax taxation 15.6 (20.9) (5.3) 379 (10,5} 265
Tax expense (4.1} 3.0 (1.1} (8.2) 16 6.6)
Profit/({loss) for the year 1.5 (17.9) {6.4) 238 8.9 199

The FY 2016720 results include the impact of IFRS 16 Leases, which was adopted on 1 July 2019. The impact of IFRS 16 on the Group’s underlying operating
profit was an increase of f09m and there was a £0.2m negative impact on the Group's underlying profit before tax for the year ended 30 hine 2020 The
impact of IFRS 16 on the Group's reported aperating profit was an increase of £4.8m and there was a £3.7m increase in the Group’s reported profit before
tax for the year ended 30 June 2020. Comparative APMs have not been updated to reflect the adoption of IFRS 16.In the year ended 30 June 2019, an 1AS 17
charge of £8.5m was incurred.

Underlying earnings attributable to the owners of the parent: The Group uses underlying earnings attributable t¢ the owners of the parent as the
input 1o its adjusted EPS measure. This profit measure excludes the amortisation of acquired intangibles, acquisition-related expenditure, reorganisation
costs and other specific adjusting items, but is an after-tax measure. The Board considers underlying EPS to be more reflective of the Group's trading
performance in the year. A reconciliation between earnings attributable to the owners of the parent and underlying earnings attributable to the owners of
the parent is shown in Note 8.

Organic growth/decline: Organic growth/decline is calculated as the growth/decline in the result for the current year compared to the prior year, after
adjusting flor he performance of acquisiions or disposals, o Include the results of those acquisiions for an equivalent period i each finanaal year.
Constant currency organic growth/decline: The Group generates revenues and profits in vanious territodies and currencies because of its international
footprint. Those resuits are translated on consolidation at the foreign exchange rates prevailing at the time. Constant currency organic growth/decline is
calculated by translating the result for the current year using foreign currency exchange rates applicable to the prior year. This provides an indication of the
growth/decline of the business, excluding the impact of foreign exchange.
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3. Alternative performance measures {continued)

Headline trading performance Underlying Reposted
Operating  Profitbefore Operating (Lossl/ profit
Revenue profit tax {loss)/ profit before tax
FY 2019/20 (Em} 352.0 20.0 15.6 (0.9) (5.3)
FY 2018/19 (£m) 3844 396 370 291 265
Add performance of acquisitions (Em) 16.1 40 36 40 36
Organic FY 2018/19 {fm} 4005 436 406 331 301
Decline (%) (8) (a9} (58) (103) {120)
Organic decline (%) (12) (54) {62} (103) (118)
Constant currency organic decline (36) {12) {53} {61} {102} 117

Transport Engineering (now Ricardo Rail Australia, or 'RRA") was acquired on 31 May 2019. Had RRA been acquired and consolidated from 1 July 2018 such
that resufts for FY 2018/19 included RRA for an equivalent period to FY 2019720, revenue for FY 2018/1%3 would have been £14.0m higher. Operating profit
for FY 2018/19 would have been £3.2m higher and profit before tax for FY 2018/19 would have been £2.9m higher. PLC Consulting {(now Ricardo Energy,
Environment and Planning, or ‘REEP’) was acquired on 31 July 2019. Had REEP been acquired and consolidated from 31 July 2018 such that results for FY
2018/19 included REEP for an equivalent period to with FY 2019/20, revenue for FY 2018/19 would have ceen £2.1m higher. Operating profit for FY 2018/19
would have been £0.8m higher and profit before tax would have beery £0.7m higher.

Segmental underlying operating profit: This is presented in our segmental disclosures and refiects the underlying trading of each segment, as assessed
by the main Board. his exdludes segment-spedific amorlisation of acquited intangibles, acquisition-related expenditure and other specific adjusting itemns,
such as reoraganisation costs. It also excludes unallocated Pl costs, which represent the costs of running the public limited company and specific adsting
itemns which are outside of the control of segment management A reconciliation between segment underlying operating profit, the Group’s underlying
operating profit and operating profitis prescnted in Note 5.

b) Cash flow measures

Cash conversion: A key measure of the Group's cash generation is the conversion of pratit inte cash. Thisis the reported <ash generated from operations
(defined as operating cash flow, less movements in net working capital and defined benefit pension deficit contributions; divided by earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation {(‘EBITDA}, expressed as a percentage.

Underlying cash conversion: This is underbying cash generated from operations (defined as reported cash generated from operarions, adjusted for the
cash impact of specific adjusting items) divided by underlying EBITDA (defined as reported EBITDA, adjusted for the impact of specific adjusting items), A
reconciliation between the two is shown below.

2020 2019
Specific Spocific
adjusting adjusting
Cash conversion Underlying items Total Underlying iterns Total
£m £m £m £m £m fm
Operating profi/floss) 20.0 (20.9) (0.9} 39.6 {10.5) 291
Depreciation and amaortisation 17.6 6.7 24.3 N4 - n4
Amortisation of acquired intangibles - 6.0 6.0 - 40 40
£BITDA 376 (8.2) 254 510 6.5) 445
Movement in working capital 4.5 4.0 8.5 (7.8) 05 (73
Pension deficit payments 4.6 - (4.6 43 - (43
LossAipronit) on disposal of assets - 1.0 {1.0) €7 07 -
Share based payments 0.6 - 0.6 1.0 - 1.0
Fair value losses/fqains) on denvative financial
instruments 0.3 - 0.3 0.8 - 0.8)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 384 (5.2) 33.2 384 {5.3) 333
Cash conversion 1021% 112.9% 75.3% 74.4%

Net debt: is defined as current and non-current borrowings less cash and cash equivalents, including hire purchase agreements, but excluding any impact
of IFRS 16 lease liabilities. The transitional impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases is set out in Note 2. Management believes this definition is the most
appropriate for monitoring the indebtedness of the Group and is consistent with the treatment in the Group's banking agreemenis.

¢) Tax measures

Underlying effective tax rate ('ETR’): We report one adjusted tax measure, which is the tax rate on underlying profit before tax. This is the tax charge
applicable to underlying profit before tax expressed as a percentage of underlying profit before tax.
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Financial performance

The Group delivered revenue of £352.0m and underlying profit before tax of £15.6m (reported
loss before tax £5.3m) in the year, a reduction of 8% and 58% (reported 120%) on the prior
year, respectively.

The following disclosures provide further information about the drivers of the Group's financial performance in the
year. This incdludes analysis of the respective contribution of the Group's reportable segments along with information

about its operating cost base, net finance costs and tax. In addition, disclosure on earnings per share and the
dividend is provided.

4, Operating profit

Research and development expenditure accounting policy - Note 1(d)

Governrent grants accounting policy - Note 1(e)

2020 2019
Note £m £
Revenue 6 352.0 lB44
Operating (costs)/income
Employee costs 32 (188.5) (1799)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 {5.7) (5.6)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 17 {5.6} -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8 (5.4) -
Impairment of right-of-use assets i8 0.5) -
Amartisation of other intangible assets 6 (12.0) {9.8)
Impairment on held for sale assets 19 {1.1) -
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 22 (51.5) {709
Operating lease rentals payable {1.4) 83
Repairs and maintenance on properny, plant and equipment (12.9) (12.2)
Net {impairment)/reversals on trade receivables (1.3) 06
Rertal income 1.1 jok:]
Profit on disposal of property, plant and cguipment (1.0 a7
Research and Development Expenditure Credits ('RDEC') 7.7 71
Research and develogment (3.5) (36}
Other cost of sales (37.9} 41.2)
Other operating charges (33.4) 329
Operating {loss)/profit (0.9) 291
Spacific adjusting iterns 7 20.9 10.5
Underlying operating profit 20,0 El)

5. Financial performance by segment
The segmental analysis helps explain the business in the way that it is monitored by management.

The Group's operating segments are being reported based on the financial information provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker who
is the Chief Executive Officer. The information reported includes financial performance but does not inciude the financial position of assets
and liabilities. The operating segments were identified by evaluating the Group'’s products and services, processes, types of customers and
delivery methods.

From 1 July 2019, the Group has reported the following reportabie = Energy & Environment (‘EE") - EE generates revenue from the provision
operating segments: knergy & Environment {'EE"), Rail, Automotive and of environmental consultancy services to customers across the
Industrial (A&F), Defense, and Performance Products. Thereis also an ‘all world. Customers include governments, public agencies and private
other segments’ segment, which comprises the results of Ricardo Strategic businesses;

Consulting and Software, combined due 1o their size. Neither of these « Rall — Rail generates revenue from through two separate operations:
met the quantitative thresholds for reportable segments in FY 2019/20 a consultancy unit that provides technical advice and engineering

or FY 2018/19. This change was driven by successful acquisitions in Rail services; and a separate, independent entity, Ricardo Certification, that

and EE, increasing the prominence of these businesses within the Group,
combined with the wish to provide more granularity intc the key drivers of
performance within the Group.

performs accredited assurance services;

The following summarises the operations in each of the Group’s
reportable segments:
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5. Financial performance by segment (continued)

* Automotive & Industrial {A&I") — A&l generates revenue through the
provision of engineering, design, development and testing services,
focused on hybrid and electnc systems, electrificat:on, engines,
driveline and transmissions, testing, and vehicle engineering Customers
include including businesses in the automotive, aerospace, defence,
energy, off-highway and commercial, marine, motorcycle and light-
persanal tramsport, and rail markets;

+ Defense — Defense provides engineering services, software and
products to customers in the US defence market, aimed and protecting
life and improving the operation, maintenance and support of complex
systemns; and

= Performance Products (PPY) - PP manufactures and assembles niche
high-quality components, prototypes and complex products, including
engines, transrmissions and other precision and performance-critical
products. Its custemers manufacture low-volume, high-performance
products in markets such as motersport, automotive, aerospace,
defence and rail.

The operations of the Group have been categorised into these segments
due to the nature of their services, market sectors, dient bases and
distribution channels and operating across markets requiring adherence to
regulatory frameworks that are similar in nature.

Measurement of performance

Management monitors the financial results of its operatng seqments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about allocating resaurces
and assessing performance. Segmental performance is measured based on
underlying operating profit, as this measure provides management with

an overal view of how the different operating segments are managing
their total cost base against the revenue generated from their portfolic of
contracts.

There are varying levels of integration between the segments. The
segments use EE for their specialist environmental knowledge. A&l and PP
have various shared projects. There are also shared service costs between
the segments. Inter-segment transactions are eliminated on consolidation.
Intersegment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis In a manner
similar to transactions with third parties.

Included within Pl costs in the following tables are costs arising from a
central Group function, induding the costs of running the public limited
company, which are not recharged to the other operating segments
Comparative figures for the year ended 30 June 2019 have been restated.
reflecting the impact of the changes the Group made 1o its operating
segments during the year ended 30 June 2020. The operating segment
section of this Annual Report provides further detail on the segments’
performance (see page 47 to 59).

For the year ended All other
30 June 2020 EE Rail A8 Defense PP segments Plc Total
£m £m £m £m fm £m £m £m
Total segment revenue 51.7 754 108.8 328 707 19.1 - 358.5
Inter-segment revenue (0.9) (0.%) (2.9} - 1.7 (0.9) - (6.5)
Revenue from external customers 50.8 75.3 105.9 32.8 69.0 18.2 - 352.0
Seament underlying operatimg profit 6.3 58 0.5 51 5.0 041 - 22.8
Plc costs - - - - - - {2.8) {2.8)
Underlying operating profit 6.3 5.8 0.5 5.1 5.0 0.1 (2.8) 20.0
Specific adjusting iterms() 1.7 {5.5) (10.1) {(0.5) (0.7} {0.5) {2.5) (20.9)
Operating profit/(loss) 4.6 0.3 (9.6) 4.6 49 (0.4) {5.3) (0.9}
Met finance costs (4.4}
Loss before taxation {5.3}
Cepreciation and amortisation 37 6.5 140 14 1.0 24 1.3 30.3
Capital expenditure:
- Cther intangible assets 0.9 0.1 3.5 0.5 0.1 34 0.7 9.2
- Property, plant and equipment 0.3 0.2 19.8 a.3 0.9 041 0.4 220
- Right-of-use assets - 0.1 4.5 0.4 0.1 - - 5.1
For the year ended Ali other
30 June 2019 EE Rail A&l Defense PP segments Plc Total
fm £m £m £m fm Em £m £m
Tetal segrment reveriue 457 675 131.7 255 993 237 - 3928
Inter-segment revenue {0.5) on (24 0.3) (39 (1.2) - 84
Revenue from external customers 446 674 12583 252 954 225 - 3844
Segment Underlying operating profit 50 52 16.1 32 99 39 433
Pic costs - - - - - - 3.7) 37)
Underlying operating profit 50 52 16.1 32 99 39 3.7 396
Specific adjusting items(® {1y (28) (29) 0.5) - - (3.1 (10.5)
Operaung proft 39 23 13.2 27 99 39 ©.8) 291
Net finance costs (2.6)
Profit before taxation 265
Depreciaticn and amortisation 20 3 53 08 08 18 14 15.4
Capital expenditure:
- QOther intangible assets 13 02 33 08 oA 30 03 90
- Property, plant and equipment 02 0.5 5.0 04 12 0.} 0.2 76
*SocNote 7

Revenue from one customer represented approximately 13% (2019: 19%) of the Group's external revenue, which is primarily reported in the PP segment.
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6. Revenue
This note explains how the Group derives its revenue.

Revenue accounting policy - Note 1(f)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty: Revenue on fixed price contracts - Note 1(c)

Disaggregation of revenue for the year ended 30 June: 2020 2019
£m £fm

a) Revenue stream

Services provided under:

- freeq price condracts 189.5 2105

- tirme and raterials contracts 73.3 539

- subscription and software support contracts 6.7 8.5

Goods supplied:

- manufactured or assembled products 74.3 1055

- software products 72 80

Intellectual property 1.0 -

Total 3520 3844

b} Customer location

United Kingdom 124.6 1524
Europe 80.4 964
North America 59.9 61.3
China 226 309
Rest of Asia 314 308
Austraka 214 29
Rest of the World 1.7 97
Total 352.0 3844

{c) Timing of recognition

Over time 276.4 2777
At a pointin time 756 106.7
Total 352.0 3844

See Note 23 for further information on the Group's revenue including disclose of impairment |osses recognised on receivables and contract assets arising
from the Group's contracts with customers, Note 23 also provides an opening and closing balances of receivables and contract assets, together with the
Group's order book which comprises the value of all unworked purchase crders and contracts received from customers at the reporting date and provides
an indication of revenue that has been secured and will be recognised in future accounting periods.

See Note 24 for the epening and closing balances of contract labilities from contracts with customers.
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7. Specific adjusting items

Specific adjusting items are disclosed separately in the financial statements where it is necessary to do so o provide
further understanding of the financial performance of the Group. These items cornprise the amorTisation of
acquired intangible assets, acquisition-related expenditure, reorganisation costs and other non-recurting items that
are included due to the significance of their nature or amount. Acguisition-related expenditure is incurred by the
Group to effect a business combination, including the costs associated with the integration of acquired businesses.
Reorganisation costs relate to non-recurring expenditure incurred as part of fundamental restructuring activities,
significant impairments of property, plant and equipment, and other items deemed to pe one-off in nature.

Specific adjusting items accounting policy - Note 1{g}

Critical judgement on specific adjusting items: Reorganisation costs — Note I{c)

2020 2019
£m £m
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 6.0 40
Acquisition-related expenditure 3.0 18
Reorganisation costs
- Purchases and disposals 5.7 -
- Other reorganisation costs 6.2 34
Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP') equalisation - 1.3
Total before tax 209 05
Tax credit on spedfic adjusting items (3.3) (1.6}
Tax charge on prior year specific adjustimg item 0.3 -
Total after tax 179 89

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets

On acquisition of a business, the purchase price is aliocated to assets such
as customer contracts and relationships. Amortisation occurs on a straight-
line basis over its useful economic life, which is between 3 and 9 years.
The increase in the year is due to the acquisition of Transport Engineering
Pty Ltd on 31 May 2019 (see Note 14{b)) and PLC Censuiting Pty Ltd on 31
July 2019 (see Note 14{2)). For further information please see the intangible
assets Note 16,

Acquisition-related expenditure

The current year charge comprises £2.8m of earn out and employee
retention costs, accrued in relation to the two acquisitions detailed in
Note 14). In addition, £0.4m of costs were incurred in relation to the
post-dleal integration of these businesses. £0.8m of costs were incurred
on acquisition pracesses in the year (including the acquisition of PLC
Consulting Pty Lid and other aborted processes), comprising external
professional fees and the costs of running an internal acquisitions
department to effect acquisition processes.

Partially offsetting these, £1.1m of income was recognised in relation to

a gain on the settlement of a foreign exchange option contract, which
was taken out to hedge an aborted overseas acquisiticn. This has been
classified as a specific adjusting itern due to the non-recurring nature and
significance of the amount. The prior year charge included £0.4m of earn-
out costs and £1.4m of acquisiticn-related fees and costs.

Reorganisation costs
Purchases and disposals

Major restrucluring actions were taken in the year to address performance
issues in the A&} US business and realign the cost base to make it more
operationally efficient. The charge in the current year comprises £6.7m
{£5.6m in Note 17 and £1.7m in Note 19) of impairments and £3.1m of
income from the release of a lease liability following the acquisition of the
freehold property of the Detroit Technology Camipus {DTC) on 21 August
2018, in order to remove the business from a long term lease commitment
on the property. in addition, the current year charge includes a loss on
disposal of £2.1m in relation to the sale of Ricardo's Detroit test cell assets
on 3 June 2020, These iterns have been included as specific adjusting
iterns as they are significant in quantum and would distort the underlying
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trading performance if included. See Note 17 for further details on the
disposal of the test cell assets.

Other reorganisation costs

in addition to the actions taken above, as part of the A& US major
restructuring actions in FY 2419/20, Ricardo exited the aftertreatment
business at our Santa Clara Technical Centre ('SCTC'), incurring £04m of
exrt costs and the write off of equipment. £0.3m of redundancy costs
and £0.2m of incremental contractor costs were incurred in the year in
connection with the management of these restructuring actions. These
contractors are incremental to the business and non-revenue generating.

£2.6m of redundancy costs were incurred in FY 2019/20 across the
Group's automotive-related businesses (A&l in Europe, Performance
Products, RSC & Software). These actions were taken as a result of major
restructuring required 1o right-size the cost base in these businesses

in response 1o the unforeseen challenging trading conditions and
customer plant shut-downs in the second half of the financtal year. As
part of these restructuring actions, a charge of £0.6m was recognised in
respect of the vacant portion of the Cambridge Technical Centre {'CaTC’)
due to a reduction in headcount at this site as a result of restructuring
actions taken. £0.5m of professional fees and £0.1m of contractor costs
were incurred. These fees and contractor costs were incremental to the
business and directly refated to the restructuring actions taken, being

a combination of professional advice taken and management of the
restructuring process.

In the prior year, £24m of redundancy costs, together with £0.7m of costs
in refation to onerous contracts and £0.3m of incremental contractor costs,
were incurred in A&l Europe in relation o the completion of a programme
1o re-set the global automotive business in response to a fundamental
shift in market dynamics. The FY 2019/20 actions were not linked to those
1aken in FY 2018/19.

£1.4m of redundancy costs were incurred in Rail in FY 2019/20. The

Rall costs represent the compietion of a restructuring process which
commenced in the prior year to realign the business to market demand.
£0.5m of redundancy costs were incurred in the prior year in relation to
this process, which straddied the prior year end.

The total costs of these restructuring actions have been included as
specific adjusting items since, together, they are significant in quantum
and would distort the underlying trading performance if included.
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7. Specific adjusting items (continued)

Guaranteed Minimum Pensions {{GMP’) equalisation Tax charge on prior year specific adjusting items

In October 2018, the High Courtissued 2 judgerment confirming that During FY 2019/20, a tax charge was recognised in relation 1o adjustments
pension schemes are required 1o equatise male and fermnale members’ to the prior year tax charge arising on the sale of the Germany test
benefits for the effect of Guaranteed Minimum Pensions ({GMP"). The past business in June 2018,

service cost due to GMP equalisation is considered to be non-recurming in
nature and significant in its amount.

8. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held by an employee benefit trust for the
Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and by the Share Incentive Plan (SIP) for the free share scheme which are treated
as cancelled for the purposes of the calculation.

For dituted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ardinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume
conversion of all ditutive potential ordinary shares. These include potential awards of LTIP shares and options granted
to employees. The assumed proceeds from these is regarded as having been received at the average market price
of ordinary shares during the year.

Reconciliations of the earnings and the weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below. Underlying earnings per share is also
shown because the Directors consider that this provides a moere useful indication of underlying performance and trends over ime

For the year ended 30 June 2020 2019
£m £m
(Loss)/ earnings attributable to owners of the parent (6.5) 198
Add back the net-of-tax impact of:
- Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 4.5 34
- Acquisition-refated expenditure 2.9 1.2
- Asset purchases and dispasals 4.8 -
- Other reorganisation costs 5.4 30
- Guaranteed Minimum Pensions ({GMP) equalisation - 13
- Tax charge on prior year specific adpisting stem 0.3 -
Underlying earnings attributable to owners of the parent 1.4 87
For the year ended 30 June 2020 2m9
Number of Number of
shares millions  shares millions
Basic weighted average number of shares in issue 534 534
MHect of dilutive gotential shares - 0.2
Diluted weighted average number of shares in issue 53.4 536
2020 2019
{Loss}/earnings per share pance pence
Basic {12.2) 371
Diluted (12.2) 369
2020 2019
Underln’ng earnings per share pence pence
Basic 21.3 537
Diluted 21.3 535

Underlying earnings per share is also shown because the Directors consider that this provides a more usefut indication of underlying performance and
trends over time.
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9. Dividends
Dividends are one type of shareholder return, historically paid to our shareholders in April and November.

| Dividend accounting policy - see Note 1(h)

2020 2019
£m £m
Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2019 of 15 28p (2018: 14.71p) per share 8.2 78
Intenm dividend for the year ended 30 June 2020 of 6.24p (2019: 6.00p) per share 3.3 32
Equity dividends paid 1.5 1m0
A dividend of £0.1m was issued during the year by a subsidiary of the Group 1o a non-controlling party of that subsidiary.
10. Net finance costs
| Net finance costs accounting policy - see Note 1{i}
2020 2019
£m im
Finance income:
Bank interest receivable 0.3 05
Interest ncome on finance lease recevables (Note 18) 0.1 -
Total inance income .4 0.5
Finance costs.
Bank interest payable on barrowings {(3.5) 3.0
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 18) (1.2} -
Defined berefit pension inanang costs (Note 33 (0.1} .0
Total finance costs (4.8} 3.1
Net finance costs 4.4} 20

11. Auditor’s remuneration
This note includes all amounts paid to the Group's auditors, KPMG, whether in relation to their audit of the Group
or otherwise. During the year the Group (including its subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group

auditors and its associates:

2020 2019

Fees payable for services provided by the Company's auditors and its associates £m £m
Statutory audit of the Companry and its consolidated financial statermnents”! 0.3 0.2
Statutery audit of the Company's subsidiaries and theyr financial staterment<@ 04 03
Total audit fees 0.7 a5
Audit-related assurance services” 0.1 01
0.1 0

Total non-audit feas
(13 Fees payable dun g the year 7o the Cormpany’s aud ars and 1Ty assoactates Tor the statur ony sucht of the Compary and its consolidated finane al sialementswere 1 3530002019 £195,260)
(3} Fees payable duning the year tothe Zompany's auditors ana s associates for the statutory audrt of the Company's subsidiaries and therr financial staterments were £372.500 (2019: £351,000)

(3) Fees payabie during the year to the Company’s auditors and its associates for audit-related assurance services were £42,000 (2019: £50,000) and comprised £42,000 (2019 £42.000) pursuant 1o the
interim seview and £nil (2019: £8,000) for independent reviews, agreed-upon procedures and other services closcly related to the awdit of the Company and it subsidiaries

Total non-audit fees payable to the external auditors for audit-refated assurance services and other non-audit services for the financial year
were 7% {(2019: 9%} of total audit fees. These nor-audit services comprised the Group's interim review and other audit-related assurance services.
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12. Tax expense
This note explains how our Group current tax charge arises.

l Tax expense accounting policy - Note 1(j)

2020 2019
£m £m
Current income tax:
- UK corporation tax a4 16
- Adjustrnents in respect of prior years (0.3) 08
- Total UK tax 0.1 0.8
- Foreign corporation tax 2.8 17
- Adjustments in respect of prior years 0.6 0.1
- Total foreign tax 3.4 1.8
Total current tax 3.5 2.6
Deferred tax:
-Charge for the year (2.3) 30
- Adjustrnents in respect of prior years {0.1) 1.0
Total deferred tax (2.4) 4.0
Total taxation 1.1 6.6
Tax on items recognised in other comprehensive income {1.1) 14

Tax on items recognised in other comprehensive income relate to the tax impact of remeasurements of the defined beneft gension scheme and changes
in tax rate. Tax on items recaognised directly in equity relate to equity-settled share-based payment transactions,

The main rate of UK corporation tax for the year ending 30 June 2020 is 19%. The Finance Act 2020 reversed the decision to reduce the main rate frem 19%
to 17% from 1 April 2020 Deferred taxes at the reporting date have been measured and reflected in these financial statements by using the enacted rate
within each jurisdiction The tax charge for the year is higher (2019 higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are set out
below:

2020 2019
£m £m
Proft for the year before tax (5.3} 265
Multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2019: 19%) 1.0 50
ttfects of
Losses not recognised - [oN
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.2 05
Government tax incentives'' (0.3) 0.2)
Cther overseas taxes? 0.5 0s
Adjustments in respect of prior years 0.3 03
Changes in corporation tax rates 0.4 04
Total taxation 11 [SE3)

(N Pamarily relates 1o R&D ax wredils.
(2) Primarily refates to withholding taxes.

The Group aperates in a number of countries, and is subject to taxation in numerous jurisdictions. Legislation related to taxation is complex and
Management is required to make judgements based on appropriate professional advice, and amounts provided are accrued based on Management's
interpretation of country-specific tax laws. In particular, Management applies judgement in respect of ongoing tax audits around the Group, which can
take & significant amount of time o be agreed with Tax Authomties. The Group estimates and accrues taxes that will ultimately be payable when reviews or
audits by Tax Authorities of tax returns are completed. These estimateas include judgements about the position expected to be taken by each Tax Authority.

Management juggement has also been required to ensure that appropriate transfer pricing is applied on all intra-group transactions, and in determining
the amounts that would be undertaken on an arm's length basis. As a result, actual liabilities could differ from the amounts provided which could have a
consequent impact on the results and net position of the Group.

None of the amounts are individually material and therefore there is not a significant risk of matenial differences in future periods.
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Capital base

The Group has taken positive steps to restructure in order to create a more agile and asset-
light business. This includes the sale of the test facilities in Detroit in June 2020. Non-current
assets increased this year on adoption of IFRS 16 with the Group's leases being added 1o the
statement of financial position from the 1 July 2019,

13. Non-current assets by geographical location (excluding deferred tax assets)

2020 2019
Asset location Note £m £m
United Kingdom 1150 972
Netherlands 20.1 203
North America 20.1 158
Australia 296 277
Rest of the World 14.5 8.8
Total 199.3 169.3
Goodwill 15 87.8 842
Other intangible assets 16 39.9 410
Praperty, plant and equipment 17 454 446
Right-of-use assets 18 23.9 -
Lease receivable 18 23 -
Total 199.3 1698

14, Acquisitions

! Key sources of estimate uncertainty: acquisition accounting - see Note 1{c)

{a) Acquisitions in the current period - PLC Consulting

On 31 July 2019, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of PLC Consulting Pty Ltd {PLC Consulting’) for initial cash consideration of £4.2m (AUD
74m), which in¢ludes an adjustment for cash and normalised net working capital of £0.3m (AUD 04m), paid in November 2015.

P1 C_ Consufting Is an Australian Arm with a strong technical advisory capability across the project life cycle in infrastructure, environment and planning,
including supporting the environmental requirements of master-planning, business cases, procurement, design, construction and operation. PLC
Consulting was renamed Ricardo Energy Ervironment and Planning (REEP') on 5 August 2019, The following tables set cut the fair value of cash
consideration payable to acquire PLC Consulting, together with the fair value of net assets acquired.

Fair value of cash consideration Note £fm
Initial cash consideration 42
Total fair value of cash consideration 4.2
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired £fm
Customer contracts and relationships & 13
Trade, contract and other receivables 05
Cash and cash equivalents 04
Trade, contract and other payables 0.2)
Deferred tax liabilities 27 04
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 1.6
Goodwill 15 2.6
Total fair value of cash consideration 4.2

The maximum contingent Cash payable is £1.4m (AUD 2.5m). The amounts payable will be based on the achievement of a range of annual performance
targets measured against the earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation of PLC Consulting across a two-year earn-out period. These
payments are dependent upon the continuing employment of the sellers in the business and are not considered to be consideration. £0.7m (AUD 1.3m),
representing an accruzl for the fair value of the expected year one payment, has been accrued within specific adjusting items (see Note 7).

Adjustments have been made for the recognition of customer-related intangible assets separable from goodwill amounting to £1.3m (AUD 2.4m). The

fair value of the contingent cash consideration and identifiabie net assets acquired were identified in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3 Business
Combinations and the sale and purchase agreement.

The goodwill arising on acguisition can be ascribed o the existence of a skilled, active workforce, developed expertise and processes and the opportunities
to obtain new contracts and develop the business. None of these meet the criteria for recognition as intangible assets separable from goodwill. None of the
goodwill recognised on consalidation is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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14, Acquisitions (continued)
(a) Acquisitions in the current period - PLC Consulting {continued)

The net assets acquired of £1 6m {AUD 3.0m) includes trade receivables of £0.5m (AUD 0.9m)}, all of which have been collected
Acquisition-related expenditure of £0.2m representing costs incurred 1o integrate the business post-acquisition, tegether with £0.4m of amortisation on

acquired intangibles, has been charged to the income statement for the year ended 30 June 2020 and is included as a specific adjusting item in Note 7.
The revenue indluded in the income statement in relation to the acquired business was £3.0m. The underlying operating profit over the sarre period was

£0.9m. This is reported in the EE segment in Note 5

Had PLC Consulting been acguired and consolidated from 1 August 2018, revenue and operating profit n the pricr period iIncome statement would have
beer £2.1m and £0 8m higher, respectively

(b) Acquisitions in the prior year - Transport Engineering

On 31 May 2019, the Group acquired the entire issued share capital of Transport Engineering Pty Ltd {Transpert Engineering’) for initial cash consideration
payable of £21.7m (AUD 39.5m) which includes an adjustment for cash and normalised net working capital of £0.5m (AUD 0.9m) paid in August 2019,
together with the accrued fair value of contingent cash consideration payable of £5.1m (AUD 9.4m). Transpert Engineering is a leading rait technical services
consultancy based in Australia, It expands the Group's existing capabilities within the growing Asia-Pacific rail market and provides a footprint for other
Ricardo businesses in Australia. Transport Engineering was renamed Ricardo Rail Australia (RRAY} on 11 June 2019, The following tables set out the fair value
of cash consideration payable to acquire Transport Engineering, together with the assessment of the fair value of net assets acquired.

Fair value of cash consideration Noie £m
Initial cash consideration 2.7
Fair value of contingent cash consideration 51

Total fair value of cash consideration 26.8
Fair valye of identiiable net assels acguined £m
Custormer contracts and relationships 16 97
Property, plant and equipment i7 Q1

Trade, contract and cther recewvables 23
Cash and cash equivalents 23
Trade, contract and other payables (1.7)
Current tax liabilities ©9
Deferred tax liabilities 21 (29)
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 8.9
Goodwill 15 179
Total fair value of cash consideration 26.8

The Group also acquired all of Transport Engineenng's shareholding in its associate, Wamarragu Transport Services Pty Ltd, the financial results of which are
immaterial 1o the Group. The cash impact of the acquisition in the prior year was £18.9m (AUD 34.4m), being the initial cash consideration of £21.2m (AUD
38.6m) paid on completion, less cash acquired of £2.3m {AUD 4.2rm). £0.5m {(AUD 0.9m) was paid for cash and normalised net working capital in the current
year. The maximum contingent ¢cash consideration payable is £8.1m (AUD 15.0my). The fair value of the contingent cash consideration is considered to be
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy within IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurerment, The fair value is valued based on a finandal forecast using the Group's own data,
with a probability applied for the likely cutcome. Significant unobservable inputs are order intake, pipeline of opportunities and histerical performance. The
stronger these inputs, the higher the estimated fair value. The amounts payable will be based on the achievement of annual performance targeis measured
against the profit before tax of Transport Engineering across a two-year earn-out penod. Each eam-out is only payable in full if the performance target

is achieved. £2.1m (AUD 3.8m) (2019: £0.2m — AUD 0.4m) has been accrued within specific adjusting items {see Note 7) in the current year, reflecting the
increase in the fair value of contingent consideration payable based on RRA's results for the year ended 30 June 2020, together with the associated unwind
in the discount rate. This is included within nen-current liatilities as the amount is not due to be paid until after 30 june 2021,

Adjustments have been made to identifiable net assets acquired te reflect thenr fair value. These indude the recognition of customer-related intangible
assets separable from goodwill amounting to £5.7m (AUD 17.8m). The fair value of the contingent cash consideration and identifiable net assets acquired
were identified in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3 Business Combinations and the sale and purchase agreement,

The goodwill arising on acquisition can be ascribed to the existence of a skilted, active workforce, developed expertise and processes and the opportunities
1o obtain new contracts and develop the business. None of these meet the criteria for recognition as intangible assets separable from goodwill. None of the
goodwill recognised on consclidation is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The fair value of trade, contract and other receivables acquired of £2.3m (AUD 4.2m) included trade receivables of £0.3m (AUD D.6m} and amounts
recoverable on contracts of £1.8m (AUD 3.2m), all of which have been collected. Had Transport Engineering been acquired and consolidated from 1 July
2018, revenue and underlying operating profit in the income statement in the prior period would be £14.0m and £3.1m higher, respectively,
Acquisition-related expenditure of £0.2m (2019: £0.5m) representing costs incurred to integrate the business post-acquisition, together with £1.9m (2019;
£0.2m) of amortisation on acquired intangibles, has been charged to the income statement for the year endead 30 June 2020 and is included as a specific
adjusting item in Note 7. This is reported in the Rail segment in Note 5.
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15. Goodwill
Goodwill, which arises when we acquire a business and pay a higher amount than the fair value of its net assets
primarily due to the synergies we expect te create, is not amortised but is subject to annual impaimment reviews.

Goodwill accounting policy - Note 1tk)
Critical judgement on carrying value of Goodwill: CGUs - Note T(c}

Key sources of estimation uncertainty on carrying value of Goodwill - Note 1(c)

2020 2m9
Movermnent in goodwill £m £m
AT july 84.2 655
Acquisition of business (Note 14) 2.6 179
Exchange adjustments 1.0 08
At 30 June 87.8 84,2

The carrying value of goodwill and key assurmptions used in determining the recoverable amount of each CGU, or group of CGUs, are as follows:

Carrying value Pre-tax discount rate Long-term growth rate

2020 2019 2020 2018 2020 2019
Goodwill by operating segment £m im % % % %
Energy & Environment (EE)" 15.9 133 13.1 71 1.7 35
Rail® 46.6 46.0 12.8 80 3.8 48
Automotive & Industrial (A&’) 20.6 203 1.9 81 31 32
Defense 3.6 35 13.1 84 3.9 35
Performance Products (PP 1.1 11 119 71 1.5 35
At 30 June 87.8 842

(1) As set out In further detal i Note 1462}, the Zroun acqu ted PLC Cansaliing Pty Ltd on 37 July 2019, acding goodwill of £2 £m tathe £E CGU PLC Consulungis a~ Austraban firm wath a sirong techcal
acvisory capabiiity across the project e cycle in infrastructure, envirenment and planning, including supporting the environmental raquizernents of master-planming, business cases, procurement,
design, construction and operation

{2) As set out in further detail in Note 14(b), the Gioup acqured Transport Engmeenng Pty Ltd (Transport Engmeenng’)on 31 May 2079, adding goodwill of £179m 10 the Rail greup of CGUS. This
Acquisition provides an active presence for Ricardo Rail in Australia, a strategically important, sizeable and growing market. Transport Engineering was renamed Ricardo Rail Australaon 17 June 2019
and forms a core part of the Group’s Rail business, adding breadth and depth te Ricardo Rail's existing capabilitics.

The three-year plan and discounted cash flow calculations thereon provide a value-in-use which supports the carrying value of the goodwill allocated to

each CGU, or group of CGUs, at 30 June 2020, resulting in no impairment for the year (2019 £NIl). The three-year cashflow forecasts are based on the budget

for the following year (year one) and the business plans for years two and three (the three-year plan), with a /5% operating cashflow cenversion rate. The

three-year plan s prepared by management, and is reviewed and approved by the Board The three-year plan reflects past experience, management’s

assessment of the current contract portfolio, contract wins, contract retention, price increases, gross margin, as well as future expected market trends

(including the impact of COVID-19).

Cash flows beyond year three are projected into perpetuity using a long-term growth rate, which is determined as being the lower of the planned

compound annual growth rate in each CGU, or group of CGU's three-year plan and external third party forecasts of the prevailing inflation and economic

growth rates for each of the territories in which each CGU, or group of CGUs, primarily operates.

Apart from operating cash flows and lang-term growth rates, the ather key assumption is the pre-tax discount rate, which is derived from externally sourced

data and reflecis the current market assessment of the Group's time value of money and risks specific ta each CGU. Specific estimates for long-term growth

rates and pre-tax discount rates are shown in Note 15. The vaiue-in-use calculations were are assessed for sensitivity to reasonably possible changes to these

estimates. The sensitivities assessed include a 10% reduction in planned cperating profit, a 10% reduction in the planned operating cash flow conversicn

rate, a 1% increase in the pre-tax discount rate and a 1% decrease in the long-term growth rate, together with a further scenario whereby all sensitivities

were combined together.

For goodwiil allocated to the Rail group of CGUs:

= If operating profit levels used in the value-in-use calculation had been 10% lower than management’s estimates, the Group would have recagnised an
impairment charge of £2.8m

« |f the operating cash flow conversion rate used in the vatue-in-use calculation had been 10% lower than management’s estirmates, the Group would have

recognised an impairment charge of £3.6rm

If the fong-term rate applied to the cash flows in the value-in-use calculation had been 1% lower than management’s esumates, the Group would have

recognised an impairment charge of £5.2m

= [f the pre-tax discount rate applied 1o the discounted cash flows in the value-in-use caleulation had been 1% higher than managernent’s estimates, the
Group would have recognised an impairment charge of £4.3m

For the remaining goodwill balances, the change in the estimated recoverable amount from any reasonably possibie change in the key estimates does not

cause the recoverable amount to be materially lower than their carrying amount.
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16. Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets accounting policy - Note 1(l)
Critical judgement: Recoverability of capitalised development costs - Note 1{c)

Acquired intangible assets

Customer
contractsand  Software and Development
relationships technology Software costs Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
AUl July 2018 276 22 248 203 745
Acquisition of business (Note 14{b)) 9.7 - - - 9.7
Additions - - 15 76 gt
Disposals - - ©5) 0.2) ©7)
Exchange rate adjustments 03 - 01 04 08
At 30 June 2019 376 2.2 259 281 938
Acquisition of business (Note 14{a)} 13 - - - 13
Additions - - 12 80 9.2
Disposals - - {2.8) [(oR)] 29
Redlaswiations - - 0.6 06 -
Exchange rate adjustments 03 - 02 06 11
At 30 June 2020 392 22 239 372 102>
Accumulated amortisation
Azl July 2018 14.0 12 181 99 432
Charge for the year 36 04 23 35 98
Assets classified as heid for sale (Note 19) - - 0.5 0.2 Q.7
Exchange rate adjustments 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 05
At 30 June 2019 17.7 1.7 200 134 528
Charge for the year 55 04 19 4.2 120
Disposals - - (28) - (28
Redlassificatians - - {0.5) a5 -
Exchange rate adjustments 0.3 - - 03 06
At 30 June 2020 235 21 186 184 626
Net bock value
At 30 June 2020 157 01 53 188 359
AL 30 June 2019 189 Q.5 59 14.7 41.0
At 30 June 2018 136 10 67 104 n7

Customer contracts and relationships were primarily identified as part of the previous acquisitions of LR Rail and Transport Engineering (see Note 14({b)). The
assets spedific to these acquisitions have carrying values of £5.6m {2019: £74m} and £7.8m (20719: £9.5m) and have remaining amortisation pericds of three
and four vears, respectively, Customer contracts and relationships were also identified as part of the acguisition in the current year of PLC Consulting (see
Note 14(z)) which have a carrying value of £0.9m and a remaining amortisation period of two years.

Software which is not acquired through business combinations primarily comprises Costs that have been capitalised in respect of an internaily developed
ERP system. The ERP system has a carrying value of £1.4m {2019 £1.9m} and has a remaining amortisation period of three years, Software includes £1.6m
(2019: £6.9m} in respect of assets under construction which are net being amortised untl! the assets are made available for use.

Development costs are incurred to develop and regularly update a suite of simulation and analysis software tools used in the Automaotive sector, but also
with applications in other sectors. The suite of assets have a carrying value of £6.2m (2019: £5.0m) and an amoertisation period of three years is applied to
each annual update when released. Development costs also include a patented systern that combines anti-lock braking and electronic stability control
(ABS/ESC) to mitigate rollover fatalities commonly associated with the High Mobility Muitipurpose Wheeled Vehicle (HMMWY' or ‘Humvee’). The asset
has a carrying value of £2.6m (2019: £2.4m). £0.4m of additional developrment expenditure was added 1o the asset during the year for the development

of variance of the ABS brake kit to be fitted on other versions of the HMMWV. Development costs alse include £1.3m (2019: £0.3m) for a plug-in hybrid
demanstration vehicle which highlights the fatest technology to vehicle manufactures.

In addition, development costs include £3.9m (2019: £5.3m) in respect of assets under construction which are not being amortised until the assets are made
available for use. Development costs under construction include assets such as engineering software updates under development, together with new
technology, tools and processes in the A&l and EE segments.

The amortisation charge of £12.0m (2019: £2.8m) is comprised of £3.3m (2019: £2.4m) included within cost of sales and £8.7m (2019; £74m) included within
administrative expenses in the income statement, of which £6.0m (2019: £4.0m) relates to acquired intangible assets and is presented within specific
adjusting items, as set out in Note 7.
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17. Property, plant and equipment

[ Property, plant and equipment accounting policy - Note 1(m)

Fixtures,
Freehold land Leasehold Plantand fittings and
and buildings properties machinery equipment Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
AL T July 2018 205 45 993 237 1480
Acquisition of business (Nate 14(b)) - - 01 - 0.
Additions 05 0.5 46 20 76
Disposals - - 5.0) 19 69
Assets classified 3s nela for sale (Note 19) - - (19.5) - {195}
Recdassficar.ons 0e) 06 06 0.6) -
Exchange rate adjustments - 0.1 06 0.2 09
At 30 June 2019 204 57 807 234 1302
Additions 14.6 0.1 54 19 220
Disposals - (1.6 0.7 (1.7 (5.0)
Assets classified as held for sale (Note 19) {14.2) - 1) - {15.3)
Reclassifications 03 0.2 (1.2} 0.7 -
Exchange rate adjustments - - 02 0. 03
At 30 June 2020 21 44 323 244 132.2
Accumulated amortisation
A1 July 2018 45 24 778 18.0 1027
Charge for the year 04 04 28 20 56
Disposals 0.3) 03 {5.0) (19 ©.9)
Ansers classified as feld for sale {Note 19) - - (16,6} - (16.6)
Exchange rate adjustments - - 07 0.1 08
At 30 June 2019 46 3.1 597 18.2 85.6
Charge for the year 0.5 03 z9 20 57
Impairment loss 56 - - - 56
Disposals - {14) (1.8) a.n 4.9
Assets dassified as held for sale {(Mote 19 {5.6) - - - 56)
Reclassifications {0.2) 01 - Q1 -
Exchange rate adjustments - 01 02 0.1 04
At 30 June 2020 49 2.2 610 187 B6 8
Net book value
At 30 June 2020 16.2 22 213 57 454
AL 30 June 2019 158 26 210 52 446
At 30 June 2018 160 21 215 5.7 453

The carrying value of assets under construction included in property, plant and equipment amounts to £8.4m (2019: £5.0m). Property, plant and equipment
under construction includes a hybrid powertrain rig within plant and machinery with a carrying value of £4.4m {2015: £1.8m). Amertisation is expected to
commence in the next financial year.

AL 30 jurre 2020, the Group had plant and madchinery financed through a hire-purchese agreernent and secured on the asset (see Note 25) with a canrying
value of £0.6m {2019: £0.7m). As disclosed in Note 36, a guarantee was provided to the Ricardo Group Pension Fund (RGPF) of £2.8m in respect of certain
contingent liabilities that may arise, which have been secured on freehold land and buildings with a carrying value of £16,2m (2019 £15.8m),

Al 30 June 2020, contracts had been placed for future capital expenditure, which have not been provided for in the financial statements, amounting to
£1.2m Q019: £17m),

As explzined in Note 7, on 21 August 2019, the Group purchased the freehold property of OTC, comprising the north building, which housed the test cell
assets, and the south office building, for £14.2m (USD 17 3m), which is included in freehold land and buildings above. Subsequently, the Group commenced
a process 10 market the newly acquired freehold property, together with the DTC test cell assets. The freehold property was immediately written down to
£8.6m (USDr 10.5m) as part of being classified as held for sale (see Note 19}, as the purchase price was predicated on Ricardo's leng-term tenancy, crystallising
an impairment charge of £5.6m as disclosed in the table above. The net book value of £8.6m was transferred to nen-current assets held for sale. The
impairment charge was partially offset by the write-off of a £3.1m (USD 4.0m) net lease liability under IFRS 16. Whilst being treated as held for sale, a further
£1.m (USD 1.3mY impainment as recognised, as disclosed in Note 19. Due 1o the nature and significance of the amount the impairment charge (together
with the balance of the lease liability) have been recognised in the income statement within specific adjusting items. They are included within the A&
segment and within administrative expenses in the reported resuilt.
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18. Right-of-use assets, lease liabilities and lease receivables

I Leases accounting policy - Note 1(n)

{a) Leasing activities as lessee
The Group leases various office premises and technical centres, vehicles and other equipment.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

Property lease terms range from three months to 21 years, with an average of five years, ard may have extension or termination options. The impact of
exercising these opticns, where not currently considered reasonably certain, is quantified below. There are several property subleases within the group - see
Mote 18(b} below.

Other lease terms range from one to 12 years, with an average of four years.
The lease agreements do not impaose any covenants, Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
Where leases are short- term and/or leases of low-value items, the Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for these leases.

Untd the 2619/20 financial year, all leases were classified as operating leases under tAS 17 From 1 July 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
carresponding liability at the date at which the feased asset is available for use by the group.

Infarmation about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.

{i} Right-of-use assets

Fixtures,
Plant and fittings and
Property machinery equipment Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 3G June 2019 - - - -
Adoption of IFRS 16 {Note 2) 524 0.6 04 534
At 1 July 2039 524 06 04 534
Additions 53 04 - 57
Disposals (10.3) - - (10.3)
Rerneasurements {13.3) - - {13.3)
Exchange rate adjustments 0.5 - - 05
At 30 June 2020 34.6 1.0 0.4 36.0
Accumuiated depreciation and impairment
At 30 June 2019 - - - -
Adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 2) 16.3 - - 163
At 1 July 2019 163 - - 16.3
Charge for the period 439 G4 01 54
impairment 05 - - 05
Disposals (10.3) - - (10.3)
Exchange rate adjustments 02 - - 02
At 30 June 2020 11.6 0.4 0.1 1241
Net book value
At 30 June 2020 23.0 0.6 0.3 23.9
At 1 July 2019 36 06 04 EYA|

At 30 June 2019 - - - -

An impairment charge of £0.3m was recognised in respect of the vacant portion of the Cambyridge Technical Centre and an impairment charge of £0.2m
related 1o the exit of the Santa Clara Technical Centre {Note 7).

The purchase of the freehold of the Detroit Technology Campus, previcusly leased by the Group, resulted in remeasurements which reduced the lease
liability and the right-of-use asset by £14.2m and £11.1m respectively. The £31m excess of the lease liability over the carrying value of the right-of-use assets
is recognised as income within administrative expenses, and included in *Reorganisation costs: Purchases and disposals” within specific adjusting ftems
(Note 7).

Other reassessments of lease terms resulted in a remeasurements which increased both the right-of-use asset and the lease liability by £24m

The net book value of Property above is shown net of £1.0m (2019 £1.1m) in respect of consideration received as part of a historicaf sale and leaseback
transaction, deemed to be an incentive for extending the lease term,

The lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position at the date of initial application vary due
to length and geographical location and are as follows;

« Property - 1.8% to 4.8%
» Plant and machinery — 2% to 4.2%
= Fxtures, fittings and equipment - 2% to 4.2%
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18. Right-of-use assets, lease liabilities and lease receivables (continued)
The following amounts are included in the income statement relating to short-term and low value leases:

2020
Expense relating leases not capitalised, and expensed to the income statement im
Short-term leases 1.2
Low-value leases (not including short-term leases above) 01
Total 1.3

Animpairment charge of £0.3m was recogrised to reflect the fact that part of the Carmmbridge Technical Centre (CaTC) was vacant at the end of the year

and is expected tc remain s0. This is recognised within administrative expenses, and included in “Reorganisation costs: Other recrganisation costs” within
speufic adjusting iterns (Note /),

As at 30 June 2020, petential future cash outflows of £9.8m (undiscounted) have not beenincluded in the lease liability because it is not reasonably certain
that the leases wil} be extended (or not terminated).

(i) Right-of-use - lease liabilities

Movement in lease liability Note £m
Adoption of IFRS 16 Z 456
New leases 5.7
interest a 1.2
Payments 6.8)
Disposals (136)
Remeasurements {30
Exchange rate adjustments 0.2
At 30 June 2020 29.3
Lease habitity £m
Current liabilities - maturing within one year 67
Non-current liabilities -maturing after one year 226
At 30 June 2020 29.3

The maturity analysis of this lability is shown Note 27(c).

{b) Leasing activities as lessor

The Group subleases out several paris of its leased property. All subleases are classified as operating leases from a lessor perspective with the exception of
one sub-lease, which the Groyp has ciassified as a finance sublease. Information about leases for which the Group is a fessor 1s presented below.

(i} Finance Lease

During the ycar, the Group recognised finance income of £0.1m relating to its fease recevable
The following table sets out the movements in the lease receivable balance during the year.

Lease receivable Note £m
Adoption of IFRS 16 2 23
Interest 10 01
Receipts 02
Exchange rate adjustments 01
At 30 June 2020 23 2.3

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease receivable, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the reporting date:

2020
Maturity of lease receivable £m
Less than cne year 02
One to twoe years 02
Two to three years 0.2
Three to four years 0z
Fourto ive years 02
Mane than five years 22
Total undiscounted lease receivable 3.2
Unearned finance income ((#h)]
Net investment in the lease 23

This is a back-to-back Jease with a right-of-use asset. As a finance lease this is included in ather receivables. See Note 23.
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{ii} Operating lease

Dunng the year, the Group recognised rental income of £1.1m {2019: £0.9m) relating to operating leases

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the reporting date.
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2020
Maturity of lease payments £m
Less than one year 1.7
One to two years 12
Two to three years Q7
Three to four years 07
lour o free years 06
More than fva years 03
Total 5.2
19. Non-current assets held for sale
| Non-current assets held for sale accounting policy - Note (o)
Freehold land Plant and

Moavement in held for sale Note and buildings machinery Total

£m £m £m
AL 30 June 2019 - 29 29
Transferred from property, plant and equipment i’ 86 11 97
Disposals 21 40) 6.1
Impairment loss [{R)] - an
Exchange rate adjustments on - 0.1
At 30 June 53 - 5.3

In January 2019, the Directors made a decision o cormmence a process to market actively its test cell assets at DTC for sale, which had a net book value of
£29m {USD 3.7m) at 1 July 2079. During the year, the Group continued to invest in these assets to improve their desirability, increasing the held for sale net
bock value to £4.0m (USD 49m). These assets were sold on 3 june 2020, as discussed below.

As explained in Note 7 on 21 August 2019, the Group purchased the freehold property of DTC, comprising the north building, which housed the test

cell assets, and the south office building, for £14.2m (USD 17.3m). Subsequently, the Group commenced a process to market the newly acquired freehold
propetty, together with the DTC tesy cell assets. The lreehokd property was immediately writlen down Lo £8.6m (USD 10.5m) as part of being dassified as
held for sale, as the purchase prics was pradicated on Ricardo’s leng-term tenancy, crystallising an impairment charge of £56m. The impairment charge
was partially offset by the write-off of a £3.1m (USD 4.0m) net lease liability under IFRS 16. The DTC north building was sold on 3 June 2020, as discussed
below. The DTC south building is still being marketed and remains held for sale at & value of £5.3m (USD 6.5m), as a further impairment charge of £1.1m
{USD 1.3m) was recognised 1o reflect current market conditions. Due to the nature and significance of the amount the impairment charge (together with
the balance of the lease liability) have been recognised in the income statement within speafic adjusting terns. They are inctuded within the A&l segment

and within administrative expenses in the reported result.

Detroit test cell business and north building of Detroit Technology Campus

Fair value of cash consideration £m
Initial cash consideration 2.8
Provisional fair value of contingent cash consideration:
-Less than one year 0.5
- More than one year 0.7
Total fair value of cash consideration 4.0
Carrying value of property, plant and equipment disposed
- Leasehold property 2.1)
- Plart and machinery (4.0}
Totai carrying vaiue of property, plant and equipment disposed 6.1
Loss on disposal before tax 2.0
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19. Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

In June 2020, the Group sold the test cell assets and the DTC north building to a non-competitive strategic partner for an initial cash consideration of
£28m (USD 3.5my), which could increase to a maximum of £44m (USD 5.5m), depending on the volume of testing work placed into the facility by Ricardo
over the next twe years. The total fair value of cash consideration is £4.0m {USD 4.9m), which includes the accrued provisional fair value of contingent cash
consideration payaple of £1.2m {USD 1.5my). A loss of £2.1m {USD 2 6m) was recognised on the sale, Due to the nature and significance of the amount, the
loss on disposal was recognised In the income staternent within specific adjusting items

20. Provisions for liabilities and charges

l Provisions for liabilities and charges accounting policy - Note 1(p} _|
Employment-
Restructuring related

Warranty costs benefits Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 30 June 2018 20 24 10 03 57
Charged to the income statement 18 0.2 04 01 25
Utilised in the year 0.5} 1.3 - - 19
Released in the year ©.3) {0.1) - - 04
AL 30 June 2019 29 12 14 04 59
Adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 2) - {0.5) - - Q.5)
AL July 2019 (adjusted) 29 07 14 04 54
Charged 1o the income staterment 13 15 04 - 32
utilised in the yaar 1Q ©.3) {0.0) - (1.6)
Released in the year 04 - {(ON ] - 0.5)
At 30 June 2020 28 1.7 1.6 0.4 6.5
2020 2019

_£m fio
Current 3.2 2.2
Non-current 3.3 37
At 30 June 6.5 59

The warranty provision reflects the Directors’ best estimate of the cost required to full the Group's assurance-type warranty obligations within a number of
contracts. Subisequent to their initial recognition, warranty provisions are utilised or released over the pericds of the varicus warranty obligations, which are
expecied 1o be less than five years.

The provision for restructuring costs included amounts payable to former employees who have been made redundant, primarity as part of the
reorganisation of our A&l and Rail segments, as set out in further detaif in Note 7. The element of the provision relating to redundancy costs was partially
utilised during the year with the rermaining balance expected to be utilised in less than one year. Provisions for onerous lease obligations were also included
in the prior year. On adoption of IFRS 16, these onerous lease balances were transferred against the right-of-use asset from provisions {see Note 2}. A
provision still remains for a proportion of the service charge costs of the remaining lease period.

Fmployment-relared benefits are statutory provisions which include long-service awards and termination indemnity schermnes. The timing of the cash
outflows is dependent upen the retirerment of attrition of employees, but 15 predeminantly expected to be more than five years.

Other provisions comprise expected costs of legal ¢laims and litigation, together with dilapidation and restoration costs for leasehold property. The
associzted cash outflows for legal claims and litigation are predominantly expected to be less than one year. Dilapidation and restoration costs reflects

the Directors’ best estimate of future obligations relating to the maintenance and restoration of leasehcld properties arising from past contractual
commitments to new, extended or terminated lease agreements. Restoration costs expected at the commencement of the lease are included within

the nght-of-use asset value (see Note 18{a}). The timing of the cash outflows is dependent upen the remaining term of the assodated leases and are subject
to negotiation.
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21. Deferred tax

This note explains how our Group deferred tax charge arises and also provides information on our expected future
tax charges and sets out the tax assets held across the Group together with our view on whether or not we expect
to be able to make use of these in the future.

l Deferred tax accounting policy - Note 1{q) _|
2020 209
Non-current £m £m
Assets 9.4 67
Liabilities (5.6} (73)
At 30 June 3.8 0s)
Accelerated Defined
capital benefit Taxiosses and Unrealised
allowances obligation credits  capital gains Other Total
£m £m £fm £m £m £m
AL July 2018 (3.5) 07 58 04 21 a7
Arising on acquisition {Note 14(b)) - - - - 29 (29
Charged (o the income statement 03 0.7) on - (1.9 &40
Charged to other comprehensive income - 14 - - - 14
Exchange rate adjustments - - 0 - 03 02
At 30 june 2019 4.8) 14 56 04 (24 0.6)
Adoption of IFRS 16 {see Note 2) - - - - 1.1 11
At 1 July 2019 (adjusted) (4.8) 14 56 04) (1.3) 05
Arising on acquisition (Note 14(a)) - - - - 04) 04
Credited/{charged) to the income statement 02 (1.2) 20 - 14 24
Credited to cther comprehensive income - 10 ) - a1 R
Exchange rate adjustments - - - - 02 6.2
Net {liabilities)/assets at 30 June 2020 4.6} 1.2 7.6 0.4) - 3.8

At 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 there were no temporary differences associated with undistributed carnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liatilities have been recognised. No hability would be recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to control the uming of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable fulure. A deferred Lax assel continues

to be recognised in the United States as at 30 June 2020 in respect of historic research and development claims (‘R&D credits’) that can be utilised against
future taxable profits. These RRD credits carry a 20-year statute of limitation and must be unlised within that pericd. The carrying vaiue of the R&D credits
recognised at 30 June 2020 is £4.8m (USD 6.3m) {2019: £4.9m (USD 6.3m)), A deferred tax asset of £2.2m (USD 2.7m) is also recognised in the United States on
current year trading losses. These losses can be carried back against the previous five years of taxable profit or carried forward against future taxable prefits.

The deferred tax asset nct recognised in respect of losses incurred in Germany as at 30 June 2020 amounts to £10.7m (EUR 11.9m) {2019: £10.9m {EUR 12.2m)).
Due 1o the resiructuring in Germany and the redyction in activity in Germany in recent years, the Directors consider it unlikely that sufficient future taxable
profits will be available in Germany in the foreseeable future against which the carrying value of the brought forward deferred tax asset can be utilised.

The Directors have performed an assessment and consider that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available in the United States against which
the carrying vatue of the recognised deferred tax asset can be utilised in the foreseeable future, This assessment was based on a review of the projected
annual profit before tax of the consolidated tax group in the United States, based upon the latest Board-approved budgets and business plans for the next
three years, lagether with fong-term growth assurnptions based on prevailing inflation and economic growth rates. Based on the ‘base case’ assumptions,
the entire deferred tax asset is forecast to be predominantly utilised by 30 June 2022, with each individual R&D credit being utilised in no less than three
years before the expiry of its 20-year statute of limitation pericd. The assessment was subject to reverse-stress testing, the results of which did not change
management’s view of the recoverability of the asset.
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Working capital

The net cash inflow from working capital was £8.5m in the year (f4.5m excluding the impact
of specific adjusting items). This is due to a strong focus on working capital management
combined with lower levels of trading in the year.

22. Inventories

Llnventories accounting policy - Note 1(r)

2020 2019

£m £m

Raw materials and consumables 13.6 $.5
Work in progress 4.5 39
Finished goods 1.9 11
At 30 June 20.1 145

Imventeries of £51.5m 2018: £709m) were recognised as an expense during the year and included in cost of sales. During the year £0.3m {2319 £04m) of inventory
was written down and also included in cost of sales.

23. Trade, contract and other receivables

Trade, contract and other receivables mainly consist of amounts owed to us by customers and amounts that we pay
1o our suppliers in advance. The note also includes contract assets, which represent an asset for accrued revenue in
respect of goods or services delivered to customers for which a trade receivable does not yet exist.

Trade, contract and other receivables accounting policy - Note 1(s}

Critical judgements: Impairment of financial assets - Note 1(c)

2020 209
£m im
Trade recetvables 438 653
Less provision for impairment of trade receivables (3.8) (2.8)
Trade receivables - net 40.0 625
Contract assets:
- Amounts recoverabie on contracts {AROC") 53.3 541
- Accrued revenue 0.7 14
Prepayrments 10.7 10
Lease receivable (Note 18(bi) 23 -
Other recevables 1.8 i24
At 30 June 118.8 1414
Current 115.6 1414
Non-current 3.2 -
At 30 June 118.8 1414

The carrying arnount at year-end is presented net of a provision for irnpaicment of contract assets of £4.0m (2016 £1.1m). Contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when an invoice is issued to the customer. Payment terms typically range from immediate payment to 90 days after the invoice date and standard
payment terms are usually 30 days after the invoice date. The net revenue recognised in the year from wholly or partially satisfied distinct performance obligations
in previous years is £21.9m (2019: £259m). This is primarily due 1o the net impact of variation orders and canceltations for changes in scope and transaction price on
contracts. Information about the Group's exposure of its trade receivables 1o credit and market risk is included in Notes 27(d} and 27(e).

Included within prepaymerits are £2.0m {2019: £2.3m) of assets recognised from the costs W obtain or fulfil an expecied contrsct with a customer. No revenue

has been recognised on these costs. An asset has been recognised because the costs directly related to an anticipated contract, they will be used in satisfying
performance obligations In the future and the cost are expected to be recoverable.

The £3.2m nen-current asset relates to other receivables. £2.3m of this refates to the IFRS 16 lease receivable as disclosed in Note 18. £0.7m isincluded within
prepayments and is the non-current deferred consideration on the disposal of the DTC test asset business as disclosed in Note 19. £0.2m relates to othet receivables

2020 206
Group provision for impaicment of trade receivables Em im
At 1 July (2.8) on
Transitional IFRS 9 adjustment to opening retained eamings - 24
Net impairment/freversals) to the income statement (Note 4) (1.3) 06
Amaounts utifised 0.3 01
At 30 June (3.8} (2.8}
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23. Trade, contract and other receivables {continued)

Order book

Order hook comprises the value of all unworked purchase orders and contracts received from customers at the reporting date and provides an indication of
the amount of revenue that has been secured and will be recognised in future accounting periods. Order book represents the transaction price aliocated to
wholly and parually unsatisfied distinct performance obligations, as defined by IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The periods from 30 Junein

which the distinct performance obligat-ons are expected to be satished are as foliows:

2020 2019

£m £m

Less than 6 manths 125.8 145.7
610 12 manths 76.9 668
Gver 12 months 1m.3 101.5
3140 3140

At 30 June

24, Trade, contract and other payables

Trade, contract and other payables mainty consist of amounts owed to suppliers that have been invoiced or are
accrued and contract hiabilities relating to consideration received from customers in advance. They also include taxes

and social security amounts due in relation to the Group's role as an employer.

l Trade, contract and other payables accounting policy — Note 1(t)

2020 2019
£m £m
Trade payables 9.6 213
Contract liabilities:
- Payments received in advance on contracts {POA) 220 245
- Deferred revenue 6.8 6.2
Tax and social security payable 9.5 7.7
Accruals 273 272
Other payables 0.4 30
At 30 June 75.6 890
Current 72.0 8438
Non-turrent 3.6 51
At 30 June 75.6 899

Revenye recognised in the year from contract liabilities at the beginning of the year was £22.5m (2019: £24.9m). Contract liabilities primarily relate to the
Group's obligation to perform services, which are paid by customers in advance of those services being provided. Contract liabilities have decreased due to
changes in the mix of contracts containing upfront payment terms. Non-current amounts include accruals for the provisional fair value of contingent cash
consideration payable for Transport Engineering of £2.1m (AUD 3.8m) (2019: £5.1m {AUD 3.4m), a5 set out in Note 14(b), which is conditional on performance

for the year to 30 June 2021.
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Net debt and financial risk management

Closing net debt was £734m (FY 2018/19: £474m), with the increase due to the purchase of

the DTC facility, the acquisition of PLC Consulting (Note 14(a)) and net restructuring costs.

25, Net debt and borrowings

The objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders, benefits for ather stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital. Capital is monitored on the basis of the gearing ratio, which is calculated as net debt

divided by total capital.

The majority of the Group's cash is held in bank deposits. The Group's sources of borrowing for funding and

liquidity purposes come from the Group’s £2000m multi-currency revolving credit facility and through short-term

overdraft facilities.

[Net debt and borrowings accounting policy - Note 1{u)

The disclosures in this note include certain Alernative Performance Measures (APMs). For mare information on the APMs used by the Group, including

definitions, please refer ta Note 3.

(3} Gearing ratio

2020 2019
£m £m
Net debt 73.4 474
Total equity 149.1 1719
Total capital 222.5 219.3
At 30 June 33.0% 2165
(b} Net debt
2020 2019
Analysis of net debt £m £m
Current assets - cash and cash equivalents:
- Cash and cash equivalents 66.3 36.3
Total cash and cash eguivalents 66.3 363
Current liabilities - borrowings:
- Bank overdrafts repayable on demand (10.5) 39
__- Hire purchase liabilities maturing within one year {0.1) [(*R)]
Total current borrowings (10.6) 40
Non-current liabilities - borrowings:
- Hire purchase liabilities maturing after one year {0.4} {06)
- Bank loans maturing after one year {128.7) (79.1)
Total non-current borrowings {129.9 (79.7)
Ar 30 June {73.4) 474)
Total cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 66.3 363
Total borrowings at 30 June (139.7) 837
Total net debt at 30 June (73.4) (474)
2020 2019
Movernent in net debt £m fm
Net debt at begirning of year {47.4) (26.1)
therease i cash and cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts 23.4 8.6
Repayments offproceeds from) hire purchase 0.2 ©7
Proceeds from bank loans (140.3) 64.0)
Repayments of bank loans 90.7 348
At 30 June (73.4} 47.4)
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25. Net debt and borrowings (continued)

At the year-end, the Group had current hire-purchase lizbilites of £0.1m and non-current finance lezse liabilities of £0.4m. This hire-purchase agreement has
an implicit rate of interest of 2.4%. The future undiscounted minimum lease payments due within ane year is £0.1m and due after one year s £0.6m.

Atthe year-end, the Group held total banking facilities of £216.6m (2019: £166.4m), which included committed facilities of £200.0m (2019 £150.0m). The
committed facility consists of a £200m multi-currency Revolving Credit Facitity RCF) which provides the Group with committed funding through to July
2023, In addition, the Group has uncommitted facilities including overdrafis of £16.6m {2019 £16 4rn), which mature throughout this and the next financial
year and are renewable annually.

Non-current bank loans comprise committed facilities of £128 7m {2019 £79.1m), net of direct issue costs, which were drawn primarily to fund acquisitions
and general corporate purposes. These are denominated in Pounds Sterling and have variable rates of interest dependent upon the Group's adjusted
leverage, which range from 1.4% to 2.2% (2019: 1 4% to 2.2%) above LIBOR. Adjusted leverage is defined in the Group's bariking documenits as being the
ratio of total net debt to adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted E3ITDA 1s further defined as being operating profit before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation,
adjusted [or any one-off, non-recurnng, exceptional Costs and ecquisitions o disposals dunng the relevant period. Atthe reporting date, the Group has
an adjusted leverage which attracts the lowest rate of interest, being LIBOR plus 14% (2019: LIBOR plus 1.4%). The Group has banking facilities for its UK
companies which together have a net gverdraft limit, but the balances are presented on a gross basis in the financial statements. After the reperting date,
the Group completed an amendment of its banking facilities. Further detail is given in Note 39.

26. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

] Fair value of financial assets and liabilities accounting policy - Note I{v)

There are no differences between the fair value of financial assets and labilities and their carrying value. The Group holds the following financizl
instruments:

2020 2018
£m £m

Financial assets
Amortised cost:
- Trade receivables — net {Mote 23) 40.0 625
- Lease receivable (Note 23} 2.3 -
- Other receivables (Note 23) 1.8 124
- Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) 663 363
Fair value through other comprehensive incorme ('FVOCI):
- Fair value hedging instruments 39 03
At 30 Jyne 124.3 115
Financial liabilities
Amortised cost:
- Borrowings (Note 25) 139.7 837
- Lease payables (Note 18) 293 -
- Trade payables (Note 24} 9.6 213
- Other payables {Note 24) 0.4 3.0
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI'):
- Fair value hedging instruments (7.1} 11
Fair value through profit or loss (FYTRLL
- Denvatve finanaal habihitics 0.6 o1
At 30 June 172.5 1092

Net derivative financial expense of £0.5m (2019; £0.9m) relate 1o foreign exchange contracts,
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26. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

2020 2019
£m £m
Measured at FVTPL
Foreign exchange swap contract assets
- Fair value gains - [12°]
Foraign exchange forward contract liabilives:
- Fair value losses 0.6 (0.1
At 30 June 0.6 38
Measured at FVOC|
Foreign exchange swap contract assets:
- Fairvalue losses (7.9) (1.1
- Fair value gains 57 11
Foreign exchange swap contract liabilives:
- Farr value losses (0.2) 0.2)
- Fair value gains 2.3 0.3
At 30 June {o.1) a1
Reconciliation of movermnents of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
Note Note 25 Note 18(aii}
£m £m £m
AT July 2018 592 - 59.2
Chanaes from fingncing cash flows (see cash flow staternent)
- Proceeds from loans and borrowings 64.7 - 64.7
- Repayment of borrowings (34.8) - {34.8)
- Movernent in bank overdraft (5.4) - (5.4)
Toral changes from hnancing cash flows 245 - 245
Cther changes
- Interest expense 0 (2.6) - (26
- interest paid 26 - 26
Totat ather changes - - -
At 30 June 2019 837 - 83.7
Adoption of IFRS 16 2 - 456 456
At 1July 2019 837 456 1293
Changes fram Anancing cash flows {(see cash flow statemem):
- Proceeds from loans and borrowings 140.3 - 140.3
- Repayment of borrowings 90.7) - 80.7)
- Movernent in bank averdraft 66 - 656
- Proceeds from lease liabilities - {5.6) (5.6
Total changes from financing cash flows 56.2 {5.6) 50.6
The etfect of changes in foreign gxchange rages 18(aii} - 0.2 0.2
Other changes
Liability-related
- New leases 18{air) - 57 57
- Disposals 18tai) - (13.6) (136)
- Rerneasurements 18(ain) - 30 (30
- Interest expense 10 32 12 44
- Interest paid (34) (1.2} 4.6)
Total other changes 03 (109 gy
At 30 June 2020 1397 293 169.0
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27. Financial risk managerment

The finandal risks faced by the Group comprise capital risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and market risk {cormprising
interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk). The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks.
The Group have no material exposure to commodity price fluctuations and this situation is not expected to change
in the foreseeable future.

The finandal instruments of the Group comprise floating rate borrowings, the main purpose of which is to raise
finance for the Group's operations, and foreign exchange contracts used to manage currency risks.

(a} Objectives, policies and strategies

The otiectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern in order 1o provide returns for shareholders, benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimai capital structure 1o reduce the cost of capital.

(b) Capital risk

Capital is monitored on the basis of the gearing ratic. This ratic is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity, plus net debt. Please see Note 25.

{c) Liquidity risk

The Group's policy towards managing its liquidity risks is to maintain a mix of short- and medium-term barrowing facilities. Short-term flexitility is provided
by bank overdraft faclities. In addition, the Group mantans medium-term borrowing facilities in order 10 provide the appropriate level of finance to
support current and future working capital reguirements. As the cash profile on large contracts can vary significantly, the Group seeks committed facilities
that provide sufficient headroom against forecast requirements to mitigate 11s exposure

The tables below analyse the Group's external non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings, based on the remaining period at the
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. Al amounts disclosed in the tatles below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. These amounts
approximate to their carrying amount as the impact of discounting on trade payables that mature after more than one year is insignificant and borrowings
that mature after more than one year are primarily floating rate bank loans where payments are reset to market rates at regular short-term intervals

Not included within the tables below are the following financial habilities:

* Detivative linancal lisbilities as Lheir contractual maturities are not considered to be essential for an understanding of the timing of the cash lows; and
« Other payables as the phasing of these liabilities is not contractually defined.

2020 2019
Maturity of trade payables £m im
Within 1 menth 7.6 127
After 1 month and within 3 months 2.0 a2
After 3 months and within 12 months - 04
At 30June 9.6 213
2020 2019
Maturity of borrowings £m im
Overdrafts repayable on demand 10.5 39
Within 12 months:
- Hire purchase liabilities 0.1 01
After 12 months and within 5 years:
- Hire purchase liabilities 0.4 06
- Bank loans 128.7 791
At 30 June 139.7 837
2020 2019
Maturity of undiscounted lease liability £m £m
Within one year 70 -
Between one and five years 16.3 -
After fivr yrars 111 -
Finance portion of net liability (5.1) -
At 30 June 29.3 -
{d) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in respect of its trade receivables, which are stated net of provision for impairment. Exposure to this risk is mitigated by
careful evaluation of the granting of credit and the use of credit insurance where practicabte. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables
are limited due to the Group's customer base being farge and unrelated.
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27. Financial risk management {continued)
(d) Credit risk (continued)

2020 2019
Ageing of net trade receivables £m £mn
Not overdue and not impaired 28.0 505
Overdue but nat impatred:
Less than 90 days overdue 8.9 05
91 to 180 days overdue 1.2 08
Over 180 days overdue 19 o7
At 30 June 40.0 525

The Group's customers include the world's major transportation original equipment manufacturers, tier 1 suppliers, energy companies and government
agencies. Revenue by customer location is disclosed within Note 4(b) and trade receivables are derived from these customer groups and locations.

We have limited experience of bad debts with any of these customers. Of the total net trade receivables balance as at 30 June 2020 of £40.0m (2019 £62.5m)
£20.6m was received in July 2020 {2019: £36.6m)

An analysis of net trade receivables by currency 15 as follows:

2020 2019
Group net trade receivables by currency £m £m
Pounds Sterling 15.9 31
Furas 6.8 87
US Dollars 7.3 12%
Chinese Renminbt 5.2 58
Australian Dollars 11 -
Other currencies a7 4,
At 30 June 40.0 625

The Group is exposed to bank credit risk in respect of money held on deposit and certain derivative transactions entered into with banks. Exposure to this
forrn of nsk is mitigated as matenal transactions are only undertaken with bank counterparties that have high credit ratings assigned by internaticnal credit-
rating agencies. The Group further limits risk in this area by setting an overall credit limit for all transactions with each bank counterparty in accordance with
the institution's credit standing.

2020 2019

Maximum exposure to bank counterparty risk Em £m
Cash and cash equivalents 66.3 363
Diereative firan al 45981 3.9 03
At 30 June 70.2 366
2020 2019

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents by geographic location £m £m
United Kingdom 37.9 105
Maintand Eurcpe 7.2 43
North America 4.5 34
Asia 8.9 13.2
Australia 35 34
Rest of the World 4.3 15
At 30 June 66.3 363

(e} Market risk

tnterest rate risk

The Group's borrowings and cash balances held at floating interest rates are exposed 1o cash flow interest rate risk. As set out in further detail in Note 25,
the exposure to interest rate movements is not currently hedged as the variable rates of interest are largely dependent upon the adjusted leverage of the
Group, which s currently attracting the lowest possible rate of interest. The effect of any foreseen changes in the LIBOR remain unhedged, although the
policy is reviewed on an ongoing basis.

2020 2019
Financial assets and liabilities by interest type £m £m
Financial assets:
- Fixed rate 23 -
- Floating rate 278 196
- Interest-free 094.2 919
Financial liabilities:
- Fixed rate (29.9) 09N
- Floating rate (136.1) (830
- Interest-free {6.5) (25.5)
At 30 June {48.2) 23
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27. Financial risk management (continued)
(e} Market risk (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

I'he Group faces currency exposures on trading transactions undertaken by its subsidiaries in foreign currencies and balances arising there from, and on the
translation of profits 2arned in, and nat assets of, overseas subsidiaries prnimarily in the US, Eurepe and China, The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and liabilines are:

Assets Liabilities
2020 2019 2020 2019
Maturity of borrowings £m £m £m £m
UsS Doallar 14.4 195 (2.7} 2.5)
Buro 13.3 151 (5.4) 6.8}
Chinese Renminbi 1.0 15.1 {1.2) 0.4

The following foreign exchange differences were (charged)/credited 1o the income statement for the Group:

2020 2019
Financial assets and liabilities by interest type £m £m
Dervative contracts measured at FVTPL (Note 26).
- Foreign exchange contract assets - 09
- Foreign exchange contract liabilities (2.2) ©n
Orther finanaal assets 11 (.0
Orher financig! iakslines {0.5) oA
At 30 June (1.6} on

Ihe Group does not to undertake any speculative currency transactions, 1he Group use detivalive financial instruments primarily to manage currency
risk on its US Dollar, Euro, Chinese Renminbi, Japanese Yen and Hong Keng Dollar denominated recervables from its subsidiaries, in addition to managing
transactional exposures relating to customer contracts denominated in foreign currencies.

(f) Sensitivity analysis of financial instruments to market risk

Exchange rate sensitivity

The Group has financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, principally in US Doilars, Euros and Chinese Renminbi, which are not in the
functional currency of the entity that holds themn. A 20% change in the value of the US Dollar, Euro or Chinese Renminbi would have an immaterial impact
on the value of these financial instruments at the year-end. Given the relative strengthening of the Group's principal foreign currencies against the Pound
Sterling since the UK referendum vote 1o feave the EU, a 20% sensitivity in these exchange rates is deemed to be appropriate.

Interest rate sensitivity

A 1% increase in interest rates would have an insignificant impact on the vatue of the Grouo's floating rate financial instruments at the year-end. A 1%
sensitivity is deemed to be appropriate as loans are based en LIBOR and so are unlikely to be subjected to significant fluctuations in interest rates in the
foreseeable future.

{g) Cash flow derivatives

The Group employs derivative financial instruments, including foreign exchange contracts, to mitigate currency exposures on trading transactions that
coutd affect the income statement. Any change in the fair value of derivative foreign exchange forward and option contracts are recognised in the income
statement. Changes in the fair value of effective derivative foreign exchange swap contracts are hedge accounted and recognised in other comprehensive
income, with any ineffective amount recognised in the income statement.

Cash flows expected to oocur from denvative financial instruments used by the Greup for hedging purposes are set out below, which will be largely offset
by cash flows expected 1o occur from hedged items:

2020 2019
Affecting the income statement £m £m
Within 3 months 2.3 09
After 3 months and within 12 merths - 13
At 30 June 2.3 22

2020 2019
Affecting other comprehensive income £m im
within 3 months 78.2 420
After 3 months and within 12 months 13.3 nz
At 30 June 91.5 532
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Equity

Equity represents the capital of the Group attributable to Company shareholders and
non-controlling interests, and includes share capital, share premium and reserves. Equity
decreased in the year reflecting the Group’'s financial performance.

28. Share capital and share premium

Allotted, called-up and fully paid

2020 2019

£m im

53,406,250 (2019: 53,406,250) ordinary shares of 25p each 13.4 134
13.4 134

At 30 June

No dividerds were paid for interim and final dividends in respect of shares held by an Employee Benet Trust (EBT') in relation to the LTIP. There were 41,193

such shares at 30 June 2020 (2015: 40,631 shares).
Share premiurn has remained £14 3m since 1 July 2018,

29. Otherreserves

The merger reserve represents the amount by which the fair value of the shares issued as consideration for historic

acquiisitions exceeded their nominal value, offset by the goodwill on these acquisitions, The translation reserve

comprises curnulative foreign exchange differences arising from the translation cf financial statements of foreign

operations on consolidation.

Merger Translation
reserve reserve Total
£m £m £m,
At 3¢ June 2018 1.0 147 15.7
Exchange rate adjustments - 12 1.2
Al 30 June 2019 1.0 159 169
Exchange rate adjustments - 0.5 0.5
At 30 june 2020 1.0 16.4 174
30. Retained earnings
Note ££
At 1 uly 2018 1243
Profit for the ywaar 19.8
Rarmcasaements of the defined benefit pension scheme 33 79
Dredenies tax onremeasarements of Lhe detined benei't penson schere 21 14
Fair value gains on foreign currency cash flow hedges % 01
Dividends paid 9 .o
Purchases of own shares to settle awards 0.9
Equity-settied transactions 34 10
AL 30 Junie 2019 (previously reported) 1268
Adoptioh of IFRS 16 {net of tax} 2 3.7
AT July 2019 adjusted) 1231
Loss for the year (6.5)
Remeasyrernents of the defined benefit pension scherme 33 (2.7}
Deterred tav on remeasuraments of the defined hene™t penuon scherme 2 1.3
Fair value gairs on foreigr currency cash flow hedges 26 (0.1}
Dividends paid g {11.5})
Purchases of own shares to settle awards (0.5)
Equity-settled transactions M 0-6
At 30 June 2020 103.5

31. Non-controlling interests

In the opinion of the Directors, the comprehensive income for the year and equity at the reporting date which is attributable to non-controlling interests is

not considered to be material. Non-controlling interests is as follows:

= (20 Joint Venture is 33.3% owned by Ricardo Defense, Inc; 33.3% owned by DG Technolagies; 33 3% owned by Claxton Logistics Services LLC.

+ CDQ Joint Venture is 50% owned by Ricardo Defense, Inc.; 50% owned by DG Technologies

» Nanjing Delta Win Transportation Technical Services Limited is 40% owned by Ricardo Beijing Company Limited; 25% owned by Ricardo Heng Kong

Limited; 35% owned by Jiangsu Urban Mass Transit Research & Design institute Company Limited.

For their registered office and princinal activities please see Note 37,
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This section contains information about the Group's current and former employees as well as

the associated cost of employment and post-employment benefits incurred by the Group.

32. Employee number and costs

2020 2m9
Stafl sl £m im
Wages and salaries {including redundancy and termination costs) 162.3 1536
Social security costs 15.6 158
Pension «.osts — defined contrbution schemes 10.0 95
Share-based payments (Note 34) 0.6 10
Total staff costs 188.5 1799

2020 2019
Average monthly number of employees including Executive Directors) Number Number
EE 554 476
Rail 629 566
A& 1,165 1232
Defense 147 128
PP 3N n7
Other 189 180
Plc and Board 55 56
Total average number of employees 3,050 23955

2020 2019
Key management compensation £m £m
short-term employee benehis 4.0 41
Share-based payments 0.5 05
Post-cemplovement tenefiy 04 03
Termination benefits 0.1 -
Total key management compensation 5.0 49

Key management personnel are the Board of Directors, together with the Managing Directors who have the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the Group’s activities and resources within the market sectors in which the Group cperates. The remuneration received by ail

Executive and Non-Executive Directors during the year is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 106.

33. Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits accounting policy - Note T(w)

Key saurces of estimation uncertainty: Defined benefit obligations - Note 1(¢)

The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme, the Ricardo Group Pension Fund (RGPF), which closed 1o future accrual on 28 February 2010
Responsibitity for the governance of the RGPF - including investment decisions and contribution schedules - lies with the Board of Trustees, with the

assets held in the fund governed by local regulations and practice in the United Kingdom. The Board of Trustees must be comprised of represeritatives
of the Group and RGPF participants in accordance with the RGPF's regulations. The last approved triennial valuation of the RGPF was completed with an
effective date of 5 April 2017 and was approved on 24 September 2018. At the effective date, the assets of the RGPF had a market value of £134.0m and
were sufficient 1o cover 86% of the benefit that had accrued to members when assessed on the Trustees’ prudent funding basis. Annual contributions

due to the RGPF during the year ending 30 June 2021 will be £4.6m and the Group has agreed with the Trustees that this will continue until 31 July 2022, in
order to eliminzte the Trustees’ funding deficit revealed at the 5 Apnd 2017 vatuation, The latest triennial valuation with an effective date of 5 April 2020 has
commenced, and this pracess is expected to complete in the year ending 30 June 2021, The results of the 2020 triennial valuation will determine whether

the Group's current contribution commitment remains appiapriate. The 1AS 19 Employee Benefits vaiuaticon was completed 3s at 30 June 2020. The pension
costs relating 10 the RGPF were assessed using the projected unit credit method, in accordance with the advice of Mercer, qualified actuaries.

From June 2016, the Group and Trustees decided to introduce a ‘retirement flexibility’ option to the RGPF, which allows members to transfer out their

benefit at retirement. The Grouw continues to make no allowance within the defined benehit obligation as at 30 June 2020 for members who may efect to
transter out their benefits 3 retirement. This assumgtion will be reviewed on an ongoing basis and may change in future 25 experience emerges as to the

level of members whe elect 1o transfer out their benefits at retirernent.
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33. Retirement benefits (continued)

The assumption for Zonsumer Price Index (P infation was revised 1o allow for a smaller expected future avorage gap between the Retail Price Index
(RF1 and (Pl measures of inflation after considerat.on of proposats 1o amend the measurerment of RPI 1o align it with the CPYincluding owner occupiers’
housing costs (CPIMH'} from between 2025 and 2030 The change in methodology relating to CPI from RPI minus 1% to RPI minus 0.79% resulted in 3

£20m impact.

The post-retirement mortality assumptions for the current year have been reviewed and use morality tables known as the SAPS ‘Series 2" tables, with

an B83% (2019: 83%) multiplier for males and a 919 (2019: 91%) multiplier for females, both applicable to the ‘standard’ version of the table. The future
improvernents component has been updated te be in line with the Continucus Mortality Investigation ('CMI7) 2019 projection madel with an 'S-kappa’
smoathing parameter of 75 and noinitial smocthing adjustment {2019; CMI 2018 with 'S-kappa’ smoothing parameter of 7.5 and no initial smoothing
adjustment). The latest available CM) model will be used at each year-end to provide the most accurate representation of the defined berefit obligation.
The use of a 1.25% long-term trend is consistent with the prior year Under these principal mortality assumptions, the expected future life expectancy from

age 65 is as follows:

2020 2019
_Age Males Females Males females
65 now 23.2 244 23.2 244
65 in 20 years 4.6 26.0 248 259
2020 2019
Qther principal assumptions % %
Discount rate 1.60 2.25
RPLinflation rate 2.90 3.25
2020 2019
Other assumptions % %
Rate of increase in pensions in payment accrued:
-Pre 1 Juty 2002 3.50 3.60
- Post 1 July 2002 2.80 3.05
- Post 88 GMP 1.85 190
Rate of increase in deferred pension revaluation 2.20 2.25
Percentage of pension to be commuted for a lump sum at retirernent 15.00 15.00
2020 2019
Quoted Unguoted Total Quoted Unguoted Total
Scheme assets £m £m £m £m £m Lm
Equities 32.9 - 329 333 - 331
Debr 80.4 - 80.4 741 - 741
Cash and other - 0.5 Q.5 - 06 06
Property fund - 7.6 76 B 79 79
Investrment funds 29.0 - 29.0 218 - 218
At 30 June 142.3 8.1 150.4 1290 83 1375

The property fund relates a share of the BlackRock UK Property Fund ("Fund”). Real property 1s valued either on the basis of the open market value or under
the premise of a ferced sale. Property fund investrments are valued by reference to the underlying value of assets or the latest available net asset value.
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33. Retirement benefits (continued)

Mavernents in the fair value of scheme assets and present value of the defined tenefit cbligation were as follows

2020 2019
Fair value Present Fair value Present
of plan value of of plan value of
assats obligation  Nettotal assets  obhgation Met tatat
£m £m £m £m £m £m
AUT July 137.5 {146.0) (8.5) 1310 {1356) 46)
Past service costs ' - - - - 05) (0.5}
Gains on settlerments - - - - 03 03
Finance Income/costs) 31 (3.2) 0.1) 37 3.8) en
Total credit/{charge) to the income statement 3.1 (3.2) (0.7) 37 4.0 03
Ret.rr on plan gssets exduaing finance neome 1.2 - 1.2 79 - 75
Loss from change 1In demographic assumptions - 0.4 0.4 - on on
e om change it Anangal assumprions - {15.3) (15.3) - (15.7) {15.7)
Experience gains - 1.0 1.0 - - -
Total remeasurernents in other comprehensive income .2 (13.9) 2.7) 79 (15.8) 75
Contributions from sponsoring companies 4.6 - 4.6 43 - 43
Settlerment payments from plan assets - - - (31) 31 -
Zerafir payments from plan assers (6.0) 6.0 - 63 6.3 -
“oral Lash flows (1.4} 6.0 4.6 51 94 43
Total movermnents 129 1.1} 1.8 65 {104} (29
At 30 June 150.4 {157.1} 6.7} 1375 {146.0) B35

{11 Past se"vice costs for the pr of year co~prised £1 3m cost of Guaranteed Minim.— “ension (GMP equalisation as described Note 7 offset by a £0 8m creast from plar amendents

Impact on present

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in principal assumptions: Change in assumption value of obligation
Discount rate -0.25% Increase by £7.7m
Inflation rate +0.25% increase by £4.2m
Post-retirement mortality assumptions - 1 year Increase by £6.5m

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. Ins practice this is unlikely to occur
and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial
assumptions, the same method has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within non-current liabilities. The methads and types
of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change when compared 1o the previous year, bxposure to significant risks from the RGPF
are as follows:

Risks Impact

Asset volatility The RGPF Jiabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields. If the RGPF assets
underperform this yield, the deficit will increase. The RGPF holds a significant proportion of equities and diversified
growth funds, which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the long-term while providing vefatility and
risk in the short-term. The Directors are of the view that due to the long-term nature of the RGPF liabilities and the
strength of the supperting Group, this is an appropriate strategy to manage the RGPF efficiently.

Corporate bond yields A decrease i corporate bond yields wilt increase RGPF labilities, although this will be partislly offset by anincrease in
the vaiue of the RGPF's bond holdings. Brexit and COVID-19 have caused volatility in the market, which may continue
to adversely affect corporate bond yields, with a corresponding impact on discount rates as described above.

Inflation Although there are some caps in place 1o protect the RGPF against extrerne inflation, increases in the level of
inflation will kead to higher liabijities.

Post-retirement mortality The RGPF provides benefits for the life of the members, therefore increases in post-retirement mortality assumptions

assumptions will result in an increase in the RGPF's liabilities.
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33. Retirement benefits {continued)
The weighted average duration of the defined bencht obhgation 1s 18.0 (2019 175) years.

2020 2019
Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted pension benefits £m fm
Less than 1 year 4.5 4.3
Between 1 and 2 years 4.6 44
Belween 2 and 5 years 14.8 14.2
Beyond 5 years 278 267
2020 2019
Ameunts charged/(credited) to the income statement in respect of the defined benefit obligation £m im
Past service costs for:
- GMP equalisation {(Note 7) - 1.3
- Plan amendments B 0.8
Gains on settlements - ©3)
Het finane ng costs (Note 10) 0.1 a1
Total 0.1 03
34. Share-based payments
[ Share-based payments accounting policy - Note 1(x) J

The Group operates the following share-based payment schermes: an equity-settled Executive Share Option Plan {the '2004 Plan'); an equity-settled and a
cash-settled Long-Term Incentive Plan {'LTIP'); a Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DBP’) and an equity-settled ali-employee Share Incentive Plan {'SIP'). The generai
terms and conditions, including vesting requirements and performance conditions for the 2004 Plan, the equity-settied LTIP, the DBP and the equity-settled
SIP are described in the Directors' Remuneration Report. The 2004 Plan, LTIP. DBP and SIP require shareholder approval for the issue of shares. There were ne
awards outstanding in relation to the SIP at the year-end.

Cne third {2019: 50%;) of awards granted under the LTIP and DBP Matching Awards are dependent on a Total Shareholder Return ('TSR’) performance
condition. As relative TSR is defined as @ market condition under IFRS 2 Share-bascd Payment, this requires the valuation model used to take into account
the anticipated performance outcome. The TSR element of the charge to the income staternent has been calculated using the Monte Carlo model and the
earnings per share (EPS') element has bean calculated using the Black Scholes model. The foliowing assumptions are used for the plan cycles commencing
in these years:

2020 2019
Weighted average share price at date of award 640p 720p
Expected valatility 32.0% 270%
Expected life 3yrs 3yrs
Risk-free rate 0.4% 0.8%
Dvidend yield 3.3% 28%
Possibility of ceasing emnployment before vesting 10.0% 10.0%
Weighted average fair value per LTIP as a percentage of a share at date of award 74.4% 72.2%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the histerical volatility of the Company's share price over the three financial years preceding the date of
award, The share-based payments charge of £0.6m (2019: £1.0rn) disclosed in Note 32 was all in respect of equity-settled schemes.

Equity-settled Long-Term Incentive Plan

The current LTIP is described in the Directors' Remuneration Report. Awards are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the awards vest, unless
they are considered ‘good leavers’
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2020 2019

Shares Shares

Qutstanding atlocated'” allocated' !
At July 565,478 568,602
Awarded 358,135 247187
Lapsed (130,836} {180,640
Vested {94,987) {69671
Transferred to cash-settled {4,000} -
At 30 June 693,796 565478

{11y Shares allocated excudes dvidend roli-up.

The outstanding LTIP awards had a weighted average contractual life of 1.6 years (2019 1.4 years). The weighted average exercise price in both 2020 and
2039 was £Nil. Duning the year, the Group cash purchased shares in order to settle vested awards. Al shares that were vested during the year were also

exercised for their price of nil.

Cash-settled Long-Term Incentive Plan

The cash-settled LTIP has the same performance conditions as the equity-settied LTIP but the award is settled in cash rather than by share issue.

2020 2019

Shares Shares

Outstanding allocated™ ailocated '
ALT July 8,000 10,758
Awarded 5199 3,000
Forfeited {1,500} (3,184)
Vested (4,000} {2,575)
Transferred to cash-settled 4,000 -
At 30 June 11,699 8000

{1} Shares allocated excludes dmadend rell-up.

The outstanding LTiP awards had a weighted average contractual life of 2.0 years (2019: 1.2 years). The weighted average exercise price in both 2020 and
2019 was £Nil. During the year, the Group cash purchased shares in order to settle vested awards. The carrying value of the cash settled share based
payments is nil (2019: £0.1m). Ali shares that were vested during the year were also exercised for their price of nil.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan

The Deferred Share Bonus Plan is described in the Birectors’ Remuneration Report.

2020 2019

Shares Shares

Outstanding allocated™ allocated”
AT July 169,874 154,250
Awarded 78,765 96,297
Forfeited {22,350} (28975}
Dividend shares awarded in the year 3,738 3.029
Vested (97,713) (54,727
At 30 June 132,274 169874

{1 Shares allocated exchudes drvidend rod-up

The cutstanding DBP awards had a weighted average contractual life of 1.5 years (2019: 1.2 years). The weighted average exercise price in both 2020 and
2019 was £Nil. During the year, the Group cash purchased shares in order to settle vested awards. All shares that were vested during the year were also

exercised for their price of nil.
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Unrecognised items and uncertain events

This section includes disclosure of items and transactions that are not reflected in the Group's
results because they are uncertain or have been incurred after the end of the year. These
disclosures are considered relevant to an understanding of the Group's financial position and
the effect of expected or possible future events.

35. Commitments

At 30 June 2019 the Group's future aggregate undiscounted minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases not recognised on the
consolidazed statement of financial position are as follows.

2019
Lease liabiity £m
By due date of commitments
Within one year 86
Between onwe and five years 228
A2 e vears 298
At 30 June 61.2

2019
By nature of commitments £m
Land and buildings 60.3
Other 09
At 30 June 61.2

From 1 July 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets for these leases, except for short-term and low-value leases, see Note 2 and Note 18 for
further information.

36. Contingent liabilities

in the ordinary course of business, the Group has £9.4m (2019: £7.3m] of possible obligations for bands, guarantees and counter-indemnities placed with our
banking and other financial institutions and primarily relating to perfarmance under contracts with custemers, These possible obligations are contingent on
the outcome of uncertain future events which are considered unlikely to occur. The Group is also invalved in commercial disputes and litigation with some
customers, which is also in the narmal course of business. Whilst the result of such disputes cannot be predicted with certainty, the ultimate resclution of
these disputes is not expected to have a material effect on the Group’s financial position or results.

In July 2013, a guarantee was provided to the Ricardo Group Pension Fund ('RGPF') of £2.8m in respect of certain contingent liabilities that may arise, which
have been secured on specific land and buildings {see Note 17}, The outcorme of this matter is not expected to give nise 1o any material cost to the Group. In
Qcrober 2018, a further guarantee was provided to the RGPF for an amount that shall not exceed the employers' liability were a debt to arise under Section
75 of the Pensions Act 1995. The guarantee wili terminate on 5 April 2023. The outcome of this matter is not expected to give rise to any material cost to the
Group on the basis that the Group continues as a going concern
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This section includes the Group's list of related undertakings and related party transactions.

37. Related undertakings of the Group

Subsidiary or related undertaking

Registered office

Principal activities

Ricardo Investments Limited ™
Ricardo US Haoldings, Inc.

Power Planning Associates Limited
Ricardo EMEA Limited

Ricardo Real Estate LLC

Ricarde UK Limited

Ricardo Asia Limited

Ricardo fapan KK,

Ricarda Shanghai Company Limited™

Ricardo Prague sro.
Ricardo GmbH

Ricardo Motorcycle italia srl.
Ricardo, Inc.

Ricarde India Private Limited™
Ricardo Strategic Consulting GrnbH
Ricardo Defense Systerns LLC

Ricardo Defense, Inc.
C20 Joint Venture (33 3%)~
Ricardo-AEA Limited

Cascade Consulting
(Environment & Planning) Limited' ©

Ricardo South Africa (Pty) Lig
{formerly PPA Energy (Pty) Ltd)

Ricardo Gulf Technical Consultancy LLC
{49%"

Ricardo Energy Environment and Pianning

Pty Ltd
Ricardo Australia Py Ltd

Ricardo Rail Limited

Ricardo Nederland BY.
Ricardo Rail Australia Pty Lid

Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreharn Road, Shoreham-by-Ses,
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom®

40600 Ann Arbor Road East, Suite 201, Plymouth, Michugan, 48170,
United States

Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreharn Road, Shoreham-by-Sea,
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom”

Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea,
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom?

40600 Ann Arbor Road East, Suite 201, Plyrmouth, Michigan, 48170,
United States

Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-5ea,
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom?

Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreharn Road, Shareham-by-Sea,
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom'”

18™ Fioor, Shin Yokohama Square Building, 2-3-12 Shin Yokohama,
Kohaoku-ku, Yokohama-shi, Kanagawa, 222-0033, Japan

Floor 17, Phaenix Building, No. 1515 Gumei Read, Xuhui District,
Shanghai, 200233, PR China

Palde Karlin, Thdmova 11-13, 186 00 Praha 8, Czech Republic
GiiglingstralRe 66, 73529, Schwabisch Gmiind, Germany

Via Giovanni Pascoli 47, 47853, Cerasolo, Conano, Rimini, Italy

Detroit Technoiogy Campus, 40000 Ricardo Drive, Van Buren Township,
Detroit, Michigan, 48111-1641, United States

6™ Floor, M6 Plaza, Jasola District Centre, New Delhi 110076, India

4" Flgor, Kreuzstrafe 16, 80331, Munich, Germany

Detroit Technalagy Campus, 40000 Ricarde Drive, Van Buren Township,
Detroit, Michigan, 48111-1641, United States

175 Cremeona Drive, Suite 140, Geleta, California, 83117, United States
175 Cremona Drive, Suite 140, Goleta, California, 93117, United States
Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shereham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea,
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom'

Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shareham-by-Sea,
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdam!

111 Pretoria Soad, Rynfield, Benony, 1501, Sout Africs

11 Floor, Otfice §, MSMAK Bullding, Corniche Strect, Abu Dhag,
United Arab Emirates
Levei 20, 181 William Street, Melbourne, Victaria, 3000, Australia

Leve! 7, 151 Clarence Street, Sydney, New South Wales, 2000, Australia

Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea,
West Sussex, BN43 SFG, United Kingdom?

Catharijnesingel 33 J, 3511 GC, Utrecht, Netherlands

Suite 2.01, Level 2, Tawer B, The Zenith. 821 Pacific Highway, Chatswood,
New South Wales, 2067, Australia

Holding Company and
Management Services
Holding Company

Holding Company

Holding Company and
Management Services
Property Investment Company

Automotive & Ihdustrial Consulting,

Strategic Consulting, Defence
Consuiting and

Performance Products

Automotive & Industrial Consulting,
Rail Consulting and

Business Development
Automotive & Industrial Cansuiting,
Rail Consulting and Business
Development

Autometive & industrial Consulting,
Rail Censulting and Business

Development

Automative & Industrial Consuiting
and Software

Autcmotive & Industrial Consulting
and Business Development
Automnotive & Industrial Cansuiting
Automotive & industrial Cansulting,
Strategic Consulting and Software
Business Development

Strategic Cansulting

Performance Products

Defence Consulting
Defence Consulting
Energy & Environmental Consulting

Energy & Ervironmental Consulting
Energy & Environmental Consulting
Energy & Environmental Consulting

Energy & Environmentat Consulting

Energy & Environmental Consulting
and Rait Consulting

Rail Consulting

Rail Consulting
Rail Consulting
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37. Related undertakings of the Group (continued)

Subsidiary or related undertaking Registered office Principal activities
Ricardo Singapore Pte Limited 141 Middle Road, 5-6 GSM Bullding, 188976, Singapore Rail Cansulting
Ricardo (Thalland) Ltd (49%)* 140/36 (TF Tower 177 Floor, Silom Road, Kwang Surawong, Khet bangrak, Rail Consulting
Bangkak, 10500, Thailand
Ricardo Hong Kong Limited Units 3210-18, 32/F Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Rail Consulting
Hong Kong
Ricardo Technicat Consultancy LLC (49%)%  Palm Tawer, Block B, 15 Floor, PO Box 26600, West Bay, Doha, Qatar Rail Cansulting
Chongging Transportation Railway Safety  No. 2 Yangliu Road, Mid Huangshan Street, New North District, Rail Consulting
Assessment Center Limited (60%)® Chongging, 401123, PR China
Wamarragu Transport Services Pty Ltd Sune 201, Level 2, [ower B, The Zeruth, B21 Pacific Highway Cratswood,  Rail Consulting
(@s%]” New South Wales, 2067, Australia
Ricardo Beiyng Company Limited 1301-1302, Shun Tak Centre, No.3 Xiangheyuan Road, Dongcheng Independent Assurance
District, Beijing, 100004, PR China
Ricarcdo Cornfoanan Lirmted Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea, Independent Assurance
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom?®
Ry ardo Cortficanon By Catharijnesingel 33 ), 3531 GC, Utrecht, Netherlands Independent Assurance
Ra_atdon =rthi gion Denmark ApS Nerre Farimagsgade 11, 1364 Copenhagen K, Copenhagen, Denrmark independent Assurance
Ric.ordo Certihication lber a SL Agustin de Foxa 29, 8" Floor, 28036, Madnd, Spain Independent Assurance
Ricardo Software, Inc. Detroit Technology Campus, 40000 Ricardo Drive, Van Buren Township,  Dormant
Detroit, Michigan, 48111-1641, United States
Ricardo innovations Limited Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shareham-by-Sea, Dormant
Waest Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom®
COQ joint Venture (509659 175 Cremona Drive, Suite 140, Goleta, Califormia, 93117 United States Dormant
Ricardo Software Limited Shoreham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shoreharn-by-Sea, Dormant
Wast Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom?
Ricarcte Certseanion St Agustin de Foxd 29, 9™ Floor, 28036, Madrid, Spain Dormant
Ricardo Environment Arabia LLC® Bahrain Tower, Building Number 8953, 2393, King Fahd Road, Olaya, Dormant
12214, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
Ricardo Strategic Consulting Limited Shoreham Technical Centre, (id Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea, Dormant
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom!
Ricarde Consulting Engineers Limited Shareham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shorehami-by-Sea, Dormant
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom®
Ricardo Technology Limited Shoreham Technical Centre, Otd Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea, Dormant
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom!
Ricarde Technolegy Limited Shoteham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea, Corrmant
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom!
Ricardo Transmussions Limited Shareham Technical Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-Sea, Dormant
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom!
Ricardo Pension Scheme (Trustees) Limited  Shoreham Techrucal Centre, Old Shoreham Road, Shoreham-by-5ea, Daormant
West Sussex, BN43 5FG, United Kingdom®
Ricardo Deutschiand GmbH Gliglingstralte 66, 73529, Schwabisch Gmand, Germany In Liguidation
Nanjing Delta Win Transportation Room 101, No. 301, Zhongmen Street, Gulou District, Nanjing, Jiangsu 0 Liquidation

Technical Services Limited (65%) ™ Province, PR China

t Registered in Ergland and Wales

= These companies have clamed exemption fror a.dit per 4794 of the Comparies Act 2006

{11 99% owned by Ricarda ple; 1% awned by Ricarda UK Lirmted

{2) 33.3% owned by Ricardo Defense. Inc; 33 3% owned by DG Technalogies; 33 3% owned by Claxton Logistics Services LLC.

{3) 499% of share capital and 0% of reiained eamings owned by Ricarde Rail Limited; 51% of share capital and 2096 of retained eamings owned by SSD Commeerciat Investrment

(4) 49% of share capial and 9.2 5% of retained earmings owned by Ricardo Hong kong Limited; 1% of share capital and /5% of retained earning owned by Hysi Asia Industnes Limeted.
{5)49% of share capital and 97% of retained earnings owned by Ricardo Rail Limited; 519 of share capital and 3% of retained earnings owned by Pro-Partnership LLC

6) 60% owned by Ricardo Beijing Company Limited; 40% owned by Chonging Scence & Technclogy Testing Center Limited.

(7y45% owned by Ricardo Rail Austraka Puy Ltd, 55% owned by justin Brooker Nominees Ply Ltd. This associate undentaking 1s immaterial to the Group

) 50% owned by Ricardo Defense, inc.; 509% owned by DG Technolegies.

(9) 159 owned by Ricardo plc; 853 owned by Ricardo-AEA Limited,

(10) 40% owned by Ricardo Beijing Company Limited; 25% awned by Ricardo Mong Kong Limited: 35% owned by liangsu Urban Mass Transit Research & Design Institute Campany Limited,

In the opinion of the Directors, the comprehensive income for the year and equity at the reperting date which is attributable to non-controlling interests is
not considered to be material. Non-controlling interests are set out above in Footnotes (2) te (8), and {10).
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38. Refated parties’ transactions

The Chair of Ricardo plc, Sir Terry Margan, was also a statutory director of Crossrail Limited until 5 December 2018, which was deemed to be a related party
that is external to the Ricardo Group up to that date,

2020 2019
Transacticns between the Group and Crossrail Limited im Em
Sale of services - a7

Key managernent personnel are the Board of Directors, together with the Managing Directors who have the authority and respensibility for planning,
directing and controlling the Group's activities and resources within the market sectors in which the Group operates, This is set out in Note 32,

The remuneration raceived by all Executive and Non-Executive Directors during the year is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 102,
The Ricardo Pension Scheme (Trustees) Limited is a related party to the Group. The amounts paid to the Group's retirement schemne is set out in Note 33.

39. Events after the reporting date

On 5th May 2020, the Group exercised £50m of the accordion option of its banking facilities, thereby increasing the Revolving Credit Faciity to £200m
and increasing the amount undrawn and available to £70m. This provides the Group with increased committed funding available for the remaining term
through 10 Jufy 2023, In addition to the increased committed funding avaiiable, the Adjusted Leverage (defined as net debrt over underlying EBITDA)
covenant was increased from 3.0x to 3.75x for the next two test dates of 30 June 2020 and 31 December 2020. Following the year-end, on

9 September 2020, the definition of the Adjusted | sverage covenant for the Decemnber 2020 covenant test date wis amended te be based on two fimes
the six manths' EBITDA to December 2020. In addition, the June 20271 covenant was increased 1o 3 75, The only other financial covenant is Interest Cover.
This remains at 4.0x for each test date, but with the December 2020 test based on two times the six months’ EBITDA to December 2020. For further details
on the Group’s current banking facilities please see Note 25,
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Financial staternents

Company primary statements

Company statement of financial position of Ricardo plc
as at 30 June
30 June 2020 30 June 2019

Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
intangible assets 3 11 09
Property. plant and equipment 4 4.7 45
Right-of-use assets 5 6.1 -
investments 5] 103.1 1033
Deferred tax assets 7 21 21
1171 no6
Current assets
Trage and other raceivables 8 127.3 918
Denvatrs Fe gl asset: 13g 3.9 0.3
Cash and cash equivalents 203 17
151.5 938
Total assets 2686 2044
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 9 {0.7) @
Lease liabilities o (0.8) -
Trade and other payables H (97.0) (76.0)
Current tax lishilities {09} 13}
Detivative tranoial lisbibties 3g (6.5) {1.2)
Provisions 13d (0.1) -
{106.0) (78.6)
Net current assets 45.5 15.2
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 9 47.7) 4n
Lease liabilities 19 6.6) -
Ratirement benent abligations 3¢ (6.7) 85
Deferred tax liabilities 7 (0.7) {5
Provisions 13d - [(0R)]
61.7) (23.2)
Total liabilities {(167.7) {101.8)
Net assets 100.9 026
Equity
Share capital 13e 13.4 134
Share premium 13¢ 14.3 143
Retained earnings 73.2 749
Total equity 100.9 1026

The Ricardo ptc company statement of financial position has been prepared in accordance with Financial Regorting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (FRS 101" The notes on pages 193 to 197 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The Company has not presented its own Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive income as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act
2006. The Company's profit for the year was £11.8m (2018: £10.7m). The financial statements of Ricardo plc {registered number 222915) on pages 192 ta 197
were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Dave Shemmans —b&\, lan Gibson —W
Chief Lxecutive Officer : T Chief Financial Officer = < étﬁ_—_—-—
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Company statement of changes in equity of Ricardo plc

for the year ended 30 June

Retained

Share capital  Share premium earings Total

£m £ £m £m

At 1 July 2018 134 143 815 109.2
Profit for teic v - - 107 17
Other comprehensive loss for the year - - ©64) 64)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 43 43
Equity-settled transactions - - 10 18
Purchases of own shares to settle awards - - 09 (09)
Ordinary share dividends - - {11.0) (1.0
AL 30 June 2019 134 143 749 102.6
Adoption of FRS 16 {net of tax) {Note 2) - - {0.3) {0.3)
At 1 July 2019 (adjusted) 13.4 14.3 74.6 102.3
Profr for the year - - 1.8 1.8
Other comprehensive loss for the year - - (1.7} (1.7}

Total comprehensive income for the year - - 10.1 10.1
Equity-settled transactions - - 0.6 0.6
Purchases of own shares to settle awards - - (0.6) (0.6)
Orcinary share dividends - - (11.5} {11.5)
At 30 June 2020 134 14.3 73.2 100.9

Company notes to the financial
statements of Ricardo plc

1. Principal accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of Ricardo plc have been prepared on a going
concern basis, as ciscussed in the viability staterment on pages 44 and

41, and in accordance with the UK Companies Act 2006 and FRS 101. The
Company has transitioned from EU adopted IFRS to FRS 101, which has had
ne affect on either the financial position nor the financial performance of
the Company. The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all pericds presented in these financial statements. The
following exempuions available under FRS 101 have been applied:

Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment {details of
the number and weighted average exercise prices of share options and
how the fair value of goods and services received was detarmined).

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

Paragraphs 91 to 99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (disclosure of
valuation techniques and inputs used for fair value measurement of
assets and liabilities).

-

= Paragraph 38 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to present
comparative information in respect of:

- paragraph 73(e} of 1AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; and
~ paragraph 118(g) of IAS 38 Intangible Assets.

= The fellowing paragraphs of IAS 1 Presentation of financial staternents:

= 10{d) (staternent of cash Hows);
- 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS);

= 38(a) (requirement for minimum of two primary statements, including
cash flow statements);

- 38(b)-{d} {additional comparative information);
= 111 {cash flow statement information); and
- 134-136 {capital managernent disclosures).

1AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (The Company has not published its
individual cash flow statement as its liquidity, solvency and

financial adaptability are dependent on the Group rather than its own
cash flows).

Paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors (requirement for the disclosure of information when
an entity has not applied a new IFRS that has been issued and is not yet
effective).

Paragraph 17 of 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures (key managernent
compensation) and the requirements of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
to disclose related party transactions entered intc between two or
more members of the Group, provided that any subsidiary which is
party to the transaction is whotly-owned by such a member.
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1. Principal accounting policies {continued)

Significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
indwidual francial statements arc set out below These polaies have been
applied consistently to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

investments

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment in value
The Company evaluates the carrying vaiue of investments at the end of
each financ.al year to determine if there has been an impairment in value,
which would resuitin the inability 1o recaover the carrying amount. When it
is determined that the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount, the
excess is written-off to comprehensive income.

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

Ve majonty of the Lornpany's financial assets are amounts owed by
subsidiary undertakings. These are measured initially at fair vatue, and
subsequently at amortised cost. The general appreach is applied to the
impairment of financial assets, recagnising a loss allowance for expected
credit losses {ECL). Where the credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition the loss alowance are measured as 12-month ECL.
Fer balances repayable on demand, or where the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, a fifetime ECL s measured. ECLs are a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (e the difference between the
cash flows due 10 the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the company expects to recewe, therefore considering future
expectations). ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the
financial asset.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECL,
the Company considers the availabte cash and cash equivalents within
the subssidiary, the net current assets of the undertaking and future cash
generation.

Asscts are provided in full and subsequently written off when there is

no reasonable expectation of recavery. Indicators that there may be

no reasonable expectation of recovery could include, amongst others,
evidence that the subsidiary has entered liquidation proceedings, or no
reasonable expectation thart sufficient future cash generation to repay the
lean will occur in the subsidiary undertaking.

Other significant accounting policies

Other significant accounting policies are consistent with the Group
financial statements,

Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of
estimation uncertainties

The preparation of financial staterments under FRS 101 requires the
Company’s management to make judgements and estimates that affect
the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and costs. These judgernents and estimates are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
facters, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reascnable under the circumstances. The key area of judgment that has
the most significant effect on the amocunts recognised in the financial
staternents is the review of Ainancial assets for impairment. Management
has applied judgement when determining the credit risk of fellow Group
undertakings and their ability to repay loans.

An area involving significant sk of a material edjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities due to estimate uncertainty within the
next financizal year is the Company's defined benefit obligation. This

risk is the same as that of the Group and is explained in Note 1{c) to the
Group financial statements. Another area of estimation uncertainty

is management’s assessment of the Company's investments to

determine whether an indicator of impairment exists. Where applicable,
management then evaluates the carrying value of investments against
their value-in-use to determine whether if there has been an impairment
in value, which would result in the inability to recover the carrying amount.
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The value-ir-usens estimated Using a discounted cash flow valuation. A
pre-tax discount rate is used to discount the cash flows, which are derived
from externally sourced datd reflecung Lthe current market assessment of
these investments,

The basis for the projected cash flows is the Group's thres-year plan,
which is prepared by management and reviewed and approved by the
Board The plan reflects past experience and management’s assessment
of the current contract portfolio, contract wins, contract reterition, price
increases, and gross margin, as well as future expected market trends.
Cash flows after the three-year plar. are projected into perpetuity using
a growth rate based on inflation and an average long-term economic
growth rate for the territory.

Changes in accounting policies

IFRS 16 Leases hecame effective on 1 July 2019 as described in Note

1M and Note 2 1o the Group financial statements. The impact on the
Company accounts is disclosed in Note 2 below. Several other standards,
interpretations and amendments to existing standards became effective
on 1 January 2019, as detailed in Note 1(2) to the Group accounts, none of
which had a materiai impact on the Company.

2. Changes in significant accounting policy

The Company followed the Group accounting policy regarding IFRS 16
Leases. Please see Note 1{n) to the Group financial statements for the
transition method. The transition impact is shown below:

IFRS16  Adjusted

Adoption of IFRS 16 Previously transitional under

as at 1 July 2019 reported adjustment IFRS 16
£m £fm £m

Assets

Non-current assets

Right-of-use assets - 6.6 6.6

Deferred tax assets 21 0.1 2.2

Tetal non-current assets 110.6 6.7 173

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 91.8 (0.2) 91.6

Total cusrent assets 93.8 {0.2) 93.6

Total assets 2044 6.5 210.9

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities - (0.8) {0.8)

Trade and other payables (76.0) 1.1 (74.9)

Total current liabilities (78.6) 0.3 {78.3)

Net current assets 15.2 0.3 15.5

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities - (7.1} (7.1)

Total non-current liabilities {23.2) (7.1} {30.3)

Total liabilities {101.8) (6.8) {108.6)

Net assets 102.6 (0.3) 102.3

Equity

Retained earnings 749 {0.3) 4.6

Total equity 102.6 {0.3} 1023

The lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities
recognised in the statement of financial position at the date of initial
application is 4.6% for property.



2. Changes in significant accounting policy (continued)
Reconciliation between operating lease commitments and jease
liabilities

The folluwing Lable explains the differences belween the opetatir.g legse

commitments disclosed applying IAS 17 at 30 June 2019 and the lease
liabilities recognised on transition to IFRS 16 on 1 July 2019,

£m
Total operating lease commitments under
14517 at 30 June 2019 106
Discounting 28)
Lease liabilities recognised on transition to
IFRS 16 at 1 July 2019 78
3. Intangible assets
Software
£m
Cost
At 1 July 2009 89
Additions 06
At 30 June 2020 9.5
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 July 2019 80
Charge for the year 04
At 30 June 2020 8.4
Net book value
At 30 June 2020 1.1
Ar 30 Jupe 2019 09

Software includes £0 7m (2019: £0.4m) in respect of assets under
construction which are not being amortised until the assets are made
available for use.

4. Property, plant and equipment

Fixture,
Land and fittings and
property eguipment Total
£m £m £m
Cost
AT July 2019 6.7 10 77
Additions - 04 04
At 30 June 2020 6.7 14 8.1
Accumulated amertisation
At 1 Juiy 2019 27 0.5 32
Charge for the year 01 Qi 0.2
At 30 June 2020 2.8 0.6 34
Net book value
At 30 June 2020 3.9 0.8 4.7
At 30 June 2019 40 05 45

A contingent liability of up to £2.8m which is associated with a guarantee
provided to the Ricardo Group Pension Fund in July 2013 is secured on
specificland and buildings. Further detail is given in Note 36 to the Group
financial statements. Fixture, fittings and equipment includes £0.6m
(2019: £3.3my} in respect of assats under construction which are not being
depreciated until the assets are made avaitable for use.

Financial statements
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5. Leases

{al As a fessee

The company leases one office premises and technical centre, with a
remaining lease term of 13 years. The lease agreement does not impose
any covenants, The leased asset may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Right-of-use assets

Property
£m

Cost
At 30 June 2019 -
Adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 2) 76
Ar T July 2019 76
At 30 June 2020 7.6
Accumulated depreciation
At 30 june 2015 -
Adoption of IFRS 16 {Note 2) 10
ALY July 2019 10
Charge for the pericd a5
At 30 June 2020 1.5
Net book value
At 30 june 2020 6.1

At 30 June 2019 -

See Note 10 for details of the associated lease fiabilities.

(b) As a lessor

The Company subleases part of its right of use property with a remaining
term of six years. This lease is classified as an operating lease.

During the year the Company recognised rental income of £0.2m (2019:
£nil) on these subleases.

The following table sets out a maturity analysis of lease payments,
showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the
reporting date.

2020
! egse commitments £m
By due date of commitments

Within one year 0.4

Between ore and v years 1.6

After five vears 0.3

At 30 June 23
6. Investments

Sharesin

subsidiaries

£m

At 1 July 2019 and 30 June 20620 103.1

The Directors consider that the fair value of investments is not less than
the carrying value. Details of the Company’s subsidiaries and refated
undertakings are shown in Note 3/ to the Group financial statements.
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7. Deferred tax 10. Lease liabilities
2020 2019 Total
Hecognised deferred tax assetsAliabilitias) £m £m Maovernent in lease liabyhity £m
AT July (previously reported) 1.6 1M At 30 June 2019 -
Adoption of IFRS 16 (Nate 2) o1 - Adoption of IFRS 16 (Note 2) 79
AL July (restated) 1.7 11 A1 July 2019 79
Charged to the income statement {1.4) 09) Interest 03
Credited 1o other comprehensive income 1.1 14 Payments {0.8)
At 30 june 1.4 14 At 30 June 2020 74
2020 2019 Lease Hability £fm
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) comprise £m £m Current liabilities - maturing within one year 08
Accelerated capital allowances ©0.2) ©n Non-current liabilities - maturing after one year 66
Defimed henehit obdigat on 13 14 At 30 June 2020 74
Tax losses and credits 01 02
Unreatised capilal gains {0.5) 05)
Other 0.7 06 Maturity of undiscounted lease liability £m
At 30 June 1.4 16 Within one year 0.8
Between o7e and nue years 32
2020 2019 After five years 56
Non-current £m fm Finance portion of net liability {2.2)
Assets bEl 51 At 30 June 2020 74
Lizbilities 0.7) 05
At 30 june 1.4 16
11. Trade and other payables
8. Trade and other receivables 2?:: 2(;::
20:':: 2(;_3 Trade payables 0.6 04
- Tax and social security payable 0.2 03
Trade receivables 0.t - o
e Amounts owed to subsidiaries 95.2 711
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 124.8 900 Accruals i 30
Prepayments 1.2 09
Other receivables 1.2 0% Other payables 1.0 12
At 30 June 97.0 76.0
At 30 June 127.3 918

Alt trade and other receivables are due within the next 12 months. £11.1m
(2019: £8.2m) of the amounts owed Dy subsidiaries are due for repayment
within the next 12 months and the remaining £113.9m (2019: £81.8m)} have
no fixed repayment date. £1027m {2019: £70.5m) of the amounts owed

by subsicharies carry interest at rates between 2.0% and 5.0% (2019: 2.3%
and 5.0%) with the rernaining £22.3m (2019: £19.5m) being interest-free. All
amounts owed by subsidiaries are unsecured.

9. Borrowings

All amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured. £86.9m (2019:
£64 4m) of the amounts owed to subsidiaries carry interest at rates
between 2.0% and 3.1% {2013: 2.4% and 2.5%) and has no fixed repayment
date. £8.2m {2019; £6.7m) of the amocunts owed & subsidiaries are interast-
free and due for repayment within the next 12 months,

12, Lease commitments

At 30 June 2019 the Group's future aggregate undiscounted minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable aperating leases not recognised on

2020 2019 the consolidated statement of financiai position are as follows:
£m £m

Current labilities - borrowings: 2019
- Bank overdrafts repayable on demand 0.7 01 Lease commitments £fm
Total 0.7 a1 By due date of commitments

Non-current labilities - borrowings: Within one year 08
- Banik loans maturing after one year 47.7 4.1 Between e and five yedrs 32
Total 47.7 14.1 After five years 656
At 30 June 48.4 4.2 At 30 June 10.6

The Company has the same banking facilities as the Group. Please see
Note 25 to the Group financial statements
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From 1 July 2019, the group has recognised right-of-use assets for these
leases. See Note 2 for details.



13. Other information
a) Company audit fee

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Company's
annual accounts totalled £0 3m (2019: £0.2m), Fees payable to KPMG LLP
and its associates for non-audit services to the Company are nat required
10 be disclosed because the Group accounts disclose such fees on a
consolidated tasis see Note 11 to the Group financial statements).

b) Director’s emoluments

The remuneration received by all Executive and Non-Executive Directors
during the year is disciosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page
102. The Directors are remunerated by the Company for their services 1o
the Grouo as a whole Na remuneration was paid to them specifically in
respect of their services to Ricardo Plc for either year.

c) Employees and defined henefit obligation

During the year the company employed an average of 51 (2019:47)
empioyees.

The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme, the Ricardo
Group Pension Fund (RGPF). This is disclosed in Note 33 to the Group
financial statements, 1oqether with the accounting palicy and key
accounting estimates.

d) Provisions
The Company has a provision within current fiabilities for expected costs

of legal claims and litigation of £0.1m (2019: non-current liabilities of £0.1m).

Financial staternents
Company notes to the financial statements

ej Share capital and share premium

Since 1 July 2018, the number of allocated, called-up and fully paid
ordinary shares of 25p each remained at 53,406,250, being £13.4m. Share
premium has remained £14.3m over the same period.

) Contingent liabilities

Contingent lizbilities exist in the form of guarantees provided in the
ordinary course of business to certain subsidiaries to give assurance of
their contractual and finandal cormmitrments, Nane of these arrangements
are expected (0 give rise to any material cost to the Company.

In July 2013, a guarantee was provided to the Ricardo Group Pension Fund
(RGPF) of £2.8m in respect of certain contingent liabilities that may arise,
which have been secured on specific land and buildings The outcome of
this matter is not expected to give rise 1o any material cost to the Group.
In October 2018, a further guarantee was provided 1o the RGPF for an
amount that shall not exceed the employers’ liability were a debt o arise
under Section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995, The guarantee will terminate
an 5 April 2023. The outcome of this matter is not expected 1o give rise to
any materiat cost 10 the Group on the basis that the Graup continues as a
going concern.

g) Derivative financial assets and liabilities

The Company has the same derivative financial assets and liabilines as the
Group. These are disctosed in Note 26 to the Group financial statcments.

h) Related party transactions

The Company has taken the exception under FRS 101 not to disciose
related party transactions entered into between two or mare mernbers
of the Group, nor 1o disclose key management compensation, Directors
emalurnents are detailed in Note 13(b),
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Additional information

Corporate Information

Group General Counsel and Company Secretary Key dates

Patricia Ryan

Registered office

Ricardo plc

Shoreham Technical Centre
Shoreham-by-5ea

West Sussex

BN43 5FG

Registered company number
222915

Registrars

Link Asset Services
The Registry

34 Beckertham Road
Backenham

Kent

BR34TU

Independent auditors
KPMG LLP

15 Canada Square
London

E14 5GL

Stockbrokers

Investec investment Banking
2 Gresham Street

London

EC2V 7QP

Tetl: G207 587 5000

Liberum Capital Limited
Ropemaker Place

25 Ropemaker Street
London

EC2Y OLY

Tel: 0203 100 2000

Website: www ricardo.com

Annual General Meetirg: 12 November 2020

Sharehoider services
Link Asset Services provide a share portal service, which allows
shareholders to access a variety of services onling, including:
viewing shareholdings; buyirg and selling shares online;
registering change of address details; and bank mandates
to have dividends paid directly into your bank account. Any
shareholder who wishes to register with Link Asset Services
to take advantage of this service should visit
www.linkassetservices comsshareholders.

Shareholder enquiries
Tek 0870 162 3131 {from the UK)
Tel: +44 208 639 3131 (from outside the UK)

Principal bankers
Lloyds Bank plc
3rd Floor

10 Gresham Street
London

FC2V 7AE

HSBC Bank plc

First Point

Buckingham Gate
London Gatwick Airport
West Sussex

RH16 ONT

Financial advisors
NM Rothschild & Sons
New Court

5t Swithin's Lane
London

EC4P aDU

A PDF version of this Annual Repart & Accounts can be
downloaded from the Investors page of our website.,

200 Ricardo plc Anrual Report & Accounts 2019/20



Additional information

Glossary

B-BBEE legislatior South African employment legislation  Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment

Cash conversion Statutory cash conversion is calculated as cash generated from operations divided by earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation {EBITDA).

Constant currency organic The Group generates revenues and orofits in various terdtories and currercies because of it

growth/decline international footprint. Those results are translated on consolidation at the foreign exchange rates
prevailing at the time. Constant currency organic growth/decline is calculated by translating the
result for the current year using foreign currency exchange rates applicable to the prior year. This
provides an indication of the growth/decline of the business, excluding the impact of foreign

exchange.

o1 Detroit Technology Campus

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amoritisation

ESG Environmental, Social and Governance

Fy Financial Year

GHG Greenhouse gases

Headcount Headcount is calculated as the number of employees on the payroll at the reporting date and
includes subcontractors on a full-time equivalent basis.

1508001 International standard for Quality Management Systems

IS0 14001 International standard for Environmental Management Systems

150 27001 international standard for Information Security Management Systems

150 45001 International standard for Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems

Net debt Net debt s defined as current and non-current borrowings less cash and cash equivalents, including

hire purchase agreements, but excluding IFRS 16 lease liabilities. Management believes this definition
is the most appropriate for monitoring the indebtedness of the Group and is consistent with the
treatment in the Group's banking agreements.

Organic growth/decline Organic growth/decline is calculated as the decline in the result for the current year compared to the
prior year, after adjusting for the perfermance of acquisitions or disposals, to include the results of
those acquisitions for an equivalent period in each financial year

Organic resuit The organic result for the prior year includes the performance of acquisitions for an equivalent period
1o FY 2019/20.

REEP Ricardo Energy, Environment and Planning, formerly PLC Consulting Pty Ltd, acquired 31 July 2019

RRA Ricardo Rail Australia, formerly Transpert Engineering Pty Ltd, acquired 31 May 2015

Scope 1 Emissions Direct emissions from owned or controlled sources

Scope 2 Emissions Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased energy.

Scope 3 Emissions All indirect emissions {not included in scope 2) that occur in the value chain, including bath upstream

and downstream emissions.

TCFD Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures, An organization of 31 members aiming Lo
develop guidelines for voluntary cimate-centered financial disclosures across industries

Underlying Underlying measures exclude the impact on statutory measures of specific adjusting items.
Underlying measures are considered to provide a more useful indication of undertying performance
and trends over time.

Underlying cash conversion Underlying cash conversion is calculated as cash generated from operatians, adjusted for the impact
of specific adjusting iters an operating cash, divided by EBITDA, adjusted for the cash impact of
specific adjusting items,
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